PROCESS EVALUATION OF A DATA-DRIVEN QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM AT AUSTRALIAN PRIMARY CARE PRACTICES FOR IMPROVED MANAGEMENT OF CORONARY HEART DISEASE - A MIXED-METHODS STUDY

Nashid Sabrina Hafiz

MBBS (Bangladesh), MIPH (University of Sydney)

A Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Faculty of Medicine and Health

The University of Sydney

2024

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

This is to certify that to the best of my knowledge; the content of this Thesis is my own work. This Thesis has not been submitted for any degree or other purposes.

I certify that the intellectual content of this Thesis is the product of my own work and that all the assistance received in preparing this Thesis and sources have been acknowledged.

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

AUTHORSHIP ATTRIBUTION STATEMENT

Chapter 2 of the Thesis is published as:

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, Briffa T et al. Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and medication prescriptions for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care. Heart, Lung and Circ. 2021;30(10):1516-1524.

I designed the study, analysed the data, and wrote the drafts of the manuscript.

Chapter 3 of this Thesis is submitted to the BMC Primary Care Journal as:

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Manandi D, Usherwood T, and Redfern, J. Effectiveness of quality improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular disease related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Primary Care. 2024.

Status: Submitted

I led the data acquisition, extracted, and interpreted the data, and wrote the drafts of the manuscript.

Chapter 4 of the Thesis is published as:

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation. Contemp Clin Trials. 2022;118:106794.

I designed the study and wrote the drafts of the manuscript.

Chapter 5 of the Thesis is submitted to PLoS One Journal as:

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Process evaluation of a datadriven quality improvement program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in Australian primary care. PloS One Journal.

Status: Accepted

I designed the study, analysed the data and wrote the drafts of the manuscript.

Chapter 6 of this Thesis is submitted to the Australian Journal of Primary Health as:

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. Australian Journal of Primary Health.

Status: Under review

I designed the study, analysed the data and wrote the drafts of the manuscript.

This is to confirm authorship attribution of all the statements above to be included in the Thesis

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024

THESIS ABSTRACT

Background Quality improvement (QI) strategies are increasingly being used in primary care practices in an effort to reduce the burden of coronary heart disease (CHD). These strategies involve a systematic and multi-dimensional approach, aiming to provide high-quality, efficient, and patient-centred care through review and refinement of data. This Thesis aims to comprehensively evaluate a 12-month QI intervention in a cluster randomised controlled trial, focusing on assessing primary care practices' engagement, delivery, healthcare providers' satisfaction and acceptability, and identifying barriers and enablers associated with implementing the QI intervention in the management of coronary heart disease.

Methods This Thesis presents a systematic review and mixed-methods process evaluation of the multi-featured data-driven QI intervention delivered to 27 Australian primary care practices within the QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with coronary heart disease (QUEL) study. The Thesis includes a sub-analysis of the QUEL study (Chapter Two), a systematic review and meta-analysis (Chapter Three) and a protocol of the mixed-methods process evaluation (Chapter Four). Results of the process evaluation on primary care practices' engagement with the intervention, intervention delivery and key useful features are presented in Chapter Five. Healthcare providers' satisfaction and acceptability of the intervention, explored the different factors affecting the intervention implementation presented in Chapter Six. **Results** An evidence-practice gap was identified in the receipt of subsidised health services and guideline-recommended medications for the management of cardiovascular disease, where women were more likely to receive chronic disease management plans than men 46% vs 43%; adjusted odds ratio (OR): 1.22 [95% confidence interval (CI): 1.12, 1.34]. Additionally, women were also less likely to receive guideline-indicated antiplatelet medications compared to men (44% vs 51%; OR: 0.84 [95% CI: 0.76, 0.94]). However, there was no difference in the proportion of prescribed blood pressure and lipid-lowering medications (Chapter 2). The systematic review and meta-analysis showed mixed effectiveness of the QI interventions. Meta-analysis demonstrated that, compared with usual care, QI interventions significantly reduced the rate of major cardiovascular events (MACE) (OR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.72, 0.98) and total mortality (OR: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.78, 0.99). There was no significant improvement in the prescription of guideline-recommended medications, including antiplatelets (OR: 1.24, 95% CI: 0.92, 1.67) and lipid-lowering (OR: 1.27, 95% CI: 0.95, 1.70), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (OR: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.91, 1.51), beta-blockers (OR: 1.27, 95% CI:0.94, 1.73), and smoking cessation advice (OR: 1.30, 95% CI: 0.75, 2.27) as a result of QI interventions (Chapter Three). Findings from the mixed-methods process evaluation of the QUEL study revealed varied engagement of practices with the QI intervention, with 42% of practices attending five or more of the six learning workshops. 69% of practices used Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles. Qualitative data identified learning workshops and monthly feedback reports as the key features of the intervention (Chapter Five). Finally, the QI intervention received positive satisfaction with 71% and 100% ratings of the learning workshops. Qualitative analysis found the overall intervention useful. COVID-19 and lack of time were identified as common barriers, while practice team collaboration and effective leadership emerged as major

vi

enablers to their participation in the QI program. Additionally, 90% of the practices reported that their participation was affected by COVID-19 (Chapter Six).

Conclusion This Thesis provides valuable insights for primary care practices seeking future adoption of similar data-driven QI initiatives in improving care of CHD and other chronic diseases. Further research is needed to fully evaluate the effect of individual QI strategies in improving clinical outcomes in the management of CHD.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This Thesis would not have been possible without the guidance, help and support from so many people. First, I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Julie Redfern, Professor Tim Usherwood and Dr Karice Hyun. Julie, I could not have done this degree without you. You are an amazing, understanding, and dedicated supervisor who had an essential role in my higher-degree research journey. Since the very initial stages of writing my Thesis proposal and applying for my scholarship, through to my candidature, you not only provided me with the guidance and encouragement that I needed but also the emotional and financial support through the ups and downs of conducting my own clinical trial. THANK YOU for the continuous support and encouragement specially during my pregnancy and motherhood. As a first-time mother who is trying to achieve a PhD, you have no idea how much your words of encouragement and appreciation have meant to me. It boosted my confidence and led me to believe I could do this when I had doubts! You are a role model to me, and you have inspired me to achieve much more than I could have ever imagined. Professor Usherwood, thank you for all your expert guidance and advice during my course. I will be eternally grateful for your motivation, support and mentoring during the four years of my candidature. Karice, thank you for just being there and for answering my texts, calls and emails irrespective of the day and time. I am grateful for all the feedback you have provided in preparing manuscripts and presentations. And I appreciate your continuous guidance through different stages of my professional and academic career and helping me grow as a researcher. Words are not enough to express my gratitude for the support I have received from my incredible supervisors throughout my PhD journey.

Second, I would like to thank everyone who helped and supported me in conducting my Study. To begin, I would like to demonstrate my appreciation and gratitude to Professor Tom Briffa, Professor Robyn Gallagher, Professor Christopher Reid, Professor David Hare, Professor Nicholas Zwar, Professor Mark Woodward, Professor Stephen Jan, Professor Tracey-Lea Laba, Professor Elizabeth Halcomb, Associate Professor Charlotte Hespe, Professor Clara Chow, and Dr Emily Atkins for their expertise, time, advice, and encouragement throughout my candidature. I would also like to convey my deepest gratitude to all the general practitioners and the practice staff who participated in the study and took some time from their busy schedules to talk to me and provide their valuable feedback on my research. The study would not have been possible without their active participation and help. Also, thanks to Mia Dhillon from the Improvement Foundation and the PenCS team for their contribution to the intervention.

Third, I would like to thank the ECHO team, who made this PhD journey more enjoyable. A very special thanks to my colleagues, Dr Qiang Tu, for all your support and always having my back, and Deborah Manandi, for being the extra pair of eyes and ears to my work during my candidature. Thank you for providing me with much-needed encouragement. I would also like to acknowledge Julia Ning and Caroline Wu for all the research and administrative support, and Kane Williams for his legal advice and contribution to helping set up the study.

Fourth, to my family - my parents, I could never thank you enough for your love, motivation, and support throughout my life. Abbu, you have taught me everything! You have been my role model, and if I can be a fraction of a person of who you are both professionally and personally, I would consider myself successful. Ammu, you have taught me good values, ethics, and to always have faith in myself. Thank you both for always being there for me. To my sister, Nujhat, my brother, Ahsan and my sister-in-law, Reehum, thank you for taking care of the whole family in Bangladesh and for allowing me to chase my dreams in Australia. Bhaiya, after Abbu, you are the one who I look up to. Thank you for always being there when I needed you. To my nephews Ahyan and Rishan, you have brought so much joy to our family, and I love you dearly. To my in-laws for their amazing support and understanding. Thank you to my extended family, aunts, uncles, and cousins. I am blessed to be a part of this big, amazing, and unique family who never fails to make me feel inspired, motivated, and supported.

Finally, to my husband Mahi, this Thesis would not have existed if I hadn't met you. Thank you for always being there through thick and thin, the ups and downs of my life, even during the toughest and crankiest times. You have taught me to be calmer and more relaxed, and every day, you inspire me to be the best version of myself. To my baby boy Kiyan, thank you for coming into my life. You have made me more resilient and emotionally stronger. Now, I know I can achieve anything if I put my mind to it. Thank you!

I would also like to demonstrate my appreciation to the University of Sydney for providing me with financial support during my PhD candidature through the Westmead Applied Research Centre Scholarship, which enabled me to conduct my study.

Х

DEDICATION

This Thesis is dedicated to my beloved parents, Professor A K M Hafiz and Mrs Naim Fatema. Abbu, your presence in my life has been a constant source of support and inspiration. Your unwavering dedication to serve patients and your community and your commitment to work throughout the years have never ceased to impress me. Your ability to balance your responsibilities towards both your patients and our family is nothing short of remarkable. You have consistently guided not only our immediate family but also our extended family towards success, and your support has helped countless others shape their futures. You are my ultimate role model, and because of you, I chose to pursue a career in medicine and health. Ammu, thank you for being the rock in our family. Your upbringing, guidance, and support in every aspect of my life have made me what I am today. I dedicate this Thesis to you both, and I hope that, in the future, my research can help prevent more families from losing their loved ones to this preventable but fatal disease called coronary heart disease.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY	ii
AUTHORSHIP ATTRIBUTION STATEMENT	iii
THESIS ABSTRACT	•••••• v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	viii
DEDICATION	xi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	Xİİ
LIST OF FIGURES	XVIII
LIST OF BOXES	xxi
LIST OF ABBREVIATED TERMS AND ACRONYMS	xxii
OUTPUTS FROM THIS THESIS	xxvii
Manuscripts published in peer-reviewed journals	xxvii
Manuscripts submitted to a peer-reviewed journal	xxvii
Manuscripts under review in peer-reviewed journal	xxvii
Conference presentations - Oral	xxviii
Conference Presentation - Poster	xxviii
AWARDS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	
Scholarship	
Grants and Awards	
CHAPTER ONE	1
Introduction and Thesis aims	1
CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AS A GLOBAL HEALTH CHALLENGE	2
EVIDENCE-BASED SECONDARY PREVENTION STRATEGIES	3
THE ROLE OF PRIMARY CARE IN CVD MANAGEMENT	5
Government-funded health services	5
Use and impact of electronic health records in healthcare	6
The potential impact of improving utilisation of secondary prevention service	es in 8
THE EVOLUTION OF OUNITIATIVES	0 Q
OI strategies used in healthcare	
QUALITY IMPROVEMENT IN PRIMARY CARE TO PREVENT HOSPITALISATIONS AND IMPROVE EFFECTIVENESS AND EFFICIEN	CY OF
PEOPLE LIVING WITH CORONARY HEART DISEASE (QUEL STUDY)	

QUEL study design and participants	15
Overview of the QI intervention in the QUEL study	16
QUEL Study outcomes and data collection	19
IMPORTANCE OF PROCESS EVALUATION IN HEALTHCARE	20
Evaluation of the QI intervention within QUEL	21
EFFECT OF COVID -19 ON HEALTHCARE SYSTEM AND PATIENTS WITH C	HD22
SUMMARY	24
THESIS AIMS	24
REFERENCES	26
CHAPTER TWO	42
Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and medication	on
prescription for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primar	у 42
PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER	43
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	44
INTRODUCTION	46
METHODS	47
Practices and participants	47
Data Collection	47
Outcomes	47
Statistical analysis	47
RESULTS	48
Provision of Chronic Disease Management Plans	48
Provision of Mental Health Treatment Consultations	48
Prescription of the Guideline-Recommended Cardiovascular Medications	49
DISCUSSION	49
CONCLUSION	51
REFERENCES	52
CHAPTER THREE	54
Effectiveness of quality improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular	= 4
Disease-related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis	54
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	56
INTRODUCTION	

METHODS	60
Data sources and search strategy	61
Study inclusion and exclusion criteria	61
Study selection	61
Data extraction	62
Risk of Bias	62
Outcomes	62
Statistical analysis	63
RESULTS	64
Study Selection	64
Study characteristics	66
QI interventions	70
Risk of bias assessment	71
Prescription of guideline-recommended medications	71
Risk Factor Management	74
Clinical events	76
Subgroup analysis	80
DISCUSSION	82
Principal findings	82
Comparison with other studies	82
Strengths and limitations of this review	84
Implications and future research	84
CONCLUSION	85
REFERENCES	88
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	97
CHAPTER FOUR	131
Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and impro	ove care
of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER	
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	
BACKGROUND	
METHODS	
Study design	

Participants	136
Data sources	136
Data analysis	139
Data storage, retention, and disposal	139
DISCUSSION	139
CONCLUSION	139
REFERENCES	140
CHAPTER FIVE	142
Process evaluation of a data-driven quality improvement program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in	
Australian primary care	142
PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER	143
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	144
INTRODUCTION	148
METHODS	150
Study design	150
Participants	150
QI intervention	152
Data sources	153
Outcome measures	154
Data analysis	154
RESULTS	156
Practice and PHN participation	156
Practice engagement and attendance	157
Skills and capacity of the practice team members	161
Time commitment	163
Intervention delivered as intended, key intervention features and its usefulness	164
DISCUSSION	169
CONCLUSION	173
REFERENCES	176
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	183
CHAPTER SIX	188

Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary opatients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of accepta	care for Ibility,
satisfaction, barriers and enablers	
PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER	189
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	190
INTRODUCTION	194
METHODS	195
Study design	195
Participants	196
Data-driven QI intervention	196
Data sources	197
Outcome measures	198
Data Analysis	199
RESULTS	200
Participating practices and staff	200
Participants' satisfaction with different features of the QI intervention progra	am200
Overall program acceptability, feasibility, and utilisation of the program	209
Barriers and enablers to implementation	211
Effect of COVID-19	212
DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSION	231
REFERENCES	235
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	239
CHAPTER SEVEN	240
Discussion and conclusion	
MAIN FINDINGS	241
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	
Leveraging user-friendly QI tools and effective leadership to improve engag	ement247
Expanding use of EHR	
Optimising CVD care through utilisation of data	
Adoption of QI strategies in primary care practices as routine care	251
STRENGTHS	252
LIMITATIONS	
CONCLUSION	
	X V1

REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
Appendix A	
Ethics approval of the QUEL Study	
Appendix B	
Participant Information sheet and consent form	
Appendix C	
Learning workshop one evaluation survey	274
Learning workshop two, three, four and five evaluation survey	
Learning workshop six evaluation survey	
Post-program evaluation survey	
Appendix D	
Discussion guide for QUEL health professional's interview	

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter/Table	Table title	Page
Chapter 1: Table 1	Taxonomy of QI Strategies with Examples of Sub-strategies, adapted from	9
Chapter 2: Table 1	Demographics and clinical characteristics of the cohort with established CVD by gender	49
Chapter 2: Table 2	Receipt of government-funded health services (MBS items) and guideline-indicated prescribed medications in the cohort with established CVD by gender in primary care.	50
Chapter 2: Table 3	Multiple-adjusted female to male ORs and 95% CIs for the receipt of MBS items and guideline- recommended prescription medications in the cohort with established CVD.	50
Chapter 3: Table 1	Characteristics of included studies	67
Chapter 3: Table 2	Sub-group analysis of outcomes, based on clinical settings of the study	81
Chapter 5: Table 1	Summary of participants providing feedback on learning workshop surveys	157
Chapter 5: Table 2	Workshop attendance, PDSA submission and SharePoint use practice distribution.	159
Chapter 5: Table 3	Detailed summary of practice engagement per practice.	160

Chapter 5: Table 4	Characteristics of practice team members	162
	leading the QI activities in the intervention	
	practices	
Chapter 5: Table 5	Practice engagement summary based on workshop attendance and time commitment.	163
Chapter 6: Table 1	Characteristics of practices and participants	201
Chapter 6: Table 2	Satisfaction of learning workshops	203

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter/Figure	Figure title	Page
Chapter 1: Figure 1	Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) Cycle	13
Chapter 3: Figure 1	The PRISMA flow diagram of study selection	65
Chapter 3: Figure 2	Risk of bias summary: risk of bias judgement on each domain by study	72
Chapter 3: Figure 3	Risk of bias graph: judgement of risk of bias domains presented as percentages	72
Chapter 3: Figure 4	Meta-analysis of the effect of quality improvement intervention on medication prescription, smoking cessation advice and clinical events.	77
Chapter 3: Figure 5	Sensitivity analysis of the effect of quality improvement intervention on medication prescription and smoking cessation advice excluding high risk of bias studies.	79
Chapter 4: Figure 1	Logic model for data-driven quality improvement (QUEL) intervention process evaluation	137
Chapter 5: Figure 1	Process evaluation flow diagram of QUEL intervention	151
Chapter 5: Figure 2	Frequency distribution of practices' workshop attendance, PDSA submission and SharePoint use during the 12-month intervention period.	158
Chapter 6: Figure 1	Themes identified as barriers and enablers to intervention implementation	210

LIST OF BOXES

Chapter/Box	Table title	Page
Chapter 1: Box 1	QUEL intervention details	16
Chapter 2: Box 1	Definitions, Medicare item numbers and fees used for outcomes	48
Chapter 5: Box 1	Quotes illustrating why practices found each intervention features useful	165
Chapter 6: Box 1	Barriers to intervention implementation	213
Chapter 6: Box 2	Enablers to program implementation	218
Chapter 6: Box 3	Effect of COVID-19	223
Chapter 6: Box 4	Recommendation for improvement	225

LIST OF ABBREVIATED TERMS AND ACRONYMS

ACEi	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors
ACS	Acute Coronary Syndrome
AIS	Acute Ischemic Stroke
AMI	Acute Myocardial Infarction
ANZCTR	Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry
ARB	Angiotensin Receptor Blocker
ASA	Acetylsalicylic Acid
ASCVD	Atherosclerotic vascular disease
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
CABG	Coronary Artery Bypass Graft
CAD	Coronary Arterial Disease
ССВ	Calcium Channel Blockers
CDMP	Chronic Disease Management Plans
CENTRAL	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials
CHD	Coronary Heart Disease
CI	Confidence Interval
CINAHL	Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature
СМА	Comprehensive Meta-Analysis

COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CQI	Continuous Quality Improvement
cRCT	Cluster-Randomised Controlled Trial
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
CVRM	Cardiovascular Risk Management,
DALY	Disability Adjusted Life Years
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
HER	Electronic Health Record
EMBASE	Excerpta Medical database
EPOC	Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Review Group
ERP	Expert Reference Panel
GEE	Generalised Estimating Equations
GP	General Practitioner
GPMP	General Practice Management Plan
HbA1c	Glycated Haemoglobin A1c
HDL-C	High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol
HF	Heart Failure
HIT	Health Information Technology

HR	Hazards Ratio
HREC	Health Services Research Ethics Committee
IHD	Ischemic Heart Disease
IQI	Interquartile Interval
IQR	Interquartile Range
IT	Information Technology
LDL-C	Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol
LW	Learning Workshop
MACE	Major Adverse Cardiovascular Event
MBS	Medical Benefits Scheme
MEDLINE	Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online
MI	Myocardial Infarction
NA	Not Available
NCD	National Cardiac Database
NHFA	National Heart Foundation of Australia
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
NHS	National Health Service
NR	Not Reported
NSWPHSREC	New South Wales Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee
OR	Odds Ratio

PAD	Peripheral Arterial Disease	
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme	
PCC	Primary Care Centre	
PCI	Percutaneous Coronary Intervention	
PDSA	Plan-Do-Study-Act	
PEN CS	Pen Computer Systems	
PF	Practice Facilitation	
PHN	Primary Health Network	
PICOS	Patient, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome and Settings	
PIP-QI	Practice Incentive Program - Quality Improvement	
PM	Practice Manager	
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses	
PROSPERO	International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews	
QI	Quality Improvement,	
QUEL	QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with coronary heart disease	
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial	
RDS	Research Data Store	
ROB	Risk of Bias	
RR	Relative Risk / Rate Ratio	

SAS	Statistical Analysis System
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SD	Standard Deviation
SMS	Short Message Service
SOS	Statin Outreach Support
STEMI	ST-elevation Myocardial Infarction
TC	Total Cholesterol
TCA	Team Care Arrangements
TIA	Transient Ischemic Attack
TQM	Total Quality Management
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organisation

OUTPUTS FROM THIS THESIS

Manuscripts published in peer-reviewed journals

- 1. **Hafiz N,** Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, Briffa T et al. Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and medication prescriptions for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care. Heart, Lung and Circ. 2021;30(10):1516-1524.
- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation. Contemp Clin Trials. 2022;118:106794.

Manuscripts submitted to a peer-reviewed journal

1. **Hafiz N,** Hyun K, Tu Q, Manandi D, Usherwood T, and Redfern, J. Effectiveness of quality improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular disease related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Primary Care. 2024.

Manuscripts under review in peer-reviewed journal

- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Process evaluation of a data-driven quality improvement program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in Australian primary care. PLoS One. 2023. (Accepted)
- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary

heart disease: a mixed methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. Australian Journal of Primary Health. 2023.

Conference presentations - Oral

- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. Rapid fire presentation, *Australian Society of Medical Research National Scientific Conference. November, 2023.*
- 2. Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. Results from the process evaluation of a multifaceted quality improvement intervention in primary care. *NSW Cardiovascular Research Network Rising Stars Seminar Series: Digital Health and Novel Treatments, July 2023.*
- 3. Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Dhillon M, et al. Do Quality Improvement Workshops Improve Health Professionals Knowledge on Implementing Change for Patients With Coronary Heart Disease in Primary Care? *Charles Perkins Centre Early to mid-career researcher Symposium, September 2021.*

Conference Presentation - Poster

 Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. *Australian Society of Medical Research National Scientific Conference. November, 2023.*

- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Process evaluation results of QUality improvement for Effectiveness of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL), a cluster randomised controlled data-driven quality improvement trial to improve cardiovascular disease care in Australian primary care practices. Heart, Lung and Circ. 2023;32:S340-S1. *Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting, August, 2023.*
- 3. Hafiz N, Hyun K, Hespe C, Usherwood T, Redfern J. Scope of Quality Improvement-Practice Incentive Program (QI-PIP): How Primary Care Practices Can Utilise QI-PIPs by Participating in a Quality Improvement Program (QUEL Study) Focussed on Improving Cardiovascular Disease. Heart, Lung and Circ. 2022;31:S300. *Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting, August, 2022.*
- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Dhillon M, et al. Do Quality Improvement Workshops Improve Health Professionals Knowledge on Implementing Change for Patients With Coronary Heart Disease in Primary Care? Heart, Lung and Circ. 2021;30:S278. *Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting, December, 2021.*
- 5. Hafiz N, Hyun K, Chow C, Briffa T, Gallagher R, Reid C, et al. 732 Gender
 Comparison in the use of General Practice Management Plans (GPMPs) for Patients
 With Cardiovascular Disease (CVD). Heart, Lung and Circ. 2020;29:S365-S6. *Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting, August,*2020.

AWARDS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

Scholarship

 Westmead Applied Research Centre Postgraduate Research Scholarship Award (2019 - 2023)

Grants and Awards

- 1. Charles Perkins Centre Professional Development Grant, 2023 (Value \$750)
- 2. Charles Perkins Centre Travel grant Award, 2023. (Value \$750)
- University of Sydney Post Graduate Research Scheme (PRSS) award, 2022. (Value \$512)
- University of Sydney Post Graduate Research Scheme (PRSS) award, 2021. (Value \$550)
- 5. **2021** Cardiovascular Initiative Catalyst Seed Funding Awards in Implementation and Policy. (Value \$10,000).
- 6. Charles Perkins centre Professional Development Award, 2021. (Value \$330)
- 7. Charles Perkins Centre Travel grant Award, 2021. (Value \$750)
- 8. University of Sydney Post Graduate Research Scheme (PRSS) award, 2021. (Value \$550)
- **9. People's Choice Award Best poster.** ehealth@Sydney2020 conference, Digital Health and Informatics Network (DHIN), University of Sydney, Australia
- 10. University of Sydney Post Graduate Research Scheme (PRSS) award, 2020. (Value \$775)
- 11. Excellence Award, Westmead Applied Research Centre, 2019

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction and Thesis aims



CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AS A GLOBAL HEALTH CHALLENGE

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are defined as a spectrum of disorders affecting the heart and blood vessels, including coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease, rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism (1). CVDs remain a significant global health challenge and continue to contribute to global deaths and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) (2). In 2019 alone, CVD claimed approximately 18 million lives, accounting for a staggering 32% of total global deaths. Moreover, CVD significantly contributed to 330 million years of life lost and affected the quality of life for 35.6 million individuals through disability during the same period (3, 4).

In Australia, CVD is the third leading cause of disease burden, following cancer and musculoskeletal diseases (5). More than four million Australians are affected by CVD, representing approximately 17% of the entire population. Data from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare reported that in 2021, CVD was responsible for approximately 42,700 deaths, accounting for 25% of all deaths, and 600,000 hospitalisations (5). Furthermore, in 2022, approximately 670,000 years of healthy life were lost in Australia alone (5). The major contributors to the CVD disease burden in Australia were CHD, stroke and atrial fibrillation (5).

CHD is defined as the disease of blood vessels supplying the heart muscle. It is often caused by the narrowing of an artery due to atherosclerotic plaque and usually occurs in patients in the form of heart attack (6) and angina (7). CHD is a major contributor to CVD and remains a challenge despite the gradual decline in death and disease burden since 1980 (8). Around 571,000 Australians, representing 2.9% of the adult population, were living with CHD in 2020-2021, according to the report of the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (8). In Australia alone, CHD caused 17,300 deaths during the same year, constituting 41% of CVD-related deaths and 10% of all deaths (8). In addition, CHD was associated with 306,000 years of healthy life lost in 2022 (8). It accounts for 5.5% of Australia's total disease burden (8).

EVIDENCE-BASED SECONDARY PREVENTION STRATEGIES

Several national and international guidelines recommended therapies are currently being used for the management and prevention of CVD, including CHD, cerebrovascular disease, or peripheral vascular disease (9-14). For individuals with existing CVD, guideline recommendation for secondary prevention includes the use of guideline-indicated medications, adopting a healthy lifestyle, implementation of chronic disease management plans (CDMPs), screening for other comorbidities such as psychosocial factors including depression and anxiety, and participation in a cardiac rehabilitation program following an acute event (9, 15, 16). Recommendation for a healthy lifestyle includes smoking cessation, less alcohol consumption, adopting a well-balanced nutritional diet, engaging in at least 30 minutes of physical activity per day for five days a week and maintaining a healthy body weight (9, 13). Guideline-recommended medications for all patients include the use of antiplatelet agents, anticoagulants, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), beta-blockers, statins, and short-acting nitrates (17). The guidelines also recommend managing CVD risk factors such as cholesterol level, blood pressure (BP) and diabetes (9, 13). Additionally, annual influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations are advised as part of the management for established CHD (9, 18).

Another successful secondary prevention strategy is cardiac rehabilitation, typically conducted through group-based programs where patients attend weekly exercise and

education sessions for 6-10 weeks in hospitals, community centres or clinics (19). Cardiac rehabilitation programs are cost-effective, safe, and beneficial for all patients as they provide health education, counselling, and behaviour modification, including physical activity and exercise training programs to improve heart health (9, 20). Furthermore, research has consistently demonstrated that cardiac rehabilitation not only aids in recovery from a recent cardiac event or procedure but also improves survival rates and reduces the risk of future events and hospitalisations for patients with established CHD (21).

While there are well-documented benefits, cardiac rehabilitation reach remains limited. In countries such as the Unites States of America (USA) (10% to 20%) and Australia (28.4%), despite the evidence and recommendations (22), utilisation of these programs is low (23, 24). There are several factors contributing to the underutilisation of these services, which include but are not limited to low referral rate (around 20%) (25), poor patient motivation, and distance to the location(26). Additionally, research indicates that specific groups, such as women, individuals from diverse ethnic backgrounds with cultural and language barriers and those with low socioeconomic status, face challenges in accessing these programs (23, 27). To enhance the effectiveness of secondary prevention for CVD, it is imperative that patients with established CVD receive multidisciplinary and coordinated care involving primary care providers, specialists, allied health professionals, and cardiac rehabilitation. Therefore, further research is needed to explore strategies for improving the utilisation of available secondary prevention interventions across healthcare services, particularly in primary care practices.

THE ROLE OF PRIMARY CARE IN CVD MANAGEMENT

Primary care plays a pivotal role in the successful execution of these secondary prevention strategies for the management of CVD. It serves as the first point of contact for any patients with chronic diseases, including CVD, offering comprehensive and coordinated care (28). In Australia, primary health care is provided through a multidisciplinary approach involving GPs, nurses, community health centres and allied health professionals, with support from Primary Health Networks (PHNs) (29, 30). A study found regular visits to the General practitioners (GPs) reduce the risk of emergency hospitalisation (hazard ration (HR) = 0.81, [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.67, 0.98]) and deaths (HR = 0.70, [95% CI: 0.65, 0.68]) in individuals already diagnosed with CVD (31). Therefore, a robust primary care system is needed to optimise care, provide better health outcomes, and reduce costs.

Government-funded health services

To reduce the burden of CVD and improve management, Australian primary care provides a range of services for managing CVD. These services include early detection, prescription of guideline-recommended medications, lifestyle modification counselling, provision of CDMPs and referral to various services and rehabilitation programs (19, 32, 33). Patients with established chronic diseases, including CVD, are eligible to receive CDMPs, which include preparing a General Practice Management Plan (GPMP), Team Care Arrangements (TCA) and GPMP reviews (33). GPMPs assist healthcare providers in identifying patients' healthcare needs, specifying the services offered by GPs and providing guidance for patients to self-manage their chronic conditions. TCAs are tailored for patients with complex chronic conditions requiring coordination with at least two other healthcare providers for ongoing support. GPMP reviews involve regular follow-up between GPs and patients to ensure that established goals for disease management are being met. Consequently, it enables primary

healthcare providers to coordinate multidisciplinary care for patients with chronic diseases (33).

Moreover, mental health conditions, including depression, anxiety, and other psychological factors, may have a significant impact on the management and prognosis of CVD. (34) The intricate interplay between these two conditions, often sharing underlying etiological factors, can pose unique challenges in effectively addressing modifiable risk factors for CVD (35). Therefore, the Australian government also subsidises mental health care treatments including assessments, preparation of a mental health management plans, reviews, and treatment consultations for ongoing management. These subsidised mental health services are also accessible through primary care practices for patients with symptoms or a known diagnosis of a mental health issue.

In addition, guideline-recommended CVD medications are accessible to Australian citizens at a low cost, and which can be accessed from primary care (17). Access to primary care services including CDPMs and subsidised medications are provided as part of the Australian universal health insurance scheme, known as Medicare, which ensures all Australians have access to healthcare services for free or at a reduced cost. Results from a retrospective quasi-experimental study have demonstrated that the use of government-funded health services and subsidised medications can significantly reduce the rate of CVD or diabetes-related hospitalisations ($p \le 0.01$), re-hospitalisations ($P \le 0.01$) and length of stay ($P \le 0.01$) (36).

Use and impact of electronic health records in healthcare

Electronic health records (EHR) systematically collect patient information and store them securely in a digital platform. In recent years, the use of electronic health records has

6
revolutionised primary care (37), which provides a comprehensive, computerised, patientoriented system that centralises individual patient information, enabling efficient and effective coordination of patient care by healthcare professionals (38). This has significantly improved how healthcare facilities operate (39, 40). According to a 2014 national physician survey of Canadian doctors, the adoption of EHRs resulted in a notable 65% of doctors reporting an improvement in patient care, with less than 5% reporting a negative impact on healthcare quality (41). Another physician survey highlighted the benefits of EHRs in reducing medication-related errors (72% to 81%, p = 0.03), improving the follow-up of laboratory results (62% to 87%, p <0.001), and enhancing communication among physicians (72% to 93%, p <0.001) (42).

Electronic health records are used in various healthcare processes, including automatic data collection, review and patient monitoring, risk assessment, patient filtering, generating aggregated reports, and sending GP reminders (39). These functions empower health professionals to identify areas of improvement and monitor progress, leading to improved efficiency in healthcare workflows and enhanced patient outcomes (38, 43). A cohort study further revealed that the use of EHRs contributed to a 22% reduction in overall cancer mortality when comparing metformin to other oral hypoglycemic medications (HR 0.78, [95% CI: 0.69, 0.88]) (44). Furthermore, diabetic patients on metformin showed a notable 39% lower mortality rates compared to those on insulin only (HR 0.61, [95% CI: 0.50, 0.73]), demonstrating the significant potential of EHRs in reducing mortality rate (44). The effectiveness of electronic patient records in improving patient care is well documented. Hence, it needs to be widely adopted in new secondary prevention strategies such as data-driven quality improvement (QI) interventions.

The potential impact of improving utilisation of secondary prevention services in primary care

There is evidence of suboptimal use of secondary prevention services provided by primary care for patients with CVD (45). A sub-analysis of a large randomised clinical trial with 905 participants revealed only half of the cohort used a CDMP (46). Additionally, another study assessing long-term adherence to guideline-recommended medications found a decrease in the proportion of use from 50-85% to 45-50% after five years (47). There is an opportunity to strengthen the implementation of more effective and innovative strategies within primary care to promote improved utilisation of these services.

Despite the positive impact of these services on reducing CVD-related hospitalisations and future events (36), studies have shown significant global and Australian variations in the use of secondary prevention strategies, particularly in the context of gender disparities. Women, in particular, were less likely to be assessed for CVD risk factors (48, 49), use guideline-recommended medications (50-52) and attend less cardiac rehabilitation programs (49). While existing studies have explored gender-based differences in care-seeking behaviours and healthcare utilisation, a gap remains in the understanding of how gender influences the utilisation of CDMPs for managing CVD.

Furthermore, beyond gender disparities, there is a significant opportunity for improvement in the provision of government-funded health services in primary care to manage chronic diseases effectively, as well as CVD (36). Therefore, further research is needed to evaluate the utilisation of secondary prevention services, mainly focusing on CDMPs in men and women. Additionally, this research should assess the overall impact of these services on improving the quality of CVD care. By addressing these issues, more equitable and effective

healthcare delivery via new and innovative strategies, like data-driven QI interventions, can be ensured for individuals with CVD.

THE EVOLUTION OF QI INITIATIVES

QI is defined as a systematic, data-driven approach to bring immediate improvement in the delivery of healthcare within a particular setting (53). Shojania and colleagues have further defined QI strategies as interventions to bridge the gap in the quality of care provided to a group of patients, aligning it more closely with the care typically delivered in routine practice (54). These strategies are innovative, multidimensional, and holistic approaches used across various healthcare settings to elevate the quality of care offered to their patients, improve outcomes, and expand health professionals' knowledge (55). A wide range of methods are employed as QI strategies throughout healthcare settings to improve the quality of care (56). Shojania and colleagues have also developed a taxonomy of QI strategies, suggesting that using particular strategies and methodologies depends on the nature of the QI initiative, Table 1 (54, 57).

QI strategy	Examples
Provider reminder	• Reminders in charts for providers
system	Computer-based reminders for providers
	Computer-based decision support
Facilitated relay of clinical data to providers	Transmission of clinical data from outpatient speciality clinic to primary care provider by means other than medical record (phone call or fax)

Table 1: Taxonomy of QI strategies with examples of sub-strategies

Audit and feedback	• Feedback on performance to individual providers
	• Quality indicators and reports
	• National/state quality report cards
	Publicly released performance data
	• Benchmarking - provision of outcomes data from top performers for comparison with provider's data
Provider education	Workshops and conferences
	• Educational outreach visits (e.g., academic detailing)
	Distributed educational materials
Patient Education	• Classes
	• Parent and family education
	• Patient pamphlets
	• Intensive education strategies promoting self-management of chronic conditions
Patient reminder systems	Materials and devices promoting self-management
Promotion of self- management	Postcards or calls to patients
Organisational change	Case management, disease management
	• Telemedicine
	• Total Quality Management (TQM), Continuous quality improvement (CQI) techniques

	Multidisciplinary team
	• Change from paper to computer-based records
	• Increased staffing
	• Skill-mix changes
Financial incentives,	Provider directed:
regulation, and policy	• Financial incentives based on achievement of performance goals
	• Alternative reimbursement systems (e.g., fee-for- service, capitated payments)
	• Licensure requirements
	Patient directed:
	• Copayments for certain visit types
	• Health insurance premiums, user fees
	Health system directed:
	• Initiatives by accreditation bodies (e.g., residency work hour limit)
	• Changes in reimbursement schemes (e.g., Capitation, prospective payment, salaried providers)

QI strategies used in healthcare

One effective QI strategy is data and feedback reporting, which motivates health professionals to implement improvement changes within their clinical practice. A systematic review of 140 studies found that audit and feedback reporting, whether used alone or in combination with other QI strategies, can effectively improve health professionals' practice and patient outcomes (58, 59). However, the effectiveness of this strategy was dependent on the delivery and intensity of the feedback provided (58, 59). Additionally, the use of electronic data and regular feedback reports serves as a motivating factor for practice staff and facilitates visualisation and progress monitoring (60, 61).

Continuous education for health professionals, delivered via meetings or workshops, is also an effective QI strategy. In a randomised trial, continuous training for physicians in smoking counselling led to a 2.2% increase in the proportion of patients quitting smoking (62). Similarly, another randomised trial found significant improvement in patient outcomes, including increased patient knowledge of cholesterol management (p=0.008) and reduced serum cholesterol level (p=0.02) within the intervention group, where physicians received training (63). These workshops and educational programs provide healthcare professionals with practical knowledge, problem-solving skills, and the tools necessary for effective QI efforts, including Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycles (64-66). Another successful QI strategy is the PDSA cycle. PDSAs are the most commonly used QI tool for measuring improvements in healthcare quality (67, 68). This iterative cycle guides health professionals through the explicit planning, implementation, reflection, and repetition of incremental improvements as they introduce systemic changes to achieve their pre-defined objectives (69). In a cluster-randomised study, qualitative findings found that implementing multiple rapid PDSA cycles led to the refinement of the initial intervention to improve outcomes and streamline practice workflows (70). Therefore, it highlights the effectiveness of PDSA as a QI strategy for identifying areas of improvement, testing changes, and achieving better results and operational efficiency.



Figure 1: Plan-Do-Study-Act Cycle, adapted from (71)

Furthermore, practice accreditation and financial incentives are also often used in combination with other QI strategies to facilitate improvement in practices. Financial incentives have proven effective in encouraging health professionals to achieve quality targets within a specific time. A systematic review found that, out of seven included studies, financial incentives had a positive impact on study outcomes in six studies, although the effectiveness varied among the outcomes (72). Another systematic review examining the impact of accreditation as a QI strategy found significant improvements in clinical outcomes and healthcare quality, particularly in managing conditions such as acute MI (73). Combining various QI strategies, such as case management, team changes, electronic patient registry or electronic health records, sharing of clinical information, and continuous QI, has also improved the quality of care. For example, a systematic review that used a combination of these strategies reported improved outcomes in several risk factors outcomes, including reduced HbA1c by 0.62%, decreased systolic BP by 4.39 mmHg and lowered LDL-C by 5.52 mg/dl to improve diabetes care (74).

In Australia, the availability of the PIP-QI and EHRs has encouraged more primary care practices to adopt various QI strategies to enhance patient care. EHRs have further streamlined the adoption of these strategies by automating data extraction processes and making patients' progress monitoring more efficient and accurate (38, 75, 76). QI initiatives in healthcare have seen the adoption of various strategies such as practice accreditation, data and feedback reporting, health professionals' education, PDSA cycles, use of electronic health records and financial incentives to enhance healthcare quality and outcomes. While there is substantial evidence supporting the effectiveness of these strategies, there are no known studies that have evaluated their impact on outcomes and associated process evaluation in the management of CVD in primary care. Further research is needed to comprehensively assess the benefits and potential limitations of these QI programs in the context of CVD management.

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT IN PRIMARY CARE TO PREVENT

HOSPITALISATIONS AND IMPROVE EFFECTIVENESS AND EFFICIENCY OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH CORONARY HEART DISEASE (QUEL STUDY)

In an effort to reduce the burden of CHD and improve the quality of care while narrowing the gap between hospital and primary care, a secondary prevention alliance was formed to find and implement innovative solutions (77). As a result, the QUEL study was developed to evaluate the effectiveness of a data-driven QI program implemented in primary care practices to improve the care of CHD patients. The QUEL study aimed to determine whether the QI program:

- 1. Reduces the rate of unplanned CVD hospitalisations and adverse events.
- Increases the proportion of patients who are (i) prescribed evidence-based CVD medications, (ii) achieving national targets for risk factors (cholesterol, BP, smoking), and (iii) receiving Chronic Disease Management (CDM) or review plan.

QUEL study design and participants

QUEL is a cluster randomised controlled trial (cRCT) recruiting 52 primary care practices across four Australian states, including New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia, and Queensland. Twenty-seven practices were randomised into the intervention arm, where they received the 12-month intervention and remaining 25 practices were randomised to the control group to receive usual care. The study was funded by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Projects (APP1140807) grant and is registered as a clinical trial in the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR) (ACTRN12619001790134). The ethics approval for the study is obtained from

NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44) and included in Appendix A.

Primary care practices and patients were included in the study. Primary care practices were eligible to participate in the QUEL study if they managed ≥ 100 patients per year with prevalent CHD and used practice software compliant with the automated data collection system. Patients were included if they were ≥ 18 years old with a documented diagnosis of CHD in the primary care record of a participating practice and visited the participating practice at least once in the previous 12 months. Details of the study design and methods are presented in a published protocol (78).

Overview of the QI intervention in the QUEL study

The QUEL intervention consisted of multiple features, including learning workshops, submission of electronic data by the participating practices, same practices receiving feedback reports every month based on the submitted data, submission of PDSA cycles by the practices to test QI changes, and external support given to the practices by relevant PHNs. The intervention was delivered over a year between November 2019 and November 2020 in 27 primary care practices randomised in the intervention group. Details of the intervention implementation are given below:

Pre-work	1. Expert Reference Panel (ERP): An expert reference panel was
	established consisting of subject matter experts in research and
	collaborative QI who have applied practical improvement in the
	cardiovascular disease area. The QUEL intervention was designed
	by an ERP along with QUEL investigators and research partners,

Box 1: QUEL intervention details

	who also reviewed and finalised the program content to ensure the
	suitability of QUEL.
	2. Pre-defined key performance measures as a target for
	improvement: Before the start of the intervention, ERP, QUEL
	partners and investigators worked collaboratively to identify 12
	CHD measures to be used as pre-determined areas for
	improvement during the 12-month intervention period.
	3. Setting up SharePoint account: Each practice was given access to
	a SharePoint web account where monthly feedback report was
	uploaded along with other study materials, including workshop
	recordings, presentations, intervention guidelines, PDSA
	templates, etc. The web page was also used to submit PDSA using
	the online template.
	12 months (Normality 2010 to Normality 2020)
Length of the	12 months (November 2019 to November 2020)
intervention	
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program.
Orientation	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program.
Orientation Electronic data	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool
Orientation Electronic data collection	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review
Orientation Electronic data collection (baseline)	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data to achieve the CHD risk factor targets outlined in
Orientation Electronic data collection (baseline)	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data to achieve the CHD risk factor targets outlined in the QUEL study. Aggregated clinical data was collected before the first
Orientation Electronic data collection (baseline)	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data to achieve the CHD risk factor targets outlined in the QUEL study. Aggregated clinical data was collected before the first learning workshop and was presented at the first learning workshop.
Orientation Electronic data collection (baseline)	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data to achieve the CHD risk factor targets outlined in the QUEL study. Aggregated clinical data was collected before the first learning workshop and was presented at the first learning workshop. This data provided an important snapshot of the practices' position
Orientation Electronic data collection (baseline)	The virtual orientation session provided an overview of the QUEL collaborative, introduced the 12 pre-defined key performance measures as targets for improvement, and outlined requirements and expectations and the benefits that can be expected by participating in the program. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data to achieve the CHD risk factor targets outlined in the QUEL study. Aggregated clinical data was collected before the first learning workshop and was presented at the first learning workshop. This data provided an important snapshot of the practices' position before making any improvements and enabled them to see the results

Learning	LW1 (full day face-to-face (F2F) event): Introduction to QUEL
workshop (LW)	collaborative, introduction to collaborative aim and change principles,
	Model for Improvement and PDSA cycles, the evidence behind CHD
	measures, understanding your CVD population, creating effective
	recall system, practices shared real-time experiences on how they
	implement activities to drive improvement and next step. LW2: (1 hr
	virtual session): How to use SharePoint to access monthly reports and
	submit PDSA, collaborative update on work being undertaken by the
	practices as Model for Improvement and PDSA cycles and aggregated
	reporting and benchmarking of program measures, enhancing CHD
	management through care planning (real-time experience shared by
	other intervention practices) and next step. LW3: (1 hr virtual
	session): Collaborative update on Model for Improvement and PDSA
	cycles by the practices and aggregated reporting and benchmarking of
	program measures, real-time experience shared by other intervention
	practices) and next step. LW4 and LW5 (1 hr virtual session): The
	impact of COVID-19 on the Collaborative and future plans.
	Collaborative update on Model for Improvement and PDSA cycles by
	the practices, aggregated reporting and benchmarking of program
	measures. Improvement in CHD (stories of achievement shared by one
	of the intervention practices) and next step. LW6 (Full day virtual
	event): Collaborative update on Model for Improvement and PDSA
	cycles by the practices and aggregated reporting and benchmarking of
	program measures, process mapping for heart disease - patient journey
	example, heart disease improvement stories (stories of achievement
	shared by intervention practices), sustaining change and sharing plans
	for sustaining change, next step, evaluation, and closure.
Activity period (in	1 Electronic data collected monthly by the study team
between the	
learning	2. Monthly reporting and feedback graphs uploaded in SharePoint by
workshops)	study team
L *	

	3. Identify areas for improvement and complete PDSA cycles by the designated practice team members within the practices to implement QI changes focusing on the 12 CHD measures
Support	Five PHNs agreed to support 12 intervention practices during the intervention period. The remaining 15 practices were supported by the QUEL study team.

QUEL Study outcomes and data collection

The primary outcome is the proportion of patients with unplanned CVD hospitalisations assessed at 24 months after baseline data collection. Secondary outcomes are the proportion of patients with major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events, including angina, myocardial infarction (MI), stroke or CVD deaths, the proportion of patients who received guideline-recommended medications, the proportion of patients with a CDMP, and the proportion of patients achieving national targets for CVD risk factors including total cholesterol, systolic blood pressure (SBP) and smoking also assessed at 24 months.

Clinical data was collected at baseline, 12 and 24 months from the individual patients' electronic health records from all participating practices. CVD hospitalisations and cardiovascular events data were collected via state-based administrative admissions and emergency department data. Individual death data will be collected via linkage with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare's National Death Index and medication prescriptions and health service utilisation data via linkage with Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) and Medical Benefits Scheme (MBS), respectively. This linked data will be collected at the end of the study.

IMPORTANCE OF PROCESS EVALUATION IN HEALTHCARE

Despite the evidence of the effectiveness of QI strategies in improving healthcare performance and patient care (79), their utilisation remains limited, as reported in one study where only 40% of the practices used QI strategies to implement changes (80). The implementation and sustainability of data-driven QI interventions and programs, particularly for managing chronic conditions like CHD, have proven to be challenging (79). Additionally, various QI interventions are used across healthcare, and studies have shown that the effectiveness of these interventions often varies across different settings (81, 82). Studies showed different formats, content, and presentation of the intervention can significantly impact its effectiveness in improving changes. For example, in one study, the intervention group consisting of GPs received feedback with individual scores and comparison of several performance measures at three time points; however, showed no improvement in their performance (83). Conversely, in another study, physicians received monthly feedback on their performance over six months, with the first three months focusing on individual management and the following three months comparing individual and group data presented as histograms (84). Therefore, it is crucial to gain a deeper understanding of the different QI interventions as it allows us to evaluate the specific details of the successes and failures associated with it to bring about changes within the healthcare settings. Further evaluation of these interventions thus helps to identify specific activities undertaken, the extent of participant exposure to these activities, and their experiences during the intervention, consequently playing a significant role in determining the ultimate outcome of the QI intervention.

Understanding these finer details is essential for improving the effectiveness of QI interventions in healthcare. Evidence suggests process evaluation is useful, particularly in QI

interventions, as it can help to describe the intervention in detail, evaluate whether it was implemented as intended and performed as planned, provide an in-depth understanding of individual features used within the QI and identify factors influencing the interventions successes or failures (85-87). Therefore, process evaluation in conjunction with complex interventions is increasing due to the multifaceted nature of these interventions (88, 89).

Evaluation of the QI intervention within QUEL

Process evaluation can be helpful in all types of QI interventions, including pilot studies, small and large-scale QI projects, and even in randomised controlled studies. The QUEL intervention includes multiple features, including data and feedback reporting, PDSA, and health professionals' education. Performing a process evaluation within the QUEL cRCT will help understand the mechanisms of impact, context and different features of the data-driven QI intervention within the QUEL study to improve CHD management in Australian primary care practices. While many studies have identified barriers and enablers to program implementation in various contexts (90, 91), few studies have explored health professionals' perspectives on the QI intervention (92). Therefore, the process evaluation within the QUEL study seeks to evaluate practices' satisfaction and acceptability of the intervention and to identify barriers and enablers, including the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, in implementing the QI intervention for CHD management.

Evidence from previous studies further enhances the significance of performing process evaluation in QI interventions implemented in primary care. In a randomised QI study, which delivered a multi-featured intervention to 33 primary care practices, process evaluation collected feedback from 68 GPs and 83 practice assistants. The findings revealed positive feedback and satisfaction regarding the intervention from the general practitioners (GPs) and the practice staff (83). The same study identified increased paperwork as a barrier for GPs in implementing the intervention from the process evaluation (83). Furthermore, all participants agreed that their involvement in the intervention resulted in improved workflow and brought about changes within their practice in improving the prevention of CVD (79). Another largescale national-level QI program was evaluated to find the use of combined improvement strategies, along with the identified key factors, played a crucial role in successfully implementing the QI intervention in improving cervical cancer screening guideline adherence in 1000 primary care practices (84).

Additionally, evidence is scarce regarding the perception of practices and health professionals on using these programs, including their perceived benefits and potential reach (93). To guide scalability and future development, it is increasingly important to gain a comprehensive understanding of the individual features and processes associated with implementing such programs to improve the management of CHD and other chronic conditions (87, 88, 94). Evaluating the QUEL program will also gather rich evidence on the effectiveness of a datadriven QI strategy and, therefore, will be in a strong position to inform policymakers, PHNs and GP practices on future data-driven QI programs. A comprehensive evaluation of the QI intervention within the QUEL study will not only provide evidence surrounding the health professionals' perception and potential benefits of such programs but also will be able to provide insights to shape the future of data-driven QI initiatives in healthcare, ultimately advancing the management of CHD and other chronic conditions.

EFFECT OF COVID -19 ON HEALTHCARE SYSTEM AND PATIENTS WITH CHD

The coronavirus disease outbreak, known as COVID-19, in 2019 was declared a global emergency (95), resulting in three million global deaths and enormous personal and societal

losses (96). COVID-19 also had a greater impact on people living with chronic diseases such as heart disease, diabetes, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (37). Studies have found that individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, including CHD, had an increased risk of experiencing acute events and were more likely to become severely ill from COVID-19, often leading to hospitalisations, intensive care support or death (97-99). Studies from China found that CVD, including CHD, is one of the most common comorbidities in COVID-19 patients (100, 101); around 40% of the hospitalised COVID-19 patients had co-morbidities including CHD and cerebrovascular disease (101). It was also found that the death rate in patients with CVD was 10.5%, the highest among those with comorbidities (102).

The pandemic has also impacted the healthcare system globally (103). Healthcare facilities redesigned their services to cater towards severely ill COVID-19 patients, cancelling routine, non-urgent and elective treatments (104). In preparation to meet the surge of COVID-19, primary care also underwent radical changes and reshaped the landscape of primary care, impacting the care provided to individuals living with CHD (105). Practices cancelled many appointments and procedures, moved to telehealth or video consultations and restricted face-to-face consultations during the pandemic (106-108). One study in Australia found that face-to-face or in-person consultations in one of their states decreased by 22.1% (109), and in-person visits to cardiology clinics also reduced by more than 60% in the USA (110). Patients were required to test negative for COVID-19 prior to any in-person consultations. There was a shift in patients' overall healthcare-seeking behaviour. As a result, patients with chronic conditions failed to receive timely and effective access to primary and specialty care (111-113). Studies found CVD risk factors were not evaluated, and there was a decrease in BP measurement by 50% and cholesterol level measurements by 38% (114, 115). Cardiac

rehabilitation programs, which are an effective secondary strategy to manage CHD, were also ceased during the pandemic, leading to increased mortality (116). Given that COVID-19 has brought significant changes in the operation of primary care practices and has also impacted the care delivered to patients with CHD (105), it has become crucial to assess its effect on implementing a QI improvement program during this time.

SUMMARY

CVD, including CHD, remains one of the leading causes of death and disease burden globally. Secondary prevention strategies have become a national and international priority to reduce the burden. Primary care practices play an essential role in reducing the burden by implementing these strategies as they are the frontier of the healthcare system. However, further research is needed to better understand the use of secondary prevention services in primary care, mainly focusing on the gender disparities in receiving these services. Although the effectiveness of the relatively new, innovative, and data-driven QI solutions in primary care has been tested previously, limited research has been undertaken to evaluate such programs at a practice level. Therefore, research is required to understand different features and processes associated with implementing QI interventions and evaluate health professionals' perspectives on it. In addition, several studies have also explored factors influencing successes and failures associated with implementing these strategies in primary care. However, further research will strengthen the evidence for the future adoption of such complex strategies in improving the care of CHD.

THESIS AIMS

The overall aim of the Thesis was to investigate the primary care practices' engagement with the one-year data-driven QI intervention, understand the key features of the intervention and

investigate the acceptability, utility, barriers, enablers and the effect of COVID-19 on its implementation. Using a combination of systematic review and mixed-methods process evaluation, the specific aims of the Thesis were to:

- Explore gender discrepancies amongst patients with CVD, in the receipt of CDMPs, mental health care and prescription of guideline-indicated medications at primary care practices for ongoing secondary prevention (sub-analysis of QUEL).
- Understand the effectiveness of QI interventions in the management of CVD (systematic review).
- Describe the design and methodology of a process evaluation of the one-year QI intervention delivered within the QUEL study (published protocol).
- 4. Describe and analyse practice engagement, attendance, time commitment, skills and capacity of the practice team members associated with the intervention; explore to what extent the intervention was delivered as intended and whether the intervention features were useful.
- 5. Understand the acceptability, satisfaction, uptake, utility, and feasibility of the QI intervention program; identify and describe barriers and enablers to implementation, including the impact of COVID-19 on its implementation.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organisation. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). 2022 [updated 2021 Jun 11; cited 2023 Dec 7]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-</u> sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds).
- Bansilal S, Castellano JM, Fuster V. Global burden of CVD: focus on secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Int J cardiol. 2015;201:S1-S7.
- Harikrishnan S, Jeemon P, Mini G, Thankappan K, Sylaja P. GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2018; 10;392(10159):1736-1788.
- 4. Kyu HH, Abate D, Abate KH, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1859-1922.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease:
 Australian facts [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023
 [updated 2020 Jun 30; cited 2023 Dec 7]. Available from:
 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/hsvd-facts
- Roe MT, Parsons LS, Pollack CV, Jr, Canto JG, Barron HV, Every NR, et al. Quality of care by classification of myocardial infarction: treatment patterns for ST-segment elevation vs non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(14):1630-6.

- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2015;131(4):e29-e322.
- 8. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease: Australian facts: Coronary heart disease. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2023. [updated 2023 Aug 15; cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/hsvd-</u> facts/contents/summary-of-coronary-heart-disease-and-stroke/coronary-heart-disease.
- 9. National Heart Foundation of Australia and the Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand. Reducing risk in heart disease: an expert guide to clinical practice for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia. 2012 [updated 2012; cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/getmedia/a54598f9-e091-4637-b2be-aeed4244bf1e/Reducing-risk-in-heart-disease.pdf
- Chew DP, Scott IA, Cullen L, French JK, Briffa TG, Tideman PA, et al. National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: Australian clinical guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes 2016. Med J Aust. 2016;205(3):128-133.
- Goff Jr DC, Lloyd-Jones DM, Bennett G, Coady S, D'agostino RB, Gibbons R, et al.
 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the assessment of cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2014;129(25 suppl 2):S49-S73.
- Ibanez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, et al. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute

myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Euro Heart J. 2018;39(2):119-177.

 World Health Organization. Prevention of cardiovascular disease: guidelines for assessment and management of total cardiovascular risk. 2007 [cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from:

https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/43685/9789241547178_eng.pdf?sequence=

14. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice. 9th edn. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP. 2018 [updated 2018; cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: https://www.racgp.org.au/FSDEDEV/media/documents/Clinical%20Resources/Guideli

 $\underline{nes/Red\%20Book/Guidelines-for-preventive-activities-in-general-practice.pdf}$

- Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes 2006. Med J Aust.
 2006;184(S8):S1-s32.
- Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, Buroker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ, et al.
 2019 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2019;140(11):e596-e646.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medicines for cardiovascular disease. Cat.
 No. CVD 80. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2017 [cited 2023
 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/e84e445a-b4f0-4eac-96ee-b4cbf4e5639a/aihw-cvd-80.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u>
- Davis MM, Taubert K, Benin AL, Brown DW, Mensah GA, Baddour LM, et al.
 Influenza Vaccination as Secondary Prevention for Cardiovascular Disease: A Science

Advisory From the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48(7):1498-1502.

- National Heart Foundation of Australia. What is cardiac rehab? Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia. 2020 [cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>www.heartfoundation.org.au/getmedia/397076fe-046b-441f-8d64-</u> 57eadff67124/Cardiac-rehabilitation-brochure.pdf
- 20. Leon AS, Franklin BA, Costa F, Balady GJ, Berra KA, Stewart KJ, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention of coronary heart disease: an American Heart Association scientific statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology (Subcommittee on Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity), in collaboration with the American association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation. Circulation. 2005;111(3):369-376.
- Briffa TG, Kinsman L, Maiorana AJ, Zecchin R, Redfern J, Davidson PM, et al. An integrated and coordinated approach to preventing recurrent coronary heart disease events in Australia. Med J Aust. 2009;190(12):683-686.
- Thomas RJ, King M, Lui K, Oldridge N, Piña IL, Spertus J, et al. AACVPR/ACC/AHA 2007 performance measures on cardiac rehabilitation for referral to and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention services. Circulation. 2007;116(14), 1611-1642.
- Ades PA. Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(12):892-902.
- Astley CM, Chew DP, Keech W, Nicholls S, Beltrame J, Horsfall M, et al. The Impact of Cardiac Rehabilitation and Secondary Prevention Programs on 12-Month Clinical Outcomes: A Linked Data Analysis. Heart Lung Circ. 2020;29(3):475-482.

- Suaya JA, Shepard DS, Normand S-LT, Ades PA, Prottas J, Stason WB. Use of cardiac rehabilitation by Medicare beneficiaries after myocardial infarction or coronary bypass surgery. Circulation. 2007;116(15):1653-1662.
- De Vos C, Li X, Van Vlaenderen I, Saka O, Dendale P, Eyssen M, et al. Participating or not in a cardiac rehabilitation programme: factors influencing a patient's decision. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2013;20(2):341-348.
- Valencia HE, Savage PD, Ades PA. Cardiac Rehabilitation Participation in Underserved Populations. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2011;31(4):203-210.
- Smith J. Primary care: balancing health needs, services, and technology. Int J Integr Care. 2001; 1:e36.
- 29. The Department of Health and Aged Care. What Primary Health Networks are. Canberra: Australian Government. [updated 2021 Sep 2, cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/phn/what-PHNs-are</u>
- 30. The Department of Health and Aged Care. Primary care in Australia. Canberra: Australian Government. [updated 2023 Apr 3, cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/topics/primary-care/about/in-australia</u>
- Einarsdóttir K, Preen DB, Emery JD, Holman CD. Regular primary care plays a significant role in secondary prevention of ischemic heart disease in a Western Australian cohort. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(10):1092-1097.
- National Heart Foundation of Australia. Submission to House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health - Chronic Disease Prevention and Management in Primary Care. Australian Parliament House. 2015. Submission 131 [cited 2023 Dec 11].
- The Department of Health and Aged Care. Chronic Disease Management Patient Information. Canberra: Australian Government. 2014 [updated 2014 Mar 14; cited

2023 Dec 11]; Available from:

https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycarechronicdisease-pdf-infosheet

- 34. Lalor E, Boyden A, Cadilhac D, Colagiur S, Doust J, Fraser D, et al. Guidelines for the management of absolute cardiovascular disease risk. 2012.
- 35. De Hert M, Detraux J, Vancampfort D. The intriguing relationship between coronary heart disease and mental disorders. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2018;20(1):31-40.
- 36. Hamar GB, Rula EY, Wells A, Coberley C, Pope JE, Larkin S. Impact of a chronic disease management program on hospital admissions and readmissions in an Australian population with heart disease or diabetes. Popul Health Manag. 2013;16(2):125-131.
- Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature. 2020;584(7821):430-436.
- Manca DP. Do electronic medical records improve quality of care? Yes. Can Fam Physician. 2015;61(10):846-847, 850-851.
- Evans RS. Electronic Health Records: Then, Now, and in the Future. Yearb Med Inform. 2016;Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S48-S61.
- 40. Neves AL, Burgers J. Digital technologies in primary care: Implications for patient care and future research. Eur J Gen Pract. 2022;28(1):203-208.
- 41. Collier R. National physician survey: EMR use at 75%. CMAJ. 2015;187(1):E17-E18.
- El-Kareh R, Gandhi TK, Poon EG, Newmark LP, Ungar J, Lipsitz S, et al. Trends in Primary Care Clinician Perceptions of a New Electronic Health Record. J Gen Intern Med. 2009;24(4):464-468.

- 43. Baker DW, Persell SD, Kho AN, Thompson JA, Kaiser D. The marginal value of previsit paper reminders when added to a multifaceted electronic health record based quality improvement system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2011;18(6):805-811.
- Xu H, Aldrich MC, Chen Q, Liu H, Peterson NB, Dai Q, et al. Validating drug repurposing signals using electronic health records: a case study of metformin associated with reduced cancer mortality. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2014;22(1):179-191.
- 45. Woodhead C, Ashworth M, Broadbent M, Callard F, Hotopf M, Schofield P, et al. Cardiovascular disease treatment among patients with severe mental illness: a data linkage study between primary and secondary care. Br J Gen Pract. 2016;66(647):e374e381.
- 46. Coorey G, Campain A, Mulley J, Usherwood T, Redfern J, Harris M, et al. Utilisation of government-subsidised chronic disease management plans and cardiovascular care in Australian general practices. BMC Prim Care. 2022;23(1):157.
- 47. Gislason GH, Rasmussen JN, Abildstrøm SZ, Gadsbøll N, Buch P, Friberg J, et al. Long-term compliance with beta-blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and statins after acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(10):1153-1158.
- Cabana MD, Kim C. Physician adherence to preventive cardiology guidelines for women. Women's Health Issues. 2003;13(4):142-149.
- 49. Hyun K, Negrone A, Redfern J, Atkins E, Chow C, Kilian J, et al. Gender difference in secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease and outcomes following the survival of acute coronary syndrome. Heart Lung Circ. 2021;30(1):121-127.
- 50. Barrett E, Paige E, Welsh J, Korda RJ, Joshy G, Martin M, et al. Differences between men and women in the use of preventive medications following a major cardiovascular event: Australian prospective cohort study. Prev Med Rep. 2021;22:101342.

- 51. Hay M, Stehli J, Martin C, Brennan A, Dinh DT, Lefkovits J, et al. Sex differences in optimal medical therapy following myocardial infarction according to left ventricular ejection fraction. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2020;27(19):2348-2350.
- Lee HY, Cooke CE, Robertson TA. Use of secondary prevention drug therapy in patients with acute coronary syndrome after hospital discharge. J Manag Care Pharm. 2008;14(3):271-280.
- Lynn J, Baily MA, Bottrell M, Jennings B, Levine RJ, Davidoff F, et al. The ethics of using quality improvement methods in health care. Ann Intern Med. 2007;146(9):666-673.
- 54. Shojania KG, Ranji SR, Shaw LK, et al. Closing the Quality Gap: A Critical Analysis of Quality Improvement Strategies (Vol. 2: Diabetes Care). Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2004 Sep. (Technical Reviews, No. 9.2.) Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK43938/</u>
- 55. Batalden PB, Davidoff F. What is "quality improvement" and how can it transform healthcare? Qual Saf Health Care. 2007; 16(1):2-3.
- 56. Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, et al., editors. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: Characteristics, effectiveness and implementation of different strategies [Internet].
 Copenhagen (Denmark): European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2019. (Health Policy Series, No. 53.) Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549276/</u>
- 57. Shojania KG, Ranji SR, McDonald KM, Grimshaw JM, Sundaram V, Rushakoff RJ, et al. Effects of quality improvement strategies for type 2 diabetes on glycemic control: a meta-regression analysis. JAMA. 2006;296(4):427-440.

- Ivers N, Jamtvedt G, Flottorp S, Young JM, Odgaard-Jensen J, French SD, et al. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes (update).
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012(6):CD000259.
- Jamtvedt G, Young JM, Kristoffersen DT, O'Brien MA, Oxman AD. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2006(2); CD000259.
- 60. Kyle MA, Aveling E-L, Singer S. A mixed methods study of change processes enabling effective transition to team-based care. Med Care Res Rev. 2021;78(4):326-337.
- Lipman PD, Aspy CB. Local learning collaboratives to improve quality for chronic kidney disease (CKD): from four regional practice-based research networks (PBRNs). J Am Board Fam Med. 2016;29(5):543-552.
- 62. Cummings SR, Coates TJ, Richard RJ, Hansen B, Zahnd EG, VanderMartin R, et al. Training physicians in counseling about smoking cessation. A randomized trial of the "Quit for Life" program. Ann Intern Med. 1989;110(8):640-647.
- 63. Casebeer LL, Klapow JC, Centor RM, Stafford MA, Renkl LA, Mallinger AP, et al. An intervention to increase physicians' use of adherence-enhancing strategies in managing hypercholesterolemic patients. Acad Med. 1999;74(12):1334-1339.
- 64. Burton RA, Peters RA, Devers KJ. Perspectives on implementing quality improvement collaboratives effectively: qualitative findings from the CHIPRA quality demonstration grant program. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2018;44(1):12-22.
- 65. Paquette-Warren J, Roberts SE, Fournie M, Tyler M, Brown J, Harris S. Improving chronic care through continuing education of interprofessional primary healthcare teams: a process evaluation. J Interprof Care. 2014;28(3):232-238.
- 66. Worsley C, Webb S, Vaux E. Training healthcare professionals in quality improvement.Future Hosp J. 2016;3(3):207-210.

- 67. Donnelly P, Kirk P. Use the PDSA model for effective change management. Educ Prim Care. 2015;26(4):279-281.
- 68. Leis JA, Shojania KG. A primer on PDSA: executing plan-do-study-act cycles in practice, not just in name. BMJ Qual Saf. 2017;26(7):572-577.
- Harrington J, Newman E. Redesigning the care of rheumatic diseases at the practice and system levels. Part 1: practice level process improvement (Redesign 101). Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2007;25(6 Suppl 47):55-63.
- 70. Coury J, Schneider JL, Rivelli JS, Petrik AF, Seibel E, D'Agostini B, et al. Applying the Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) approach to a large pragmatic study involving safety net clinics. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):411.
- Langley GJ, Moen RD, Nolan KM, Nolan TW, Norman CL, Provost LP. The improvement guide: a practical approach to enhancing organizational performance. 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons; 2009.
- 72. Scott A, Sivey P, Ouakrim DA, Willenberg L, Naccarella L, Furler J, et al. The effect of financial incentives on the quality of health care provided by primary care physicians. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;9:CD008451.
- 73. Alkhenizan A, Shaw C. Impact of accreditation on the quality of healthcare services: a systematic review of the literature. Ann Saudi Med. 2011;31(4):407-416.
- 74. Konnyu KJ, Yogasingam S, Lépine J, Sullivan K, Alabousi M, Edwards A, et al. Quality improvement strategies for diabetes care: Effects on outcomes for adults living with diabetes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2023;5(5):CD014513.
- Baron RJ. Quality Improvement with an Electronic Health Record: Achievable, but Not Automatic. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147(8):549-552.

- 76. Cohen DJ, Dorr DA, Knierim K, DuBard CA, Hemler JR, Hall JD, et al. Primary Care Practices' Abilities And Challenges In Using Electronic Health Record Data For Quality Improvement. Health Affairs. 2018;37(4):635-643.
- 77. Redfern J, Chow CK. Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in Australia: a blueprint for reform. Med J Aust. 2013;198(2):70-71.
- 78. Redfern J, Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with coronary heart disease (QUEL): protocol for a 24-month cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMC Fam Prac. 2020;21(1):36.
- 79. Knight AW, Caesar C, Ford D, Coughlin A, Frick C. Improving primary care in Australia through the Australian Primary Care Collaboratives Program: a quality improvement report. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21(11):948-955.
- Balasubramanian BA, Marino M, Cohen DJ, Ward RL, Preston A, Springer RJ, et al. Use of quality improvement strategies among small to medium-size US primary care practices. Ann Fam Med. 2018;16(Suppl 1):S35-S43.
- 81. Bero LA, Grilli R, Grimshaw JM, Harvey E, Oxman AD, Thomson MA. Closing the gap between research and practice: an overview of systematic reviews of interventions to promote the implementation of research findings. BMJ. 1998;317(7156):465-468.
- Grol R. Personal paper: Beliefs and evidence in changing clinical practice. BMJ. 1997;315(7105):418-421.
- Szczepura A, Wilmot J, Davies C, Fletcher J. Effectiveness and cost of different strategies for information feedback in general practice. Br J Gen Pract. 1994;44(378):19-24.

- Nattinger AB, Panzer RJ, Janus J. Improving the utilization of screening mammography in primary care practices. Arch Intern Med. 1989;149(9):2087-2092.
- 85. Grant A, Dreischulte T, Guthrie B. Process evaluation of the data-driven quality improvement in primary care (DQIP) trial: case study evaluation of adoption and maintenance of a complex intervention to reduce high-risk primary care prescribing. BMJ open. 2017;7(3):e015281.
- 86. Stephens T, Peden C, Pearse R, Shaw S, Abbott T, Jones E, et al. Improving care at scale: process evaluation of a multi-component quality improvement intervention to reduce mortality after emergency abdominal surgery (EPOCH trial). Implementation Sci. 2018;13(1):142.
- Hulscher M, Laurant M, Grol R. Process evaluation on quality improvement interventions. Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(1):40-46.
- 88. Mann C, Shaw A, Guthrie B, Wye L, Man M-S, Hollinghurst S, et al. Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve management of multimorbidity in general practice: the 3D study. BMJ open. 2016;6(5):e011260.
- 89. Fisher J, Nguyen T, Tran TD, Tran H, Tran T, Luchters S, et al. Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomized controlled trial of the Learning Club intervention for women's health, and infant's health and development in rural Vietnam. BMC Health Services Research. 2019;19(1):511.
- 90. Hespe C, Giskes K, Harris M, Peiris D. Findings and lessons learnt implementing a cardiovascular disease quality improvement program in Australian primary care: a mixed method evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):108.
- 91. Zhou S, Ma J, Dong X, Li N, Duan Y, Wang Z, et al. Barriers and enablers in the implementation of a quality improvement program for acute coronary syndromes in

hospitals: a qualitative analysis using the consolidated framework for implementation research. Implementation Sci. 2022;17(1):36.

- 92. Damush TM, Penney LS, Miech EJ, Rattray NA, Baird SA, Cheatham AJ, et al. Acceptability of a complex team-based quality improvement intervention for transient ischemic attack: a mixed-methods study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):453.
- 93. Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, Maglione M, Mojica W, Roth E, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144(10):742-752.
- 94. Grant A, Dreischulte T, Guthrie B. Process evaluation of the data-driven quality improvement in primary care (DQIP) trial: active and less active ingredients of a multi-component complex intervention to reduce high-risk primary care prescribing.
 Implementation Sci. 2017;12(1):4.
- 95. World health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020. 2020 [cited 2023 Dec 11]; [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020</u>
- 96. Hacker KA, Briss PA, Richardson L, Wright J, Petersen R. Peer reviewed: COVID-19 and chronic disease: the impact now and in the future. Prev Chronic Dis. 2021;18:E62.
- 97. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19: People with Certain Medical Conditions. 2023 [updated 2023 May 11; cited 2023 Dec 11]; Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-with-</u> <u>medical-conditions.html</u>
- 98. Hessami A, Shamshirian A, Heydari K, Pourali F, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Moosazadeh M, et al. Cardiovascular diseases burden in COVID-19: Systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Emerg Med. 2021;46:382-391.

- 99. Zaman S, MacIsaac AI, Jennings GL, Schlaich MP, Inglis SC, Arnold R, et al. Cardiovascular disease and COVID-19: Australian and New Zealand consensus statement. Med J Aust. 2020;213(4):182-187.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. The lancet. 2020;395(10223):497-506.
- 101. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. The lancet. 2020;395(10229):1054-1062.
- 102. The Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Emergency Response Epidemiology Team. The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19)—China, 2020. China CDC weekly. 2020;2(8):113-122.
- 103. Katsoulis M, Gomes M, Lai AG, Henry A, Denaxas S, Lagiou P, et al. Estimating the effect of reduced attendance at emergency departments for suspected cardiac conditions on cardiac mortality during the COVID-19 pandemic. Circulation: Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2021;14(1):e007085.
- 104. Eccleston C, Blyth FM, Dear BF, Fisher EA, Keefe FJ, Lynch ME, et al. Managing patients with chronic pain during the COVID-19 outbreak: considerations for the rapid introduction of remotely supported (eHealth) pain management services. Pain. 2020;161(5):889-893.
- 105. Dale CE, Takhar R, Carragher R, Katsoulis M, Torabi F, Duffield S, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cardiovascular disease prevention and management. Nat Med. 2023;29(1):219-225.
- 106. Bakhai M, Croney L, Waller O, Henshall N, Felstead C. Using online consultations in primary care: Implementation toolkit. NHS England. 2020 [cited 2023 Dec 11];

Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/online-</u> consultations-implementation-toolkit-v1.1-updated.pdf

- 107. Grut M, de Wildt G, Clarke J, Greenfield S, Russell A. Primary health care during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative exploration of the challenges and changes in practice experienced by GPs and GP trainees. PLoS One. 2023;18(2):e0280733.
- 108. Majeed A, Maile EJ, Bindman AB. The primary care response to COVID-19 in England's National Health Service. J R Soc Med. 2020;113(6):208-210.
- 109. Sutherland K, Chessman J, Zhao J, Sara G, Shetty A, Smith S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare activity in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2020;30(4):3042030.
- Harrington JL, Jollis JG, Patel MR, Joiner A, Granger CB. SARS-CoV-2 Dramatically Decreases Healthcare Access for Patients With Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation. 2020;142(Suppl_3):A17083-A.
- 111. Deer T, Sayed D, Pope J, Chakravarthy K, Petersen E, Moeschler SM, et al. Emergence from the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic and the care of chronic pain: guidance for the interventionalist. Anesth Analg. 2020;131(2):387-394.
- Medicine TLR. COVID-19 heralds a new era for chronic diseases in primary care. The Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8(7):647.
- 113. Weinstein E, Ragazzoni L, Burkle F, Allen M, Hogan D, Della Corte F. Delayed primary and specialty care: the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic second wave. Disaster Med Pub Health Prep. 2020;3:e19-e21.
- 114. Alexander GC, Tajanlangit M, Heyward J, Mansour O, Qato DM, Stafford RS. Use and content of primary care office-based vs telemedicine care visits during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. JAMA Netw open. 2020;3(10):e2021476-e.

- 115. Gumuser ED, Haidermota S, Finneran P, Natarajan P, Honigberg MC. Trends in cholesterol testing during the COVID-19 pandemic: COVID-19 and cholesterol testing. Am J Prev Cardiol. 2021;6:100152.
- 116. Anderson L, Taylor RS. Cardiac rehabilitation for people with heart disease: an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. Cochrane database Syst Rev. 2014;12: CD011273.

CHAPTER TWO

Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and

medication prescription for the management of patients with

cardiovascular disease in primary care


PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER

Chapter Two describes the results of a sub-study of the QUEL study to further understand the overall utilisation of government-funded chronic disease management services and medications in primary care settings. It addresses Aim One of this Thesis. The sub-study titled "Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and medication prescriptions for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care" has been published in the journal Heart, Lung and Circ. Despite the recommendations and availability of the various chronic disease management health services provided by Australian primary care, these service utilisation in patients with chronic diseases, particularly CVD were explored by a limited number of studies. The sub-study identified gaps in the overall use of government-funded chronic disease management services and medications and compared it between men and women, particularly among CVD patients. The ethics approval for this study is presented in Appendix A.

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Published paper

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, Briffa T et al. Gender comparison of receipt of government-funded health services and medication prescriptions for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care. Heart, Lung and Circ. 202;30(10):1516-1524.

Published abstract and conference presentation

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, Briffa T, et al. Gender comparison of receipt of government-Funded health services and medication prescriptions for the management of patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care. Heart Lung and Circ.

2021;30(10):1516-24. (Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting 2020, Gold Coast, Queensland, Australia).

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Nashid Hafiz, during her PhD candidature, developed the concept of the sub-study, performed statistical analysis, and interpreted the results, prepared the initial draft and subsequent revisions, responded to reviewers' feedback and coordinated submission and publication of the original research paper.

The individual roles of co-authors are listed below:

Task Role of co-authors	Role of co-authors
Refining the research question	NH, KH, JR
Data collection and analysis	NH, KH
Revision and Critical comments of manuscript	KH, JR, AK, CH, CC, TB, RG, CR, DH,
	NZ, MW, SJ, EA, TL, EH, TU and JR

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

2

Heart, Lung and Circulation (2021) 30, 1516–1524 1443-9506/21/\$36.00 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlc.2021.04.005

Gender Comparison of Receipt of Government-Funded Health Services and Medication Prescriptions for the Management of Patients With Cardiovascular Disease in Primary Care

Nashid Hafiz, MIPH^a, Karice Hyun, PhD^a, Andrew Knight, MBBS^{b,c}, Charlotte Hespe, MBBS^d, Clara K. Chow, MBBS, PhD^{e,f}, Tom Briffa, PhD^g, Robyn Gallagher, PhD^h, Christopher M. Reid, PhD^{ij}, David L. Hare, MBBS^{k,l}, Nicholas Zwar, PhD^m, Mark Woodward, PhD^{c,n}, Stephen Jan, PhDⁿ, Emily R. Atkins, PhDⁿ, Tracey-Lea Laba, PhD^o, Elizabeth Halcomb, PhD^P, Timothy Usherwood, MBBS^{n,q}, Julie Redfern, PhD^{a,n,*}

⁴School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁴Primary and Integrated Care Unit, South Western Sydney, Local Health District, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁴University of New South Walas, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁴The University of New South Walas, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁴Western Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁵School of Population and Global Health, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, The University of Western Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁵School of Population and Global Health, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, The University of Western Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁵School of Public Health and Peventive Medicine, Monash University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia
⁶School of Public Health and Peventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Vic, Australia
¹Austin Health, Molbourne, Vic, Australia
¹Buculty of Health Sciences & Medicine, Bond University, Brisbane, Qld, Australia
¹The Goorge Institute for Global Health, Science Research and Evaluation, Sydney, NSW, Australia
¹University of Technology Sydney Currier for Health Economics Research and Evaluation, Sydney, NSW, Australia
¹School of Nursing, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia
¹The University of Sydney, Westerna Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, NSW, Australia
¹The University of Sydney, Westerna Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, NSW, Australia
¹The University of Sydney, Westernad Clinical School,

Background Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and risk factors remains a major burden in terms of disease, disability, and death in the Australian population and mental health is considered as an important risk factor affecting cardiovascular disease. A multidisciplinary collaborative approach in primary care is required to ensure an optimal outcome for managing cardiovascular patients with mental health issues. Medicare introduced numerous primary care health services and medications that are subsidised by the Australian government in order to provide a more structured approach to reduce and manage CVD. However, the utilisation of these services nor gender comparison for CVD management in primary care has been explored. Therefore, the aim is to compare the provision of subsidised chronic disease management plans (CDMPs), mental health care and prescription of guideline-indicated medications to men and women with CVD in primary care practices for secondary prevention.

*Corresponding author at: School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; Email: julie.ad/iern@ sydney.adu.au; Twitter: @JRedHeart

© 2021 Australian and New Zealand Society of Cardiac and Thoracic Surgeons (ANZSCTS) and the Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand (CSANZ). Published by Eservier B.V. All rights reserved.

Metho ds	De-identified data for all active patients with CVD were extracted from 50 Australian primary care prac- tices. Outcomes included the frequency of receipt of CDMPs, mental health care and prescription of evidence-based medications. Analyses adjusted for demography and dinical characteristics, stratified by gender, were performed using logistic regression and accounted for clustering effects by practices.
Results	Data for 14,601 patients with CVD (39.4% women) were collected. The odds of receiving the CDMPs was
	significantly greater amongst women than men (preparation of general practice management plan [GPMP]:
	(46% vs 43%; adjusted OR [95% CI]: 1.22 [1.12, 1.34]). Women were more likely to have diagnosed with
	mental health issues (32% vs 20%, p<0.0001), however, the adjusted odds of men and women receiving any
	government-subsidised mental health care were similar. Women were less often prescribed blood pressure,
	lipid-lowering and antiplatelet medications. After adjustment, only an antiplatelet medication or agent was
	less likely to be prescribed to women than men (44% vs 51%; adjusted OR [95% CI]: 0.84 [0.76, 0.94]).
Conductor	We man system many likely to making COMPs but has likely to consider a tight had a main strategy than man, an
Conclusion	women were more akery to receive CDWLrs but less likery to receive antiplateet medications than men, no
	gender difference was observed in the receipt of mental health care. However, the receipt of the CDMPs
	and the mental health treatment consultations were suboptimal and better use of these existing services
	could improve ongoing CVD management.
Keywords	Cardiovascular disease • Gender • Health services • Secondary prevention • Prevention • Primary care
	Data extraction Chronic disease Heart disease

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains one of the leading causes of death and disease burden globally for both women and men, despite the declining mortality rate in recent times [1]. Modifiable risk factors for CVD include elevated blood pressure (BP), elevated cholesterol, having diabetes, being a tobacco smoker, being overweight/obese, being inactive, poor nutrition and having a high alchohol intake [2]. Therefore, it is recommended people with CVD be prescribed and take BP, lipid-lowering and antiplatelet medications and obtain specialist care when indicated and manage their behavioural risk factors [2]. While the cause and effect of mental health issues amongst people with CVD remains a topic of debate, depression, anxiety, and other psychological factors play an important role in CVD management [2]. These two conditions have shared aetiology and managing modifiable risk factors can become challenging in the face of mental health issues [3]. Therefore, it is also recommended that patients with CVD be screened for depression (and other psychosocial factors) [2,4].

Medicare is Australia's universal health insurance scheme. The overall program involves numerous primary care health services and medications that are subsidised by the federal government in order to reduce and manage CVD [5]. The Medicare program includes the Medical Benefits Schedule (MBS) that provides a rebate for each service provided to the patients (via "Item Numbers"), which is the cost of the service recommended by the government [6]. This program has multiple components including a suite of chronic disease management plans (CDMPs) that cover (i) preparation of a general practice management plan (GPMP), (ii) Team Care Arrangements (TCA) and (iii) GPMP reviews [5]. Together, CDMPs enable general practitioners (GPs) to work with other health professionals to plan and coordinate multidisciplinary care for patients presenting to primary care with chronic disease diagnoses including but not limited to asthma, cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, musculoskeletal conditions and stroke that have been present for 6 months or longer [5,7]. The government also subsidises mental health care treatments that are also available via primary care practices for patients with symptoms or known diagnosis of mental health issue. The mental health care cover aspects of care including assessment and preparation of a mental health management plan, review of the management plan and mental health treatment consultation for ongoing management/treatment [8]. Further, as part of Medicare, the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) enables an Australian citizen to pay only a portion of the cost of many prescription medicines listed on the PBS [9]. This includes all the major classes of evidence-based medications for the management of CVD [9]. Importantly, there is evidence that the provision of these government-funded health services and PBS-subsidised prescribed medications have a positive impact on outcomes such as hospitalisations and length of stay [10]. However, previous research has indicated there is suboptimal utilisation of CDMPs and mental health care in terms of CVD secondary prevention [11].

Taken together, the MBS and PBS provide financial assistance to both practices and patients that support ongoing and coordinated care for patients with chronic diseases such as CVD [6]. However, there are limited studies that have explored the use of these initiatives in relation to gender equity. Previous research suggests that women and men have different behavioural patterns in seeking medical help and that women visit the primary care practices more often/ regularly for both physical and mental health concerns compared to men as they have greater willingness to better manage their health and take care of themselves when sick [12]. In contrast, studies have found that women are less likely to receive secondary preventive care such as indicated medication prescriptions, inpatient intervention and referral to cardiac rehabilitation [13]. Previous studies have shown there are gender discrepancies in the management of CVD in primary care practices which are the primary venue for CVD risk assessment and management. Although women are more likely to seek medical care [12], they are less often assessed for their CVD risk factors and receive fewer prescription indicated medications compared to men [13-15]. To help reduce the prevalence of disease and provide equitable care for all, Medicare subsidises health services [5] and evidence-based medications [6]. Therefore, this study aims to explore gender discrepancies, amongst patients with CVD, in the receipt of CDMPs, mental health care and prescription of guideline-indicated medications at primary care practices for ongoing secondary prevention.

Methods

Analysis of the baseline data collected as part of the QUEL¹ study was used for this study [16]. QUEL is a duster randomised controlled trial involving 50 primary care practices across four Australian states, New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia and Queensland [16]. The study has ethics approval from the New South Wales Cancer Institute Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC, HREC/18/CIPHS/44). For this sub-analysis, individual consent waiver was granted, given that data collection was based on de-identified extracts from the electronic health record system.

Practices and Participants

A total of 50 Australian primary care practices were recruited as part of cluster randomised controlled trial [16]. Inclusion criteria for participating practices were (i) manage ≥100 patients with CVD per year and (ii) using software compliant with the data extraction tool. Patients were eligible to be included in the study if they were (i) over 18 years, (ii) had a documented diagnosis of CVD and (iii) had visited the participating practice at least three times in the previous 24 months. A documented diagnosis of CVD included patients with coronary heart disease (CHD), myocardial infarction, hypertension, heart failure, stroke, peripheral vascular disease, carotid stenosis and renal artery stenosis.

Data Collection

Data extraction was performed by an external population health software system managed by Pen Computer Systems (Pen CS) [17]. The software enabled the automated extraction of de-identified patient data from participating primary care practices for the previous 12 months (December 2018-December 2019). Extracted demographic and clinical data included age, gender, Indigenous status, detailed dinical data relevant to CVD management such as BP, total cholesterol (TC), body mass index (BMI) and diabetes. BMI was analysed as per recording of the GP software. Prescribed medications for the previous 12 months were also extracted for the cohort to compare the use of guideline-indicated prescribed medication in both genders. Prescription of guideline-indicated medications for patients with established CVD was defined as having a current prescription for BPlowering medication, lipid-lowering medication and antiplatelet medication, unless contraindicated and clinically inappropriate [2], BP lowering medications analysed were angiotensin receptor blocker (ARBs), angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, alpha-blockers, beta blockers, calcium channel blockers (CCB), diuretics [18]. In addition, MBS items claimed during the 12 months were extracted. Extraction of MBS items enabled the calculation of the receipt of both CDMPs and mental health care to compare any gender discrepancies. For the purpose of the study, mental health issue was defined as a group of disorders including psychosis, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, major depression and other delusional disorders, commonly referred to in the literature by the umbrella term severe mental illness [4]. This definition was used to identify mental health issues within the cohort of CVD patients. The patient data was extracted directly from the primary care practices via the practice software. Anyone who had a recorded diagnosis of mental health issue in the software were included. Once extracted, the de-identified clinical dataset was securely uploaded to the University of Sydney's research data storage database in preparation for analysis.

Outcomes

The primary outcome of interest was the frequency of CDMPs utilisation in men and women with CVD. Specific descriptions and of each associated Item number are detailed in Box 1. Secondary outcomes included mental health care claims for people with documented mental health issues within the same cohort (Item numbers and components again detailed in Box 1) and frequency of prescribed medications (BP-lowering medication, lipid-lowering medication and antiplatelets).

Statistical Analysis

Categorical variables were summarised using number and percentage, and Chi-squared test was used to test for the difference between the genders. Continuous variables were summarised using the mean and standard deviation (SD) for normally distributed variables and median and interquartile interval (IQI) for skewed variables, and independent t-test and Wilcoxon rank-sum test were used to test for the difference between the two (male/female) groups, respectively. For adjusted analyses, logistic regressions were performed within the framework of generalised estimating equations (GEE) to account for clustering effects by practices. The independent variables included in the models were: gender (women vs men), age (65-74, 75-84, ≥85 vs <65 years), Indigenous status (yes vs no), current smoker (yes vs no), ¹Quality Improvement in Primary Case to Prevent Hospitalisations and Improve Effectiveness and Efficiency of Care for People Living with Heart Disease.



type 2 diabetes (yes vs no), systolic BP (SBP) (120–129, 130–139, \geq 140 vs <120 mmHg), TC (3.4–3.9, 4–4.8, \geq 4.9 vs <3.4 mmol/L), BMI (morbid, obese, overweight, underweight vs healthy) and alcohol intake (yes vs no). When analysing the receipt of mental health items only patients diagnosed with mental health issue were included. All statistical tests were two-tailed with the significance level set at 0.05. All statistical analyses are conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA).

Results

Data for 14,601 patients with CVD were extracted from the 50 participating primary care practices, of whom 8,842 (61%) were male. Demographic and clinical characteristics of all female and male patients with CVD are presented in Table 1. A similar proportion of women and men visited the primary care practice at least three times in the previous 24 months (94% vs 93%). Women, compared to men, were slightly older (mean, [SD]:75 [14] vs 71 [12]), had a higher mean (SD) TC (4.6 [1.18] vs 4.0 [1.05]). However, women were less likely to have had diabetes (18% vs 23%) and fewer women than men had a BMI >24.9 kg/m2 (70% vs 81%) (Table 1). Overall, women were more likely to attend their primary care practices for brief (80% vs 76%, p<0.0001), long (68% vs 64%, p<0.0001) and extended (19% vs 16%, p<0.0001) consultations compared to men. However, women were less likely to have standard length consultations (82% vs 86%, p<0.0001) than men.

Provision of Chronic Disease Management Plans

Results for MBS item claims amongst men and women are presented in Table 2. Of the total cohort, 44% (both men and women) with CVD had a claim for "Preparation of GPMP" and women were more likely than men to have one prepared (p=0.0004). Twenty-nine per cent (29%) of the total cohort received both a GPMP and a review. Results were similar for "Coordination of Team Care Arrangement (TCA)" (p<0.0001) and "Review of a GPMP or TCA" (p=0.0086) where women were more likely to receive both these items than men. After adjusting for demographic and clinical factors, the difference in the proportion of women and men receiving CDMP's remained significant (Table 3). The odds of women receiving a GPMP were 22% greater than men. The odds of women than men, respectively (Table 3).

Provision of Mental Health Treatment Consultations

In total, 25% of the total CVD cohort were documented as having a mental health issue. Women were more likely to have a mental health issue diagnosis compared to men (32% women vs 20% men). Of those diagnosed with mental health issues, only 13% of the cohort received a 'Preparation of a GP Mental Health Treatment Plan' and there was no significant difference in the receipt of the preparation between women and men (p=0.3749). Similarly, there was no difference in the

Variable	Female (n=5,759)	Male (n=8,842)	Total (n=14,601)	Missing Value	P-value
Age, mean (SD) (yr)	74.6 (13.54)	71.2 (11.96)	72.5 (12.72)	0	<0.001
Indigenous, N (%)	151 (3)	189 (3)	340 (3)	2,184 (15)	0.0430
Diagnosis of diabetes, N (%)					
Type 1	71 (1)	92 (1)	163 (1)	0	0.2796
Type 2	1,062 (18)	2,016 (23)	3,078 (21)	0	<0.0001
Cardiovascular risk factors					
SBP (mm Hg), mean (SD)	132.8 (18.98)	131.7 (19.66)	132.1 (19.41)	633 (4)	0.0006
DBP (mm Hg), mean (SD)	74.9 (32.09)	74.8 (29.91)	74.9 (74.9)	634 (4)	0.8402
Total cholesterol (mmol), mean (SD)	4.6 (1.18)	4.0 (1.05)	4.2 (1.14)	1,292 (8)	<0.0001
HDL (mmol), mean (SD)	1.5 (0.42)	1.2 (0.33)	1.3 (0.39)	1,840 (12)	<0.0001
LDL (mmol), mean (SD)	2.4 (1.02)	2.1 (0.89)	2.2 (0.95)	1,970 (13)	<0.0001
BMI >24.9 kg/m ² , N(%)	3,135 (70)	5,618 (81)	8,753 (76)	3,079 (21)	<0.0001
Current smoker, N (%)	532 (10)	984 (12)	1,516 (11)	0	0.0012
Alcohol drinker, N (%)	1,676 (44)	4,050 (66)	5,726 (57)	4,588 (31)	<0.0001
HbA1c for those with diabetes, mean	7.5 (7.05)	7.6 (7.34)	7.6 (7.23)	6,269 (42)	0.4217
(SD)					
Mental health issue diagnosis	1,852 (32)	1,760 (20)	3,612 (25)	N/A	<0.0001
Active patients					
>3 visits in last 2 yr, N(%)	5,334 (93)	8,299 (94)	13,633 (93)	968 (7)	0.0013

P-values are the difference between male and female.

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HDL, high-density lip oprotein; LDL, low-density lip oprotein; BML body mass index; HbAlc, glycosylated haemoglobin; CVD, cardiovascular disease.

receipt of 'Review of a GP mental health treatment plan' and 'mental health treatment consultations' between women and men (p=0.4182 and p=0.4524 respectively) (Table 2). Even after adjustment, no difference was observed in the receipt of all mental health treatment items between the two genders (Table 3).

Prescription of the Guideline-Recommended Cardiovascular Medications

Of the total cohort, the proportions of women and men prescribed recommended medications are presented in Table 2. When comparing individual medication groups, women were less likely to receive guideline-indicated medications compared to men (Table 2). However, after adjustment for clinical and demographic characteristics, the difference in the prescribed BP and lipid-lowering medications amongst women and men was no longer significant but the odds of women receiving antiplatelet medications were 16% less compared to men (Table 3).

Discussion

This study provides a gender comparison of the provision of government-funded CDMPs and mental health care to a large CVD cohort seeking care from Australian primary care practices. Our results show that women with CVD were more likely to receive CDMPs than men, but receipt of mental health care was similar in both men and women when attending primary care practice. Women were less likely to receive guideline-indicated antiplatelet medications compared to men, however, there was no difference in the proportion prescribed BP and lipid-lowering medications. Importantly, we found that only 44% of the cohort received a GPMP and 29% of the cohort received both GPMP and a review in the previous 12 months. We also found there was no gender difference in the receipt of mental health treatment consultations for those diagnosed with mental health issues, however it was suboptimal in both genders. The results reflect an evidence-practice gap in the management of CVD in primary care. Increased use of available CDMPs in primary care has the potential to reduce this gap and CVD burden by enabling GPs to coordinate multidisciplinary care for eligible patients along with access to several allied health care services [20]. The use of CDMPs also reminds GPs to complete annual risk factor assessment and health check-ups of eligible patients therefore creating systematic management of these patients. This cost-effective approach supported by Medicare reimbursements and financial incentives can vield better dinical outcomes of CVD in primary care [21].

A limited number of previous studies have also explored the use of health services in primary care. Our study found that a similar proportion of men and women sought health care services from their primary care despite some evidence showing women visiting their GPs more frequently than men Table 2 Receipt of government-funded health services (MBS items) and guideline-indicated prescribed medications in the cohort with established CVD by gender in primary care.

	Female (n=5,759)	Male (n=8,842)	Total (n=14,601)	P-value
Components of Chronic Disease Management Plans				
Preparation of GPMP	2,621 (46)	3,761 (43)	6,382 (44)	0.0004
Coordination of TCA	2,281 (40)	3,217 (36)	5,498 (38)	< 0.0001
Review of GPMP or TCA	2,076 (36)	3,000 (34)	5,076 (35)	0.0086
Mental Health and Psychology Items				
Preparation of a GP Mental Health Treatment Plan*	230/1,852 (12)	236/1,760 (13)	466/3,612 (13)	0.3749
Review of a GP Mental Health Treatment Plan*	87/1,852 (5)	93/1,760 (5)	180/3,612 (5)	0.4182
Mental Health Treatment Consultation*	197/1,852 (11)	201/1,760 (11)	398/3,612 (11)	0.4524
Guideline Recommended Prescribed Cardiovascular Med	ication			
BP-lowering medication	3,812 (66)	6,167 (70)	9,979 (68)	< 0.0001
Lipid-lowering medication	2,989 (52)	5,528 (63)	8,517 (58)	< 0.0001
Antiplatelet medication	2,508 (44)	4,495 (51)	7,003 (48)	< 0.0001

Abbreviations: MBS, Medicare BenefitsScheme; GP, general practitioner; GPMP, General Practice Management Plan; TCAs, Team Care Arrangements; BP, blood preseure.

Denominator: those who had mental illness listed as a condition.

Table 3 Multiple-adjusted female to male ORs and 95% CIs for the receipt of MBS items and guideline-recommended prescription medications in the cohort with established CVD.

Oulcomes	Odds Ratio (95% confidence interval)	P-value
Preparation of GP Management Plan (GPMP)	1.22 (1.12, 1.34)	0.0012
Coordination of Team Care Arrangement (TCA)	1.23 (1.13, 1.34)	0.0005
Review of GPMP or TCA	1.16 (1.05, 1.28)	0.0117
Mental health treatment consultation*	0.91 (0.71, 1.18)	0.5268
Preparation of a GP mental health treatment plan*	0.95 (0.73, 1.24)	0.7035
Review of a GP Mental Health Treatment Plan*	0.74 (0.5, 1.1)	0.1716
Blood pressure lowering medication	0.97 (0.87, 1.08)	0.5694
Lipid lowering medication	0.93 (0.87, 1)	0.0849
Antiplatelet medication	0.84 (0.76, 0.94)	0.0176

Adjusted for age groups (4 groups), Indigenous status, current smoker, type 2 diabetes, SEP (4 groups), TC (4 groups), BMI categories and alcohol consumption. Abbaviations: BMI, body mass index; SEP, systolic blood pressure; GP, general practitioner; TC, Team Care; TCA, Team Care Arrangements. *Denominator: those who had mental illness listed as a condition.

Ξ.

[12]. Gender difference in care-seeking behaviour and health care utilisation has been previously explored, therefore, the present study is one of the first to look at gender differences in receipt of government-funded items for both mental health issues and CVD. Although the use of CDMPs in primary care has been explored previously in other chronic diseases, including diabetes [22], limited research explored the gender-based receipt [23,24] Whilst our study suggests that women are more likely to receive CDMPs, including GPMP, a previous study looking at utilisation of government-funded schemes has found that gender was not a significant factor associated with the receipt of GPMP [25]. However, both studies indicate that there is an opportunity to increase the overall use of the government-funded services in relation to both genders with CVD which offers an opportunity for optimising care and closing evidencepractice gaps through quality improvement.

Currently, there are many international guidelines available for better management of chronic disease and secondary prevention that include recommendations to prescribe evidence-based medications, risk factor management, lifestyle modification, and screening for other comorbidities such as psychosocial factors and education [26,27]. Further, according to a systematic review conducted on comprehensive primary health care models, patients who received CDMPs had an improved understanding of the disease and management as well as enhanced quality of care. General practitioners also reported increased satisfaction from patients receiving care [28]. Our study results show that less than half of the cohort claimed CDMPs for management of CVD despite the evidence-based benefits of such initiatives aimed at improving prevention of chronic diseases such as CVD, patient self-management and decreased hospital admission [10,29].

Despite the knowledge of mental health issues having a negative effect on CVD events, the available governmentfunded mental health care appears to be underutilised in primary care practices. There is also evidence of improved health outcome for patients with depression, diabetes, and coronary artery disease who received a more structured guideline-recommended multidisciplinary treatment in primary care [30]. Depression and anxiety can lead to unhealthy eating, smoking, alcohol consumption, and lack of physical activity [3]. Screening of mental health along with CVD and use of available mental health care plans can help with early detection and management of depression, anxiety and other mental health issues, encourage positive behaviour changes, adherence to prescribed medications, thus reducing further risk [3]. Despite recommendations, our study found that only about one in 10 people diagnosed with CVD receives MBS funded mental health consultations from primary care providers. Similarly, another study found that many patients presented to primary care practices with depression and anxiety symptoms but did not receive psychological assessment during their visit [22]. Our study results indicate the use of available mental health items are underutilised in primary care. Multiple barriers including stigma, feeling unwelcome and the existence of mental health issues often overtaking other health care needs contribute to people not seeking appropriate health care [4]. Overall, it appears there is substantial scope to increase the provision of appropriate funded CVD and mental health care by primary care practices [4].

Although the guideline-indicated medications for secondary prevention of CVD are subsidised by the government, the proportion of recommended medications prescribed to both women and men is still low. Our study results show that in general, there was no significant difference in the prescription of BP and lipid-lowering medications between male and female patients, however, women were less likely to be prescribed antiplatelet medications compared to men. Other studies found that gender difference exists in the prescription of cardiovascular medications after an event [31] but in the present cohort the women tended to be slightly older and we were unable to control for 'over-the-counter' antiplatelet medication purchases. A systematic review demonstrated a low prescription of antiplatelet, lipidlowering and BP medications in women diagnosed with CVD or at high CVD risk compared to men [14]. Another observational study found differences in medication prescription varied largely due to age groups, where younger women were less likely and older women were more likely to be prescribed the recommended medications than their male counterparts [15].

Our study has a number of limitations. Although only 50 primary care practices were recruited for the QUEL study, there was a good representation of both urban and rural practices from four out of the eight Australian states and territories with large population density. Also, the study population was limited to regular attendees, and hence patients attending sporadically or less frequently may not be represented. CVD was defined according to the coding of the general practice software that included a wide range of conditions including all hypertension. Data were dependent on recording in general practice software and did not include unprescribed antiplatelets (e.g., aspirin purchased from supermarkets). Also, we were unable to analyse any genderspecific bleeding risk factors associated with prescription of aspirin as these data were not recorded in the GP system. Another limitation was the inability to specifically identify contraindication to all medications from the de-identified data set. Although our study population had a documented diagnosis of CVD, it was not possible to individually assess whether the use of CDMP items was specifically for CVD or other co-existing chronic conditions. However, it is ideal for patients with CVD to receive these as they help to coordinate multidisciplinary management and facilite annual health checks [5]. The quality of the recorded medical management data would vary between practices and the GPs entering data into the software. In particular, despite the evidence of their role and effectiveness, the involvement of mental health and primary care practice nurses in providing mental health assessment and intervention was not measured [32,33].

Conclusion

In our cohort of patients with CVD, more women than men received CDMPs and mental health treatment consultations in Australian primary care practices. Women were less likely to receive prescription of antiplatelet medication, but gender discrepancies were not found in the prescription of BP and lipid-lowering medications. Overall, the receipt of subsidised health services and guideline-indicated medications was suboptimal for both women and men. Increasing our undenstanding of the utilisation of the currently available benefits and services for people living with CVD could inform opportunities for system-level improvements that may also influence outcomes.

Conflicts of Interest

None.

Funding Sources

Funding for this study was provided by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Project Grant (APP1140807). The funding body was not involved in the design of the study; collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; or in writing the manuscript. Additional in-kind and cash support from the following partner organisations; Amgen (cash support), Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Brisbane South PHN, Fairfield General Practice Unit, Heart Support Australia, Improvement Foundation, Inala Primary Care, National Heart Foundation of Australia, Nepean Blue Mountains PHN (cash support), Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Sanofi-aventis, Australia (cash support), South Western Sydney PHN, The George Institute for Global Health (cash support) and University of Melbourne.

JR is supported by a NHMRC Career Development Fellowship (APP1143538). KH is supported by the National Heart Foundation of Australia Postdoctoral Fellowship (102138). MW is supported by the NHMRC grants (1080206 and 1149987). CMR is supported by a NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship (APP1136372). TL is funded by a NHMRC Early Career Fellowship (APP110230). ERA is supported by a National Heart Foundation Australia postdoctoral fellowship (101884). CKC's salary is funded by a Career Development Fellowship level 2 co-funded by the NHMRC and National Heart Foundation Future Leader Award (APP1105447), which supports 0.05FTE for trial meetings.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of all the PHN and primary care practice staff who continue to support the QUEL project. Also, Pen CS for providing the services and eHealth data platform for the study; and the Improvement Foundation for their continuous support in the delivery of the collaborative and other study partners including; Inala Primary Care, Fairfield Hospital General Practice Unit, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Heart Support Australia Ltd, Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, National Heart Foundation, Sanofi, and Amgen. In addition, we thank Dr Tim Tse for assisting in the coding of data and Caroline Wu and Kane Williams of the University of Sydney for their contributions to research management and legal arrangements respectively.

References

- Nichols M, Peterson K, Herbert J, Alston L, Allender S. Australian heart disease statistics 2015: National Heart Foundation of Australia Melbourne. 2016.
- [2] National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance. Guidelines for the management of absolute cardiovascular disease risk. National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance. 2012.
- Disease Provention Alliance. 2012.
 [3] De Hert M, Detraux J, Vancampfort D. The intriguing relationship between coronary heart disease and mental disorders. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2018;20(1):31–40.
- Neutosci. 2018;23(1):51-62.
 [4] Palmer VJ, Lewis M, Stylianopolous V, Furler J. Primary care prevention of the cardiovascular health crisis for people with severe mental illnesses: The elephant in the room. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(12):846.

- [5] Department of Health. Chuonic Disease Managem ent (formerly Enhanced Primary Care or EPC) — GP services 2014. Carberra, ACT, Australia; [updated 02 April 2014]. A vailable from: https://wwwl.health.gov.au/ internet/main/publishing.ref/Content/mbsprimarycase-chronicdisease manasement.
- [6] Parlament of Australia. Medicare: a quick guide. Carbern, ACT, Australia; [updated 12 July 2016]. Available from: https://www.aph.gov. au/About; Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Libr ary/pubs/rp/rp1617/Quick_Guides/Medicare.
 [7] Department of Health: National primary health care strategic framework.
- [7] Dopartment of Health. National primary health care strategic framework primary health care in Australia. Australia's health series number 14. Catalogue number AUS 178. Carborn, ACT, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2013.
- [8] Austenlian Governmert Department of Health and Aging. GP Mental Health Treatment: Medicare Items - Fequently Asled Questions, Canberra, ACT, Australia: November 2011 [updated 27 November 2012]. Available from: https://wwwl.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing. rel/Content/34588204D19AC0CA2578F0001CRCB4/%24Rle/GPmental healthcarequirda.pdf.
- [9] Department of Health. The Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. Canbern, ACT, Austmilia. Available from: https://www.pbs.gov.au/pbs/home.
 [10] Harnar GB, Rula EY, Wells A, Coberley C, Pope JE, Larkin S. Impact of a
- [10] Hamar GB, Rula EY, Wells A, Coberley C, Pope JE, Larkin S. Impact of a chronic disease management program on hospital admissions and seadmissions in an Australian population with heart disease or diabetes. Popul Health Manag. 2013;16(2):125–31.
- [11] Woodhead C, Ashworth M, Broadbent M, Callard F, Hotopf M, Schofield P, et al. Cardiovascular disease treatment among patients with severe mental illness: a data linkage study between primary and secondary care. Br J Gen Pract. 2016;66(437):4374–81.
- [12] Bertakis KD, Azari R, Helms LJ, Callahan EJ, Robbins JA. Gender differences in the utilization of health care services. J Fam Pract. 2000 Reb 1;49(2):147.
- [13] Hyun K, Redlem J, Patul A, Peiris D, Brieger D, Sullisan D, et al. Gender inequalities in cardiovascular risk factor assessment and management in primary healthcare. Heart. 2017;303(7):492–8.
- [14] Zhuo M, Woodward M, Vanija J, Millett ER, Klipskin-Grobusch K, Hyun K, et al. Sex differences in cardiovascular medication prescription in primary care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9:e01472.
- [15] Cabara MD, Kim C. Physician adhesence to preventive cardiology guidelines for women. Womens Health Issues. 2003;13(4):142–9.
 [16] Rediem J, Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al.
- [10] Retaini J., Faint N., Frynk N., Knight A., Fespe C., Chow C.K., et al. QUality improvement in primary case to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of case for people Living with coronary heart disease (QUEL): protocol for a 24-month cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):1-8.
- [17] PENCS. Available from: https://www.pencs.com.au/.
 [18] Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medicines for cardiovascular disease. Gat. no. CVD 80. Canberra, ACT, Australia. 2017.
- [19] Department of Health. MBS Online Medicare benefits Schedule. Canberra, ACT, Australia: [up dated 1 A pril 2020]. Available from: http:// www.mbsonline.gov.au/internet/mbsonline/publishing.nsf/Content/ Home.
- [20] Newland J, Zwar N. General practice and the management of chronic conditions: where to now? Aust Fam Physician. 2006;35(1-2):16.
 [21] Chew DP, Carter R, Rankin B, Boyden A, Egan H. Cost effectiveness of a
- [21] Chew DP, Camer R, Rankon B, Boyden A, Egin H. Car encoveness of a general practice chronic disease in anagement plan for coronary heart disease in Australia. Aust Health Rev. 2010;34(2):162–9.
- [22] Veale BM. Meeting the challenge of chronic illness in general practice. Med J Aust 2003;179(5):247–9.
 [23] Welberry H, Barr ML, Comino EJ, Harris-Roxas BF, Harris E, Harris MF.
- [23] Wellberry H, Barr ML, Comino EJ, Harris-Roxas BF, Hamis E, Harris MF. Inceasing use of general practice management and team care arrangements over time in New South Wales, Australia. Aust J Prim Health. 2019;25(2):168-75.
- [24] Tumer LR, Pearce C, Brijnath B, Browning C, Lowthian J, Shearer M, et al. General practice utilisation of Medicare Benefits Schadule items to support the care of older patients: findings from the REDIRECT study. Aust J Prim Health. 2018;24(1):54–8.
- [25] Redfern J, Hyun K, Atkins E, Chow C, Briffa T, Patel B, et al. Utilisation of Medicare-funded schemes for people with cardiovascular disease. Aust J Prim Health. 2017;23(5):482–6.
- [26] Arnett DK, Blummhal RS, Albert MA, Burcker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA guideline on the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/

- American Hourt association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Cull Cardial. 2018;7(4)(0):e177-202.
 [27] Arcoop CN, Afracal P, Kidly MJ, Cleve DPB, Clave T, Allen RM, et al. Guidelines for the management of acute constancy syndromese 2006. Mod J Acat. 2006 Apr 17:184(8 SUPPL):516-25.
 [28] McDonald J, Cumming J, Harris MF, Powell Davles G, Borns P. Syntamatic service of apitem-wide models of comprehensive primary basils area. Base-ach Cardia for Provide Modific and Equilibrium for Primary Modificine. UNSW. 2006.
 [29] Hubber L, Williams D, Peterson R, Smith J, Scuttham PA, Chening L, et al. Uptals of Medicane drowing disease management incentions. a and y toto service provident' perspectives. Asut Fam. Physician. 2012;41(12):973.
- [34] Katon WJ, Lin EH, Von Korf M, Ciechanovski F, Ladman EJ, Noung B, et al. Collaborative care for platients with depression and chronic illusions. N Bigl J Med. 2010;35(27):2011-20.
 [31] Koopman C, Vaarijen L, Heinipis EM, Spiesing W, van Da E, Berings RMC, et al. Persisting gender differences and attenuating age differences in cardiovasculater drug use for prevention and transming age differences in factors (1995-2010). Eur Heatt J. 2013;55(41): 5096-205.
 [32] Halomb RJ, McInows S, Patterson C, Marsham L, Name-delavered interventions for mental basilit in primary care: a systematic review of neuronational contailled trials. Fam Pract. 2019;14(1):64-77.
 [33] Halomb HJ, McInows S, Martaman T, Patterson C, Marsham L, Maradallith Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice. 2005.

CHAPTER THREE

Effectiveness of quality improvement interventions in improving

cardiovascular disease-related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-

analysis



PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER

Chapter Two identified an overall underutilisation of government-funded chronic disease management plans and prescription of guideline-recommended medications in patients with CVD. It also found disparities between men and women in receiving these services and that better use of existing services could improve ongoing management of CVD. As a result, healthcare settings are implementing new, innovative and multi-dimensional quality improvement strategies to ensure improved use of these services, thereby improving the management of all patients with CVD. Chapter Three presents' findings from a systematic review with meta-analyses to understand the effectiveness of various quality improvement interventions used across all healthcare settings for improving management of CVD. This chapter addresses Aim Two of the Thesis where information will be useful in understanding what strategies are effective. This systematic review titled "Effectiveness of Quality Improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular disease-related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis" has been submitted to the BMC Primary Care journal for publication. All supplementary materials used are included after references of this chapter.

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS Manuscript submitted

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Manandi D, Usherwood T, and Redfern, J. Effectiveness of quality improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular disease related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Primary Care. 2024. (Submitted).

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Nashid Hafiz, during her PhD candidature, developed the systematic review concept, developed the searched strategy, ran the literature search, determined study inclusion and exclusion, extracted, and analysed data, prepared the initial draft and subsequent revisions, responded to reviewers' feedback, and coordinated submission and publication of the original research paper.

The individual roles of co-authors are listed below:

Task Role of co-authors	Role of co-authors
Refining the research question	NH, KH, JR, QT
Data collection and analysis	NH, QT, KH, DM
Revision and Critical comments on manuscript	KH, QT, DM, TU and JR

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024

Effectiveness of Quality Improvement interventions in improving cardiovascular disease-related outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Nashid Hafiz¹, Karice Hyun^{1,2}, Qiang Tu¹, Deborah Manandi¹, Tim Usherwood^{3,4}, and Julie Redfern^{1,4}

Authors affiliations

¹ School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Australia

² Department of Cardiology, Concord Hospital, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia
 ³ Westmead Applied Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney,
 Sydney, Westmead, Australia

⁴ The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding author

Ms Nashid Hafiz

The University of Sydney

Faculty of Medicine and Health, School of Health Sciences

Level 6 East, Susan Wakil Health Building D18, Western Avenue, Camperdown, 2006, NSW,

Australia

Email: <u>nashid.hafiz@sydney.edu.au</u>

ABSTRACT

Objectives To systematically assess the effectiveness of quality improvement (QI) interventions in improving cardiovascular disease (CVD) related outcomes. **Design** Systematic review and meta-analysis.

Data sources Medline, Embase, PsycINFO, CENTRAL, CINAHL, and Scopus (from inception to 27 June 2022).

Methods Studies were included if they were randomised trials, included people with CVD, implemented a QI intervention focused on improving CVD care, and measured at least one of the following outcomes: prescribed guideline-recommended CVD medications, risk factors, and clinical events. Databases were systematically searched for randomised and clusterrandomised controlled trials and two authors independently screened articles and extracted data from eligible studies. A random-effects model was used to estimate the pooled effects. **Results** Thirteen studies were included with 430,132 people with CVD, with 73% male and a pooled mean age (standard deviation) of 67.2 (11.4). The review identified several QI strategies commonly being used, including feedback reports, decision support tools, healthcare providers' training, practice support and site visits to improve care provided to patients with CVD. Meta-analysis demonstrated that, compared with usual care, QI interventions significantly reduced the rate of major cardiovascular events (MACE) (OR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.72, 0.98) and total mortality (OR: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.78, 0.99). There was no significant improvement in the prescription of guideline-recommended medications, including antiplatelets (OR: 1.24, 95% CI: 0.92, 1.67) and lipid-lowering (OR: 1.27, 95% CI: 0.95, 1.70), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (OR: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.91, 1.51), beta-blockers (OR: 1.27, 95% CI:0.94, 1.73), and smoking cessation advice (OR: 1.30, 95% CI: 0.75, 2.27) as a result of QI interventions.

Conclusion QI interventions have the potential to improve the management of CVD in primary care when implemented effectively. Further studies are required to fully evaluate the effectiveness of QI interventions using a variety of QI strategies in healthcare.

Systematic Review Registration: PROSPERO registration number: CRD42016047604.Keywords: Quality improvement, primary care, cardiovascular health, secondary prevention, cardiovascular disease.

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains one of the leading causes of death and disease burden globally.^[1] To reduce the burden, healthcare facilities globally have been increasingly adopting new, innovative strategies targeted to improve secondary prevention of CVD. Secondary prevention strategies include but are not limited to screening, diagnosis, increased adherence to guideline-recommended medications, risk factor assessment and management, among others.^[2,3] Evidence from previous research found that increased adherence to guideline-recommended medications was associated with an 8% reduction in CVD events and a 12% reduction in all-cause mortality in people with coronary arterial disease.^[4] Furthermore, previous research also found that effective management of risk factors not only slows the onset of CVD but also mitigate the risk of disease progression and related events and deaths.^[5,6]

Moreover, the integration of electronic health records in healthcare settings enables healthcare providers to seamlessly record, analyse and extract data to help facilitate accelerated decision-making and treatment processes.^[7,8] Therefore, healthcare providers can monitor patient more efficiently and potentially improve patient outcomes with the support of electronic health records. However, the use of electronic health records faces several challenges, including,

limitations in data sharing^[9], suggesting the need for improving its efficiency across all healthcare settings.^[10] As healthcare continues to evolve, the performance of healthcare systems in ensuring patient safety, improving efficiency, and addressing patient needs is often suboptimal.^[11] Consequently, healthcare facilities are increasingly adopting QI strategies driven by data to enhance clinical outcomes. These strategies provide a systematic and coordinated effort leading to meaningful changes that not only improve health outcomes but also enhance organisational performance.^[12] Therefore, more robust evaluation of such interventions in needed to fully evaluate their effectiveness in improving care of chronic diseases, including CVD.

While several studies have already demonstrated the effect of QI interventions in improving health and service-related outcomes across various healthcare conditions^[13,14], persistent limitations contribute to a lack of robustness in the results. A systematic review evaluating a variety of trial designs found that low-quality methodologies and variations in the interventions have impacted the efficacy of QI collaboratives.^[15] Furthermore, when evaluating the effect of QI interventions on CVD outcomes, several studies demonstrated mixed findings.^[16,17] Therefore, this systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to examine the effect of QI interventions on prescription of guideline-recommended CVD medications, risk factor management and clinical events on improving CVD management across different healthcare settings.

METHODS

The review and meta-analysis were conducted and reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis guidelines (Supplementary material 1).^[18,19] The review was registered in PROSPERO (CRD42016047604).

Data sources and search strategy

Six databases were systematically searched: Medline, Embase, and PsycINFO via OvidSP, Cochrane Central Registry of Controlled Trials, CINAHL, and Scopus from inception to 27th June 2022. A combination of search terms including 'CVD', 'CVD risk factors' 'medications' and 'quality improvement' were used to search the databases. Schouten and colleagues' search process was used as reference for QI search terms and supplemented it with additional terms to encompass a broader range of QI methods.^[15] The full electronic search strategy for each database is available in Supplementary material 2. Manual searches of the reference lists of all previous and relevant studies were also conducted.

Study inclusion and exclusion criteria

Studies were included that met all of the following criteria according to PICOS (Patient, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome, Settings) framework: (1) randomised controlled trials (RCTs) or cluster-randomised controlled trials (cRCTs); (2) included people with CVD; (3) implemented a quality improvement intervention focused on improving CVD care; and (4) measured at least one of the following outcomes: (i) prescribed guideline-recommended CVD medications (ii) CVD risk factors or (ii) clinical events. Studies were excluded if they were conference abstracts, reports, reviews, letters, and editorials.

Study selection

Search results were exported to Endnote X9 reference management software program. Following duplicate removal, two researchers (NH and QT) independently screened and excluded the articles by reviewing the titles and abstracts against inclusion and exclusion criteria. The remaining studies underwent full-text review and were assessed according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria by NH and QT. References from retrieved articles were manually searched for potentially eligible papers. Any discrepancies were resolved through discussion with a third researcher (KH).

Data extraction

Data extraction was performed independently by two assessors (NH and QT) using a electronic data extraction table based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines.^[19] Data extraction included (i) study and participants characteristics; (ii) intervention and follow-up durations; (iii) intervention and usual care group details; (iv) outcomes; and (v) Cochrane Risk of Bias measures. Any disagreements were solved through consultation with a third researcher (KH). Data were randomly checked for accuracy by a fourth researcher to reduce errors.

Risk of Bias

Risk of bias of each included study was assessed independently by two reviewers (NH and QT) using the Cochrane risk of bias tool.^[20] The assessment included the following four domains: (i) random sequence generation; (ii) allocation concealment; (iii) incomplete outcome data; and (iv) selective outcome reporting. Blinding of participants and personnel and outcome assessment was not included in the assessment due to the challenge of blinding in QI interventions.

Outcomes

The outcomes were guideline-recommended CVD medication prescriptions, risk factors management and clinical events. More specifically, guideline-recommended medications were prescription of antiplatelet therapy, lipid-lowering medications, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) and beta-blockers.^[2,21] The outcomes for risk factor management were proportions of adequate control of blood pressure (BP) (i.e. systolic blood pressure [SBP]: <140 mm hg or SBP/ diastolic blood pressure [DBP]: <140/<90 mm hg)^[21,22]; adequate control of cholesterol (i.e. total cholesterol: <5 mmol/l or LDL-C: <2.5 mmol/l)^[21,23]; and smoking cessation advice (i.e. counselling, advice or support for cessation) among smokers.^[21,24] The clinical events assessed were major cardiovascular events (MACE), defined as cardiovascular deaths, strokes, reinfarctions or major bleeding,^[25] and all-cause mortality.

Statistical analysis

Overall mean age and corresponding standard deviation (SD) and number and percentage of male patients were pooled where data were available. All outcomes of interest were categorical in distribution. Where three or more studies measured the same outcome, they were pooled using a random effects meta-analysis. All outcomes of interest were categorical in distribution. For meta-analysis, the majority of the studies reported the effect size as odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI), therefore the pooled effect size was also reported as odds ratio. Where studies reported hazard ratios or only the number of events per arm, the ORs were estimated. Consistency of the results across the included studies was assessed by forest plots and the statistical heterogeneity between studies was assessed using tau², the I² statistic and χ^2 test.

The majority of included studies presented outcomes at patient level, however, three studies presented results at the cluster level. The cluster-level outcomes were excluded from the meta-analysis but the results were described in text. Also, studies with missing information or different outcome measures were included in the systematic review through narrative

synthesis. A subgroup analysis based on the settings (hospital vs GP or outpatient clinics) was performed. Sensitivity analysis was performed excluding the studies with high risk of bias to assess the robustness of the intervention effect. Publication bias was assessed by visual inspection of funnel plots and Egger's test for each pooled outcome. Meta-analyses were performed using the Comprehensive Meta Analysis (CMA) version 4.0 software.^[26]

Public and patient involvement

Public and patient involvement was not reported in any of the included studies. This research is supported, in kind, by the QUEL partnership project. Stakeholders from the QUEL partnership project, along with clinicians provided guidance in the study design, development, outcome measures and other aspects of the review.

RESULTS

Study Selection

The PRISMA flowchart for study selection is presented in Figure 1. A total of 2,661 studies were initially identified through electronic database searches and thirty-two studies through grey literature searches. After excluding duplicates, a total of 1,879 titles and abstracts were screened. After screening of titles and abstracts, a total of 285 potentially relevant articles were retained for full-text screening. After full-text assessment, 13 eligible studies were eligible for the systematic review and meta-analysis (Table S1 in Supplementary material 3).



Figure 1. The PRISMA flow diagram of study selection. *ACEi* - Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, *ARB* - Angiotensin receptor blockers, *MACE* - Major adverse cardiovascular events

Study characteristics

Characteristics of the 13 included studies are summarised in Table 1. The studies were published between 2003 and 2021 and were conducted across 12 countries including United States $(n=3)^{[27-29]}$, European countries including United Kingdom $(n=6)^{[30-35]}$, China $(n=2)^{[36,37]}$, Brazil $(n=1)^{[38]}$, and India $(n=1)^{[39]}$ Nine studies were conducted in high-income countries^[27-35], three in upper-middle-income countries^[36-38], and one in lower-middle-income country.^[39] Six studies were conducted in hospitals^[28-30,36,37,39] and seven in GP or outpatient clinics.^[27,31-35,38] One study did not report the number of patients recruited. Overall, 430,132 (26,677 from GP or outpatient clinics and 403,455 from hospitals) patients were enrolled with a pooled mean age (pooled SD) of 67.2 (11.4) and 73% of the participants were male. Nine studies were cRCTs^[28-31,33,34,36-38], three were RCTs^[27,32,35] and one was step-wedged cRCT.^[39] Eleven studies reported outcomes at individual patient level^[27,28,30,32-39] and two studies reported the outcomes at cluster level.^[29,31]

The median number of participating hospitals was 48 (IQI: 39, 61). Hospital-based QI interventions targeted a wide variety of populations with CVD. The median number of participating clinics was 45 (IQI: 37, 154). Clinic-based QI interventions, in addition to the hospital-based population, included all adult patients, CVD risk factors, heart failure, Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease and peripheral arterial disease. The studies focused on improving adherence to evidence-based guidelines for secondary management of CVD, prescription of guideline-recommended CVD medications, clinical decision making, risk factor management and CVD-related performance measures.

Author, Year	Country	Setting	Study design	Study population (N; intervention n: control n)	No of GP practices or Hospitals, N; intervention n: control n	Mean Age (SD)	Male (%)	Outcome relevant to this review
Flather, 2011	France, Italy, Poland, Spain and UK	Hospitals	cRCT	ACS patients (1403; 819:587)	38; 19:19	65.4 (10.7)	981 (69.9)	Prescription of - ACEi - Beta-blocker - Clopidogrel - Statins
Frijling, 2003	Netherland s	GP or outpatient clinics	cRCT	Risk factors and HF (5229; 2653:2567)	124; 62:62	NR	NR	Prescription of aspirin and sublingual nitrate prescriptions
Geary, 2019,	Sweden	GP or outpatient clinics	RCT	TIA or ischemic stroke (12,766; 6408:6358)	207; 104:103	73.1 (12.5)	6894 (54.0)	Prescription of - Antiplatelets - Statins
Goff, 2003	USA	GP or outpatient clinics	RCT	CHD (705; 423:282)	184; 97:87	56 (20- 81)	543 (77.0)	 Prescription of ACEi. Beta-blockers HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors,
Huffman , 2018	India	Hospitals	Steppe d- wedge d cRCT	AMI Patients (22,557;10,066 :11,308)	63	60.6 (12.0)	16,183 (71.7)	Prescription of - ACEi or ARB - Aspirin - Beta-blockers - Statin

Table 1: Characteristics of included studies

								Smoking cessation advice
								MACE Mortality
Johnston, 2010	USA	Hospitals	cRCT	Ischemic stroke (3361; 1464:1897)	12; 6:6	73 (12.6)	1581 (47.0)	BP control <140/90 for all patient Prescription of statin
Lowrie, 2014	UK	GP or outpatient	cRCT	ASCVD (4039:	31; 16:15	68.3 (12.1)	2097 (51.9)	Prescription of statins
Machline -Carrion, 2019	Brazil	GP or outpatient clinics	cRCT	CAD, Ischaemic stroke or PAD (1619; 726:893)	42; 18:22	65.6 (10.6)	1029 (63.5)	 Prescription of ACEi or ARB Antiplatelets Beta-blockers Statins Risk factors BP <140/90 LDL - C levels <70 mg/dL at 12 months Smoking cessation advice MACE Total mortality
Nouwens , 2014	Netherland s	GP or outpatient clinics	cRCT	CVD (1685; 799:886)	45; 22:23	69.1 (11.9)	1044 (61.9)	 Prescription of Aspirin or an alternative antiplatelet therapy Statin Systolic BP <140 mmHg. LDL-C <2.5 mmol/l

								Smoking cessation advice
Qu, 2021	China	Hospitals	cRCT by provid er	CABG (10,006; 5653:4353)	55; 26:29	62.7 (8.8)	7599 (75.9)	Prescription of - ACEi or ARB - Beta-blockers - Statins
Sonderga ard, 2006	Denmark	GP or outpatient clinics	RCT	IHD (634; 350:284)	30; 15:15	NR	379 (59.7)	Prescription of - ASA - Lipid-lowering medications Smoking cessation advice
Wang, 2018	China	Hospital	prevent ion of IHD in general practic e	AIS (4800; 2400:2400)	40; 20:20	NR	3043 (63.3)	Prescription of lipid- lowering medication MACE All-cause mortality
Williams , 2011	USA	Hospitals	cRCT	CABG (361,328)	458; 224:234	NR	271,357 (75.1)	Prescription of - ACEIs - ASA, - Beta-blockers - Lipid-lowering agents
ACEi - Angi	otensin-convert	ing enzyme inh	ibitors, ACS	S - Acute coronary syn	ndrome, AIS - Acut	e ischemic s	troke, AMI -	Acute myocardial infarction, ARB
- Angiotensii bypass graft	CAD - Corona	rv arterial disea	se. CHD - C	Coronary heart disease	e. cRCT - cluster-rai	ndomised co	ntrolled trial	. CVD - Cardiovascular disease HF
- Heart failur	re, IHD - Ischen	ic heart diseas	e, LDL-C -]	Low-density lipoprote	ein cholesterol, MA	CE - Major a	adverse cardi	ovascular event, PAD - Peripheral
arterial disea	se, RCT - Rand	omised control!	led trial, TI/	A - Transient ischemic	c attack,	5		· •

QI interventions

All 13 studies implemented complex, multicomponent QI interventions and used a combination of strategies to improve CVD management (Data supplement 3). The median duration of the intervention was 13.5 months (IQI: 12, 20.5). The most commonly used QI strategy was feedback reports provided to participating healthcare providers, which were used in 92% (n=12) of the studies.^[27-29,31-39] Among the 12 studies using feedback reports; seven studies compared their performance with other sites in the intervention arm or against regional and national level data.^[27,29,32,34,35,37,39] Another commonly implemented QI strategy was the use of different decision support tools by the healthcare facilities including care reminder, treatment protocols, checklists, clinical guidelines and recommendations, pocket cards, standardised admission, and discharge orders (69%, n=9).^[27-29,32,35-39]

Additional QI strategies included practice support or facilitation in 46% (n=6).^[28,31-34,37] QI workshops, seminars or webinars for healthcare providers was used in 38% (n=5) of the studies^[28,30,36-38], use of physicians as local champions or quality coordinators in 46% (n=6)^[28-30,36-38], establishment of QI teams in 38% (n=5)^[28,30,36,37,39], and site visits in 30% (n=4)^[31,33,35,38] of the studies. Digital platforms such as online portals and online text messaging platforms were used by 30% (n=4)^[30,32,36,37] and Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles were used by 15% (n=2) of the included studies.^[30,39] Two studies (15%) used regular team meetings^[30,39], one study awarded certificates to GPs for six hours of accredited training^[31], while another provided certificates to participating sites^[34] for their participation in the QI intervention. To ensure effective implementation of interventions, six studies (46%) provided training for team members prior to the study.^[28,30,31,33,36,39]

Risk of bias assessment

Figures 2 and 3 summarises the risk of bias assessment for included studies. Four out of 13 studies (31%) had an overall risk of bias judged as high.^[27,32,34,35] Six studies (46%) were at low risk^[28,33,36-39] and another three (31%) were judged as unclear risk of bias.^[29-31] Random sequence generation and allocation concealment were described adequately in 12 (92%) and 11 (85%) studies, respectively. Eight studies (61%) were at low risk of attrition bias.^[28,29,31,33,36-39] Nine studies (69%) were at low risk of selective reporting as they reported all expected outcomes in accordance with the protocol or trial registration.^[27,28,30,33,34,36-39]

Publication bias

No significant publication bias was found from assessing funnel plots and Egger's regression test (Supplementary material 4).

Prescription of guideline-recommended medications

Eight studies (61.5%) measured the proportion of patients prescribed antiplatelet therapy and six studies were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that the QI intervention did not significantly improve the prescription of antiplatelet therapies compared to usual care (OR: 1.24, [95% CI: 0.92, 1.67]) with substantial heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.087, I² = 77.38%, p=0.001; Figure 4.1).^[30,32,34,35,38,39] Three studies had high risk of bias and a sensitivity analysis was performed on the remaining three studies.^[32,34,35] The sensitivity analysis also showed non-significant improvement in the prescription of antiplatelet therapy (pooled OR: 1.46, [95% CI: 0.72, 2.95]) with substantial heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.301, I² = 82.09%, P = 0.004; Figure 5.1).^[30,38,39]

				Risk of bias	5	
		D1	D2	D3	D4	Overall
	Flather, 2011	+	+	-	+	-
	Frijling, 2003	+	+	+	-	-
	Geary, 2019	+	+	×	-	X
	Goff, 2003	-	-	×	+	×
	Huffman, 2018	+	+	+	+	+
	Johnston, 2010	+	+	+	+	+
Study	Lowrie, 2014	+	+	+	+	+
	Machline-Carrion, 2019	+	+	+	+	+
	Nouwens, 2014	+	+	X	+	×
	Qu, 2021	+	+	+	+	+
	Sondergaard, 2006	+	+	×	-	×
	Wang, 2018	+	+	+	+	+
	Williams, 2011	+	-	+	-	-
		D1: Randon D2: Allocatio D3: Outcom D4: Selectiv	n sequence on concealm ne data ve reporting	generation lient		Judgement High Unclear Low

Figure 2. Risk of bias summary: risk of bias judgement on each domain by study



Figure 3. Risk of bias graph: judgement of risk of bias domains presented as percentages

Two studies were excluded from meta-analysis as they analysed cluster-level data. Frijling et al. measured the prescription of aspirin and sub-lingual nitrate and found similar results to the meta-analysis where the effect of the QI intervention on the outcome was not significant (OR:1.44, [95% CI: 0.86, 2.41]; Figure 5).^[31] Williams et al. measured the difference between the mean change in prescription adherence score between the intervention and usual care groups was not significant (2.9% vs 4.2%, p=0.255).^[29]

Twelve studies (92.3%) reported the proportion of patients prescribed lipid-lowering medications and 11 studies were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that the QI intervention did not improve the prescription of lipid-lowering medications compared to usual care (OR: 1.27, [95% CI: 0.95, 1.70]) with substantial heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.174, I² = 91.49%, p=0.000; Figure 4.2).^[27,28,30,32-39] Four studies had high risk of bias^[27,32,34,35] and therefore the sensitivity analysis was performed on the remaining seven studies. The sensitivity analysis showed significant improvement in the prescription of lipid-lowering medications (OR: 1.63, [95% CI: 1.34, 2.00]) with relatively low heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.019, I² = 28.43%, P = 0.211; Figure 5.2).^[28,30,33,36-39] Results found by Williams et al. were not included in the meta-analysis as it analysed cluster-level data. Williams et al. measured the difference between the mean change in prescription adherence score between the intervention and usual care group and found that it was statistically significant (13.1% vs 15.7%; P=0.017).^[29]

Six studies (46.1%) reported the prescription of ACEi/ ARB, and five of them were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that QI intervention did not improve the prescription of ACEi/ARB compared to usual care (OR: 1.17, [95% CI: 0.91, 1.51]) with moderate statistical heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.034, I² = 43.34%, p=0.133; Figure 4.3).^[27,30,36,38,39] One study had high risk of bias^[27], therefore the sensitivity analysis was performed on the remaining four studies. However, the sensitivity analysis showed significant improvement in the prescription (OR: 1.37, [95% CI: 1.08, 1.73]) with no heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.00, $I^2 = 0.00\%$, P = 0.869; Figure 5.3).^[30,36,38,39] Williams et al. measured the difference between the mean change in prescription adherence score between the intervention and usual care groups at cluster level, therefore the results were excluded from the meta-analysis. However, the study also reported a greater improvement in the intervention group compared to the control (13.1% versus 6.4%; P<0.001).^[27]

Six studies (46.1%) reported the prescription of beta-blocker, and five of them were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that QI intervention did not improve the prescription of beta-blockers compared to usual care (OR: 1.27, [95% CI:0.94, 1.73]) with substantial statistical heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.64, I² = 70.68%, p=0.009; Figure 4.4).^[27,30,36,38,39] One study had high risk of bias^[27], therefore the sensitivity analysis was performed on the remaining four studies. Conversely, the sensitivity analysis showed significant improvement in the prescription of beta-blocker (OR: 1.48, [95% CI: 1.31, 1.67]) with no heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.00, I² = 0.00%, P = 0.946; Figure 5.4).^[30,36,38,39] Williams et al. measured the difference between the mean change in prescription adherence score between the intervention and usual care groups at cluster level and could not be included in the meta-analysis. However, the study found significant improvement (12.2% versus 9.7%; P=0.032).^[29]

Risk Factor Management

Three studies (23%) reported adequate control of BP. Meta-analysis was not performed for this outcome as one of the three studies used a slightly different target for adequate BP control of SBP < $140^{[34]}$ and other two studies used a combined target of SBP<140 and DBP<90.^[28,38]

Johnston et al. reported significant improvement in the BP control (OR: 1.27, [95% CI: 1.02, 1.57]) in intervention hospitals compared to control.^[28] One study, however, showed no significant improvement in achieving adequate BP control in both groups (OR: 1.37, [95% CI: 0.87, 2.18]).^[38] Another study found both the intervention and usual care group showed reduction in the proportion of patient reaching the adequate blood pressure target, but the reduction was more in the usual care group (10.7% vs 11.9%); resulting in a 1.2% between-group change, however, the change was not significant.^[34]

Three studies (23%) reported the proportion of patients with adequate control of total or LDL cholesterol. Adequate cholesterol control was measured differently in the three studies, hence a meta-analysis was not performed for this outcome. Lowrie et al. measured the proportion of patients achieving a total cholesterol target of <5 mmol/l and found that patients in the intervention arm were more likely to achieve the cholesterol targets compared to the usual care (OR:1.81, [95% CI: 1.63, 2.01]).^[33] The other two studies measured the proportion of patients with an LDL cholesterol level below 2.5 mmol/l. One study found a higher proportion of patients in the intervention group achieved the LDL cholesterol target compared to the usual care group (76.4% vs. 71.6%). However, the improvement was not statistically significant (OR: 1.23, [95% CI: 0.67, 2.26]).^[38] The other study found slight reduction in the proportion of patient achieving cholesterol target in intervention compared to usual care group (1.1% vs 1.0%); resulting in a 2.1% between-group change, however the change was not significant.^[34]

Four studies (30.7%) reported the proportion of patients receiving cessation counselling and all were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that there was no difference in the proportion of cessation support or counselling received between intervention

and usual care groups (OR: 1.30, [95% CI: 0.75, 2.27]) and found substantial heterogeneity between studies (Tau² = 0.181, I² = 66.22%, p=0.031; Figure 4.5).^[34,35,38,39] Two studies had high risk of bias and therefore the sensitivity analysis was performed on the remaining two studies.^[34,35] The sensitivity analysis showed similar results (OR: 2.93, [95% CI: 0.30, 29.77]) with substantial heterogeneity (Tau² = 2.431, I² = 87.22%, P = 0.005; Figure 5.5).^[38,39]

Clinical events

Three studies (23%) reported MACE and all three studies were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled analysis showed that QI intervention led to significant reduction in MACE compared to usual care (OR: 0.84, [95% CI: 0.71, 0.98]) with moderate heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.008, I²= 40.76%, p=0.197; Figure 4.6).^[37-39]

Three studies (23%) reported total mortality and all three studies were included in the metaanalysis. The pooled analysis showed significant reduction in total mortality associated with the intervention compared to usual care (OR: 0.88, [95% CI: 0.78, 0.99]) with moderate heterogeneity (Tau² = 0.200, I²= 53.11%, p=0.094) (Figure 4.7).^[37-39]



Study name		Statis	tics for ea	ach study	
	Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value
Flather, 2011	0.76	0.49	1.18	-1.22	0.22
Huffman, 2018	1.65	1.15	2.37	2.71	0.01
Machline-carrion, 2019	3.13	1.29	7.60	2.52	0.01
Geary, 2019	0.95	0.85	1.06	-0.91	0.36
Nouwens, 2014	1.00	0.77	1.29	-0.02	0.98
Sondegaard, 2006	2.54	1.21	5.32	2.47	0.01
Pooled	1.24	0.92	1.67	1.43	0.15
Prediction Interval	1.24	0.49	3.12		

 $Tau^2 = 0.087, Chi^2 = 22.1, df = 5 (p=0.001), I^2 = 77.38\%,$ Test for overall random effect: Z = 1.434, p = 0.151



4.2 Lipid-lowering medication

name		Statis	tics for e	ach study			Odds
	Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value		
, 2011	1.46	0.72	2.98	1.04	0.30		1
2003	1.00	0.80	1.25	0.00	1.00		
man, 2018	1.42	1.05	1.93	2.24	0.02		
line-carrion, 2019	4.04	1.50	10.89	2.76	0.01		
2021	1.15	0.48	2.76	0.31	0.75		
ary, 2019	0.88	0.81	0.95	-3.14	0.00		
wens, 2014	0.63	0.42	0.94	-2.28	0.02		
degaard, 2006	1.59	1.00	2.53	1.96	0.05		
nston, 2010	1.26	0.70	2.28	0.76	0.45		
rie, 2014	1.87	1.65	2.12	9.61	0.00		
ng, 2018	1.35	0.67	2.73	0.84	0.40		
oled	1.27	0.95	1.70	1.64	0.10		
ediction Interval	1.27	0.47	3.46				
$Tau^2 = 0.174$, Chi ² =	= 117.52, d	lf = 10 (p=	=0.000), I ²	= 91.49%,		0.01	0.1
Test for overall rand	lom effect:	Z = 1.641	p = 0.10	1			Favours Control

4.3 ACEi or ARB

Study name	Statistics for each study					
	Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value	
Flather, 2011	1.29	0.76	2.18	0.95	0.34	
Goff, 2003	0.88	0.68	1.13	-1.00	0.32	
Huffman, 2018	1.45	1.03	2.04	2.13	0.03	
Machline-carrion, 2019	1.44	0.88	2.36	1.45	0.15	
Qu, 2021	1.02	0.46	2.27	0.05	0.96	
Pooled	1.17	0.91	1.51	1.22	0.22	
Prediction Interval	1.17	0.57	2.41			
Tau ² = 0.034, Chi ² = 7.060 df = 4 (p=0.133), I ² = 43.34%, Test for overall random effect: $Z = 1.221$, $p = 0.222$						0.01



Odds ratio and 95% CI

10





Figure 4: Meta-analysis of the effect of quality improvement intervention on medication prescription, smoking cessation advice and clinical events. *CI*: Confidence Interval, *ACEi*: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, *ARB*: Angiotensin receptor blockers, *MACE*: Major adverse cardiovascular events




Figure. 5: Sensitivity analysis of the effect of quality improvement intervention on medication prescription and smoking cessation advice excluding high risk of bias studies. *CI*: Confidence Interval, *ACEi*: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, *ARB*: Angiotensin receptor blockers.

Subgroup analysis

Subgroup analysis was performed to examine the effect of QI intervention in specific settings (Table 2). There were significant improvements in the prescription of ACEi or ARB and betablockers (p=0.000) in both hospitals^[30,36,39] and GP or outpatient clinics^[27,38], with a slightly stronger effect in the latter. Hospital studies showed a significant improvement in the prescription of lipid-lowering medications (p=0.008)^[28,30,36,37,39], MACE (p=0.054)^[37,39], and a reduction in total mortality (p=0.033).^[37,39] However, no significant effects were observed in improving antiplatelet therapy (p=0.167), smoking cessation advice (p=0.513) in both hospitals^[30,39] and GP or outpatient clinic settings.^[32,34,35,38]

		Hospital	GP or	P Value				
Outcome	No of studies	OR (95% CI),	No of studies	OR (95% CI),	between groups			
Antiplatelet therapy	2	1.13 (0.53, 2.41)	4	1.29 (0.90, 1.86)	0.167			
Lipid-lowering medication	5	1.37 (1.08, 1.72)	08, 1.72) 6 1.11 (0		0.008			
ACEi or ARB	3	1.35 (1.03, 1.77)	2	1.49 (1.17, 1.90)	0.000			
Beta-blocker	3	1.48 (1.31, 1.68)	2	1.57 (1.15, 2.15)	0.000			
Smoking cessation advice	1	1.06 (0.80, 1.39)	3	1.89 (0.59, 5.98)	0.513			
MACE	2	0.84 (0.69, 1.02)	1	0.75 (0.41, 1.34),	0.054			
Total mortality	2	0.86 (0.76, 0.98)	1	1.20 (0.63, 2.29)	0.033			
OR - Odds ratio, CI - Angiotensin receptor	OR - Odds ratio, CI - Confidence interval, ACEi - Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, ARB - Angiotensin receptor blockers, MACE - Major adverse cardiovascular events							

Table 2: Sub-group analysis of outcomes, based on clinical settings of the study

DISCUSSION

Principal findings

The current meta-analyses showed no significant improvement in the prescription of guideline-recommended medications including antiplatelet therapy, lipid-lowering medications, ACEi or ARB and beta-blockers and smoking cessation advice. However, there was a significant reduction in MACE and total mortality in the meta-analysis. Adequate control of BP and cholesterol yielded mixed results as a result of the intervention. However, sensitivity analysis revealed significant improvement in prescription of lipid-lowering medications, ACEi or ARB, beta-blockers which showed non-significant improvement in the meta-analysis. Smoking cessation advice revealed similar findings in both meta-analysis and sensitivity analysis with no improvement in the outcome. Additionally, subgroup analysis found significant improvement in the prescription of ACEi or ARB and beta-blockers in both hospitals and GP or outpatient clinics. Additionally, significant improvement was seen in the prescription of lipid-lowering medications along with reduction in MACE and total mortality in hospitals and there was no significant improvement in the prescription of antiplatelet therapy and smoking cessation support in both settings.

Comparison with other studies

This systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effect of various QI interventions on improving CVD-related outcomes. In contrast to findings from another systematic review including both randomised and non-randomised trials, which indicated low to moderate effectiveness of hospital based QI interventions for certain clinical outcomes including discharge medications, MACE and mortality^[16], the current review, which included randomised and cluster-randomised controlled trials focusing on both hospital and clinic based QI interventions, found no significant improvement in the clinical outcomes except for

reduction in MACE. Moreover, subgroup analysis found varied effectiveness of QI intervention across the outcomes. The prescription of lipid-lowering medications, MACE and total mortality showed improvement in hospitals, however there was no improvement in prescription of antiplatelet therapy and smoking cessation advice in either settings. These mixed findings also align with a large cRCT involving 60 primary care practices, demonstrating overall improvement in risk factor measurements and the prescription of guideline-recommended medications; and there was no improvement in the medications prescription in high risk cohort.^[40] Previous studies explored various contextual factors, such as study settings, designs, measurement methods and effect sizes, which could have contributed to the variation in the intervention effectiveness.^[17,41]

QI intervention offers an opportunity for improved healthcare efficiencies and outcomes, therefore further understanding of the effect of these interventions on clinical outcomes in other chronic conditions is also needed. Previous studies have already evaluated the effectiveness of QI interventions across various health conditions including asthma^[42], diabetes^[43], cancer screening^[44]. One RCT evaluating a multi-component QI intervention including 1146 individuals with type 2 diabetes found the intervention was effective in reducing HbA_{1C} level, and risk factors including SBP, DBP, and LDL-C level however, there was no significant reduction in adverse events.^[45] Additionally, another systematic review found QI interventions were effective in reducing healthcare service use in patients with chronic condition^[14] and another found significant improvement in processes but no improvement in clinical outcomes.^[15] Findings from the previous studies^[14,15,45] align with the current systematic review demonstrating mixed effectiveness, further highlighting the potential effect of QI interventions in improving not only clinical outcomes but also process of care and healthcare delivery.

83

Strengths and limitations of this review

The systematic review has several strengths, including its comprehensive evaluation of several CVD-related outcomes across diverse studies including both RCTs and cRCTs; providing a robust understanding of the impact of QI interventions in CVD care. Additionally, use of subgroup and sensitivity analysis adds granularity to the findings and enhances the methodological rigor and strengthen the robustness of the findings. However, the review is not without any limitations. Firstly, majority of the studies were conducted in high-income countries. This contextual difference may have introduced variability and affect the generalisability of the findings in low-middle-income countries and other settings. Secondly, the selection of different study sites (hospitals and clinics) and designs may have contributed to the substantial heterogeneity of the results. Thirdly, the variability in the outcome measures and difference in their definitions used across the included studies, particularly for the adequate control of BP and cholesterol, was not included in the meta-analysis, which may have impacted the accuracy of the findings. Lastly, it was beyond the scope of the review to evaluate the effect of specific QI strategies on improving clinical outcomes and to assess the several contextual factors influencing the effectiveness of QI on clinical outcomes.

Implications and future research

QI interventions are often complex to implement^[15] and have also been associated with several implementation challenges^[46,47] along with limited evidence on sustainability.^[48] Findings from the review suggest that several contextual factors may contribute to the variability on the findings^[41], emphasising the need for further research to assess these factors for wider roll-out of such interventions. To fully evaluate the effect of QI interventions on clinical outcomes, it is important to measure the variety of QI strategies used within QI interventions.^[49] Previous studies have explored the effectiveness of individual QI strategies on improving clinical outcomes.^[50-53] Since the current review did not evaluate the effectiveness of individual or combined QI strategies used within the QI interventions, future research could further elaborate on these aspects to contribute to more robust evidence. Moreover, a positive attitude, effective leadership, ongoing training, and support have been identified as important facilitators in successful QI implementation, with electronic health records offering new opportunities.^[54-56] Therefore, future research is encouraged to emphasise on these factors when implementing QIs along with a comprehensive evaluation to help gain valuable insights into their implementation; this includes understanding the various features and mechanisms used within QI interventions, identifying what worked and what didn't, and assessing acceptability and feasibility to guide future implementation.^[57-59]

CONCLUSION

This systematic review and meta-analysis provide a comprehensive evaluation of QI interventions targeting several CVD outcomes across a diverse range of studies. The findings revealed varying effectiveness in improving prescriptions of guideline-recommended medications, risk factor management and clinical events associated with CVD, particularly on subgroup and sensitivity analysis. Despite the robustness brought by the inclusion of randomised and cluster-randomised trials and meticulous quality assessments, certain limitations, such as contextual variations, site-specific differences, and heterogeneity in study types, should be acknowledged. The mixed results underscore the complexity of QI interventions, suggesting the need for future research to be more robust and detailed. Gaining comprehensive insights into such programs could contribute to a better understanding of the impact of QI interventions and provide valuable guidance for their successful implementation in diverse healthcare settings.

85

Ethics approval

Not required

Competing interests

All authors have completed the ICMJE disclosure form at <u>http://www.icmje.org/disclosure-of-interest/</u>and declare: no financial relationships with any organizations that might have an interest in the submitted work; and no other relationships or activities that could appear to have influenced the submitted work.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Julia Ning for her constant support as a research manager. They also thank University of Sydney Librarian Kanchana Ekanayake for her continuous guidance and support with the search strategy.

Declaration of funding

No specific funding was received for this study. However, NH is supported by the Westmead Applied Research Centre Postgraduate Research Scholarship Award. KH is supported by the NHMRC Investigator Grant (Emerging leadership 1) (GNT1196724). DM is supported by a University of Sydney Tuition Fee Scholarship, SOLVE-CHD PhD Scholarship (SC3751) and Faculty of Medicine and Health Postgraduate Research Supplementary Scholarship (SC4455). JR is supported by a NHMRC Investigator Grant (GNT1143538).

Data availability statement

All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article. Search strategy for this study is available as Data Supplement 2. Data used in the study are available in Tables 1 and 2 and in Data Supplement 3 and Data Supplement 5.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organisation. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). 2022. [updated 2021 June 11; cited - 2023 December 18]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-</u> room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- Commonwealth of Australia as represented by the Department of Health and Aged Care. Australian Guideline for assessing and managing cardiovascular disease risk.
 2023 [cited 2023 Dec 18]; Available from:

https://d35rj4ptypp2hd.cloudfront.net/pdf/Guideline-for-assessing-and-managing-CVDrisk_20230522.pdf

- 3. Smith Jr SC, Benjamin EJ, Bonow RO, Braun LT, Creager MA, Franklin BA, et al. AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update: A guideline from the american heart association and american college of cardiology foundation. Circulation. 2011;124:2458-2473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.0b013e318235eb4d</u>
- Chen C, Li X, Su Y, You Z, Wan R, Hong K. Adherence with cardiovascular medications and the outcomes in patients with coronary arterial disease: "Real-world" evidence. Clin Cardiol. 2022;45(12):1220-1228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.23898</u>
- Bittner V, Bertolet M, Barraza Felix R, Farkouh Michael E, Goldberg S, Ramanathan Kodangudi B, et al. Comprehensive cardiovascular risk factor control improves survival. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(7):765-773.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2015.06.019

 Samarasekera EJ, Clark CE, Kaur S, Patel RS, Mills J. Cardiovascular disease risk assessment and reduction: Summary of updated nice guidance. BMJ. 2023;381:1028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.p1028</u>

- Ehrenstein V, Kharrazi H, Lehmann H, Taylor CO. Obtaining data from electronic health records. Tools and technologies for registry interoperability, registries for evaluating patient outcomes: A user's guide. 3rd edition, addendum 2 [internet]. Rockville (MD):Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551878/</u>
- Edberg D, Wendel J. Healthcare transformation: The electronic health record. In: Duckworth M, O'Donohue W. (eds) Behavioral medicine and integrated care. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018:121-145. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93003-9_7</u>
- Kariotis TC, Prictor M, Chang S, Gray K. Impact of electronic health records on information practices in mental health contexts: Scoping review. J Med Internet Res. 2022;24(5):e30405. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/30405</u>
- Cimino JJ. Improving the electronic health record--are clinicians getting what they wished for? JAMA. 2013;309(10):991-992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.890</u>
- Thukral A. Quality improvement: "The way forward". Indian J Pediatr. 2021;88:3-4.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-020-03527-1
- Batalden PB, Davidoff F. What is "quality improvement" and how can it transform healthcare? BMJ Qual Saf Health Care. 2007;16(1):2-3. https://doi.org/10.1136/qshc.2006.022046
- Harris SB, Green ME, Brown JB, Roberts S, Russell G, Fournie M, et al. Impact of a quality improvement program on primary healthcare in canada: A mixed-method evaluation. Health Policy. 2015;119(4):405-416.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.10.019
- 14. Tricco AC, Antony J, Ivers NM, Ashoor HM, Khan PA, Blondal E, et al. Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies for coordination of care to reduce use of health care

services: A systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2014;186:E568-578. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.140289

- Schouten LM, Hulscher ME, Van Everdingen JJ, Huijsman R, Grol RP. Evidence for the impact of quality improvement collaboratives: Systematic review. BMJ. 2008;336:1491-1494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39570.749884.be</u>
- Bahiru E, Agarwal A, Berendsen MA, Baldridge AS, Temu T, Rogers A, et al. Hospital-based quality improvement interventions for patients with acute coronary syndrome: A systematic review. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2019;12:e005513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/circoutcomes.118.005513</u>
- 17. Singh K, Bawa VS, Venkateshmurthy NS, Gandral M, Sharma S, Lodhi S, et al. Assessment of studies of quality improvement strategies to enhance outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4:e2113375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.13375</u>
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The prisma statement. International J Surg. 2010;8(5):336-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.007</u>
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The prisma 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. Int J Surg. 2021;88:105906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2021.105906</u>
- Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The cochrane collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ. 2011;343:d5928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928</u>
- 21. Ibanez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, et al. 2017 ESC guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with st-segment elevation: The task force for the management of acute

myocardial infarction in patients presenting with st-segment elevation of the european society of cardiology (esc). Eur Heart J. 2018;39(2):119-177. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx393

- 22. National Heart Foundation of Australia. Guideline for the diagonsis and management of hypertension in adults 2016. Melbourne: National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/getmedia/c83511ab-835a-4fcf-96f5-88d770582ddc/PRO-167_Hypertension-guideline-2016_WEB.pdf</u>
- Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, Beam C, Birtcher KK, Blumenthal RS, et al. 2018 AHA/ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS/APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA guideline on the management of blood cholesterol. J AM Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(24): 3168-3209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018.11.002
- 24. Zwar N. Smoking cessation. Aust J Gen Pract. 2020;49:474-481. https://doi.org/10.31128/ajgp-03-20-5287
- 25. Hupfeld C, Mudaliar S. Navigating the "mace" in cardiovascular outcomes trials and decoding the relevance of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease benefits versus heart failure benefits. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2019;21(8):1780-1789.

https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13740

- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials. 1986;7(3):177-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2
- 27. Goff Jr DC, Gu L, Cantley LK, Sheedy DJ, Cohen SJ. Quality of care for secondary prevention for patients with coronary heart disease: Results of the hastening the effective application of research through technology (HEART) trial. Am Heart J. 2003;146(6):1045-1051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-8703(03)00522-2</u>
- Johnston SC, Sidney S, Hills NK, Grosvenor D, Klingman JG, Bernstein A, et al.
 Standardized discharge orders after stroke: Results of the quality improvement in stroke

prevention (QUISP) cluster randomized trial. Ann Neurol. 2010;67(5):579-589. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22019

- Williams JB, Delong ER, Peterson ED, Dokholyan RS, Ou FS, Ferguson Jr TB. Secondary prevention after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: Findings of a national randomized controlled trial and sustained society-led incorporation into practice. Circulation. 2011;123(1):39-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.110.981068</u>
- 30. Flather MD, Babalis D, Booth J, Bardaji A, MacHecourt J, Opolski G, et al. Clusterrandomized trial to evaluate the effects of a quality improvement program on management of non-st-elevation acute coronary syndromes: The european quality improvement programme for acute coronary syndromes (EQUIP-ACS). Am J Heart. 2011;162(4):700-707.e701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2011.07.027</u>
- Frijling BD, Lobo CM, Hulscher MEJL, Akkermans RP, Van Drenth BB, Prins A, et al. Intensive support to improve clinical decision making in cardiovascular care: A randomised controlled trial in general practice. BMJ Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(3):181-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/qhc.12.3.181</u>
- Geary L, Hasselström J, Carlsson AC, Eriksson I, von Euler M. Secondary prevention after stroke/transient ischemic attack: A randomized audit and feedback trial. Acta Neurol. Scand. 2019;140(2):107-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13109</u>
- 33. Lowrie R, Lloyd SM, McConnachie A, Morrison J. A cluster randomised controlled trial of a pharmacist-led collaborative intervention to improve statin prescribing and attainment of cholesterol targets in primary care. PLoS one. 2014;9(11):e113370. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113370
- Nouwens E, van Lieshout J, Bouma M, Braspenning J, Wensing M. Effectiveness of improvement plans in primary care practice accreditation: A clustered randomized trial. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e114045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114045</u>

- 35. Sondergaard J, Hansen DG, Aarslev P, Munck AP. A multifaceted intervention according to the audit project odense method improved secondary prevention of ischemic heart disease: A randomised controlled trial. Fam Pract. 2006;23(2):198-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmi090</u>
- 36. Qu J, Du J, Rao C, Chen S, Gu D, Li J, et al. Effect of a smartphone-based intervention on secondary prevention medication prescriptions after coronar y ar ter y bypass graft sur ger y: The MISSION-1 randomized controlled trial. Am Heart J. 2021;237:79-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2021.03.005</u>
- 37. Wang Y, Li Z, Zhao X, Wang C, Wang X, Wang D, et al. Effect of a multifaceted quality improvement intervention on hospital personnel adherence to performance measures in patients with acute ischemic stroke in china: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2018;320(3):245-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.8802</u>
- 38. Machline-Carrion MJ, Soares RM, Damiani LP, Campos VB, Sampaio B, Fonseca FH, et al. Effect of a multifaceted quality improvement intervention on the prescription of evidence-based treatment in patients at high cardiovascular risk in brazil: The BRIDGE cardiovascular prevention cluster randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol. 2019;4(5):408-417. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.21906
- Huffman MD, Mohanan PP, Devarajan R, Baldridge AS, Kondal D, Zhao L, et al. Effect of a quality improvement intervention on clinical outcomes in patients in india with acute myocardial infarction: The ACS QUIK randomized clinical trial. Jama. 2018;319(6):567-578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.21906</u>
- 40. Peiris D, Usherwood T, Panaretto K, Harris M, Hunt J, Redfern J, et al. Effect of a computer-guided, quality improvement program for cardiovascular disease risk management in primary health care: The treatment of cardiovascular risk using

electronic decision support cluster-randomized trial. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2015;8(1):87-95. https://doi.org/10.1161/circoutcomes.114.001235

- 41. Kringos DS, Sunol R, Wagner C, Mannion R, Michel P, Klazinga NS, et al. The influence of context on the effectiveness of hospital quality improvement strategies: A review of systematic reviews. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015;15:277. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0906-0
- 42. Homer CJ, Forbes P, Horvitz L, Peterson LE, Wypij D, Heinrich P. Impact of a quality improvement program on care and outcomes for children with asthma. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2005;159(5):464-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.159.5.464</u>
- 43. Tricco AC, Ivers NM, Grimshaw JM, Moher D, Turner L, Galipeau J, et al.
 Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;379(9833):2252-2261.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60480-2
- 44. Joung RH-S, Mullett TW, Kurtzman SH, Shafir S, Harris JB, Yao KA, et al. Evaluation of a national quality improvement collaborative for improving cancer screening. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(11):e2242354.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.42354

- 45. Ali MK, Singh K, Kondal D, Devarajan R, Patel SA, Shivashankar R, et al.
 Effectiveness of a multicomponent quality improvement strategy to improve achievement of diabetes care goals: A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med.
 2016;165(6):399-408. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/m15-2807</u>
- 46. Groene O, Sunol R. Quality improvement is complex and contextual. BMJ.
 2019;367:16155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.16155</u>
- 47. Knight AW, Caesar C, Ford D, Coughlin A, Frick C. Improving primary care in australia through the australian primary care collaboratives program: A quality

improvement report. BMJ Qual & Saf. 2012;21(11):948-955.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000165

- 48. Bray P, Cummings DM, Wolf M, Massing MW, Reaves J. After the collaborative is over: What sustains quality improvement initiatives in primary care practices? Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2009;35(10):502-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1553-7250(09)35069-2</u>
- Varkey P, Reller MK, Resar RK. Basics of quality improvement in health care. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82(6):735-739. <u>https://doi.org/10.4065/82.6.735</u>
- Baskerville NB, Liddy C, Hogg W. Systematic review and meta-analysis of practice facilitation within primary care settings. Ann Fam Med Medicine. 2012;10(1):63-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1312</u>
- Ivers N, Jamtvedt G, Flottorp S, Young JM, Odgaard-Jensen J, French SD, et al. Audit and feedback: Effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;6:CD000259.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd000259.pub3

 Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF. Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: A systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. BMJ. 2005;330(7494):765.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38398.500764.8f

53. Werdenberg J, Biziyaremye F, Nyishime M, Nahimana E, Mutaganzwa C, Tugizimana D, et al. Successful implementation of a combined learning collaborative and mentoring intervention to improve neonatal quality of care in rural rwanda. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3752-z</u>

- 54. Ferlie EB, Shortell SM. Improving the quality of health care in the united kingdom and the united states: A framework for change. Milbank Q. 2001;79(2):281-315.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.00206
- 55. Meyer JA, Silow-Carroll S, Kutyla T, Stepnick LS, Rybowski LS. Hospital quality: Ingredients for success—overview and lessons learned. The Commonwealth Fund. 2004;761. Available from:

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/ media files_publ ications_fund_report_2004_jul_hospital_quality_ingredients_for_success___overvie w_and_lessons_learned_761_meyer_overview_pdf.pdf

- 56. Shortell SM, Bennett CL, Byck GR. Assessing the impact of continuous quality improvement on clinical practice: What it will take to accelerate progress. Milbank Q. 1998;76(4):593-624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.00107</u>
- 57. Grant A, Dreischulte T, Guthrie B. Process evaluation of the data-driven quality improvement in primary care (DQIP) trial: Active and less active ingredients of a multicomponent complex intervention to reduce high-risk primary care prescribing. BMJ Open. 2017; 7(3), e015281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015281</u>
- Hulscher M, Laurant M, Grol R. Process evaluation on quality improvement interventions. BMJ Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(1):40-46. https://doi.org/10.1136/qhc.12.1.40
- 59. Mann C, Shaw A, Guthrie B, Wye L, Man M-S, Hollinghurst S, et al. Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve management of multimorbidity in general practice: The 3D study. BMJ open. 2016;6(5):e011260. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011260

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Supplementary material 1: PRISMA 2020 Checklist

Section and Topic	Item #	Checklist item	Location where item is reported
TITLE	1		
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review.	1
ABSTRACT			
Abstract	2	See the PRISMA 2020 for Abstracts checklist.	2-3
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of existing knowledge.	4-5
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the objective(s) or question(s) the review addresses.	5
METHODS		·	
Eligibility criteria	5	Specify the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the review and how studies were grouped for the syntheses.	6
Information sources	6	Specify all databases, registers, websites, organisations, reference lists and other sources searched or consulted to identify studies. Specify the date when each source was last searched or consulted.	5-6
Search strategy	7	Present the full search strategies for all databases, registers and websites, including any filters and limits used.	Supplementary material 1
Selection process	8	Specify the methods used to decide whether a study met the inclusion criteria of the review, including how many reviewers screened each record and each report retrieved, whether they worked independently, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.	6
Data collection process	9	Specify the methods used to collect data from reports, including how many reviewers collected data from each report, whether they worked independently, any processes for obtaining or confirming data from study investigators, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.	6-7
Data items	10a	List and define all outcomes for which data were sought. Specify whether all results that were compatible with each outcome domain in each study were sought (e.g. for all measures, time points, analyses), and if not, the methods used to decide which results to collect.	7-8
	10b	List and define all other variables for which data were sought (e.g. participant and intervention characteristics, funding sources). Describe any assumptions made about any missing or unclear information.	6-7
Study risk of bias assessment	11	Specify the methods used to assess risk of bias in the included studies, including details of the tool(s) used, how many reviewers assessed each study and whether they worked independently, and if applicable, details of automation tools used in the process.	7
Effect measures	12	Specify for each outcome the effect measure(s) (e.g. risk ratio, mean difference) used in the synthesis or presentation of results.	8

Section and Topic	Item #	Checklist item					
Synthesismethods	13a	Describe the processes used to decide which studies were eligible for each synthesis (e.g. tabulating the study intervention characteristics and comparing against the planned groups for each synthesis (item #5)).	6, Table S1: Supplementary material 3				
	13b Describe any methods required to prepare the data for presentation or synthesis, such as handling of missing summary statistics, or data conversions.						
	13c	Describe any methods used to tabulate or visually display results of individual studies and syntheses.	8				
	13d	Describe any methods used to synthesize results and provide a rationale for the choice(s). If meta-analysis was performed, describe the model(s), method(s) to identify the presence and extent of statistical heterogeneity, and software package(s) used.	8				
	13e	Describe any methods used to explore possible causes of heterogeneity among study results (e.g. subgroup analysis, meta-regression).	8				
	13f	Describe any sensitivity analyses conducted to assess robustness of the synthesized results.	8				
Reporting bias assessment	14	Describe any methods used to assess risk of bias due to missing results in a synthesis (arising from reporting biases).	7-8				
Certainty assessment	15	Describe any methods used to assess certainty (or confidence) in the body of evidence for an outcome.	N/A				
RESULTS	I						
Study selection	16a	Describe the results of the search and selection process, from the number of records identified in the search to the number of studies included in the review, ideally using a flow diagram.	9, Figure 1				
	16b	Cite studies that might appear to meet the inclusion criteria, but which were excluded, and explain why they were excluded.	9-10, Figure 1				
Study characteristics	17	Cite each included study and present its characteristics.	12-13, Table 1, Table S1, Table S2				
Risk of bias in studies	18	Present assessments of risk of bias for each included study.	15, Figures 2 and 3				
Results of individual studies	19	For all outcomes, present, for each study: (a) summary statistics for each group (where appropriate) and (b) an effect estimate and its precision (e.g. confidence/credible interval), ideally using structured tables or plots.	Figures 4 and 5, Table 2				
Results of	20a	For each synthesis, briefly summarise the characteristics and risk of bias among contributing studies.	15-19				
syntheses	20b	Present results of all statistical syntheses conducted. If meta-analysis was done, present for each the summary estimate and its precision (e.g. confidence/credible interval) and measures of statistical heterogeneity. If comparing groups, describe the direction of the effect.	15-19, Fig 4				
	20c	Present results of all investigations of possible causes of heterogeneity among study results.	15-19, Fig 4				
	20d	Present results of all sensitivity analyses conducted to assess the robustness of the synthesized results.	15-19, Fig 5				

Section and Topic	Item #	Checklist item	Location where item is reported				
Reporting biases	21	Present assessments of risk of bias due to missing results (arising from reporting biases) for each synthesis assessed.	15, Figures 2 and 3, Table S3				
Certainty of evidence	22	Present assessments of certainty (or confidence) in the body of evidence for each outcome assessed.					
DISCUSSION							
Discussion	23a	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence.	20-21				
	23b	Discuss any limitations of the evidence included in the review.	21-22				
	23c	Discuss any limitations of the review processes used.	23				
	23d Discuss implications of the results for practice, policy, and future research.						
OTHER INFORMA	TION						
Registration and	24a	Provide registration information for the review, including register name and registration number, or state that the review was not registered.	3 and 5				
protocol	24b	Indicate where the review protocol can be accessed, or state that a protocol was not prepared.	NA				
	24c	Describe and explain any amendments to information provided at registration or in the protocol.	NA				
Support	25	Describe sources of financial or non-financial support for the review, and the role of the funders or sponsors in the review.	26				
Competing interests	26	Declare any competing interests of review authors.	26				
Availability of data, code and other materials	27	Report which of the following are publicly available and where they can be found: template data collection forms; data extracted from included studies; data used for all analyses; analytic code; any other materials used in the review.	25				

From: Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71 For more information, visit: <u>http://www.prisma-statement.org/</u>

1	Su	pplementary material 2
2	Sac	and matheda
3 1	Sea	irch methods
4 5	Da	tabase: Ovid Embase <1974 to June 27, 2022>
6 7	 1	Cardiovascular Diseases/
8	2	CVD mp
9	3	exp Heart Failure/
10	4	exp Myocardial Infarction/ or acute myocardial infarction* mp
11	5	exp Coronary Disease/
12	6	Coronary heart diseas*.mp.
13	7	((heart or cardiac or myocardial) adi2 (failure or infrac* or diseas* or attack*)).tw.
14	8	exp Atrial Fibrillation/
15	9	Atrial fibrillation.mp.
16	10	exp Angina Pectoris/
17	11	Angina*.mp.
18	12	Acute Coronary Syndrome/
19	13	acute coronary syndrome*.mp.
20	14	Ischaemic Heart Disease*.mp.
21	15	Ouality Improvement/
22	16	"Ouality Improvement*".mp.
23	17	Ouality Assurance. Health Care/
24	18	(health care adi3 quality assurance).mp.
25	19	Total Quality Management/
26	20	total quality management.mp.
27	21	(quality adj2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative*)).mp.
28	22	(Collaborative Quality improvement* or collaborative model*).mp.
29	23	Quality Improvement collaborati*.mp.
30	24	Quality improvement intervention*.mp.
31	25	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14
32	26	15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24
33	27	25 and 26
34	28	blood pressure/
35	29	Blood pressure*.mp.
36	30	hypertension/
37	31	Hypertention*.mp.
38	32	HTN.tw.
39	33	diabetes mellitus/
40	34	Diabet*.mp.
41	35	DM.tw.
42	36	smoking/
43	37	Smok*.mp.
44	38	alcohol/
45	39	Alcohol*.mp.
46	40	high density lipoprotein cholesterol/
47	41	HDL.tw.
48	42	hypercholesterolemia/
49	43	hypercholesterolemia.mp.
50	44	low density lipoprotein cholesterol/
51	45	low density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp.
52	46	LDL.tw.
53	47	high density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp.
54	48	High blood pressure.mp.
55	49	blood sugar*.mp.

- 57
- 50 blood glucose*.mp.51 hyperglycemia/ or hyperglycemia.mp.

- 58 52 hyperlipidemia/ or hyperlipidemia.mp.
- 59 53 total cholesterol.mp.
- 60 54 body mass index.mp. or body mass index/
- 61 55 obesity/
- 62 56 obes*.mp.
- 63 57 BMI.tw.
- 64 58 (statin* or lipid lowering).tw.
- 65 59 hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor/
- 66 60 Hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor.mp.
- 67 61 antihypertensive agent.mp. or antihypertensive agent/
- 68 62 (blood pressure adj3 (medication* or lower*)).tw.
- 69 63 (angiotensin II receptor blocker* or ARB*).tw.
- 70 64 (angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor* or ACE* or ACEI* or ACEi*).tw.
- 71 65 dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase inhibitor.mp. or dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase inhibitor/
- 72 66 antiplatelet.tw.
- 73 67 antithrombocytic agent.mp. or antithrombocytic agent/
- 74 68 aspirin.tw.
- 75 69 antithrombotic*.tw.
- 76 70 nonsteroid antiinflammatory agent.mp. or nonsteroid antiinflammatory agent/
- 77 71 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70
- 78 72 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46
- 79 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57
- $80 \quad \ \ 73 \quad 27 \text{ and } 71 \text{ and } 72$
- 81 74 limit 73 to (adult <18 to 64 years> or aged <65+ years>)
- 82 75 cerebrovascular accident/
- 83 76 cerebrovascular accident.mp.
- 84 77 transient ischemic attack/
- 85 78 Transient Ischemic Attack.mp.
- 86 79 TIA.tw.
- 87 80 Stroke*.mp.
- 88 81 carotid stenosis.mp.
- 89 82 Cerebral Aneurysms.mp.
- 90 83 vascular malformation*.mp.
- 91 84 moyamoya disease/
- 92 85 Moyamoya Disease*.mp.
- 93 86 75 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 or 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85
- 94 87 Peripheral Arterial Disease*.mp.
- 95 88 peripheral vascular disease/
- 96 89 peripheral vascular disease*.mp.
- 97 90 PAD.tw.
- 98 91 PVD.tw.
- 99 92 87 or 88 or 89 or 90 or 91
- 100 93 rheumatic heart disease/
- 101 94 rheumatic heart disease*.mp.
- 102 95 93 or 94

113

- 103 96 Venous Thrombosis.mp.
- 104 97 venous thromboembolism/
- 105 98 Venous Thromboembolism.mp.
- 106 99 deep vein thrombosis/
- 107 100 Deep vein thrombosis.mp.
- 108 101 Pulmonary Embolism.mp.
- 109 102 96 or 97 or 98 or 99 or 100 or 101
- 110 103 25 or 86 or 92 or 95 or 102
- 111 104 26 and 71 and 72 and 103
- 112 105 limit 104 to (adult <18 to 64 years> or aged <65+ years>)
- 114 Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL <1946 to June 23, 2022>
- 115 -----

- 116 1 Cardiovascular Diseases/
- 117 2 CVD.mp.
- 118 3 exp Heart Failure/
- 119 4 exp Myocardial Infarction/ or acute myocardial infarction*.mp.
- 120 5 exp Coronary Disease/
- 121 6 Coronary heart diseas*.mp.
- 122 7 ((heart or cardiac or myocardial) adj2 (failure or infrac* or diseas* or attack*)).tw.
- 123 8 exp Atrial Fibrillation/
- 124 9 Atrial fibrillation.mp.
- 125 10 exp Angina Pectoris/
- 126 11 Angina*.mp.
- 127 12 Acute Coronary Syndrome/
- 128 13 acute coronary syndrome*.mp.
- 129 14 Ischaemic Heart Disease*.mp.
- 130 15 Quality Improvement/
- 131 16 "Quality Improvement*".mp.
- 132 17 Quality Assurance, Health Care/
- 133 18 (health care adj3 quality assurance).mp.
- 134 19 Total Quality Management/
- 135 20 total quality management.mp.
- 136 21 (quality adj2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative*)).mp.
- 137 22 (Collaborative Quality improvement* or collaborative model*).mp.
- 138 23 Quality Improvement collaborati*.mp.
- 139 24 Quality improvement intervention*.mp.
- 140 25 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14
- 141 26 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24
- 142 27 25 and 26
- 143 28 Blood Pressure/
- 144 29 blood pressure.mp.
- 145 30 Hypertension/
- 146 31 hypertension.mp.
- 147 32 high blood pressure.mp.
- 148 33 HTN.tw.
- 149 34 Diabetes Mellitus/
- 150 35 diabet*.mp.
- 151 36 Blood Glucose/
- 152 37 blood glucose*.mp.
- 153 38 blood sugar*.mp.
- 154 39 Hyperglycemia/
- 155 40 hyperglycemia.mp.
- 156 41 DM.tw.
- 157 42 exp Smoking/
- 158 43 smok*.mp.
- 159 44 Alcohols/
- 160 45 alcohol*.mp.
- 161 46 Hypercholesterolemia/
- 162 47 hypercholesterolemia.mp.
- 163 48 Hyperlipidemias/
- 164 49 hyperlipidemia.mp.
- 165 50 total cholesterol.mp.
- 166 51 Cholesterol, HDL/
- 167 52 high density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp.
- 168 53 Cholesterol, LDL/
- 169 54 low density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp.
- 170 55 HDL.tw.
- 171 56 LDL.tw.
- 172 57 body mass index.mp. or body mass index/
- 173 58 Obesity/
- 174 59 obes*.mp.

- 175 60 BMI.tw.
- 176
 61
 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46

 177
 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60
- 178 62 (statin* or lipid lowering).tw.
- 179 63 Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA Reductase Inhibitors/
- 180 64 hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor.mp.
- 181 65 antihypertensive agent.mp. or Antihypertensive Agents/
- 182 66 (blood pressure adj3 (medication* or lower*)).tw.
- 183 67 (angiotensin II receptor blocker* or ARB*).tw.
- 184 68 (angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor* or ACE* or ACEI* or ACEi*).tw.
- 185 69 Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors/ or dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase inhibitor.mp.
- 186 70 antiplatelet.tw.
- 187 71 antithrombocytic agent.mp.
- 188 72 aspirin.tw.
- 189 73 antithrombotic*.tw.
- 190 74 Anti-Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal/
- 191 75 nonsteroid antiinflammatory agent.mp.
- 192 76 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74 or 75
- $193 \quad \ \ 77 \quad 27 \text{ and } 61 \text{ and } 76$
- 194 78 limit 77 to ("all adult (19 plus years)" or "young adult (19 to 24 years)" or "adult (19 to 44 years)" or "young adult and adult (19-24 and 19-44)" or "middle age (45 to 64 years)" or "middle aged (45 plus years)" or "all aged (65 and over)" or "aged (80 and over)")
- 197 79 Stroke/
- 198 80 Stroke*.mp.
- 199 81 Ischemic Attack, Transient/
- 200 82 Transient Ischemic Attack.mp.
- 201 83 Carotid Stenosis/
- 202 84 Carotid Stenosis.mp.
- 203 85 Intracranial Aneurysm/
- 204 86 Cerebral Aneurysms.mp.
- 205 87 Vascular Malformations/
- 206 88 Vascular Malformation*.mp.
- 207 89 Moyamoya Disease/
- 208 90 Moyamoya disease*.mp.
- 209 91 TIA.tw.
- 210 92 79 or 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85 or 86 or 87 or 88 or 89 or 90 or 91
- 211 93 Peripheral Arterial Disease/
- 212 94 Peripheral arterial disease*.mp.
- 213 95 Peripheral Vascular Diseases/
- 214 96 peripheral vascular disease.mp.
- 215 97 PVD.tw.
- 216 98 PAD.tw.
- 217 99 93 or 94 or 95 or 96 or 97 or 98
- 218 100 Rheumatic Heart Disease/
- 219 101 rheumatic heart disease.mp.
- 220 102 100 or 101
- 221 103 Venous Thrombosis/
- 222 104 Venous thrombosis.mp.
- 223 105 Venous Thromboembolism/
- 224 106 Venous thromboembolism.mp.
- 225 107 Deep vein thrombosis.mp.
- 226 108 Pulmonary Embolism/
- 227 109 pulmonary embolism.mp.
- 228 110 103 or 104 or 105 or 106 or 107 or 108 or 109
- 229 111 25 or 92 or 99 or 110
- 230 112 26 and 61 and 76 and 111
- limit 112 to ("young adult (19 to 24 years)" or "adult (19 to 44 years)" or "young adult and adult (19-24 and 19-44)" or "middle age (45 to 64 years)" or "middle aged (45 plus years)" or "all aged (65 and over)" or "aged (80 and over)")

234		
235	Dat	tabase: EBM Reviews - Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials < May 2022>
236		· · ·
237	1	Cardiovascular Diseases/ (9053)
238	2	(VD mn (6473))
239	3	evn Heart Failure/ $(10/63)$
237	1	exp Treat Fanale/ (10405)
240 241	5	acute myocardial infarction* mp. (9621)
$\frac{2}{2}$	5	aven Coronary Disease/(1/752)
2+2 2/3	7	Coronary Heart disease mp. (2002)
2+3 2/1	/ Q	((heart or cardiac or myocardial) adi? (failure or infrac* or disease* or attack*)) two (50153)
244 245	0	((near of calculat of myocalcular) auj2 (failure of milder of diseas' of allack ')).tw. (50155)
245	9	Atrial Fibrillation mp. (15077)
240 247	10	Autai Hoffinauoli.inp. (15077)
247	11	Angina Pectolis/ (4003)
240	12	Angina".nip. (14962)
249	13	Acute Coronary Syndrome/ (2313)
250	14	acute coronary syndrome ^w .mp. (8500)
251	15	Is chaemic Heart Disease*.mp. (1144)
252	10	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 (108049)
233	1/	Quality Improvement/ (813)
254	18	Quality Improvement*.mp. (3572)
200	19	Quality Assurance, Health Care/ (638)
200	20	(health care adj3 quality assurance).mp. (642)
257	21	Total Quality Management/ (140)
258	22	total quality management.mp. (1/36)
239	23	(quality adj2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative*)).mp. (23903)
260	24	(Collaborative Quality improvement* or collaborative model*).mp. (113)
261	25	Quality Improvement collaborati*.mp. (47)
262	26	Quality improvement intervention*.mp. (333)
263	27	17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 (24875)
264	28	Blood Pressure/ (27669)
265	29	blood pressure.mp. (101129)
266	30	Hypertension/ (18631)
267	31	hypertension.mp. (69164)
268	32	high blood pressure.mp. (2627)
269	33	HTN.tw. (1109)
270	34	Diabetes Mellitus/ (10637)
271	35	diabet*.mp. (109144)
272	36	Blood Glucose/ (17493)
273	37	blood glucose*.mp. (33819)
274	38	blood sugar*.mp. (4680)
275	39	Hyperglycemia/ (2053)
276	40	hyperglycemia.mp. (8948)
277	41	DM.tw. (5335)
278	42	exp Smoking/ (6531)
279	43	smok*.mp. (42198)
280	44	Alcohols/(105)
281	45	alcohol*.mp. (35535)
282	46	Hypercholesterolemia/ (3599)
283	47	hypercholesterolemia.mp. (7890)
284	48	Hyperlipidemias/ (2053)
285	49	hyperlipidemia.mp. (5045)
286	50	total cholesterol.mp. (13862)
287	51	Cholesterol, HDL/(3859)
288	52	high density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp. (8223)
289	53	Cholesterol, LDL/ (4955)
290	54	low density lipoprotein cholesterol.mp. (10194)
201	55	

291 55 HDL.tw. (16425)

- 292 56 LDL.tw. (20630)
- 293 57 Body Mass Index/ (11064)
- 294 58 body mass index.mp. (44177)
- 295 59 BMI.tw. (46143)
- 296 60 Obesity/ (13014)
- 297 61 obes*.mp. (50665)
- 298 62 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 299 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 (366491)
- 300 63 (statin* or lipid lowering).tw. (13803)
- 301 64 Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA Reductase Inhibitors/ (3703)
- 302 65 hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor.mp. (1965)
- 303 66 Antihypertensive Agents/ (8300)
- 304 67 antihypertensive agent.mp. (2202)
- 305 68 (blood pressure adj3 (medication* or lower*)).tw. (7063)
- 306 69 (angiotensin II receptor blocker* or ARB*).tw. (5817)
- 307 70 (angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor* or ACE* or ACEI* or ACEi*).tw. (42046)
- 308 71 Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors/ or dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase inhibitor.mp. (6129)
- 309 72 antiplatelet.tw. (6520)
- 310 73 antithrombocytic agent.mp. (705)
- 311 74 aspirin.tw. (13467)
- 312 75 antithrombotic*.tw. (2906)
- 313 76 Anti-Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal/ (6635)
- 314 77 nonsteroid antiinflammatory agent.mp. (1713)
- 315 78 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74 or 75 or 76 or 77 (99517)
- 316 79 16 and 27 and 62 and 78 (126)
- 317 80 Stroke/ (10334)
- 318 81 stroke.mp. (63717)
- 319 82 Cerebrovascular accident.mp. (16256)
- 320 83 Ischemic Attack, Transient/ (798)
- 321 84 Transient Ischemic Attack.mp. (2895)
- 322 85 TIA.tw. (2018)
- 323 86 Carotid Stenosis/ (687)
- 324 87 Carotid Stenosis.mp. (1326)
- 325 88 Intracranial Aneurysm/ (482)
- 326 89 Cerebral Aneurysms.mp. (151)
- 327 90 Vascular Malformations/ (37)
- 328 91 Vascular Malformations.mp. (119)
- 329 92 Moyamoya Disease/ (29)
- 330 93 Moyamoya Disease.mp. (107)
- 331 94 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85 or 86 or 87 or 88 or 89 or 90 or 91 or 92 or 93 (68903)
- 332 95 Peripheral Arterial Disease/ (1211)
- 333 96 Peripheral Arterial Disease.mp. (2661)
- 334 97 Peripheral Vascular Diseases/ (915)
- 335 98 Peripheral Vascular Disease.mp. (1457)
- 336 99 PAD.tw. (4494)
- 337 100 PVD.tw. (374)
- 338 101 95 or 96 or 97 or 98 or 99 or 100 (7985)
- 339 102 Rheumatic Heart Disease/ (146)
- 340 103 Rheumatic Heart Disease.mp. (329)
- 341 104 102 or 103 (329)
- 342 105 Venous Thrombosis/ (1282)
- 343 106 Venous Thrombosis.mp. (3795)
- 344 107 Venous Thromboembolism/ (753)
- 345 108 Venous Thromboembolism.mp. (4566)
- 346 109 Deep vein thrombosis.mp. (5724)
- 347 110 Pulmonary Embolism/ (1092)
- 348111Pulmonary Embolism.mp. (4120)
- 349 106 or 106 or 107 or 108 or 109 or 110 or 111 (12777)
- 350 112 16 or 94 or 101 or 104 or 112 (175855)

11	3 27 and 62 and 78 and 113 (137)
D	atabase: APA PsycInfo <1806 to June Week 3 2022>
	exp Cardiovascular Disorders/ (68022)
2	cardiovascular disease.mp. (11109)
3	Heart Failure.mp. (4540)
4	exp Myocardial Infarctions/ (3017)
5	myocardial infarction.mp. (5056)
6	Coronary disease.mp. (2826)
7	coronoary heart diseas*.mp. (1)
8	((heart or cardiac or myocardial) adj2 (failure or infrac* or diseas* or attack*)).tw. (170
9	exp "Fibrillation (Heart)"/ (791)
10	atrial fibrillation.mp. (1446)
11	exp Angina Pectoris/ (304)
12	angina*.mp. (1425)
13	Acute Coronary Syndrome.mp. (664)
14	Ischaemic Heart Disease.mp. (273)
15	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 (81654)
16	Quality Improvement.mp. (6902)
17	Quality Assurance, Health Care.mp. (2829)
18	(health care adj3 quality assurance).mp. (2860)
19	Total Quality Management.mp. (1193)
20	(quality adj2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative*)).mp. (28743)
21	(Collaborative Quality improvement* or collaborative model*).mp. (717)
22	2 Quality Improvement collaborati*.mp. (67)
23	Quality improvement intervention*.mp. (191)
24	16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 (32547)
25	exp Blood Pressure/ (8180)
26	blood pressure.mp. (25300)
27	exp Hypertension/ (8030)
28	hypertension.mp. (20111)
29	high blood pressure.mp. (1614)
30	HIN.tw. (241)
31	exp Diabetes Mellitus/ (9634)
32	$L = \operatorname{diabet^*}(\operatorname{mp.}(36209))$
33	exp Blood Sugar/(1404)
34	$= blood glucose^*.mp. (7039)$
30	blood sugar ^{**} .mp. (2180)
27	b exp Hypergrycenna/ (600)
39	DM tw (2666)
30	S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S =
- 10	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} $
40	alcohol* mn (156061)
42	Hypercholesterolemia mp. (1126)
43	Hyperenoicsteroienna.mp. (1120)
44	total cholesterol mp (2023)
45	HDL cholesterol mp. (2023)
46	b high density lipoprotein cholesterol mp. (1006)
47	LDL cholesterol.mp. (550)
48	low density lipoprotien cholesterol.mp. (0)
49	HDL.tw. (1930)
50) LDL.tw. (1606)
51	exp Body Mass Index/ (7202)
52	body mass index.mp. (29728)
53	BMLtw. (20167)

408 54 exp Obesity/ (27174)

- 409 55 obes*.mp. (49179)
- 410 56 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 411 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 (326884)
- 412 57 (statin* or lipid lowering).tw. (5941)
- 413 58 Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA Reductase Inhibitors.mp. (632)
- 414
- 59 antihypertensive agent.mp. (42)
- 415 60 (blood pressure adj3 (medication* or lower*)).tw. (1105)
- 416 61 (angiotensin II receptor blocker* or ARB*).tw. (17279)
- 417 62 (angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor* or ACE* or ACEI* or ACEi*).tw. (30671)
- 418 63 Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors.mp. (449)
- 419 64 antiplatelet.tw. (527)
- 420 65 antithrombocytic agent.mp. (0)
- 421 66 aspirin.tw. (1247)
- 422 67 antithrombotic*.tw. (309)
- 423 68 non steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Agents.mp. (20)
- 424 69 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 (56365)
- 425 70 15 and 24 and 56 and 69 (19)
- 426 71 71 limit 70 to (adulthood <18+ years> and ("300 adulthood <age 18 yrs and older>" or 320 young 427 adulthood <age 18 to 29 yrs> or 340 thirties <age 30 to 39 yrs> or 360 middle age <age 40 to 64 yrs> or 428 "380 aged <age 65 yrs and older>" or "390 very old <age 85 yrs and older>")) (14)
- 429 72 stroke.mp. (38560)
- 430 73 exp Cerebrovascular Accidents/ (23163)
- 431 74 cerebrovascular accidents.mp. (23278)
- 432 75 Transient Ischemic Attack.mp. (743)
- 433 76 TIA.tw. (1029)
- 434 77 Carotid Stenosis.mp. (550)
- 435 78 cerebral aneurysm.mp. (132)
- 436 79 exp Aneurysms/ (966)
- 437 80 Vascular Malformations.mp. (224)
- 438 81 Moyamoya Disease.mp. (214)
- 439 82 72 or 73 or 74 or 75 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 or 80 or 81 (41807)
- 440 83 Peripheral arterial disease.mp. (197)
- 441 84 peripheral vascular disease.mp. (185)
- 442 85 PAD.tw. (1676)
- 443 86 PVD.tw. (179)
- 444 87 83 or 84 or 85 or 86 (2123)
- 445 88 rheumatic heart disease.mp. (60)
- 446 89 venous thrombosis.mp. (492)
- 447 90 venous thromboembolism.mp. (302)
- 448 91 Deep vein thrombosis.mp. (203)
- 449 92 pulmonary embolism.mp. (341)
- 450 93 88 or 89 or 90 or 91 or 92 (1089)
- 451 94 15 or 82 or 87 or 88 or 93 (95218)
- 452 95 24 and 56 and 69 and 94 (19)
- 453 96 96 limit 95 to ("300 adulthood <age 18 yrs and older>" or 320 young adulthood <age 18 to 29 yrs> or 340 454 thirties <age 30 to 39 yrs> or 360 middle age <age 40 to 64 yrs> or "380 aged <age 65 yrs and older>" or 455 "390 very old <age 85 yrs and older>") (14)
- 456
- 457 Database: SCOPUS, June 27, 2022
- 458 _____
- 459 (TITLE-ABS-KEY (("Quality Improvement*" OR "Health care Quality Assurance" OR
- "Total Quality Management*" OR "Collaborative Quality improvement*" OR "collaborative 460
- model*" OR "Quality Improvement collaborate*" OR "Quality improvement intervention*") 461
- OR (("health care" W/3 "quality assurance") OR (quality W/2 (improve* OR enhanc* OR 462 463 program* OR initative*)))))
- 464

AND

- 465 (TITLE-ABS-KEY (statin* OR "lipid lowering" OR "Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA
- 466 Reductase Inhibitors" OR "antihypertensive agent" OR "angiotensin II receptor blocker*" OR
- 467 "angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor*" OR "Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme
- 468 Inhibitors" OR antiplatelet OR "antithrombocytic agent" OR aspirin OR antithrombotic* OR
- 469 "non?steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Agents" OR (ace* OR acei* OR acei* OR arb*)))
 470 AND
- 471 ((("blood pressure" OR "Hypertension" OR "high blood pressure" OR "Diabet*" OR "Blood
- 472 sugar*" OR "Blood glucose*" OR "hyperglycemia" OR "smok*" OR "alcohol*" OR
- 473 "Hypercholesterolemia" OR "Hyperlipidemias" OR "total cholesterol" OR "HDL Cholesterol"
- 474 OR "high density lipoprotein cholesterol" OR "LDL Cholesterol" OR "low density lipoprotein
- 475 Cholesterol" OR "Body Mass Index" OR "Obes*") OR TITLE-ABS (htn OR dm OR hdl OR
- 476 Idl OR bmi))) AND ((TITLE-ABS-KEY ("Acute Coronary Syndrome*" OR "Ischaemic
- 477 Heart Disease*" OR cardiovascular* OR "CVD" OR "Heart Disease*" OR "Heart Failure*"
- 478 OR "Myocardial Infarction*" OR "Coronary* Disease*" OR "Atrial Fibrillation*" OR
- 479 angina* OR ((heart OR cardiac OR myocardial) W/2 (failure OR infrac* OR diseas* OR
- 480 attack)) OR "rheumatic heart disease*") OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (stroke* OR "Transient
- 481 Ischemic Attack" OR "Carotid Stenosis" OR "Cerebral Aneurysms" OR "Vascular
- 482 Malformation*" OR "Moyamoya Disease*") OR TITLE-ABS-KEY ("Peripheral arterial
- 483 disease*" OR "peripheral vascular disease*" OR pad OR pvd) OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (
- 484 "venous thombosis" OR "Venous thromboembolism" OR "Deep vein thrombosis" OR
- 485 "pulmonary embolism")))
- 486 AND
- 487 (LIMIT-TO (EXACTKEYWORD, "Aged") OR LIMIT-TO (EXACTKEYWORD,
- 488 "Adult") OR LIMIT-TO (EXACTKEYWORD , "Middle Aged") OR LIMIT-TO (
- 489 EXACTKEYWORD , "Aged, 80 And Over") OR LIMIT-TO (EXACTKEYWORD , "Very
- 490 Elderly") OR LIMIT-TO (EXACTKEYWORD , "Age"))

Dat	abase: CINAHL Complete (EBSCOhost), 27 Jun, 2022
#	Query
S71	S28 AND S52 AND S70
S 70	S53 OR S54 OR S55 OR S56 OR S57 OR S58 OR S59 OR S60 OR S61 OR S62 OF S63 OR S64 OR S65 OR S66 OR S67 OR S68 OR S69
S69	"blood pressure" N3 (medication* or lower*)
S68	(MH "Antiinflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal+") OR "non steroidal Anti-
Infl	ammatory Agents"
S67	"antithrombotic*"
S66	(MH "Aspirin") OR "aspirin"
S65	"antithrombocytic agent"
S64	TI antiplatelet OR AB antiplatelet
S63	(MH "Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors+")
S62	TI ACEi* OR AB ACEi*
S61	TI ACEI* OR AB ACEI*
S60	"angiotensin?converting enzyme inhibitor*"
S59	TI ACE* OR AB ACE*
S58	TI ARB OR AB ARB
S57	(MH "Angiotensin II Type I Receptor Blockers+") OR "angiotensin II receptor
bloc	ker*"
S56	(MH "Antihypertensive Agents+") OR "antihypertensive agent"
S55	"Hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA Reductase Inhibitors"
S 54	"lipid lowering agents" OR (MH "Fibrinolytic Agents+") OR (MH "Lipids and
	Antilipemic Agents+")
S53	(MH "Statins+") OR Statins
S52	\$29 OR \$30 OR \$31 OR \$32 OR \$33 OR \$34 OR \$35 OR \$36 OR \$37 OR \$38 OF
	S39 OR S40 OR S41 OR S42 OR S43 OR S44 OR S45 OR S46 OR S47 OR S48 OF
	S49 OR S50 OR
S51	(MH "Obesity+") OR "obes*"
S 50	TI BMI OR AB BMI
S49	(MH "Body Mass Index") OR "Body Mass Index"
S48	TI LDL OR AB LDL
S47	TI HDL OR AB HDL
S46	(MH "Lipoproteins, HDL+") OR "high density lipoprotein cholesterol"
S45	(MH "Lipoproteins, HDL Cholesterol") OR "HDL cholesterol"
S44	"low density lipoprotien cholesterol" OR (MH "Lipoproteins, LDL+")
S43	(MH "Lipoproteins, LDL Cholesterol") OR "LDL cholesterol"
S42	"Total Cholesterol"
S41	(MH "Hyperlipidemia+") OR "Hyperlipidemia"
S40	(MH "Hypercholesterolemia+") OR "Hypercholesterolemia"
S39	"alcohol*"
S38	(MH "Smoke+") OR "Smok*"
S37	TI DM OR AB DM
S36	(MH "Hyperglycemia+")
S35	"blood glucose*" OR (MH "Blood Glucose")
S34	"Blood Sugar*"
S33	(MH "Diabetes Mellitus, Type 1+") OR "diabet*"
620	TI LITNI OD AD LITNI

539 S32 TI HTN OR AB HTN

- 540 S31 "high blood pressure" 541 S30 (MH "Hypertension+") OR "Hypertension" 542 S29 (MH "Blood Pressure+") OR "Blood Pressure" 543 S28 S11 AND S27 544 S27 S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16 OR S17 OR S18 OR S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR 545 S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25 OR S26 (MH "Myocardial Ischemia+") OR "Ischaemic Heart Disease*" 546 S26 547 S25 (MH "Acute Coronary Syndrome") OR "Acute Coronary Syndrome*" 548 S24 "Angina*" (MH "Angina Pectoris+") OR "Angina Pectoris" 549 S23 550 S22 (MH "Atrial Fibrillation") OR "Atrial Fibrillation*" 551 S21 (MH "Atrial Fibrillation") OR "Atrial Fibrillation*" 552 S20 ((heart or cardiac or myocardial) N2 (failure or infrac* or diseas* or attack*)) 553 S19 "Coronary heart diseas*" (MH "Coronary Disease+") OR "Coronary Disease*" 554 S18 555 S17 (MH "Myocardial Infarction+") OR "Myocardial Infarction*" 556 (MH "Heart Failure+") OR "Heart Failure*" S16 557 S15 (MH "Heart Diseases+") OR "Heart Disease*" 558 S14 "cvd" "Cardiovascular*" 559 S13 560 S12 (MH "Cardiovascular Diseases+") OR "Cardiovascular Disease*" 561 S11 S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6 OR S7 OR S8 OR S9 OR S10 (MH "Quality Improvement+") OR ""Quality Improvement collaborati*"" 562 S10 563 **S**9 "Quality Improvement collaborati*" 564 **S**8 "collaborative model*" 565 **S**7 (MH "Quality Improvement+") OR "Collaborative Quality improvement*" AB quality N2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative) 566 **S**6 quality N2 (improve* or enhanc* or program* or initative) 567 S5 568 **S**4 (MH "Quality Improvement+") OR "Total Quality Management*" 569 **S**3 "health care" N3 "quality assurance" 570 S2 "healthcare quality assurance" 571 **S**1 (MH "Quality Improvement+") OR "Quality Improvement*"
- 572

573 Supplementary material 3

Table S1: Eligibility criteria of included studies

Author, Year	List intervention groups	Quality improvement intervention details	Intervention provided to	Intervention duration (months)	Usual care	Improvement area
Flather, 2011	Multicentre QI intervention	 Set up a local QI team and nominate local champions 3 one-day QI training meetings led by experts, held approximately 5-12 weeks apart. Use of established QI tools Used PDSA cycles to overcome barriers. 	Hospital staff	4	Usual care group will receive a "low intensity" QI intervention by having access to specialise data collection tool.	Measurable quality of care for ACS patients
Frijling, 2003	QI intervention with practice support	 The intervention consisted of - 1. Feedback reports 2. 15 x 1 hr outreach visits per practice from trained non-physicians 3. Certificate for six hours of accredited training for each participating GP 	Practice staff (GPs)	21	Usual care + feedback reports + 225 Euro per practice	Clinical decision- making for patients at high CVD risk in general practice
Geary, 2019	An audit and feedback intervention	 The intervention consisted of Detailed centre-specific quality reports Use of pocket stroke guidelines on secondary prevention medication use and diagnosis recording 	Practice staff (physicians)	18	NR	Diagnosis recording and dispensation of more secondary preventive stroke medications
Goff, 2003	QI intervention	 A guideline recommendation summary, Performance feedback, and Medical chart reminders cards 	Practice staff	NR	NR	Use of lipid- lowering, Beta- blockers and ACEi therapy in a network-model

						managed-care setting
Huffman, 2018	QI Intervention	 Monthly audit and feedback reports QI team meetings Use of tool kit, including PDSAs Standardised admission and discharge order set checklist Translated patient education materials on risk factor management, and Linkage to emergency cardiovascular care and QI training for staff 	Hospital staff	NR	Hospitals received QI toolkit at 1 of 5 predefined, 4-month steps over a 24-month period, after a period of usual care.	Clinical outcomes and process measures
Johnston, 2010	Implementation of a standardised stroke care order at discharge	 Discharge order Assignment of 2 local champions Review of medical records by study staff 2 educational sessions - one at the beginning and one 3 months post intervention. 	Hospital staff (physicians, neurologist and other healthcare providers)	6	Usual care without any further contact from the study staff	Adherence to proven secondary stroke prevention practices 6 months after hospital discharge for ischemic stroke
Lowrie, 2014	multifaceted Statin Outreach Support (SOS) intervention	 Intervention group receiving SOS 3 face-to-face, 1:1 interactive educational outreach meetings in general Practices, 4 months apart, NHS-employed pharmacists to deliver the intervention. Pharmacist working in the practice 1 day/week for 44 weeks during the intervention period. 	GPs and Nurses	12	Usual care + received a printed copy of cholesterol/statin guidelines at randomisation.	Attainment of cholesterol targets and statin prescription

Machline- Carrion, 2019	Multifaceted QI intervention	 Case management, Decision support tools Distribution of educational materials to healthcare professionals and patients Periodic audit and feedback reports to each cluster Interactive training workshops. 	Both Clinic staff and patients (patients receiving educational materials)	NR	Usual care	Prescription of evidence-based therapy
Nouwens, 2014	Practice Accreditation program - focused improvement plans during the intervention period on CVRM	 A comprehensive audit Written feedback to the practice Based on the feedback, plan improvements in the practice Practices performed as planned are accredited and receive certificate 	Practice staff	12	Usual care group practices focused on improving any domain except on CVRM and DM	CVD risk management
Qu, 2021	smartphone-based multifaceted QI intervention using WeChat	 Centralized training on guidelines for secondary prevention medications after CABG Educational materials and up-to-date knowledge on secondary prevention medications An evidence-based checklist containing information on secondary prevention medications. An audit and feedback reporting mechanism on site-specific secondary prevention performance measures 	Hospital staff (clinicians)	15	Usual care	Prescription of secondary prevention medications
Sonderga ard, 2006	Multifaceted intervention strategy combining GP registrations,	 GPs received outreach visits on their prescribing of heart disease medications and performed 2 registrations 24 months apart - 1. Feedback on GP's performance 	GPs	24	Control arm practices also completed both registrations 24 months apart	Secondary prevention of IHD in GP practices

	outreach visits and	2. Two guideline summaries on the prevention of												
	feedback	IHD and motivational interviewing.												
		3. Information about risk reduction measures.												
		4. A price list of CV medications.												
		5. Patient handouts with relevant advice												
		6. Three case stories focusing on different aspects												
		of IHD												
		1. An evidence-based clinical pathway,				Adherence to								
		2. Written care protocols for implementation of				evidence-based								
Wang,	Multifaceted Stroke	performance measures,	Hospital staff	12	Usual care + stroke	performance								
2018	Care QI intervention	3. A full-time quality coordinator, and	Hospital stall	12	registry participation	measures and								
		4. A monitoring and feedback system for				outcomes in								
		performance measures.				patients with AIS								
Williams, 2011	low-intensity continuous QI educational intervention	 Intervention directed at a predetermined local opinion leader or quality champion at each site. Sites received educational information Site-specific feedback reports on the use of 4 medications every 6 months Standardized care orders, care reminders, a "call to action" letter, and periodic newsletters. Patients and their physicians were given a discharge "flight plan" checklist. 	Mainly Hospital staff (physicians). Patients also received educational materials	24	NR	Secondary prevention adherence after CABG								
ACEi - Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, ACS - Acute coronary syndrome, AIS - Acute ischemic stroke, ARB - Angiotensin receptor blockers, BP - Blood pressure, CABG - Coronary artery bypass														
heart disease.	NHS - National health service	e. NR - Not reported. PDSA - Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles. PF - pra	ctice facilitation. OI -	General practition	nt.	lology, InD - Ischellinc								
574														
Author, Year	Data sources	QI workshop/ webinars/s eminars	Digital platform used	PDSAs	Site visits	Decision support/ Reminders/check list/guidelines/po cket cards	Staff education material	Patient education materials	QI team	Feedback report	Practice support/ facilitatio n	Local champion s	Others	Training
--------------------	--	--	-----------------------------	-------	----------------	---	---	-----------------------------------	------------	--------------------	--	------------------------	--	--------------
Flather, 2011	Swedish RIKS-HIA database	\checkmark	~	√	0	0	0	0	~	0	0	\checkmark	✓ Team meetings	\checkmark
Frijling, 2003,	Encounter forms from routine consultation	0	0	0	~	0	V	0	0	1	√	0	✓ Accredited training certificate	~
Geary, 2019,	Stockholm Regional healthcare data warehouse	0	¥	0	0	✓ Pocket guidelines	0	0	0	4	V	0	0	0
Goff, 2003	Physician encounter claim database	0	0	0	0	✓ Chart reminder cards	✓ Guideline recommen dation summary	0	0	¥	0	0	0	0
Huffman, 2018	Data collected via electronic software from Kerala ACS registry	0	0	~	0	✓	0	~	1	~	0	0	✓ QI team meetings	*

Table S2: Intervention details of included studies

Johnston, 2010	Patient medical records	✓	0	0	0	✓	0	0	✓	✓	✓	~	0	~
Lowrie, 2014	Electronic medical records	0	0	0	~	0	Ø	0	0	\checkmark	~	Ø	0	~
Machline- Carrion, 2019	Chart review, patient files, and physician prescriptions	✓	0	0	✓	✓	✓	4	0	√	0	✓	✓ Case manageme nt	0
Nouwens, 2014	Patient medical records	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	~	V	0	✓ Completio n certificate	0
Qu, 2021	Web-based data submission system	v	¥	0	0	✓ Guideline summary, Medication prescription checklist	0	¥	V	v	0	V	0	~
Sondergaard , 2006	APO patient registration forms	0	0	0	~	✓ Guideline Summary	0	¥	0	V	0	0	✓ 3 Case study, A price list of CVD drugs	0

Wang, 2018	Hospital enrolment records and registry	~	~	0	0	✓ Written care protocols	0	0	✓	~	✓	✓	0	0
Williams, 2011	Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Cardiac database	0	0	0	0	✓ Standardised care order, Care reminders, letterhead, Periodic Newsletter, Flight plan checklist	✓	V	0	v	Ø	✓	0	0
HIT - Health information technology CVD - Cardiovascular disease PDSA - Plan-Do-Study-Act		\checkmark = Yes, \heartsuit = No, QI - Quality	improver	nent										

Author, Year		sequence generation election bias)	Alloc	ation concealment (selectin bias)		Outcome data (attrition bias)	Sele (r	ective reporting eporting bias)	Overall judgement without
	Judgment	Supporting evidence	Judgment	Supporting evidence	Judgment	Supporting evidence	Judgment	Supporting evidence	blinding
Flather, 2011	Low	Centres were randomized to receive a QI training program or no QI training program using a cluster-randomized method stratified by country and presence of on-site PCI facilities	Low	The co-ordinating centre will inform centres at the beginning of the baseline phase of their randomised allocation.	Unclear	No information on attrition rate provided. Reasons for drop also not provided.	Low	Trial protocol available and referenced. Trial registration is also available. all outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Unclear
Frijling, 2003	Low	A random number generator was used to select permuted blocks with a block size of four	Low	the person responsible for the randomization process was blind to the practice identities.	Low	Attrition reported (low) for practices. Reasons for drop out reported. The post hoc power estimations take into account the design effect of cluster randomisation ITT analyses was performed	Unclear	Trial protocol not available	Unclear
Geary, 2019	Low	The PCCs were block- randomised according to these continuous education areas and the areas were then randomized by lottery to control or intervention	Low	The PCCs were block randomised according to these continuous education areas and the areas were then randomized by lottery to control or intervention	High	Attrition reported (high) for practices. 29% in both groups. Patient attrition not reported and reasons for exclusions for patients were also not reported. Sensitivity analysis was performed	Unclear	Trial protocol not available	High

Table S3: The Cochrane Collaboration of Risk of Bias

Goff, 2003	Unclear	Random assignment of clinic practices to intervention or control conditions - Insufficient information to permit judgement	Unclear	Insufficient information to permit judgment	High	Attrition rate for practices reported with drop out reasons. However, patient attrition and reasons not reported. No information on whether missing data was imputed.	Low	Trial protocol referenced. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	High
Huffman, 2018	Low	The study biostatisticians performed central computer-based randomization of hospitals.	Low	The other members of the study team and the selected sites were informed of the 12 or 13 sites that would cross over to the intervention period 2 weeks before each of the predefined steps to maintain allocation concealment	Low	Attrition rate (low) reported with reasons. Post hoc analyses was performed. All results are reported using an ITT analysis.	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Low
Johnston, 2010	Low	Using a random number generator, 1 hospital in each pair was randomized to receive the intervention, whereas the other was randomized to usual care.	Low	Although it was not possible to blind the study, to prevent imbalances resulting from randomizing a small number of study hospitals, we utilized a stratified, pair-matched design	Low	Attrition rate (low) as 80% were followed up and reasons for drop out was reported and all analyses were conducted using ITT.	Low	Trial registration number listed and all outcomes are reported in a pre-specified way	Low
Lowrie, 2014	Low	We then randomly allocated (using a table of random numbers) one practice from each matched pair into the SOS arm and the other practice into the usual care arm.	Low	Using a table of random numbers randomisation was performed. The allocation of practices was concealed until after allocation to SOS intervention	Low	Attrition rate (low) reported on GPs. Only one practice did not receive intervention however reason was not reported. ITT was performed. A sensitivity analysis was also carried out for primary outcome.	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Low

Machline- Carrion, 2019	Low	All clusters were randomized at once by a statistician using a central web-based randomization system before enrolment of the first patient	Low	All clusters were randomised at once by a statistician using a central web-based randomisation system	Low	Attrition rate (low) reported. Reasons for drop out and similar between groups All analysis followed ITT. Prespecified comparisons between groups were conducted using logistic regression with random effects corrected for the baseline performance. 2 post-hoc sensitivity analysis was done. Missing data were not imputed	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Low
Nouwens, 2014	Low	A computer list of random numbers was generated and used to randomly allocate practices to equally sized intervention groups or control groups by an independent statistician. This was done in a randomized block design in blocks of four practices based only on time period in order of enrolment.	Low	A computer list of random numbers was generated and used to randomly allocate practices to equally sized intervention or control group by an independent statistician.	High	The sample size calculated 35 practices to be recruited in the intervention and control group but recruited 22 and 23 instead. Reasons for drop out reported but differed in between groups. 35 practices were aimed to recruit in each group was needed to achieve statistical power, only 22 and 23 practices were recruited. (no mention of ITT or sensitivity analysis)	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	High

Qu, 2021	Low	A web-based minimized randomization system was used to ensure balanced group assignment across regions and prescription rate of statin	Low	Web-based minimized randomization performed by an independent statistician not involved in the study was used to ensure balanced group assignment across regions and prescription rate of statin.	Low	Attrition rate for hospitals were reported (low) with reasons. A modified ITT and Sensitivity analysis was also conducted .	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Low
Sondergaa rd, 2006	Low	Allocation was done using a computer program based on a random number sequence.	Low	Allocation was done using a computer program based on a random number sequence.	High	Sample size calculated 25 GPs in each group but recruited 15 GPs in each group instead. However, attrition rate (low) of GPs reported but Reason for drop out not reported.	Unclear	Trial protocol not available	High
Wang, 2018	Low	Clusters were randomized 1:1 to a multifaceted quality improvement intervention (intervention group) or routine care plus stroke registry participation (control group) by using a randomly generated number	Low	Cluster randomisation was done by an independent statistician not otherwise involved in the study using a randomly generated number	Low	Attrition rate (low) reported but reasons for drop out not reported. ITT analysis was used for all outcomes.	Low	Trial protocol referenced and registration listed. All outcomes were reported in a pre- specified way	Low

Williams, 2011	Low	Clusters were then paired so that each pair was similar in terms of geography and CABG volume and randomized within pairs so that 1 cluster received the intervention and the other received the control assignment.	Unclear	Insufficient information to permit judgment	Low	No Loss to follow up occurred.	Unclear	Trial protocol not available	Unclear
CABG - Coronary artery bypass graft, GP - General practitioner NCD - National cardiac database, PCC - Primary care centre, PCI - Percutaneous coronary intervention, QI -Quality improvement, SOS - Statin outreach support, ITT - Intention to treat.									

Supplementary material 4: Funnel plots and Egger's test for publication bias



Antiplatelet therapy

Egger's regression intercept: 2.21673, (95% CI: -0.79933, 5.23278), p-value: 0.11087



Lipid-lowering medications

Egger regression intercept: 1.33062 (95% CI: -2.09925, 4.76049), p-value: 0.40298

ACEi or ARB



Egger's regression intercept: 1.56994 (95% CI: -3.66473, 6.80461), p-value: 0.41027



Beta-blocker

Egger's regression intercept: -0.38267 (95% CI: -5.18804, 4.42269), p-value: 0.81631

Smoking or tobacco cessation advice



Egger's regression intercept: 2.04111 (95% CI: -3.72620, 7.80842), p-value: 0.26726

MACE



Egger's regression intercept: -1.32666 (95% CI: -25.56665, 22.91334), p-value: 0.61316

Total mortality



Egger's regression intercept: 1.08051 (95% CI: -6.51108, 8.67210), p-value: 0.32156

Supplementary material 5

5A: Data extracted	for meta-analyses
--------------------	-------------------

		Continuo	ous data	Categorical data		
Author, year	Post- intervention follow-up	Interven tion (n/N)	Contr ol (n/N)	OR	95% Confidenc e interval	
Antiplatelet thera	пру		I			
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	0.76	0.49, 1.18	
Geary, 2019	36 months	NA	NA	0.95	0.85, 1.06	
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.65	1.15, 2.37	
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	NA	NA	3.13	1.29, 7.60	
Nouwens, 2014	Not reported	787/952	593/71 7	0.99	NA	
Sondegaard, 2006	24 months	NA	NA	2.54	1.21, 5.31	
Lipid-lowering th	nerapy					
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.46	0.72, 2.99	
Geary, 2019	36 months	NA	NA	0.88	0.81, 0.95	
Goff, 2003	36 months	NA	NA	1.00	0.80, 1.25	
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.42	1.04, 1.92	
Johnston, 2010	6 months	NA	NA	1.26	0.70, 2.30	
Lowrie, 2014	Not reported	NA	NA	1.87	1.65, 2.13	
Machline- Carrion, 2019	6 months	NA	NA	4.04	1.5, 10.89	
Nouwens, 2014	Not reported	200/289	176/22 5	0.63	NA	
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.15	0.48, 2.76	
Sondegaard, 2006	24 months	NA	NA	1.59	1.00, 2.53	
Wang, 2018	12 months	NA	NA	1.35	0.67, 2.73	
Smoking or toba	cco cessation advi	ce				
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.06	0.8, 1.39	

Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	NA	NA	11.24	2.2, 57.43					
Nouwens, 2014	Not reported	69/133	65/118	0.88	NA					
Sondegaard, 2006	24 months	NA	NA	1.4	0.54, 3.64					
ACEi or ARB										
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.29	0.76, 2.18					
Goff, 2003	36 months	NA	NA	0.88	0.69, 1.14					
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.45	1.03, 2.04					
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	NA	NA	1.44	0.88, 2.36					
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.02	0.46, 2.28					
Beta-blockers										
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.23	0.49, 3.13					
Goff, 2003	36 months	NA	NA	0.93	0.75, 1.16					
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.48	1.3, 1.68					
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	NA	NA	1.37	0.58, 3.22					
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.69	0.93, 3.09					
MACE										
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	0.92	0.81, 1.04					
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	19/705	30/844	0.75	NA					
Wang, 2018	12 months	218/240 0	282/24 00	0.75	NA					
Total mortality										
Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	0.87	0.75, 1.00					
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	19/710	19/851	1.20	NA					
Wang, 2018	12 months	139/240 0	160/24 00	0.86	NA					
OR - Odds ratio, CI - Confidence interval, MACE - Major cardiovascular events, NA - Not available										

		Continuo	ous data	Categorical data		
	Post-	Interven	Contr		95%	
Author, year	intervention	tion	ol	OR	Confidenc	
	follow-up	(n / N)	(n/N)		e interval	
Antiplatelet thera	пру					
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	0.76	0.49, 1.18	
	30 day					
Huffman, 2018	following	NA	NA	1.65	1.15, 2.37	
	cardiac event					
Machline-	12 months	NA	NA	3 13	1 29 7 60	
Carrion, 2019	12 months		1111	5.15	1.29, 7.00	
Lipid-lowering th	nerapy	1	r		1	
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.46	0.72, 2.99	
	30 day					
Huffman, 2018	following	NA	NA	1.42	1.04, 1.92	
	cardiac event					
Johnston, 2010	6 months	NA	NA	1.26	0.70, 2.30	
Lowrie, 2014	Not reported	NA	NA	1.87	1.65, 2.13	
Machline-	6 months	NA	NA	4.04	1.5. 10.89	
Carrion, 2019					110, 10107	
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.15	0.48, 2.76	
Wang, 2018	12 months	NA	NA	1.35	0.67, 2.73	
Smoking cessation	on advice	T			Γ	
	30 day					
Huffman, 2018	following	NA	NA	1.06	0.8, 1.39	
	cardiac event					
Machline-	12 months	NA	NA	11.24	2.2, 57.43	
Carrion, 2019					,	
ACEi or ARB				1.00	0.54.0.10	
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.29	0.76, 2.18	
M C C C C C C C C C C	30 day				1.02.2.04	
Huffman, 2018	following	NA	NA	1.45	1.03, 2.04	
	cardiac event					
Machline-	12 months	NA	NA	1.44	0.88, 2.36	
Carrion, 2019				1.02	0.46.0.00	
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.02	0.46, 2.28	
Beta-blockers		NT 4		1.02	0.40.2.12	
Flather, 2011	Not reported	NA	NA	1.23	0.49, 3.13	

5B: Data extracted for sensitivity analyses

Huffman, 2018	30 day following cardiac event	NA	NA	1.48	1.3, 1.68
Machline- Carrion, 2019	12 months	NA	NA	1.37	0.58, 3.22
Qu, 2021	Not reported	NA	NA	1.69	0.93, 3.09
OR - Odds ratio, CI - Confidence interval, MACE - Major cardiovascular events, NA - Not					
available					

CHAPTER FOUR

Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and

improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a

process evaluation



PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER

Chapter Three provided evidence that quality improvement interventions can be effective for enhancing CVD outcomes. However, implementation of such interventions is complex and challenging. To gain a deeper understanding of the process and to facilitate more effective future implementations, I designed a mixed-methods process evaluation to assess the datadriven quality improvement (QI) intervention implemented within the QUEL study. The protocol of the process evaluation is presented in Chapter Four, thereby addressing Aim Three of this Thesis. The paper is titled "Data-driven Quality Improvement Program to Prevent Hospitalisation and Improve Care of People Living with Coronary Heart Disease: Protocol for a Process Evaluation' in Contemporary Clinical Trials" and it is published in the journal, Contemporary Clinical Trials. Ethics approvals for this study are presented in Appendix A. The Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form is included in Appendix B and learning workshop evaluation and end of/post-program evaluation surveys are included in Appendix C.

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Published paper

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation. Contemp Clin Trials. 2022;118:106794.

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Nashid Hafiz, during her PhD candidature, developed the original concept of the study and was responsible for designing and refining the study protocol with advice from supervisors and the cRCT co-investigators. She prepared the initial draft and subsequent revisions, responded to reviewer feedback, and coordinated submission and publication of the original research paper.

Individual roles of co-authors are listed below

Task Role of co-authors	Role of co-authors
Conception and design	NH, KH, JR
Refining the research question	KH, JR
Revision and Critical comments on	KH, JR, AK, CH, CC, TB, RG, CR, DH, NZ, MW,
manuscript	SJ, EA, TL, EH, TU and JR

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024

Contemporary Clinical Trials 118 (2022) 106794



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect **Contemporary Clinical Trials**



-

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/conclintrial

Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation

Nashid Hafiz^{4,*}, Karice Hyun^{4,b}, Qiang Tu⁴, Andrew Knight^{4,d}, Charlotte Hespe⁶, Clara K. Chow^{1,8}, Tom Briffa^h, Robyn Gallagher¹, Christopher M. Reid^{1,k}, David L. Hare¹, Nicholas Zwar^{c,m}, Mark Woodward^{n,o}, Stephen Janⁿ, Emily R. Atkinsⁿ, Tracey-Lea Laba^p, Elizabeth Halcomb⁴, Tracey Johnson¹, Timothy Usherwood^{11,4}, Julie Redfern^{4,11}

ns, Au

School of Health Sciences, Paculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Austr Department of Cardiology, Concord Haspitol, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia

- Departs
- ranten by Gardanegy, control or Fonglan, Peterter Stedney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia ary and Integrated Care Unit, South Western Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australi University of Notre Dame, School of Medicine, Sydney, Australia
- The Unit
- ¹ The University of Notre Dame, School of Meeticane, Sydney, Auarrana ¹ Weatern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia ²⁸ Weatern Applied Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Weatmend, Australia ²⁸ School of Population and Global Health, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia ² Sydney Nursing School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia
- School of Publi
- School of Public Health, Curtin University, Perth, Australia School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash Univ ity, Melb
- ¹University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

- ¹ Onterently of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia ¹⁸ Facally of Heddin Science & Medicine, Bond University, Gold Coast, Australia ¹⁸ The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia ¹⁸ The George Institute for Global Health, School of Public Health, Importial College London, UK ¹⁹ University of Technology Sydney Centre for Health Economics Research and Evaluation, Sydney, Australia ¹ School of Nursing, University of Weilongong, Wollongong, Australia ¹ India Primary Care, Bridwane, GLD, Australia ¹ States of Nursing, Chilewanity of Weilongong, Wollongong, Australia

- ⁶ Westmead Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Quality im Data ay preve. ular dise

ABSTRACT

Background: Practice-level quality improvement initiatives using rapidly advancing technology offers a multi-dimensional approach to reduce cardiovascular disease burden. For the "QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease" (QUEL) cluster randomised controlled trial, a 12-month quality improvement intervention was designed for primary care practices to use data and implement progressive changes using "Plan, Do, Study, Act" cycles within their practices with training in a series of interactive workshops. This protocol aims to describe the systematic methods to conduct a process evaluation of the data-driven intervention within the QUEL study.

Methods: A mixed-method approach will be used to conduct the evaluation. Quantitative data collected throughout the intervention period, via surveys and intervention materials, will be used to (1) identify the key elements of the intervention and how, for whom and in what context it was effective; (2) determine if the intervention is delivered as intended; and (3) describe practice engagement, commitment and capacity associated with various intervention components. Qualitative data, collected via semi-structured interviews and open-ended questions, will be used to gather in-depth understanding of the (1) satisfaction, utility, barriers and enablers; (2) acceptability, uptake and feasibility, and (3) effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the implementation of the intervention

* Corresponding author at: The University of Sydney, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Level 6, Block K, Westmead Hospital, Westmead, NSW 2145, Australia.

E-mail address: nashid.hafiz@sydney.edu.au (N. Hafiz).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ect.2022.106794

Received 15 December 2021; Received in revised form 11 May 2022; Accepted 12 May 2022

Available online 17 May 2022

1551-7144/@ 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativeconumons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/1

Conclusion: Findings from the evaluation will provide new knowledge on the implementation of a complex, multicomponent intervention at practice-level using their own electronic patient data to enhance secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Trial resistration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Resistry (ANZCTR) number ACTRN12619001790134.

List of abbreviations

CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
CHD	Coronary Heart Disease
PHIN	Primary Health Networks
QI-	Quality Improvement Practice Incentive Program
PIP	
QI	Quality Improvement
QUEL.	QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and
	improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with
	coronary heart disease
dICT	Cluster randomised controlled trial
RDS	Research Data Storage
PDSA	Plan-Do-Study-Act
GP	General Practitioner
EPOC	Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Review Group

1. Background

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) including coronary heart dise (CHD) and stroke remains the leading cause of death and disease burden worldwide despite decades of significant advances in the prevention and management of CVD [1,2]. .Globally an estimated 17.8 million people die every year from CVD constituting approximately one-third of global deaths [2,3]. The burden of CVD continues to contribute heavily towards the global economic burden due to the associated direct and indirect effects including hospitalisations, medications, post-discharge primary care management, rehabilitation services, disability, and unemployment [4]. As a result, the global cost of CVD is predicted to rise from US\$863 billion in 2010 to US\$1044 billion by 2030 [5,6]. With the aging population and more people surviving initial cardiac events, the prevalence of CVD is increasing along with the economic cost [7]. To reduce the risk of future cardiovascular events in those with established e, secondary prevention strategies have become an international diseas priority [8,9] and include the use of guideline-indicated medications, adopting a healthy lifestyle, implementation of chronic disease management plans and participation in a cardiac rehabilitation program following an acute event [8]. Primary care plays an integral role in implementing successful secondary prevention strategies as the majority of people hospitalised for CVD regularly visit their primary care practitioners and use government-funded health services at least once a year following their acute CHD diagnosis [10-13].

Funded by the federal government, primary care is the first point of contact for all Australians to access care. Under the primary care system, individuals can receive services that includes treatment of acute conditions, chronic disease management, health promotion, prevention and early intervention [14]. These services are provided via the general ractices, community health centres and allied health practices with the help of Primary Health Networks (PHNs) [14,15]. The Australian government has recently launched the Quality Improvement Practice Incentive Program (QI-PIP), which encourages primary care practices to collaborate with their PHNs and undertake quality improvement activities within their practices to provide high-quality patient care for better health outcomes [16]. As a result, many primary care practices worldwide are rapidly adopting the use of quality improvement (QI) initiatives [17-19]. QI initiatives offer an innovative, multidimensional approach to healthcare and have excellent potential to improve patient outcomes in primary care [20]. Also, current technology has enabled the integration of automated data extraction leading primary care practices to consider data-driven QI programs to provide high-quality patient care

[21,22]. Primary care practices have been successfully implementing QI programs in several health conditions including asthma [23], diabetes, neonatal health [24,25]. However, there is a paucity of research focused on evaluating the effectiveness of such QI interventions only at individual patient level rather than community or clinic level in CVD management [26,27]. The "QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease" (QUEL) study aimed to determine the effectiveness of a quality improvement program for improving CVD management [26].

For the QUEL cluster randomised controlled trial (cRCT), a structured QI program is delivered within Australian primary care practices to reduce CVD hospitalisations, improve CVD risk factors and medication adherence in patients with CHD over 24 months [28]. The intervention practices are supported by the study team or their relevant PHNs to enhance efficiency in management and outcomes of CVD patients by better using their routinely collected data. The trial is ongoing involving 52 (27 intervention and 25 control) Australian primary care practices with approximately 15,000 CVD patients with 12- and 24-month followup with data collection scheduled for completion in mid-2022. The primary outcome is CVD hospitalisations, collected via linkage with state-based administrative data linkage centres that collect data on all hospitalisations in Australian hospitals and as such will not be adjudicated, and secondary outcomes are cardiovascular risk factors recorded electronically by the GPs in real time which will be collected routinely across all participating primary care practices using a standardised data extraction software; medication prescriptions and use collected by data linkage of the QUEL cohort with federal level Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) data; and deaths collected via linkage of the same cohort with the federal level National Death Index. Specific details on the cRCT including trial aims, design, sample size, and outcome measures are described elsewhere 281

The QUEL intervention is based on the Collaborative Framework [29] and consists of (1) a virtual orientation session, (2) electronic data collection at baseline, and thereafter monthly, from the intervention practices via a practice-level software system that enables automated data extraction [30], (3) monthly data reporting, (4) completion of Plan, Do, Study, Act (PDSA) cycles that summarise practice-level progress towards pre-determined CVD indicators for the QUEL study, (5) a series of interactive learning and benchmarking workshops (1 in-person and 5 virtual sessions due to the COVID-19 pandemic) and (6) provision of support from PHINs and the study team. The intervention is delivered over a period of 12 months.

The study team is collaborating with five PHNs to ensure optimal delivery of the collaborative intervention. PHNs are independent organisations funded by the Australian government aimed to coordinate health services for the communities in a specific region [15]. PHNs also work closely with the primary care practices and other health care professionals within the region to identify gaps and build capacity to ensure optimal service delivery [15]. There are thirty-one PHNs operating in Australia including in remote and Aboriginal Torres Strait Islanders communities to encourage use of available health resources and access health care [16]. All PHNs were invited to participate through a variety of communication channels, including a mailing list direct to PHN CEOs, University of Sydney's as well as research partners' networks. Five out of the thirty-one PHNs agreed to collaborate on the study based on their previous experience in QI collaborative and existing collaboration with the University of Sydney. For the QUEL, study, each

collaborating PHN nominates a primary contact to provide liaison, leadership and coordination to the participating practices within the PHN's jurisdiction. During the intervention period, PHN representatives play a key role in ensuring successful implementation of the intervention. The role of the PHN involves, but is not limited to, supporting practices to achieve pre-defined key performance measures to optimise outcomes, participating in program activity including training and learning workshops, encouraging practice level engagement in these activities and using PDSA cycles between activity periods, sharing practice achievement and providing additional support as required.

Process evaluation is particularly important in complex intervention trials as it provides in-depth information required to evaluate the intervention's effectiveness and investigate the implementation process. It provides valuable insights into describing the various intervention components [31] and identifying factors associated with successes and challenges of the programs in various healthcare settings [32]. Use of process evaluation alongside complex interventions is increasing given because of the associated multisite, multicomponent features [33,34]. However, little research has reported the mechanisms of impact, context and what constitutes effective QI interventions aimed at improving CVD management in primary care settings.

The QUEL QI program is a complex intervention with multiple interactive components, as such, process evaluation can accurately describe the intervention implementation, exposure of the intended intervention and real-time experiences of those involved [36]. We hypothesise that evaluating the implementation of the multi-component QI intervention within the QUEL trial will help primary care practices to undertake further QI activities to improve care of CVD within their practices. The earlier protocol describes the cluster RCT itself [28], while this current protocol details the evaluation plan for the datadriven QI intervention program within the QUEL cRCT and its effects. The process evaluation aims to:

- Explore to what extent the intervention is delivered as intended, identify key elements of the intervention associated with positive study outcomes, and how, for whom and in what context it was effective.
- Describe and analyse practice engagement, attendance, time commitment, software capability, skills and capacity of the practice team members associated with attending learning workshops.
- Understand acceptability, satisfaction, uptake, utility and feasibility of the QI program.
- 4. Identify and describe barriers and enablers of the QI program.
- Evaluate the effect of COVID 19 on the implementation of the QI program.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

A mixed-methods approach will be undertaken using data from 27 intervention practices (out of 52 participating practices) from the QUEL cRCT [36,37]. For this study, data will be collected only from the intervention practices as it aims to evaluate the effect of the QI intervention program. Qualitative and quantitative data will be collected both during and at the end of the trial intervention period. Semistructured interviews and open-ended questions will be used to collect qualitative data. Quantitative data will be collected from the intervention practices via multiple data sources throughout the intervention period.

A program logic model was developed to describe how, why and among whom the collaborative intervention works in practices within the QUEL cRCT (Fig. 1). This logic model is a visual representation of the intervention design and its intended implementation. The Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Review Group (EPOC) checklist was used as a guidance to develop the logic model [38] to identify the key features of the intervention, check the fidelity of the implementation and assess participant's experience [31]. The model includes 5 domains of the intervention: (1) input, (2) activities, (3) outputs, (4) outcome and (5) impact specific to the data-driven QI program that will be used to describe the study objectives [39]. Inputs refer to various resources that are required to ensure program operation, activities refer to the planned actions, such as delivery of workshops, data collection that are an essential part of the implementation [39]. Resources, inputs, and activities together form the program design. Outputs include the changes in the participant's behaviour, knowledge, skills, and awareness resulting from the activities and impact describes the fundamental changes occurring in the health services over a longer period as a result of the program activities [40].

2.2. Participants

Participants in the process evaluation will include practice team members (including general practitioners, nurses and practice man agers) from primary care practices allocated to the intervention arm and PHN staff who are providing direct support to the intervention practices under their jurisdiction. At least two practice team members from all 27 intervention practices who were actively involved in QI activities in their practices; such as participated in QI workshops, submitted and carried out PDSA cycles and regularly communicated and shared reports with the study team on their activities during the intervention period will be approached to complete the surveys and participate in semistructured interviews. These participants will be able to understand sufficient English to provide written and informed consent. Practice team members from primary care practices allocated to the control group and any PHN staff not involved in the QUEL project will not be included in the process evaluation. All practice team members who are part of the intervention practices will be approached for recruitment to provide feedback and participate in interviews during and at the end of the intervention.

2.3. Data sources

Multiple data sources, collected throughout the cRCT, will be used in addition to surveys and interview data, to evaluate whether the complex intervention was delivered as planned. Combining these data sources will help to identify the key intervention elements, identify the do acy and activities delivered to the intervention practices as well as freque describe barriers and enablers associated with the program implementation. To maintain balanced quality of information across the multiple data sources the research team will ensure a) close communications and interaction with practices and PHNs (e.g. workshops; practice visits, regular contact via email or phone calls) to promote quality of data collection; b) an experienced research officer is responsible for data collection throughout the study; c) all the practices are well informed on the study procedures before they are enrolled; d) the participating practices receive appropriate research support when required; e) routine extraction, monitor and check data for quality assurance and help practices solve issues if data is not returned. The data sources will include: 1) practice-level enrolment data, 2) attendance record, 3) SharePoint data, 4) practice correspondence record, 5) data collection record, 6) PDSA cycles, 7) learning workshop surveys, 8) end of program survey and 9) semi-structured interviews of practice team members and PHN representatives. These data sources will be used as credible evidence collected at different time point during the intervention period (Fig. 1).

2.3.1. Practice-level enrolment data

Practice-level enrolment data will be created at the time of recruitment and will be recorded in a Microsoft Excel (2016) spreadsheet. Information collected will include practice location (urban and rural), practice team members information, software compatibility, and



N Hofts et al

Fig. 1. Logic model for data-driven Quality improvement (QUEL) intervention process evaluation.

4

CVD: Cardiovascular Disease, CHD: Coronary Heart Disease, PEN CS: Pen Computer Systems, GP: General Practitioner, PDSA: Plan, Do, Study. Act, PHC: Primary Health Care, IT; Information Technology, PHN: Primary Health Network, QI: Quality Improvement.

randomisation group. Urban and rural primary care practices were defined using the Australian department of Health's Health workforce classification guideline [41]. This spreadsheet will be used throughout the main trial period and updated regularly with current dates and version numbers. We will use these data to identify intervention practices, software eligibility and installation requirement of the eligible software, practice support, describe practice type and gather details of the practice team members involved in the delivery of the intervention.

2.3.2. Attendance records

Participation of the practice team members in any events related to the intervention including orientation and learning workshops (both face-to-face and virtual) will be recorded in another Microsoft Excel (2016) spreadsheet and updated regularly throughout the intervention period. These data will provide information on the frequency of the workshops attended by the intervention practices, the number of staff from each practice attending the orientation and workshops.

2.3.3. SharePoint data

Microsoft SharePoint [42] is an online platform where a unique account is created for individual practices in both intervention and control arms. This platform is created for the practices to submit their PDSA cycle records and track improvements via monthly graphs which are uploaded in their respective accounts by the study team. From the SharePoint data, we will identify whether each practice had access to their account and all intervention materials including workshop recordings and lectures, monthly feedback reports, frequency and number of PDSA cycles submitted by each practice.

2.3.4. Practice correspondence record

The study team will be communicating with the intervention practices during the trial period and practices will also be encouraged to directly communicate with the study team as required. These communications will be undertaken via phone call, email or in-person site visits. Any communication will be saved and used to identify the reason, mode of contact (email, site visit or phone call), time spent on the contact, person contacted and solution provided in a Microsoft Excel (2016) spreadsheet. This document will be updated throughout the study period with current dates and version numbers.

2.3.5. Data collection record

The intervention practices will submit clinical data electronically in an aggregated and de-identified form monthly via the automated data extraction software [30]. All aggregated data will be stored in the University's Research Data Storage (RDS). These data will be used to create practice level reports and will be uploaded to practices' SharePoint sites monthly as graphs for benchmarking their improvement for the predefined QUEL study performance measures. A Microsoft Excel (2016) spreadsheet will be used to record monthly data collection and reporting for each intervention practice. This spreadsheet will also be updated regularly throughout the intervention period with current dates and version numbers.

2.3.6. Plan, Do, Study, Act cycles

The PDSA cycle is a simple but powerful tool to measure improvements and increasingly used in many QI collaborative to boost quality of healthcare [43,44]. It guides users to explicitly plan, implement, reflect on, and then repeat, incremental improvements as they make system changes to achieve the aim [45]. Practices participating in the QUEL QI intervention are required to document and upload their PDSA cycles using a template. Training will be provided to the practices during the learning workshops on the process of completing PDSAs. Submitted PDSA cycles will be saved in their respective SharePoint accounts and the study team will be able to download a copy of the cycle when required. We will use all the PDSA cycles submitted by primary care practices during the intervention period to gather information on practice engagement, number of PDSAs submitted by each practice, identify key areas practices focused on improving and identify barriers and enablers to make improvement changes within the practices.

2.3.7. Learning workshop surveys

At least two practice team members (one clinical and one administrative) will be invited to participate in a series of six learning workshops that will be delivered during the intervention period. Six surveys corresponding to six workshops will be administered at the end of each workshop (paper-based for in-person workshops and online for the virtual workshops) to the workshop attendees. Each survey will contain questions that are specific to the workshop content and a set of common questions that are specific to the workshop content and a set of common include feedback on the workshop evaluation, learnings, satisfaction and suggestions for improvement collected as Likert scale and free-text response. The surveys aim to evaluate practice engagement, workshop attendance, time commitment, staff skills and capacity involved in implementing QI changes in their practice. The survey will also be used to evaluate the appropriateness of content and the effectiveness in terms of practice-level implementation of OI.

2.3.8. End of program surveys

Practice team members including general practitioners, practice managers or nurses from QUEL study intervention practices who are actively involved in implementing QI changes within their practices will be invited to complete a comprehensive survey on the overall program at the end of the intervention. To ensure as many responses as possible, the survey will be sent by post, with a return address envelope, email, online or by direct contact. The survey aims to evaluate the whole intervention and examine acceptability, satisfaction, uptake, utility and feasibility among users. The survey will include fifty-five questions, of which forty questions require Likert scale responses focused on overall workshop content, design, facilitators, results and outcome; practice software usability, use of electronic data for the management of CVD patients, quality and satisfaction of care provided by the primary care team, impact of the intervention on the quality of care provided, leadership involvement and staff capacity. Six questions will require yes or no responses with possible further explanation which focuses on QI-PIP [16], SharePoint use and access. Nine questions will allow free text responses focused on sharing experience implementing changes within the practice, change in staff role, sharing feedback on different intervention components. These free text questions will also include questions and discussion points on the effect of COVID-19, which will provide detailed information to help us evaluate its effect on the intervention implementation

2.3.9. Interviews with practice team members and PHN representatives

Practice team members participating in the QUEL study will be invited by email, telephone, or post to take part in a confidential one-onone interview at the end of the intervention. Practices will be selected based on their performance (high, low and medium); which will be defined by the practices' interaction during the intervention period such as participation on the learning workshops, submission of PDSA cycles. We will invite practice team members from at least three practices from each high, medium and low performing tier to participate in the interviews to ensure minimum bias. The purpose of these interviews is to evaluate workforce capability, describe perceived benefits, barriers or successes to implementation, uptake, and acceptability of the program. We will also be able to explore the differences in the dose, frequency and the activities implemented by the practices which were supported by the PHNs vs the study team. The interviews will also expand on themes within the surveys to triangulate these data; explore their experiences with QI strategies, gain detailed insight into the staff involvement, changes that occurred in the staff role due to the program. Interviews will be also used to explore the capacity of the practice software and the use of electronic data extracted from the software for OI program

\$

implementation. The semi-structured interviews will also explore how the COVID-19 affected the implementation of the intervention and will provide us with information on different approaches taken by the practices to overcome the challenges.

Interviewing the PHN representatives will enable us to describe the role of PHN in implementing QI intervention in primary care. With the interviews, we will obtain in detail PHN's perspective on the program, barriers and enablers to implementation, practice engagement, time commitment and efforts required by PHN representatives.

Semi-structured interviews are widely used in healthcare research to collect open-ended, qualitative data and to explore in-depth understanding of a specific topic [46,47]. For the evaluation, we estimate a sample of approximately 10 interviews from different suburban locations, including a variety of practice team members such as GPs, nurses and practice managers and PHN representatives reflecting diverse participant demography. However, the final number of interviews will be dependent on the thematic saturation. A trained researcher will conduct and audio record the interviews of approximately 45 min duration at the practice or health service, or via telephone, as convenient for the participants [48]. A topic-centred discussion guide will be used by the interviewer to conduct the semi-structured interviews to ensure the topics are systematically explored [48]. The researcher may take notes during the interview to document relevant information.

2.4. Data analysis

Descriptive statistical analysis will be used to analyse quantitative data. Responses and measurements from all data sources will be presented as numbers and percentages for categorical variables and mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile intervals for continuous variables. This will help to understand the level of satisfaction and perceived utility associated with program implementation and explain the extent to which the intervention is delivered as intended. The quantitative data will be compared between the following subgroups: rural vs urban and small (≤ 2 GPs) and large primary (>2 GPs) care practices. Chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test will be used to compare categorical variables between the subgroups and independent *i*-test or Wilcoxon rank-sum test will be used to compare continuous variables.

Qualitative data, including semi-structured interviews and free-text responses from the surveys and PDSA cycles, will undergo thematic analysis [49]. The thematic analysis will include preparing and transcribing the data, familiarising and coding, generating, reviewing and defining the themes and writing up the interpretation of the data (49,50). Two independent researchers will thematically analyse interview transcripts. All data collected will be converted into electronic format and stored in one location. Interviews will be recorded with consent and verbatim method will be used for transcription of the interviews. Interview transcript, any free text and notes from the interviews as well as the surveys and PDSAs will be coded and managed in NVivo Software.

2.5. Data storage, retention and disposal

All data collected for the process evaluation including personal information will be securely stored in the University's RDS database. Access to the RDS will require an employee unikey and password and only a limited number of people will have access to it. All data will be stored on The University's RDS for the duration necessary to comply with regulatory requirements; thereafter database will be destroyed in accordance with University's IT recommendations. Completed surveys and interview data will be stored securely for 5 years after publications, after which time, they will be destroyed securely. No personal information will be published. At the end of this data retention period, all files will be physically destroyed. Contemporary Clinical Trials 118 (2022) 106794

3. Discussion

This protocol outlines the systematic methods of a process evaluation of a complex QI intervention embedded within a cRCT to improve secondary prevention of CVD in primary care. The evaluation logic model is described along with methods for understanding the impact of the intervention and the context in which the impact occurs. It will assess successes and failures related to the program implementation in addition to determining factors associated with program scale-up and adaptation for other primary care settings [32]. The EPOC framework does not provide information on describing the actual QI intervention, therefore this evaluation also includes interviewing of key participants at completion of the intervention. The study will contribute to stronger evidence around the use of QI in primary care to improve CVD outcomes as well as to literature through encouraging the development of process evaluation methodology in the design and promoting transparency in the reporting of the findings.

A strength of our study is the use of a mixed-methods approach. Mixed-methods research can strengthen data quality, improve interpretations of findings, and offer a more comprehensive understanding of the program implementation, and hence, it has become a very useful tool to evaluate complex interventions [51]. Quantitative data will provide key information on what was effective and qualitative data will provide deeper understanding of why and in what context the intervention was effective. Therefore, combination of both will provide a more holistic understanding of the complex intervention the in either method alone [52]. Furthermore, this approach enables a richer perspective from a range of participants (GPs, nurses, practice managers, and PHN representatives) using various surveys and semi-structured interviews integrated within the main QUEL cRCT. Combining interview and survey data will enable in-depth knowledge on program utility, barriers, and likelihood of adoption. Findings from the process evaluation will also inform other primary care practices to implement data-driven QI programs and provide valuable insights to policymakers on wider adoption and scaling-up of such strategies.

While this process evaluation will enable evaluation of a complex QI intervention and barriers and enablers to its implementation, there are several limitations. One of the limitations is the data collected from the interviews may be subjected to recall bias as interviews will take place after the intervention. Another limitations is the cRCT is designed to be delivered in Australian primary care environment, hence it may only be relevant to health systems with similar contexts, funding, and infrastructures.

4. Conclusion

At the completion of the evaluation, we will gather rich data about collaborative implementation in terms of key features, impact, barriers and enablers and other factors including collaborative teams, staff resistance, use of experienced resources within the team to train staff specific to improving care of CVD management in primary care. Results from the evaluation will also contribute to further high-quality evidence regarding the implementation of quality improvement programs in primary care. This process evaluation will therefore help identify gaps in implementation and influence practice-level decision making in adopting data-driven quality improvement strategies and to improve CVD management.

Ethics and dissemination

6

The study is approved by the New South Wales Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44). The ethics committee provides approval for all four participating states including New South Wales, Australian Capital Territory, Victoria, Queensland, and South Australia under the National Mutual Scheme. Participants who are participating in the process evaluation will be provided with a

Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form and written consent will be obtained from each of the participants. Written informed consent will be obtained from participants and only de-identified data will be analysed and report. Results of this process evaluation as well as the cRCT, will be communicated through peer-reviewed publications and presentations at scientific forums including national and international conferences. Published papers, reports and any barriers, enablers, and key outcome identified through the results will be shared among national stakeholder organisations, participating practices and clinical networks.

Disclaimer

The funding body and industry partners was not involved in the design of the study; and will not have any role during its execution, analyses, interpretation of the data, or decision to submit results.

Data statement

Not applicable.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Project Grant (Award Grant Number: GNT1140807). Additional in-kind and cash support from the following partner organisations; Amgen (cash support), Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Brisbane South PHN, Fairfield General Practice Unit, Heart Support Australia, Improvement Foundation, Inala Primary Care, National Heart Foundation of Australia, Nepean Blue Mountains PHN (cash support), Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Sanofi (provided cash support via the Externally Sponsored Collaboration pathway), South Western Sydney PHN, The George Institute for Global Health (cash support) and University of Melbourne. JR is supported by a NHMRC Career Development Fellowship (APP1143538). KH is supported by the NHMRC Investigator Grant (Emerging leadership 1) (APP1196724). MW is supported by the NHMRC grants (1080206 and 1149987). CR is supported by a NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship (APP1136372). TL is funded by a NHMRC Early Career Fellowship (APP110230). EA is supported by a National Heart Foundation Australia postdoctoral fellowship (101884). CC's salary is funded by a Career Development Fellowship level 2 co-funded by the NHMRC and National Heart Foundation Future Leader Award (APP1105447), which supports 0.05FTE for trial meetings.

Authors' contributions

NH, JR and KH drafted the protocol. JR, NH, KH, AK, CH, TU helped with intervention design. JR, NH, KH and QT managed ethics and legal approvals. NH, JR, KH and QT involved in data collection and management. All authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

Amgen and Sanofi Australia has provided cash support to the main cRCT. MW is a consultant to Amgen, Freeline and Kyowa Kirin. Other authors has nothing to disclose.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of all the PHN and primary care practices who continue to support the QUEL project. Also, Pen CS for providing the services and eHealth data platform for the study; and

Contemporary Clinical Trials 118 (2022) 106794

the Improvement Foundation for their continuous support in the delivery of the QI program and other study partners including; Inala Primary Care, Fairfield Hospital General Practice Unit, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Heart Support Australia Ltd., Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, National Heart Foundation, Sanofi, and Amgen. The authors would also like to acknowledge the ongoing contribution of Kane Williams in the legal arrangement and Caroline Wu in the research management of the trial.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cct.2022.106794.

References

- [1] S. Bansilal, J.M. Castellano, V. Paster, Global burden of CVD: focus on secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease, Int. J. Cardiol. 201 (2015) 51–57, https://doi. org/10.1016/00107-52723(15)31026-3.
- [2] World Health Organization, Cardiovascular diseases CVDs Fact She https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sh
- mapp://www.waudur/news-toom/acc-un
 ents/detail/card/owaucular-disease-(c-un), 2017.
 World Heart Federation, Cardiovascular Disease: The World's Number 1 killer. Infographics. https://world-heart-federation.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/ WWW (2010) Information (d) 2021
- WHE-CVD-Infographic.pdf, 2021.
 [4] A. Mela, E. Hüzsneh, L.A. Poniatowski, J. Jaroszyński, M. Purtak-Niczyporuk, M. Galgka-Sobotka, et al., Economic contr of cardiovascular diseases in Poland estimates for 2015-2017 years, Front. Plasmacol. 11 (1231) (2020), https://doi org/10.2019/johnr.2020.01321
- org/10.3389/jphar.2020.01231.
 [5] World Heart Pederation, Champion Advocates Programme: The costs of CVD. http://www.championadvocates.org/en/champion-advocates-programme/the-costs -of-ord, 2021.
- [6] B.M. Kuehn, Costs of cardiac care likely to increase, despite advances in prevention, care, JAMA. 310 (19) (2013) 2029, https://doi.org/10.1001/
- [9] J. Belfern, C.K. Chow, Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in Australia: a biaspeirs for reform, Med. J. Aust. 198 (2) (2013) 70–71, https://doi.org/ 10.5004/min23.1006/min23.1007
- 10.5694/mja12.11080c.
 [8] D.P. Chew, J.A. Scott, L. Callen, J.K. French, T.G. Briffs, P.A. Tideman, et al., National Heart Foundation of Anitralia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zaaland: Australian clinical guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes 2016, Med. J. Aust. 205 (3) (2016) 128-133, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.lulc.2016.06.789.
- j.blc.2016.06.709.
 [9] B. Baner, S. James, S. Agewall, M.J. Antunes, C. Bucciarelli-Ducci, H. Barno, et al., 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial inferction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Poro for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), Eur. Heart J. 39 (2) (2017) 119–177, https://doi.org/10.1092/numbert/idva030.
- [10] S. Guo, C. Oberst, S. Mathur, Transition between hospital and community care for patients with coronary heart disease: New South Wales and Victoria 2012–2015, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2018.
- Antranan instructs of Health and Weilard, 2010.
 [11] K. Einardöttir, D.B. Preen, J.D. Basey, C.D.A.J. Holman, Regular primary care plays a significant role in secondary prevention of ischemic heart disease in a Western Australian cohort, J. Gen. Intern. Med. 26 (16) (2011) 1092–1097, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1665-1.
- [12] T. Tomasik, A. Windak, B. Seifert, J. Kerszik, M. Palka, G. Margas, et al., The self-perceived role of general practitioners in case of patients with cardiovascular disease. A survey in central and castern Buropean countries following hashch care reforms, Int. J. Cardiol. 164 (3) (2013) 327–333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- [14] Department of Health, Primary Care, Canberra, ACT, Amtralia. https://www1.hea https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/primarycare, 2021.
- Ith.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/primarycare, 2021.
 [15] Department of Health, What Primary Health Networks Are, ACT, Australia, Ganberra, 2021. https://www.health.gov.au/initiatives-and-programs/plm/what
- [16] Department of Health, PIP QI Incentive guidance Canberra, ACT, Australia. htt ps://www.l.braith.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/PIP-QU/norst
- ive.geidance, 2021.
 [17] B.A. Balazıbrananian, M. Marino, D.J. Gohen, R.L. Ward, A. Preston, R.J. Springer et al., Use of quality improvement strategies among small to medium-size us primary care practices, Ann. Pam. Med. 16 (2016) 535–543, https://doi.org/ 10.1370/usm.2172.
- JOJ 3700 stmr.2172.
 A.W. Knight, M. Dhillon, G. Smith, J. Johnson, A quality improvement collaborative to build improvement capacity in regional primary care support

organiations, BMJ Open Qual. 8 (3) (2019), https://doi.org/10.1138/imjoq-2019-000684 e000684 e.

- [14] J. Svretveit, P. Bate, P. Cleary, et al., Quality collaboratives: leason Quality and asfety in health care 11 (4) (2002) 345-351 (Batalden) [19] A. Serterone, P. Lane, P. Laney, et al., Quanty collaboratives: Insome immer memory, Quality and sofety in health care 11 (4) (2002) 348–351 (Batalden PR, Davidseff P. What is "quality improvement" and how can it transform healthcare? IBAJ Publishing Group Life 2002;11:345-351, doi:10.1136/qhc.11.4.3463.
 [20] P.B. Batalden, F. Davidoff, What is "quality improvement" and how can it transform healthcare? Qual Eaf Health Care. 16 (1) (2007) 2-3, https://doi.org/ 10.3136/ardis-2004.02346

- transform healthcare? Qual Set Health Care. 16 (1) (2007) 2-3, https://doi.org/10.1136/ptb.2006.022046.
 S. Wells, O. Tamir, J. Gray, et al., Are quality improvement collaboratives effective? A systematic review. BMJ quality & antey. 27 (2018) 226-240, https://doi.org/10.1136/msign-2017-006925.
 G.J. Largiley, K.M. Noken, T.W. Nolan, The frammation of improvement, Qual. Prog. 27 (6) (1994) 81-86.
 G.L. Homer, P. Stellagyi, L. Rodewald, S.R. Bioors, P. Greunpars, S. Yazigeril, et al., Doos quality of care affect rates of hospitalization for childhood anthra? Pediatrics 98 (1) (1996) 18-23.
 A.C. Tricco, N.M. Iven, J.M. Grimshaw, D. Moher, L. Turner, J. Galipsau, et al., Effectivenes of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Lancet 379 (9853) (2012) 2252-5261, https://doi.org/10.1016/s01946-0726(12)0409-2.

- systematic review and meta-analysis, Lancet 379 (9853) (2012) 2252-2261, https://doi.org/10.1016/00146-0250(1200400-2.
 [25] L.M. Schouten, M.E. Huizher, J.J. van Everlingen, B. Huijmann, B.P. Grol, Evidence for the impact of quality improvement collaborative: systematic review, BMJ. 336 (7859) (2006) 1491, https://doi.org/10.1136/htmj.30570.749894.BE.
 [26] G. Goorey, D. Petris, L. Neubeck, et al., A realist evaluation approach to explaining the role of context in the impact of a complex effective intervention for improving prevention of cardiovascular disease, BMC Health Serv. Res. 20 (1) (2020) 764, https://doi.org/10.1180/12913-000-05597-5.
 [27] B. Patel, T. Usherwood, M. Harris, A. Patel, K. Pasaretto, N. Zwar, et al., What drives adoption of a computational multifacented quality improvement intervention for cardiovascular disease management in primary healthcare settings? A mixed methods analysis using normalisation process theory, Implement. Sci. 13 (1) (2016) 140, https://doi.org/10.1186/s10312-00405597-5. (2018) 140, rs/10.1186 012-018-
- (2016) 140, https://doi.org/10.1186/v13012-018-0830-z.
 [286] J. Rolfers, N. Hafiz, K. Hyun, et al., QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalimitions and improve effortherms and efficiency of care for people living with coronary heart disease (QUBA): protocol for a 34-month chatter readomized controlled trial in primary care, BMC Pan. Prot. 21 (1) (2020) 36, https://doi.org/10.1166/v12072-00-01105-0.
 [28] G.J. Langley, R.D. Moer, K.M. Nolan, T.W. Nolan, C.L. Nermar, P. L., The Improvement Guide a Practical Approach to Enhancing Cognitionitian Performance, 2nd ed., Joney Base Wiley, Chichester, England, 2009.
 [28] PHN Computer Systems, CAT4 Overview. https://www.psucs.com.as/products/o/. e for people

- cttv/cn4/.
 [31] A. Grant, T. Dreischulte, B. Gothrie, Process evaluation of the data-driven quality improvement in primary care (DQIP) trial: active and less active ingendients of a multi-component complex intervention to reduce high-risk primary care prescribing, implement. Sci. 12 (D) (2017) 4, https://doi.org/10.1166/s13012-
- [30] T.J. Stephens, C.J. Peden, R.M. Pearse, S.E. Shaw, T.E.F. Abbott, B.L. Jones, et al., Improving care at node: process evaluation of a multi-component quality improvement intervention to reduce mortality, after emergency addominal magney (BPOCH trial), Implement. Sci. 13 (1) (2018) 142, https://doi.org/10.1186/
- [33] J. Hisker, T. Nguyen, T.D. Tran, H. Tran, T. Tran, S. Luchtera, et al., Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomized controlled trial of the learning Club

orary Clinical Trials 118 (2022) 106794 Con

intervention for women's health, and infant's health and development in rural Vietnam, BMC Health Serv. Res. 19 (1) (2019) 511, https://doi.org/10.1106/

- C. Mann, A. Shaw, B. Guffrie, L. Wye, M.-S. Man, S. Hollinghurst, et al., Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster modernized costrolled trial to improve management of multimobidity in general practice the 3D study, BMJ Open 6 (3) (2016), https://doi.org/10.1136/https:/doi.org/10.1136/https://doi.org/1

- rninila, Sage (2012) 131-133. [40] WK Kellogg Foundation, WK Kellogg Foundation Logic Model Development Guide, VK Kellowy Roundation, 2004.
- [41] Department of Health, Baral, Remote and Metropolitan Area Carberra, ACT, Anstralia, 2021. Available from, https://www.health.gov.m/health-topica/ru
- oft.com/en-us/office
- [42] Corporation M, What is SharePoint. https://apport.microsoft.com/en-os/of/what-is-sharepoint-975/91566-651b-453b-42427d-8c25777f446f.
 [43] P. Donnelly, P. Kirk, Use the FDEA model for effective change management, Babacuton for Primary Gene. 26 (4) (2015) 279-283, https://doi.org/10.1080/14739879-2015.11494356.
- 14730879.2015.11494355.
 [44] JA. Leis, K.O. Shojania, A primer on PDSA: executing plan-do-analy-act cycles in practice, not just in mane, BMJ quality & safety. 26 (7) (2017) 572-577, https://doi.org/10.1138/hmjgs-2016-406245.
 [45] J.T. Herrington, E.D. Newman, Bullesigning the care of rimmatic dismass at this practice and system levels. Part 1: practice level process improvement (minings 101), Clin. Rap. Rhematol. 25 (6 Suppl 47) (2007) 55-63.
- 5. Jamahod, Qualitative reaserch method-interviewing and observation, Journal of basic and dimical plasmacy. 5 (4) (2014) 87–88, https://doi.org/10.4103/0776-0105.141942. [46] S. Ja
- C. Pope, P. Van Royen, R. Baker, Qualitative methods in research on healthcare quality, BMJ Quality & Safety. 11 (2) (2002) 148-152, https://doi.org/10.1136/ [47] C. Pope, P. c.11.2.148.
- (abc)11.3.140.
 (48) B. Diff.cos-Bloom, B.F. F-Grabtree, The qualitative restarch interview, Med Educ. 40 (4) (2006) 314-323, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-9292.2006.02410.x.
 [49] M. Maggiore, B. Delaburn, Doing a thermatic sampling in practical, specifying depolation of the sample
- (Sol. Letter, Y. Cho, C.R. Lochmiller, Learning to do qualitative data analysis: a ratering point, Hum. Resour. Dev. Rev. 19 (1) (2020) 94–106, https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1534484329903090.
- [51] M. Bamberger, Introduction to mixed methods in impact evaluation, Impact

8

Brahmsonger, nerostructon to mixed methods in impact evaluation, lungert Evaluation Notes. 3 (2) (2012) 1–38.
 M.A. Malina, H.S. Nyereklä, F.H. Selto, Lencon learont: advantages and disadvantages of mixed method research, Qual. Res. Account. Manag. Vol. 8 No. 1 (2011) 50–71.

CHAPTER FIVE

Process evaluation of a data-driven quality improvement program within a

cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease

management in Australian primary care



PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER

Chapter four presented the published process evaluation protocol for the data-driven quality improvement intervention within the QUEL study. The QI intervention consisted of multiple features, spanned over 12 months, and was implemented across 27 Australian primary care practices. Chapter Five presents the findings of this process evaluation, focusing mainly on the practices' engagement with different features of the intervention. Furthermore, this Chapter assesses whether the intervention was delivered as intended and evaluates the usefulness of its features, thereby addressing Aim Four of this Thesis. The paper is titled "Process evaluation of a data-driven QI program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in Australian primary care" has been accepted for publication by the PLoS One. The ethics approval for the study is included in Appendix A and the discussion guide that was used to conduct semi-structured interviews is included in Appendix D. All supplementary materials used are included after references of this chapter.

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Manuscript accepted for publication

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Process evaluation of a datadriven quality improvement program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in Australian primary care. PloS One Journal. (Accepted).

Published abstract and conference presentation

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow C, et al. Process evaluation results of QUality improvement for Effectiveness of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL), a cluster randomised controlled data-driven quality improvement trial to improve

cardiovascular disease care in Australian primary care practices. Heart, Lung and Circ. 2023;32:S340-S1. (*Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting 2023, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia*).

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Nashid Hafiz, during her PhD candidature, developed the concept of the sub-study, performed statistical analysis, and interpreted the results, prepared the initial draft and subsequent revisions, responded to reviewers' feedback, and coordinated the submission and publication of the original research paper.

Individual roles of co-authors are listed below

Task Role of co-authors	Role of co-authors		
Refining the research question	NH, KH, JR		
Data collection and analysis	NH, KH, DM		
Revision and Critical comments of	KH, JR, AK, CH, CC, TB, RG, CR, DH, NZ, MW,		
manuscript	SJ, EA, TL, EH, TU and JR		

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024

Process evaluation of a data-driven quality improvement program within a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve coronary heart disease management in Australian primary care

Authors

Nashid Hafiz¹, Karice Hyun^{1,2}, Qiang Tu¹, Andrew Knight^{3,4}, Charlotte Hespe⁵, Clara K. Chow^{6,7}, Tom Briffa⁸, Robyn Gallagher⁹, Christopher M. Reid^{10,11}, David L. Hare¹², Nicholas Zwar¹³, Mark Woodward^{14, 15}, Stephen Jan¹⁴, Emily R. Atkins^{7,14}, Tracey-Lea Laba¹⁶, Elizabeth Halcomb¹⁷, Tracey Johnson¹⁸, Deborah Manandi¹, Tim Usherwood^{7,14}, Julie Redfern^{1,14}.

Affiliations

¹ School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Australia

² Department of Cardiology, Concord Hospital, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney,

Australia

³ Primary and Integrated Care Unit, Southwestern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

⁴ School of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of New South Wales,

Sydney, Australia

⁵ The University of Notre Dame, School of Medicine, Sydney, Australia

⁶Western Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

⁷Westmead Applied Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney,

Sydney, Westmead, Australia

⁸ School of Population and Global Health, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia

⁹ Sydney Nursing School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

¹⁰ School of Population Health, Curtin University, Perth, Australia

¹¹ School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne,

Australia

¹² University of Melbourne and Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia

¹³ Faculty of Health Sciences & Medicine, Bond University, Gold Coast, Australia

¹⁴ The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

¹⁵ The George Institute for Global Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London,

UK

¹⁶ Clinical and Health Sciences, University of South Australia, Australia

¹⁷ School of Nursing, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

¹⁸ Inala Primary Care, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

* Corresponding author

E-mail: nashid.hafiz@sydney.edu.au (NH)

ABSTRACT

Background This study evaluates primary care practices' engagement with various features of a quality improvement (QI) intervention for patients with coronary heart disease (CHD) in four Australian states.

Methods Twenty-seven practices participated in the QI intervention from November 2019 -November 2020. A combination of surveys, semi-structured interviews and other materials within the QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL) study were used in the process evaluation. Data were summarised using descriptive statistical and thematic analyses for 26 practices.

Results Sixty-three practice team members and Primary Health Networks staff provided feedback, and nine of the 63 participants participated in the interviews. Seventy-five percent (40/53) were either general practitioners or practice managers. Although 69% of the practices self-reported improvement in their management of heart disease, engagement with the intervention varied. Forty-two percent (11/26) of the practices attended five or more, 69% (18/26) used Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles, and the median (Interquartile intervals) visits per practice to the online SharePoint site were 170 (146, 252) visits. Qualitative data identified learning workshops and monthly feedback reports as the key features of the intervention. **Conclusion** Practice engagement in a multi-featured data-driven QI intervention was common, with learning workshops and monthly feedback reports identified as the most useful features. A better understanding of these features will help influence future implementation of similar interventions.

Trial registration Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR) number ACTRN12619001790134.

Keywords: Cardiovascular disease; Coronary heart disease; Data; Primary care; Process evaluation; Quality improvement.

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), including coronary heart disease (CHD), contributes to onethird of deaths annually and remains a significant contributor to disability globally.^[1, 2] In Australia alone, CHD is responsible for 10% of all deaths and 41% of these are CVD-related deaths.^[3] Primary care plays a crucial role in reducing the burden of CHD as it is the first point of contact for patients where their care is coordinated.^[4, 5] Largely financed by the federal government's Medicare - a universal healthcare system, Australian primary care services that are available to patients with CHD include lifestyle counselling, prescription of guideline-recommended medications, chronic disease management plans (CDMPs) and participation in cardiac rehabilitation.^[6, 7] In Australia, patients who had at least one followup with a General Practitioner (GP) or cardiologist or utilised any of the aforementioned services after an acute CHD event have been shown to lower the chance of emergency readmission and death.^[8]

The Australian government introduced the Practice Incentive Program Quality Improvement (PIP-QI) in 2019 to enhance the management and quality of care provided to people with chronic disease.^[9] To receive the incentives, primary care practices are required to participate in continuous quality improvement (QI) in partnership with their local Primary Health Networks (PHN) and submit quarterly data reports to the latter. PHNs are funded by the Australian government to work closely with individual practices to coordinate health services within local communities.^[10] PHNs also provide feedback to practices and support capacity to

perform QI activities to ensure optimal service delivery. However, more research is needed to understand how practices can best implement PIP-QI to improve care in CHD.

The availability of PIP-QI and advancing data collection and reporting systems have enabled practices to adopt data-driven QI programs.^[11, 12] When implemented effectively, data-driven QI has demonstrated success in several health conditions, including diabetes, asthma, and chronic obstractive pulmonary disease (COPD).^[13-15] However, studies have identified that implementation and sustainability of such initiatives are complex and challenging.^[16] To improve the management of chronic conditions, it is increasingly important to understand the features and processes associated with implementing such programs.^[17-19] The "OUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)" study is currently being conducted in Australia. The QUEL study protocol is published elsewhere.^[20] QUEL included a multifaceted 12-month intervention aimed at improving the management of CHD care in primary care practices by using data-driven QI strategies. The primary objective of this study is to comprehensively evaluate the QUEL intervention by examining practice engagement in performing QI activities, providing insight into the delivery of the intervention, and assessing the usefulness of the intervention features from healthcare providers' perspective. Specifically, it aims to (i) describe and analyse practice engagement, time commitment, skills and capacity of the practice team members associated with the intervention and (ii) explore to what extent the intervention was delivered as intended and whether the intervention features were useful. We hypothesise that higher practice engagement and perceived usefulness of intervention features are positively associated with the increased adoption of data-driven QI strategies in improving the care of patients with CHD in primary care practices.

METHODS

Study design

The QUEL study is a cluster randomised trial, where primary care practices were randomised to receive the QI intervention or continued to receive usual care without access to the intervention during the study. In addition to usual care, control practices were offered an opportunity to participate in a series of virtual workshops after the completion of 24 months data collection. For this study, a process evaluation was performed on the intervention practices using a mixed-methods approach, collecting both quantitative and qualitative data from 27 urban and rural primary care practices of varying sizes within ten PHNs and across four Australian states (New South Wales, South Australia, Victoria and Queensland). The protocol for the process evaluation is published elsewhere (Appendix S1).^[21] Ethics approval was obtained from the New South Wales Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44). Figure 1 provides a flow diagram of the process evaluation conducted.

Participants

Participants were included if they met any of the following criteria: (i) team members from a practice randomised to receive the intervention, including general practitioners (GPs), nurses and practice managers (PM), (ii) PHN staff who provided direct support to intervention practices, and (iii) provided written informed consent.


Figure 1. Process evaluation flow diagram of QUEL intervention

QI intervention

The QUEL intervention was delivered between November 2019 and November 2020. It consisted of multiple features, which included attendance at six learning workshops, monthly submission of data and Plan-do-study-act (PDSA) cycles, receipt of monthly feedback reports and support from the study team or relevant PHNs. Learning workshops were delivered approximately every two months, and the practice team members undertook other QI activities (i.e., electronic data submission, continuous improvement efforts, and feedback reports) between the learning workshops.

All practices and PHN staff were given an individual SharePoint account to access study materials, including workshop recordings, presentations and the QUEL handbook as intervention guidelines. Individual monthly reports and an online template to submit PDSAs were also provided in the account. After obtaining consent, PEN Computer Systems (PenCS) used their software to extract clinical data on the pre-defined CHD measures (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) from the intervention practices automatically each month and transmitted them to the study team.^[22]

After receiving electronic data, the study team reviewed and aggregated the data to create Excel reports and graphs, uploaded to the practice's individual SharePoint account as a PDF. These individual feedback graphs helped the practices to easily identify improvement areas and track their progress over time. Practices also used the PDSA cycles to test and implement changes. Each practice was required to submit monthly PDSA cycles focused on improving the pre-defined 12 performance measures for QUEL (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). A vital component throughout the intervention was the external support provided to each practice by the study team or PHN staff. The study team and PHNs provided similar support to the practices, from ensuring practice participation in training and learning workshops, encouraging practice engagement, and helping with PDSA cycles to solving any data collection or feedback issues.

Data sources

Data from the following sources were synthesised to evaluate the QI intervention and address the study aims: 1) practice-level enrolment data, 2) attendance record, 3) SharePoint resources, 4) practice correspondence record, 5) data collection record, 6) PDSA cycles, 7) learning workshop surveys, 8) end-of-program evaluation survey and 9) semi-structured interviews of practice team members and PHN Staff. Details of the data sources are published elsewhere (Chapter Four).^[21] These data were collected throughout the intervention period between November 2019 - November 2020. Additionally, the end-of-program evaluation survey and the semi-structured interviews were conducted at the intervention completion between December 2020 and June 2021. Feedback was sought from all practice team members who were involved in leading the QI activities. To ensure a balanced representation and minimise bias, team members for the semi-structured interviews were invited to participate from both rural and urban practices and from practices representing high, medium or low attendance in the learning workshops.

Data protection and confidentiality

In accordance with ethical guidelines, the authors had access to information that could identify individual participants during the data collection phase. However, all identifiable information was removed and replaced with unique identification numbers. The data was treated with strict confidentiality and stored securely in the University's Research Storage Database. Access to the database was limited to the study team only, requiring a username and password.

Outcome measures

Practice engagement with the QUEL intervention was defined as attendance in the series of learning workshops, submission of PDSA cycles and use of SharePoint by the practices. Workshop attendance data were collected after each of the six learning workshops (delivered online and face-to-face). PDSA cycle submission was collected in SharePoint, extracted and stored on a spreadsheet. SharePoint usage data was collected as part of the end-of-program evaluation survey and using webpage analytics. Time commitment and skills of the practice team members were also collected using surveys.

The time commitment was measured as "Never (1)", "Rarely (2)", "Sometimes (3)", "Usually (4)", "Always (5)", and "Don't know (0)" using questions from the end-of-program evaluation survey. A score of \geq 4/5 indicates longer time spent on QI activities. The semistructured interviews also asked open-ended questions about the time spent by the team members on implementing these activities. The skills and capacity of a practice team member were defined as the roles, experience, and availability of practice team members leading the QI activities collected via surveys.

Data analysis

One practice withdrew following participation in the first learning workshop due to staff change and was excluded from the analysis. Data from 26 practices were analysed for the process evaluation. Descriptive statistics were used to analyse quantitative data. Responses and measurements from all data sources are presented as numbers and percentages for categorical variables and mean and standard deviation (SD) or median and interquartile intervals (IQI) for continuous variables. Practices that did not respond to the survey were not included in the analysis. To evaluate the practice engagement, the workshop attendance, number of PDSA submissions, and SharePoint use were categorised into distinct groups for analysis. Workshop attendance was classified as low (less than three workshops attended), moderate (three to four workshops attended), and high (five or more workshops attended). PDSA submission was categorised as practices submitting less than three, three to six, and seven or more PDSA cycles. SharePoint use was grouped based on the number of visits made by the practices over the 12-month intervention period, with categories 0 to 149, 150 to 299, and 300 or more visits.

Qualitative data from semi-structured interviews, surveys and other data sources were analysed using thematic analysis.^[23] Semi-structured interviews were conducted via Zoom, using an audio recorder and transcribed verbatim by NH and DM. Two researchers (NH and DM) performed thematic analysis of interview transcripts to ensure consistency in the interpretation of the themes. Both researchers individually prepared the data for transcription, coded and reviewed them before defining the themes for interpretation.^[23, 24] Minor disagreements about the interpretation of some responses and the categorisation of some themes were discussed with a third researcher (KH) until a consensus was reached. Free text from surveys and PDSAs were also coded thematically. Thematic analysis was performed using QSR NVivo version 1.6.1.

RESULTS

Practice and PHN participation

Twenty-six primary care practices from four Australian states (69% of the practices from New South Wales, 15% from Victoria, 12% from South Australia and 4% from Queensland) participated in the QUEL intervention. Among these practices, six were from rural areas, and the remaining 22 were in urban areas across these four states. The practices were also of varying size, with the number of GPs varying from 1 - 18, and the median (IQI) number of GPs in these practices was 7 (3, 10). Fifty-three team members from 26 primary care practices responded to at least one of the six learning workshop surveys, the end-of-program evaluation survey or participated in a semi-structured interview. Participants responding to each learning workshop survey ranged between 13 to 26. Thirty-six participants from 20 (77%) practices responded to the end-of-program evaluation survey. Eight team members from seven practices participated in the semi-structured interviews.

Five of the ten PHNs agreed to participate in the QUEL study; lack of time and capacity to undertake the additional responsibilities attributed to the non-participation of the remaining PHNs. Ten participants from these PHNs responded to the learning workshop surveys or participated in the semi-structured interviews. PHN staff were also encouraged to attend the learning workshops to track their practices' progress in the QI intervention. Four PHNs attended three (50%), and only one attended five (80%) learning workshops. The number of PHN staff attending the learning workshops ranged from one to four who also responded to the surveys. Only one PHN staff participated in the semi-structured interview. Table 1 summarises the number of participants providing feedback for the process evaluation at the end of each learning workshop.

156

Learning workshops	No of practices	No of participants from practices	No of PHN	No of participants from PHN	Total participants provided feedback
LW1	18	26	2	3	29
LW2	16	20	3	3	23
LW3	14	16	2	1	17
LW4	11	14	1	1	15
LW5	10	12	3	4	16
LW6	17	26	3	3	29

Table 1. Summary of participants providing feedback on learning workshop surveys.

Practice engagement and attendance

Figure 2 displays the distribution of practices across different levels of workshop attendance, PDSA cycles and SharePoint use over the 12-month intervention period in frequency graphs, providing detailed insights into the use of these features.

Workshop attendance

Forty-two percent (11/26) of the intervention practices attended five to six learning workshops, another 42% (11/26) attended three to four learning workshops, and only 16% (4/26) attended two or less learning workshops.



Figure 2. Frequency distribution of practices' workshop attendance, PDSA submission and SharePoint use during the 12-month intervention period; , *LW* - Learning workshop, *PDSA* - Plan-Do-Study-Act

Use of SharePoint

Seventy percent (14/20) of the practices reported using the online account via the end-ofprogram evaluation survey during the one-year intervention period. From the SharePoint user analytics, we found the median (IQI) number of account visits per practice was 170 (106, 252) over the site's lifetime.

Table 2 reveals cross-tabulation of workshop attendance with PDSA submissions and SharePoint use, revealing a pattern in practice engagement. PDSA submission and SharePoint use were balanced for practices that attended five or more workshops. In contrast, practices that attended less than two workshops revealed low use.

Workshop	PDSA	A submissi	nission (n) SharePoint Use (n)			(n)
attendance (n ^a , % ^b)	< 3	3-6	>7	0 - 149 Visits	150 - 299 Visits	> 300 Visits
0-2 (4,16%)	2	2	0	2	2	0
3-4 (11, 42%)	7	3	2	7	5	0
5-6 (11, 42%)	4	3	4	3	5	3

 Table 2. Workshop attendance, PDSA submission and SharePoint use practice distribution.

PDSA - Plan-Do-Study Act

^an = is the number of practices in each category,

^bPercentage is calculated = n/N, where N is the total no of practices in the intervention (n=26)

Additionally, Table 3 provides a detailed summary of practice engagement with the intervention over the 12 months among participating practices. Overall, 11 practices that attended five or more learning workshops submitted 57 PDSAs, and the median (IQI) SharePoint use was 231 (151, 339). Another 11 practices that attended three to four workshops submitted 27 PDSAs, and the median (IQI) SharePoint use was 139 (110, 170). Four practices that attended less than three workshops submitted 13 PDSAs with a median (IQI) SharePoint use of 168.5 (92, 220).

Practice Code	Number of workshops attended	PDSA submission	SharePoint Use
Α	6	10	475
В	6	10	393
С	5	10	284
D	6	8	268
E	4	8	154
F	3	7	278
G	2	6	122
Н	5	6	441
Ι	2	6	236
J	6	5	231
K	5	5	225
L	4	4	80
М	3	4	185
Ν	4	3	139
0	5	2	231
Р	3	1	257
Q	5	1	50
R	1	1	215

Table 3. Detailed summary of practice engagement per practice.

S	3	0	154
Т	3	0	101
U	4	0	119
V	6	0	76
W	4	0	131
X	6	0	65
Y	4	0	57
Z	0	0	0
High engagement Moderate engagement Low engagement			

Skills and capacity of the practice team members

As the intervention progressed, most practices designated team members to implement the QUEL QI changes within their practices. The majority of team members leading the QI activities were GPs (40%), followed by practice managers (PM) (38%) and nurses (19%). Others were research officers and admin staff (3%). More than half of the team members (58%) had five or more years of work experience. Thirty-two percent (17/53) of them were male, and the mean age (SD) of the team members was 45.7 (11.8) years. Characteristics of practice team members are described in Table 4.

Team members who held leadership roles and had clinical backgrounds were able to take on the leadership and effectively drive changes in their practices, as described by one of the participants.

"As the principal GP, I take on the leadership role. Whatever initiative we are undertaking as a practice, I explain to the staff, this is the reason why we are doing this, and then they will do it." (Practice K, Female, GP) One participant described that they were unable to sustain QI activities within their practice due to not having a clinical background.

"Disappointment from my point that I couldn't get it up and running because of not having the clinical background after the registrar left." (Practice W, Female, PM)

Table 4. Characteristics of practice team members leading the QI activities in the intervention practices.

Primary care Practices	
Number of participating primary care practices, n	26
Number of total participants providing feedback, n	53
Age, mean (SD)	45.7 (11.8)
Female, n (%)	36 (68)
Health professional category, n (%)	
GP/GP registrar/ Clinical Director/ Principal GP	21 (40)
PM/ Assistant Practice Manager/ Practice Manager who is a nurse	20 (38)
Practice Nurse/ Registered Practice Nurse/ Nurse Coordinator	10 (19)
Other Admin and Research Officer	2 (3)
Years in the present position, n (%)	
< 1 year	4 (8)
1 - 3 Years	11 (21)
3 - 5 Years	6 (11)
> 5 Years	31 (58)
Not reported	1 (2)
SD - Standard Deviation, GP - General Practitioner, PM - Practice manager	

Time commitment

Almost 70% (18/26) of the practices reported higher time commitment on using the electronic health system within working hours to identify CHD patients, monitor and track patients, develop care plans and record keeping. Table 5 presents a cross-tabulation of these practices on their engagement with the intervention. Additionally, two practices reported moderate level of time commitment to perform QI activities. Both practices attended five or more learning workshops, submitted 14 PDSAs, and their visits to the SharePoint site was 268 and 441 during the intervention period. 23% (6/26) of the practices that didn't report any data on time commitment showed varying levels of engagement. One practice attended five or more workshops, submitted one PDSA and visited the SharePoint site 50 times. Two practices attended three to four workshops, submitted 11 PDSAs, and their visits to the SharePoint site was 80 and 278. Three practices that attended less than three workshops, submitted 7 PDSAs, and the median (IQI) of SharePoint use was 215 (108, 226).

Table 5. Practice engagement summary	based on workshop attendance and time
commitment	

Workshop attendance Category of attendance, (n ^a , % ^b)	PDSA submission	SharePoint use
0 - 2 (1, 5%)	1	No of visits ^c - 122
3 - 4 (9, 45%)	24	Median (IQI) - 139 (119, 154)
5 - 6 (8, 40%)	42	Median (IQI) - 231 (188, 311)

PDSA - Plan-Do-Study-Act, IQI - Interquartile interval

^an = is the number of practices in each category,

^bPercentage is calculated = n/N, where N is the total no of practices in the intervention who reported time commitment (20)

^cNo of visits were used as only one practice in the category.

Interview data revealed that most practices had weekly or monthly team meetings to track QI progress, and one practice reported having daily update meetings. Practice team members reported setting aside 5-10 minutes during those meetings to discuss the QI targets.

"Our doctors have clinical meetings every Thursday and once a month, at the end of the meeting, I'd spend 5 minutes giving them an update and reminding them don't forget the QUEL project." (Practice B, Female, PM)

"We have burst meetings where it would just be 5-10 minutes catching up on where we are at and what we need to do, and we stick to the plan. We only got three bullet points, like what is working, what's not working, and how can we achieve the level of we want to achieve for the day." (Practice X, Female, PM)

Aside from regular meetings, practice team members set aside half an hour to half a day to perform QI activities.

"We would normally put in 30 minutes to an hour a week to do recalls, reminders, data cleansing, etc." (Practice J, Female, PM)

"Especially I worked on a Thursday. Thursday afternoons are always very quiet. So that gave me the best time to do stuff. I'd say half a day a week." (Practice B, Female, nurse)

Intervention delivered as intended, key intervention features and its usefulness

Learning workshop was identified as a key intervention feature by 60% of the practices, and one-third of the practices identified monthly feedback reporting as another important feature. Practice team members found these two features to be the most useful in facilitating QI changes within their practices. Qualitative data identified themes describing the usefulness of individual intervention features reported by the practice team members, illustrated in Box 1.

	Themes	Quotes
Learning Workshops	(i) Opportunities to learn from other practices	"It was one practice, a country practice, and I can't remember the name; it was a tiny, small practice with the receptionist on board with the whole thing. I was just blown away by the way that they actually had embraced this project and done it." (Practice W, Female, PM) "There was a lot of collaboration, such as sharing experience in these workshops, which was quite helpful. I think just hearing the way that different practices had tackled certain tasks was quite helpful." (Practice V, Female, Nurse)
	(ii) Opportunities toshare experienceswith peers	"We presented our Healthy Heart Clinic in one of the online learning workshops to other practices." (Practice W, Female, PM)
	(iii) Regular get together to keep practices updated and reminded them to reinforce QI	"By having a routine training or a catch-up or a meeting with a specific focus, it brings us back to what we're aiming to do, particularly for the CHD." (Practice X, Female, PM) "The most important one is the workshops, I believe, important very, very important. Keep us updated all the time." (Practice Y, Female, GP)
Monthly feedback report	(i) To identify gaps and areas of improvement	"We actually looked at all of our reports. We worked out from the graphs which were the lowest parameters. So, using the 12 measures and using that graph was very useful. Because it actually gave us our shortfall." (Practice W, Female, PM)

Box 1: Quotes illustrating why practices found each intervention features useful

		"It's not my opinion or someone else's opinion; it's actually data, and you can say, look, we have only got 60% of our patients that have had a blood pressure in the last 12 months, who are on antihypertensive, we need to do better than that." (Practice V, Female, Nurse)
	(ii) To track progress with QI	"Well, I guess the monthly reports you provided kept us on our toes in a way, I guess. We could see how we were going easily within the project, so I think that was good." (Practice B, Female, Nurse)
		"Some of the doctors were quite shocked, in terms of some of the original results received from the monthly reports, and so it's a helpful thing to be able to have everyone going towards certain goals." (Practice V, Female, Nurse)
PDSA	(i) Helped to improve the quality of data	<i>"Our data has improved in small proportion in most areas of the 12 CHD measures for QUEL."</i> (Practice D, Female, Nurse)
	(ii) Helped to create awareness for correct coding of data	"Clinic Drs have reported increased understanding of the need to "code" uniformly within the practice." (Practice M, Female, GP)
	(iii) Produced successful outcome following a recall	"We had one patient respond to an SMS for a blood test and also came in for a care plan." (Practice J, Female, PM)
Support	Build effective relationships between	<i>"Your team visiting us physically, I feel pretty good, that means we are an important practice to</i>

	the study team and the	visit, it improved the relationship between us."
	practice	(Practice Y, Female, GP)
	Provide training and support on using data extraction tools	<i>"If I'm having problems with the data extraction tool, he (practice support officer) will help me fix it." (Practice B, Female, Nurse)</i>
PM - Practice ma	nager, CHD - Coronary heart	disease, GP - General practitioner, SMS - Short message

service, QI - Quality Improvement

Learning workshops

The first and the sixth learning workshops were initially planned as face-to-face events. Only the first learning workshop was delivered face-to-face before the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic^[25], and the remaining five were all delivered virtually due to the ongoing restrictions. These workshops were scheduled approximately two months apart, but learning workshops five and six were approximately four months apart as the practices were busy with COVID-19 protocols and vaccinations.

Electronic data submission and monthly feedback reports

Although all 26 practices submitted data and received monthly feedback reports most of the time as intended, there were exceptions in some months (Table S2 in Supplementary Material). The most common reason for not submitting data and receiving monthly reports was technical errors. Common technical errors were: (i) an error in the automatic data extraction system, (ii) the automatic data extraction system was turned off, and (iii) the data extraction team not having access to technical support from the practice to run automated data collection. Once the technical issue was identified, the QUEL study team worked with relevant PHNs and the PenCS team to resolve the issue.

PDSA cycles

The practice team members also received training in the learning workshops on implementing PDSA cycles. Further support was also available for the practice team members during the activity periods by the respective PHNs and study team. We anticipated practices submitting one PDSA cycle per month, in total, 12 cycles per practice over one year. Despite the training and support, only 12% (3/26) of the practices submitted ten or more and 57% (15/26) of the practices submitted between one to nine PDSAs during the one-year intervention (Table 2), suggesting the intervention was not implemented as intended.

Support

Five PHNs that were participating in the QUEL study provided support to 12 of the 26 practices. Two of the five PHNs were located in New South Wales, which supported seven practices in that state. The other three PHNs were in South Australia, Queensland, and Victoria. The PHN in South Australia supported another three practices in that state, while the PHNs in Queensland and Victoria each supported only one practice within their respective regions. The remaining 14 practices were supported by the QUEL study team. Based on the support provided by the study team, the mean (SD) number of contacts between practices and the study team was 14 (4.3). PHNs contacted the practices independently; however, data on PHN contacts were not collected during the intervention period. Contacts were made via phone calls, emails and in person to provide support to the practices to solve any technical errors, provide monthly updates, encourage practices to perform QI and help with any other queries. This support was helpful in maintaining practices' engagement with the intervention features.

168

As a result of their participation in the QI intervention, practices reported the role of the practice team members changed during the one-year intervention. Around half (14/26) of the practices acknowledged an increase in the scope of their team members' roles to perform QI activities, such as data collection, coding, analysis, review, and reporting to meet QUEL targets. However, five practices reported no significant changes as QI was already a part of their role. Practice team members also performed various QI activities during the intervention year (Table S3 in Supplementary Material). Sixty-nine percent (18/26) of the practices reported an improvement in their quality of care for CHD patients due to these activities. Only one practice reported no change, and another was uncertain of any changes in their quality of care. Seventy-three percent (19/26) of practices reported participating in QUEL enhanced their capacity to be PIP-QI ready. At the end of the intervention, 42% (11/26) of practices reported they were able to claim PIP-QI.

DISCUSSION

This study elaborates on the primary care practices' engagement with the QI intervention in improving CHD care. The Intervention led to an increased scope of QI activities for the practice team members, leading to more than half of the practices (69%) self-reporting improvement in their QI activities for CHD patient care. As a result, the majority (73%) of the practices felt ready for PIP-QI, and some (42%) could claim the benefits. However, the practice engagement with the intervention was varied. Engagement with the PDSA cycles was low, with only 12% of practices submitting ten or more cycles over 12 months. However, the submission range of PDSA cycles was diverse (0-10) in all practices despite the varied attendance. Practices that attended a higher number of learning workshops submitted a higher number of PDSA cycles and showed higher engagement with the SharePoint site. However, variations were seen within each attendance category, indicating several factors contributing

to the different engagement levels. Additionally, practices reporting higher time commitment generally demonstrated higher learning workshop attendance, submitted more PDSAs, and used SharePoint more, suggesting a positive correlation between time commitment and engagement in the intervention with some variations in a small portion of the practices. Qualitative analysis identified team members in a leading role or with clinical backgrounds were able to implement QI changes more effectively within their practices and practices regularly set aside additional time during working hours to implement these changes. The study also identified learning workshops and monthly feedback reports as the two key useful intervention features to facilitate QI activities and changes.

Several QI strategies are currently being practiced in clinical settings including, the Model for Improvement, Lean, and Six Sigma.^[26] The Model for Improvement, used in this intervention, is a widely used QI strategy in healthcare, which provides a systematic approach for planning, testing and implementing changes.^[27] In addition, learning workshops, PDSA cycles, feedback reports, and support were also used in combination with the QI intervention to improve CHD care.^[28-31]Findings from our study suggest that higher attendance in learning workshops could have positively influenced PDSA submission and SharePoint use, indicating its significance in increasing practice engagement to perform QI activities. However, associations between the intervention features and improvement in clinical outcomes have yet to be established. It is important to evaluate the effect of QI intervention on improving outcomes as research found practices receiving regular feedback reports were able to improve clinical outcomes, particularly in achieving better blood pressure control in patients with hypertension^[32] and risk factor screening.^[33, 34] While a systematic review revealed mixed findings on the effectiveness of PDSAs in improving clinical outcomes, ^[35] other studies identified several factors influencing the reduced engagement level.^[36, 37] similar to our

170

findings. Our study also included a variety of skilled professionals, including GPs, nurses, or PMs as practice team members to lead the QI changes within their practices, which is also an important strategy for successful implementation of QI interventions.^[37-39] Lastly, while some studies demonstrated the importance of using practice support within QI strategies to improve care,^[40-42] the current study did not provide a deeper understanding of the level of support required for the successful implementation of such programs.

A strength of this study is the use of mixed-methods research, a commonly used method in evaluating QI studies, as it has the ability to strengthen data quality and provide a robust interpretation of the results.^[36,42, 43] Further, we also combined both qualitative and quantitative data and performed triangulation of the multiple datasets providing a wide range of perspectives from multiple health professionals, consequently providing an in-depth understanding of the complex intervention features. The practices included in the evaluation were from various sizes and regions, ensuring wider representation of participants, therefore enhancing the generalisability of the findings to similar healthcare settings. The intervention features and implementation strategies described in this study can be used as a useful framework to be replicated with modifications in similar healthcare settings aiming to improve the quality of care for patients with chronic diseases.

The study, primarily focused on exploring the efficacy of the intervention rather than the effectiveness, has several limitations that may influence its potential wider roll-out into practice. The intervention period coincided with the outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic, potentially impacting practices, attendance in learning workshops and overall engagement.^[25] Other limitations were the potential introduction of response and reporting bias arising from some practices not responding to the surveys and reliance on self-reported

data, respectively. The exclusion of non-responsive practices from the quantitative analysis and continuous data checking for errors and accuracy were used to reduce the bias. Additionally, categorical data was collected to measure health professionals' time spent on delivering the QI program, but continuous data would have offered a more accurate measure of time spent. Further, almost half of the practices were supported by their respective PHNs. However, due to the independent operations of the PHNs, we were unable to obtain comprehensive data regarding the extent of support provided by both the PHNs and the study team during the intervention period. Finally, it was beyond the scope of the process evaluation to evaluate whether the intervention was effective in improving the pre-defined CHD. These limitations may affect the generalizability of our findings and the feasibility of implementing the intervention on a larger scale.

Findings from the study suggest that external factors, such as unexpected events or occurrences, should be taken into consideration when planning broader implementation strategies. We also acknowledge that the paper could benefit from a more detailed exploration of PDSAs to understand a direct association between workshop attendance and PDSA submissions with the intervention. Highlighting a scope for future research to explore the various factors associated with PDSA engagement.^[44] Adding a more robust, sophisticated, and accurate data collection and analysis method could provide more nuanced measures of the findings, therefore enhancing the feasibility of future studies. The limitation in accurately assessing the level of support required for the successful implementation can be addressed by establishing an effective collaboration and incorporating remote reporting and data collection between the research team and the PHNs.^[36] Furthermore, enabling tailored support and addressing the nuanced dynamics of time commitment is important to optimise engagement with QI interventions across diverse practices. The use of these combined

strategies, along with ongoing training, designating clinicians as QI champions and increased use of data-driven technology to monitor progress, can collectively contribute towards the large-scale roll-out of future QI programs with an aim to improve care for patients with CHD across diverse healthcare settings.^[45, 46]

CONCLUSION

The study highlights the varied engagement of primary care practices with the QI intervention aimed at improving the care of CHD. Learning workshops, monthly feedback reports, and PDSA cycles were found to be useful features of the intervention. Successful implementation of the intervention also depended on the additional time commitment and efforts of the practice team members, particularly GPs, nurses and practice managers, towards implementing QI changes within their practices. These findings offer valuable insights that can support other primary care practices seeking future adoption of these evolving data-driven QI initiatives, ultimately leading to improved patients' outcomes and more effective management of CHD and other chronic diseases. However, as healthcare continues to evolve in utilising data, further research is needed to evaluate the intrinsic factors influencing practices' engagement in such complex interventions and obtain a comprehensive understanding of how these strategies can be best implemented.

Ethics Statement

Ethics approval has been obtained from the New South Wales Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44). No individual patient data was used for the process evaluation. Written consent was obtained from the practice team members and PHN staff before conducting semi-structured interviews. Each participating practice signed a

173

Health service agreement, and if a practice wished to withdraw from the study, they were free to do so at any time.

Competing interests

The funding body and industry partners were not involved in the design of the study and did not have any role during its execution, analyses, interpretation of the data, or decision to submit results. Amgen and Sanofi Australia have provided cash support to the main study. MW is a consultant to Amgen, Freeline and Kyowa Kirin. Other authors have nothing to disclose.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of all the PHN and primary care practices who continue to support the QUEL project. Also, PenCS for providing the services and eHealth data platform for the study; and the Improvement Foundation for their continuous support in the delivery of the QI program and other study partners, including Inala Primary Care, Fairfield Hospital General Practice Unit, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Heart Support Australia Ltd, Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, National Heart Foundation, Sanofi, and Amgen. The authors would also like to acknowledge the ongoing contribution of Kane Williams in the legal arrangement and Caroline Wu in the research management of the trial.

Declaration of funding

Funding for this study was provided by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Project Grant (Award Grant Number: GNT1140807). Additional in-

kind and cash support from the following partner organisations: Amgen (cash support), Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Brisbane South PHN, Fairfield General Practice Unit, Heart Support Australia, Improvement Foundation, Inala Primary Care, National Heart Foundation of Australia, Nepean Blue Mountains PHN (cash support), Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Sanofi (provided cash support via the Externally Sponsored Collaboration pathway), South Western Sydney PHN, The George Institute for Global Health (cash support) and University of Melbourne. JR is funded by an NHMRC Investigator Grant (GNT1143538). KH is supported by the NHMRC Investigator Grant (Emerging Leadership 1) (APP1196724). MW is supported by the NHMRC grants (1080206 and 1149987). CR is supported by an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship (APP1136372). TL is funded by an NHMRC Early Career Fellowship (APP110230). EA is supported by a National Heart Foundation Australia postdoctoral fellowship (101884). CC's salary is funded by a Career Development Fellowship level 2 co-funded by the NHMRC and National Heart Foundation Future Leader Award (APP1105447), which supports 0.05FTE for trial meetings.

Data Availability Statement

Data (interview transcripts and survey) data will not be available. Although de-identified by name and place, it may contain contextual information that would enable identification of individual participants.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organisation. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). 2022 [updated 2021 Jun 11; cited 2023 Dec 7]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-</u> <u>sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds).</u>
- Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: update from the GBD 2019 study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76(25):2982-3021. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease: Australian facts: Coronary heart disease. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2023. [updated 2023 Aug 15; cited 2023 Dec 4]; Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/hsvd-</u> facts/contents/summary-of-coronary-heart-disease-and-stroke/coronary-heart-disease.
- Campbell NC, Ritchie L, Thain J, Deans H, Rawles J, Squair J. Secondary prevention in coronary heart disease: a randomised trial of nurse led clinics in primary care. Heart. 1998;80(5):447-452. doi: 10.1136/hrt.80.5.447
- Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. Milbank Q. 2005;83(3):457-502. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2005.00409.x
- Einarsdóttir K, Preen DB, Emery JD, Holman CAJ. Regular primary care plays a significant role in secondary prevention of ischemic heart disease in a Western Australian cohort. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(10):1092-1097. doi: 10.1007%2Fs11606-011-1665-1
- National Heart Foundation of Australia. Submission to House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health - Chronic Disease Prevention and Management in Primary Care. Australian Parliament House. 2015. Submission 131 [cited 2023 Dec 4].

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2018. Transition between hospital and community care for patients with coronary heart disease: New South Wales and Victoria, 2012-2015. Cat. No. CDK 9. Canberra: AIHW.
- Department of Health and Aged Care. Practice Incentive Program Quality Improvement Incentive. Canberra: Australian Government. [updated 2023 Jun 3; cited 2023 Dec 4]; Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/practice-incentivesprogram-quality-improvement-incentive</u>
- The Department of Health and Aged Care. What Primary Health Networks are.
 Canberra: Australian Government. [updated 2021 Sep 2, cited 2023 Dec 4]; Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/phn/what-PHNs-are</u>
- Wells S, Tamir O, Gray J, Naidoo D, Bekhit M, Goldmann D. Are quality improvement collaboratives effective? A systematic review. BMJ Qual Saf. 2018;27(3):226-240. doi: <u>10.1136/bmjqs-2017-006926</u>
- Balasubramanian BA, Marino M, Cohen DJ, Ward RL, Preston A, Springer RJ, et al. Use of quality improvement strategies among small to medium-size US primary care practices. Ann Fam Med. 2018;16(Suppl 1):S35-S43. <u>doi: 10.1370/afm.2172</u>
- Burkes RM, Mkorombindo T, Chaddha U, Bhatt A, El-Kersh K, Cavallazzi R, et al., editors. Impact of quality improvement on care of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients in an internal medicine resident clinic. Healthcare. 2018;6(3):88. doi: 10.3390/healthcare6030088
- Harris SB, Green ME, Brown JB, Roberts S, Russell G, Fournie M, et al. Impact of a quality improvement program on primary healthcare in Canada: a mixed-method evaluation. Health Policy. 2015;119(4):405-416. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.10.019

- Homer CJ, Szilagyi P, Rodewald L, Bloom SR, Greenspan P, Yazdgerdi S, et al. Does quality of care affect rates of hospitalization for childhood asthma? Pediatrics. 1996;98(1):18-23.
- Knight AW, Caesar C, Ford D, Coughlin A, Frick C. Improving primary care in Australia through the Australian Primary Care Collaboratives Program: a quality improvement report. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21(11):948-955. <u>doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000165</u>
- 17. Grant A, Dreischulte T, Guthrie B. Process evaluation of the data-driven quality improvement in primary care (DQIP) trial: active and less active ingredients of a multi-component complex intervention to reduce high-risk primary care prescribing.
 Implementation Sci. 2017;12(1):4. <u>doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015281</u>
- Hulscher M, Laurant M, Grol R. Process evaluation on quality improvement interventions. BMJ Qual Saf. 2003;12(1):40-46. doi: 10.1136/qhc.12.1.40
- Mann C, Shaw A, Guthrie B, Wye L, Man M-S, Hollinghurst S, et al. Protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomised controlled trial to improve management of multimorbidity in general practice: the 3D study. BMJ open. 2016;6(5):e011260. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011260
- Redfern J, Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with coronary heart disease (QUEL): protocol for a 24-month cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):36. doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01105-0
- 21. Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with

coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation. Contemp Clin Trials. 2022;118:106794. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2022.106794

- 22. PEN Computer Systems. CAT. 2023 [cited 2023 Dec 4]; Available from: https://www.pencs.com.au/products/cat/
- 23. Maguire M, Delahunt B. Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. All Ireland Journal of Higher Education. 2017;9(3).
- 24. Lester JN, Cho Y, Lochmiller CR. Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. Human Resource Development Review. 2020;19(1):94-106.
- 25. World health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020. 2020 [cited 2023 Dec 4]; [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020</u>
- Adams D. Quality improvement; part 1: introduction and overview. BJA Educ.
 2018;18(3):89-94. doi: 10.1016/j.bjae.2017.12.002
- Mormer E, Stevans J. Clinical Quality Improvement and Quality Improvement
 Research. Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups. 2019;4(1):27-37. doi:
 10.1044/2018_PERS-ST-2018-0003
- Christoff P. Running PDSA cycles. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care.
 2018;48(8):198-201. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2018.08.006
- 29. Cunningham FC, Ferguson-Hill S, Matthews V, Bailie R. Leveraging quality improvement through use of the Systems Assessment Tool in Indigenous primary health care services: a mixed methods study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2016;16(1):583. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1810-y
- 30. Knudsen SV, Laursen HVB, Johnsen SP, Bartels PD, Ehlers LH, Mainz J. Can quality improvement improve the quality of care? A systematic review of reported effects and

methodological rigor in plan-do-study-act projects. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019;19(1):683. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4482-6

- Myron R, French C, Sullivan P, Sathyamoorthy G, Barlow J, Pomeroy L. Professionals learning together with patients: An exploratory study of a collaborative learning Fellowship programme for healthcare improvement. J Interprof Care. 2018;32(3):257-265. <u>doi: 10.1080/13561820.2017.1392935</u>
- 32. Ornstein S, Jenkins RG, Nietert PJ, Feifer C, Roylance LF, Nemeth L, et al. A multimethod quality improvement intervention to improve preventive cardiovascular care: a cluster randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2004;141(7):523-532. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-141-7-200410050-00008
- 33. Peiris D, Usherwood T, Panaretto K, Harris M, Hunt J, Redfern J, et al. Effect of a computer-guided, quality improvement program for cardiovascular disease risk management in primary health care: the treatment of cardiovascular risk using electronic decision support cluster-randomized trial. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2015;8(1):87-95. doi: 10.1161/circoutcomes.114.001235
- Patel B, Patel A, Jan S, Usherwood T, Harris M, Panaretto K, et al. A multifaceted quality improvement intervention for CVD risk management in Australian primary healthcare: a protocol for a process evaluation. Implementation Sci. 2014;9(1):187. doi: 10.1186/s13012-014-0187-8
- 35. Hill JE, Stephani A-M, Sapple P, Clegg AJ. The effectiveness of continuous quality improvement for developing professional practice and improving health care outcomes: a systematic review. Implementation Sci. 2020;15(1):23. doi: 10.1186/s13012-020-0975-2
- 36. Hespe C, Giskes K, Harris M, Peiris D. Findings and lessons learnt implementing a cardiovascular disease quality improvement program in Australian primary care: a

mixed method evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):108. Doi:

<u>10.1186/s12913-021-07310-6</u>

- Reed JE, Card AJ. The problem with plan-do-study-act cycles. BMJ Qual Saf.
 2016;25(3):147-152. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-005076
- Johnston SC, Sidney S, Hills NK, Grosvenor D, Klingman JG, Bernstein A, et al. Standardized discharge orders after stroke: results of the quality improvement in stroke prevention (QUISP) cluster randomized trial. Ann Neurol. 2010;67(5):579-89. doi: <u>10.1002/ana.22019</u>
- Shaw EK, Howard J, West DR, Crabtree BF, Nease DE, Jr, Tutt B, et al. The role of the champion in primary care change efforts: from the State Networks of Colorado Ambulatory Practices and Partners (SNOCAP). J Am Board Fam Med. 2012;25(5):676-685. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2012.05.110281
- Hogg W, Baskerville N, Nykiforuk C, Mallen D. Improved preventive care in family practices with outreach facilitation: understanding success and failure. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2002;7(4):195-201. <u>doi: 10.1258/135581902320432714</u>
- Sargeant J, Lockyer J, Mann K, Holmboe E, Silver I, Armson H, et al. Facilitated reflective performance feedback: developing an evidence-and theory-based model that builds relationship, explores reactions and content, and coaches for performance change (R2C2). Acad Med. 2015;90(12):1698-1706. <u>doi: 10.1097/acm.00000000000809</u>
- Sweeney SM, Hemler JR, Baron AN, Woodson TT, Ono SS, Gordon L, et al. Dedicated workforce required to support large-scale practice improvement. J Am Board Fam Med. 2020;33(2):230-239. <u>doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2020.02.190261</u>
- Bamberger M. Introduction to mixed methods in impact evaluation. Impact evaluation notes. InterAction. 2012;3(3):1-38.

- Taylor MJ, McNicholas C, Nicolay C, Darzi A, Bell D, Reed JE. Systematic review of the application of the plan-do-study-act method to improve quality in healthcare. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(4):290-298. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2013-001862
- 45. Hughes RG. Tools and Strategies for Quality Improvement and Patient Safety. In: Hughes RG, editor. Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2008 Chapter 44.
- 46. Leape LL, Rogers G, Hanna D, Griswold P, Federico F, Fenn CA, et al. Developing and implementing new safe practices: voluntary adoption through statewide collaboratives. Quality Saf Health Care. 2006;15(4):289-295. doi: 10.1136/qshc.2005.017632.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Table S1: The 12 CHD measures for QUEL study

- 1. The number of clients that are coded with a diagnosis matching the CHD definition
- 2. The proportion of clients with CHD where low-density lipoprotein (LDL) has been measured within the previous 12 months
- The proportion of clients with CHD whose most recent LDL result was less than
 2.0 mmol/L
- 4. Proportion of clients with CHD with a recorded blood pressure (BP) reading taken within the previous 12 months
- 5. Proportion of clients with CHD whose most recent BP reading, taken within the previous 12 months, was less than or equal to 130/80 mmHg
- 6. Proportion of clients with CHD whose smoking status has been recorded
- 7. Proportion of clients with CHD recorded as a current smoker
- 8. Proportion of clients with CHD who are currently prescribed an anti-platelet agent
- 9. Proportion of clients with CHD who are currently prescribed a statin
- 10. Proportion of patients with CHD who are currently prescribed an ACE inhibitor or ARB
- 11. The proportion of clients with CHD with MBS Items 721 or 732 claimed
- Proportion of clients with CHD who have an influenza vaccination recorded within the previous 12 months

	No (%) of practices submitted data (N=26)	No (%) practices received monthly feedback report (N=26)	Reasons for the inability to collect data and provide monthly feedback report
Dec-19	25 (96)	25 (96)	One practice enrolled in the study in January 2020 and started submitting data from February 2020
Jan-20	25 (96)	25 (96)	One practice enrolled in the study in January 2020 and started submitting data from February 2020
Feb-20	23 (88)	23 (88)	Technical issues with PenCS data collection which were solved after the data submission due date for the month; therefore, the study team was unable to provide monthly reports to the practices
Mar-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Apr-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
May-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Jun-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Jul-20	25 (96)	25 (96)	Reason not reported
Aug-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Sep-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Oct-20	26 (100)	26 (100)	NA
Nov-20	26 (100)	25 (96)	Reason not reported

 Table S2: Monthly data extraction submitted, and feedback report received

Table S3: Q	uotes summarising	Quality	improvement	activities p	erformed by	practices.
Lapic Dei X	uotos summarismis	Zuanty	mprovement	activities p	citor mea by	practices.

QI activities performed by practices	No of practices	%
Use of PenCS reports to identify areas for improvement, ensured risk factors are on target by recalling patients for regular check- ups and care plans	18	69%

"We identified the CHD patients who require a CDMP and basically flag it to the GP for regular care planning." (Practice X, Female, PM)

"Printed reports through PenCS on BP, LDL & Smoking not recorded for Doctors to review & obtain this information in our system." (Practice C, Female, PM) "Throughout this study, we have found a lot of the errors in our PenCAT reports came

from things like coding & reasons for medication." (Practice H, Female, PM)

Adding reminders in patient files for GPs and other practice staff		
to collect and update risk factors and any other missing	17	65%
information, including personal details		

"I would be marking the patient with QUEL so that everyone would know that this was a patient, we had to catch up on the data for and possibly do you do a care plan for just to manage them better." (Practice J, Female, PM)

"Addition of update information sheet for all patients at front desk to have up to date data regarding smoking status and alcohol as well as demographic info such as address and phone number." (Practice B, Female, Nurse)

Identifying CHD and CVD patients within the practices and creating a CHD/CVD register	13	50%
Regular data cleansing, auditing of inactive patients and recording of data correctly to improve data quality	13	50%

"Inactivating patients on the register who live overseas or interstate or who have other regular GPs or those presenting for immunisation only." (Practice F, Female, GP) "We chose to use Top Bar as an assistance tool to ensure the missing information was recorded properly; this is done through Top Bar Prompts." (Practice H, Female, PM) "One of the things I did regularly was with all patients who had free text or incorrect diagnosis recorded, I would ask the doctors to change, or I would change it to make sure that it was getting captured." (Practice J, Female, PM)

Team Activity - regular team meetings, allocating responsibilities to all, getting experienced staff on board.

50%

13

"We posted results on blackboards in the tearoom the progressive target results to encourage the team to implement QI." (Practice D, Female, PM)

"Hired a Nurse for two days a week to review CVD & CHD patients, check eligibility for Care Plans & Assessments, recalled patients in for an appointment with Nurse to update data and sent to doctors for pathology after seeing Nurse." (Practice C, Female, Nurse)

"We are all working together at the practice as a team; everyone has made a concerted effort to improve our data quality, and we are particularly working on increasing our care plans for patients that meet the cohort criteria." (Practice Q, Female, PM)

Educate patients on heart health, smoking cessation, lifestyle modification and self-management of CHD at home

```
38%
```

10

7

"We have sheets set up within our database, where we would have targets for patients, particularly those who already have non-destructive cardiovascular disease. We gave those patients a handout to take home and say, look, with the risk factors you have got, this is where we'd like your target to be." (Practice V, Female, Nurse)

Implemented new processes to improve the care of CHD patients

27%

"Developed a template to collect height, weight, family history, smoking, alcohol for all patients upon arrival of patients." (Practice D, Female, PM)

"We scanned 20,000 patient paper files into the computer, so we are paperless." (Practice C, Female, PM)
"I lead the creation of a Cardiovascular Disease Prevention clinic called the 'Healthy Heart clinic' to regularly check CHD patients with the practice nurse and practice manager." (Practice W, Female, GP registrar)

Review of current processes within the practices to reflect CH	D
QI changes	

27%

7

"We created a letter for patients that encourages participation rather than another bland invite/recall letter and sent letters to eligible patients over three months." (Practice B, Female, Nurse)

"Constantly reviewing progress against our targets, changing process to achieve targets dependent upon the progress." (Practice C, Female, GP)

Identified CHD patients who did not have care plans, required		
review of care plans, had a recent event thus ensured more	6	23%
eligible patients received care plans		

"So, my care coordinator was tasked to ensure that whenever she sees a patient with CHD, flag it to the GP to organise a care plan if eligible." (Practice X, Female, PM)

CHD - Coronary heart disease, CDMP - Chronic disease management plan, GP - General practitioner, PM - Practice manager, BP - Blood pressure, LDL - Low-density lipoprotein, CVD - Cardiovascular disease.

CHAPTER SIX

Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in

primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods

evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers and enablers



PREFACE TO THE CHAPTER

Chapter Five found that practice engagement with the QI intervention varied. Moreover, it was found that team members in a leading role or with clinical backgrounds were able to implement QI changes more effectively within their practices. Overall, the intervention was perceived to be acceptable by the primary care practices in their efforts to enhance the quality of care provided to their patients with coronary heart disease (CHD). Chapter Six presents an evaluation of the practices' satisfaction and acceptability of this data-driven QI intervention in Australian primary care settings. It also focuses on identifying barriers and enablers, including the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the implementation of the intervention, thereby addressing Aim Five of this Thesis. The manuscript is titled "Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers and enablers" and is currently under review by the Australian Journal of Primary Health. The ethics approval for the study is included in Appendix A. All supplementary materials used are included after references of this chapter

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Manuscript under review

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Implementation of a datadriven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. Australian Journal of Primary Health (under review).

Conference presentation

Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK et al. Implementation of a datadriven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers, and enablers. (62nd Australian Society of Medical Research National Scientific Meeting 2023, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia).

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Nashid Hafiz, during her PhD candidature, developed the concept of the sub-study, performed statistical analysis, and interpreted the results, prepared the initial draft and subsequent revisions, responded to reviewers' feedback, and coordinated submission and publication of the original research paper.

Individual roles of co-authors are listed below

Task	Role of co-authors
Refining the research question	NH, KH, JR
Data collection and analysis	NH, KH, DM
Revision and Critical comments of	KH, JR, AK, CH, CC, TB, RG, CR, DH, NZ,
manuscript	MW, SJ, EA, TL, EH, TU and JR

Nashid Hafiz

30th April 2024

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this Thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statement above is correct.

Professor Julie Redfern

30th April 2024 190

Implementation of a data-driven quality improvement program in primary care for patients with coronary heart disease: a mixed-methods evaluation of acceptability, satisfaction, barriers and enablers

Nashid Hafiz¹, Karice Hyun^{1,2}, Qiang Tu¹, Andrew Knight^{3,4}, Charlotte Hespe ⁵, Clara K. Chow^{6,7}, Tom Briffa⁸, Robyn Gallagher⁹, Christopher M. Reid^{10,11}, David L. Hare¹², Nicholas Zwar¹³, Mark Woodward^{14,15}, Stephen Jan¹⁴, Emily R Atkins¹⁴, Tracey-Lea Laba¹⁶, Elizabeth Halcomb ¹⁷, Tracey Johnson¹⁸, Deborah Manandi¹, Tim Usherwood^{7,14}, and Julie Redfern^{1,14}

¹ School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Australia

² Department of Cardiology, Concord Hospital, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia

³ Primary and Integrated Care Unit, Southwestern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

⁴ School of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

⁵ The University of Notre Dame, School of Medicine, Sydney, Australia

⁶Department of Cardiology, Westmead Hospital, Sydney, Australia

⁷Westmead Applied Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Westmead, Australia

⁸ School of Population and Global Health, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia ⁹ Sydney Nursing School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

¹⁰ School of Population Health, Curtin University, Perth, Australia

¹¹ School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne,

Australia

¹² University of Melbourne and Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia

¹³ Faculty of Health Sciences & Medicine, Bond University, Gold Coast, Australia

¹⁴ The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney,

Australia

¹⁵ The George Institute for Global Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, UK

¹⁶Clinical and Health Sciences, University of South Australia, Australia

¹⁷ School of Nursing, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

¹⁸ Inala Primary Care, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

ABSTRACT

Background The study evaluates practices' satisfaction and acceptability of a quality improvement intervention aimed to improve care for coronary heart disease (CHD) patients in Australian primary care practices and identifies barriers and enablers, including the impact of COVID-19 on its implementation.

Methods Within the QUality improvement for Effectiveness of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL) study, 26 Australian primary care practices, supported by five Primary Health Networks, participated in the one-year QI intervention. Data were collected via surveys and semi-structured interviews and analysed using descriptive statistics and thematic analysis.

Results Feedback was received from 63 participants, including practice team members and PHN staff, through surveys and interviews. The participants rated the individual learning workshops between 71% and 100%, indicating positive satisfaction. Qualitative analysis found the overall intervention provided structure, guidelines and data to identify improvement areas within a rigorous timeline to help the practices achieve targets. COVID-19 and lack of time were identified as common barriers, while practice team collaboration and effective leadership emerged as major enablers to their participation in the QI program. Additionally, 90% of the practices reported that their participation was affected by COVID-19, with vaccination rollout, telehealth set-up, and continuous operational review shifting their focus from QI.

Conclusion The study indicated that the use of data-driven QI programs in primary care practices has the potential to boost practice staff confidence and foster increased implementation. Barriers and enablers identified can also be used to support other practices in prioritising effective strategies for future implementation.

Trial registration Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR)x number ACTRN12619001790134.

Keywords Quality improvement, Coronary heart disease, Data, Primary care, Process evaluation, mixed-methods research, Qualitative research.

INTRODUCTION

Use of data-driven quality improvement programs is increasing globally due to the availability of electronic health records generating widespread, routinely collected data.^[1] QI is a continuous, systematic approach that implements small-scale changes across various healthcare settings with an aim to improve performance, achieve better health outcomes and increase knowledge of health professionals.^[2] QI programs are often multifaceted and include educating teams of health professionals, using QI tools such as Plan-do-study-act (PDSA) cycles and data to identify areas for improvement to achieve targets.^[3]

Primary care practices have been implementing QI programs in managing several health conditions, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes Aboriginal health, and coronary heart disease (CHD).^[4] CHD continues to be a significant global health concern, responsible for 17,300 deaths in Australia alone in the year 2021.^[5] Primary care plays a pivotal role in secondary prevention of CHD by supporting patients to identify and manage risk factors and promote medication prescription and adherence according to international and national guidelines.^[6] However, the COVID-19 pandemic has changed the way practices operate worldwide and also affected the care provided to those living with CHD.^[7]

Previous research has demonstrated QI programs to be effective^[4,8], yet there is little evidence regarding practices' and health professionals' perception of using such programs to understand their perceived benefits and potential reach.^[9] To inform scalability, future development and implementation, it is crucial to evaluate such programs and obtain comprehensive information. Several studies have already identified barriers and enablers to program implementation in various settings^[10,11]; however, only a limited number of studies were found to evaluate the satisfaction and acceptability of a QI program focused on improving CHD.^[12] Therefore, the aim of this study was to (*1*) understand acceptability, satisfaction, uptake, utility, and feasibility, (2) identify and describe barriers and enablers and (3) evaluate the effect of COVID-19 on the implementation of a QI program delivered within the QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL) study.^[13]

METHODS

Study design

A mixed-methods process evaluation was conducted to evaluate the one-year data-driven QI intervention program nested within the QUEL study. ^[13] Twenty-six Australian primary care practices randomised into the intervention arm of the study participated in the evaluation. ^[14] These intervention practices were within the jurisdictions of ten primary health networks (PHNs). Five PHNs agreed to participate by providing support to their relevant practices. Therefore, these five PHNs were also included in the process evaluation. Ethics approval was obtained from the New South Wales Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44).

Participants

Participants were included if they were: (i) practice team members from all intervention practices, including general practitioners (GP), nurses or practice managers (PM), (ii) PHN staff providing external support to the intervention practices in their region and (iii) provided written informed consent.

Data-driven QI intervention

The multifaceted QUEL intervention consisted of learning workshops, practices submitting monthly electronic data and implementing PDSA cycles, practices receiving monthly feedback reports based on the submitted data and external support^[10]. The intervention was delivered between November 2019 and November 2020. Six learning workshops were delivered over the 12 months, and the practices carried out the QI activities supported by the study team or their PHNs in between the learning workshops. An individual SharePoint account was established for each intervention practice, which was used as a platform to share the monthly feedback reports and study resources. Practices also submitted the PDSAs via their individual accounts. The intervention practices used an automated data extraction tool incorporated with their software system to access, create, and review eligible patients' data for achieving the CHD risk factor targets outlined in the QUEL study (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). By reviewing the aggregated data, practices were able to identify gaps and implement changes to improve the CHD risk factor targets such as cholesterol, smoking, blood pressure and chronic disease management plans. Additionally, the automated aggregated data enabled practices to monitor changes in the targets over the intervention period.

Data sources

For this study, the following three data sources were used:

1. *Learning workshop surveys*: Six surveys corresponding to six workshops were sent to practice team members who attended the workshops. The first learning workshop was delivered face-to-face, and attendees completed a paper survey, while the remaining five workshops were delivered online and, therefore, completed online.

2. *End-of-program evaluation survey*: At the end of the program, practice team members actively involved in implementing QI changes within their practices were invited to complete a comprehensive survey assessing the overall intervention program. The surveys were sent via online link, email and by post, with a return address envelope.

3. *Semi-structured interviews*: Individual interviews with a sub-group of practice team members and PHN staff were conducted at the completion of the 12-month intervention. Practices were selected based on their attendance in learning workshops and submission of PDSA cycles (high, medium, and low) during the intervention. Interviews were conducted either face-to-face or via telephone/video conference. The interviews lasted 45-60 minutes, were recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis.

Outcome measures

Satisfaction

Practices' satisfaction was assessed via the individual learning workshop surveys by asking practice team members, "overall, how would you rate this workshop" using a 5- and 10-point Likert scale and in the end-of-program evaluation survey, by asking, "I will be able to use what I learned in this workshop" and "the workshops were a good way to learn" using a 6-point Likert scale. The individual responses of the team members were averaged for the questions to create a practice-level rating, as the team members were asked to report on the experiences of their respective practices.

Workshop content, design, and facilitators

Satisfaction with the overall workshop content, design and facilitators was assessed via the end-of-program evaluation survey by asking participants to respond to individual domains using a 6-point Likert scale. Three questions were asked about the content, seven about the design, and two about the facilitators. The responses were again averaged to create a practice-level score.

Program acceptability and utility

Acceptability of the program was assessed via the end-of-program evaluation survey by asking practice team members, "would you be interested in participating in a similar program in future?" requiring a 'Yes' and 'No' responses, which was further explored by the semi-structured interviews.

Barriers and enablers

Barriers and enablers were assessed via synthesis of all three data sources. Learning workshop surveys prompted participants to provide free text responses to the questions "outline any challenges you are facing towards achieving your target to improve care of patients with CHD" and "outline any success you have achieved towards meeting your target to improve care of patients with CHD". At the completion of the intervention, the end-of-program evaluation survey asked participants for free text responses regarding "what did you find least useful from the program over the past year?" and "what did you find most useful from the program over the past year?". Semi-structured interviews again further explored the barriers and enablers to program implementation.

Effect of COVID-19

The effect of COVID-19 was measured via the end-of-program evaluation survey, where practice team members were asked, "did COVID-19 impact your participation in the QI program?" which required a 'yes' or 'no' response. Additionally, participants were asked to provide free-text responses to the question 'can you give some examples of how' to further evaluate their responses. The semi-structured interviews also identified themes to further understand the effect of COVID-19 on the intervention implementation.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistical analysis was used to analyse quantitative data obtained from the surveys. Responses and measurements were presented as numbers and percentages for categorical variables, mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range for continuous variables. For Likert-scale responses, a score of $\geq 8/10$ or $\geq 4/5$ was taken to indicate positive satisfaction, acceptability, and utility of the intervention program.

Thematic analysis was used to analyse qualitative data collected from semi-structured interviews and free-text responses from the surveys. The data were thematically analysed using NVivo. Two independent researchers (NH and DM) conducted a thematic analysis to identify key themes and any disagreement was solved by discussing it with a third researcher until a consensus was reached. Data from all sources were triangulated to gain a comprehensive understanding of the study aims and increase credibility of the findings.^[15] (Carter *et al.* 2014).

RESULTS

Participating practices and staff

Twenty-six primary care practices from four Australian states from both rural and urban areas (69% of the practices from New South Wales, 15% from Victoria, 12% from South Australia and 4% from Queensland) participated in the QUEL intervention. The median (IQI) number of GPs in participating practices were 7 (3, 10), ranging between one to 18. Fifty-three practice team members and 10 PHN staff participated in the process evaluation (Table 1).

Participants' satisfaction with different features of the QI intervention program

Across the six learning workshops surveys, number of participants from practices responded varied (Table 2). From each practice, one to three team members completed the surveys.

Primary care Practices

Number of participating primary care practices, n	26
Number of total participants providing feedback, n	53
Age, mean	45.67 (11.8)
Female, n (%)	36 (68)
Urban vs Rural practices, n (%)	21 (81%) vs 5 (19%)
No of GPs, median (IQI)	7 (3,10)
Range of GPs (Min-Max)	1 - 18
Health professional category, n (%)	
GP/GP registrar/ Clinical Director/ Principal GP	21 (40)
PM/ Assistant Practice Manager/ PM who is a nurse	20 (38)
Practice Nurse/ Registered Practice Nurse/ Nurse Coordinator	10 (19)
Other Admin and Research Officer	2 (3)
Years in the present position, n (%)	
< 1 year	4 (8)
1 - 3 Years	11 (21)
3-5 Years	6 (11)
> 5 Years	31 (58)
Not reported	1 (2)
Primary Health Networks (PHN)	
Number of participating PHN, n	5
Number of PHN staff providing feedback, n	10

	Age, mean	51.16 (9.74)
	Female % (n)	7 (70)
	PHN staff Category, % (n)	
	Practice support Officer	5 (50)
	Practice Facilitator	1 (10)
	Primary care & QI manager	1 (10)
	Program coordinator - general practice quality improvement	1 (10)
	Manager regional services	1 (10)
	Program support officer	1 (10)
	Years in the present position, % (n)	
	1 - 3 Years	3 (30)
	3-5 Years	3 (30)
	> 5 Years	2 (20)
	Not reported	2 (20)
GP -	General practitioner, PHN: Primary health network, PM - Practice manage	ger

1. Learning workshops

The average overall rating of learning workshops was 87% (10.82), with individual workshop ratings ranging from 71% (10/14) to 100% (11/11). (Table 2) Participants reported satisfaction with the overall content, design, and instructors for each workshop (Table 2). The qualitative data further elucidated participants' perceptions of the workshop numbers, timing, duration, mode of delivery, and content.

Learning workshop Survey	No of practices provided feedback	No of practice team members provided feedback	Proportion of practices scoring 8,9,10ª
Learning workshop rat	ing		
LW1	18	26	17/18 (94%)
LW2	16	20	14/16 (88%)
LW3	14	16	10/14 (71%)
LW4	11	14	11/11 (100%)
LW5	10	11	9/10 (90%)
LW6	17	25	13/17 (76%)
End-of-program evaluation survey	No of practices provided feedback, n = 20	No of practice team members provided feedback = 36	Proportion of practices scoring four or 5 ^a
Overall content			
I was well informed about the objectives of the workshops 18/20 (90%)			
Workshops lived up to my expectations			15/20 (75%)
The content was relevant to my job 15/20 (
Overall design			
The objectives were clear to me 17/20 (85)			
The activities stimulated my learning 16/20 (80%)			
The activities gave me sufficient practice and feedback 14/20 (70%)			
The difficulty level was appropriate12/20 (60%)			12/20 (60%)

The pace of the workshops was appropriate	14/20 (70%)
The duration of the workshops was appropriate	15/20 (75%)
The quantity of the information presented at the workshops was appropriate	15/20 (75%)
Instructor	
The instructors were well prepared	17/20 (85%)
The instructors were helpful	14/20 (70%)
Overall Satisfaction	
I will be able to use what I learned in this workshop	17/20 (85%)
The workshops were a good way for me to learn this content	14/20 (70%)
LW - Learning Workshop	1 1
"Practices scoring $\geq 8/10$ or $\geq 4/5$ indicating positive satisfaction of the learning wo	rkshop

Workshop number: Participants felt that the number of workshops delivered during the 12 months was appropriate.

"We would not have wanted them every month, and every six months would not have been enough either. It was keeping us connected with what was happening. I think one or two would not have been satisfactory." (Female, nurse)

Mode of delivery: Learning workshops one and six were initially planned as face-to-face. However, due to COVID-19 restrictions, only learning workshop one was delivered faceto-face, and the remaining five were all delivered via Zoom. Participants reported satisfaction with the online workshops. "I think this Zoom meeting was an overall success, and the team did a great job in facilitating it. It is always great to listen and learn from others." (Female, nurse) Participants also suggested they prefer these workshops delivered in person to encourage increased interaction with the other practices.

"If you were to use learning workshops as an exercise of being in touch with other practices and sharing ideas, then maybe face-to-face might work better." (Female, GP)

Workshop duration: Learning workshops one and six were full-day events, and the remaining four were one-hour webinars. Participants thought the one-hour duration for the webinars was appropriate.

"I think an hour is max because, sitting on Zoom, you don't want to sit more than that. When we're all busy, I think it needs to be precise and to the point." (Female, nurse)

Workshop timing: The one-hour webinars were delivered during lunchtime and repeated the following evening to ensure maximum practice engagement. Participants thought the availability of lunch and evening options was appropriate as it provided them with the flexibility to attend the workshops outside of working hours.

"Definitely the way to go, because working in general practice it so it's go go go from the time they open the front door till they close at night. So doing things outside of working hours or at lunchtime is often the only way that you're going to get them there." (Male, practice support officer, PHN) "I prefer evening because after a busy day, we get down, we can spend more time with focus the hard part in having a morning webinar is it's hard to focus." (Female, PM)

Workshop design and delivery: Participants were satisfied with the workshop design and how it was delivered.

"Keep presenting with the same format. Great workshop." (Female, PM) Learning workshops consisted of interactive small group breakout sessions. Participants were also satisfied with these sessions.

"I think the breakout groups are a great way of giving everyone a chance to

contribute when you have a large group. " (Female, program coordinator, PHN) During the workshops, team members from different intervention practices were invited to share different QI strategies adopted in their practices to improve patient care. Participants found listening to those practices enabled them to gain insights from their real-time experiences.

"This was a great workshop. The sharing of ideas, barriers and lessons learnt is invaluable in informing effective QI strategies. Loved the opportunities for open discussion." (Female, program coordinator, PHN)

"I remember a few talks on how a GP and a nurse getting together and speaking about what they did it in their practice, how they made improvements, and how they had conversations with patients. I think that was quite meaningful because it's an experience from which you can get insight from." (Female, PM)

However, some participants reported that a few strategies shared by others were not relevant to all practices.

"Some individual practice ideas that were shared were not necessarily relevant to our practice." (Female, GP)

"Lots of talk about other clinics - not entirely same with our experience." (Female, practice care coordinator)

2. Electronic data submission and monthly feedback report

Throughout the intervention, practices received monthly feedback reports via their individual SharePoint accounts to help them identify gaps in care and keep them on track with the improvement targets. Participants were satisfied with receiving the feedback reports reflected in the following quotes.

"You send those reports, they were really useful because I always looked at them and go okay this one look good, but that does not and try to focus on improving those things." (Female, nurse)

"I liked the feedback with the data reports coming back and really appreciated them on SharePoint." (Female, PM)

3. PDSA

As part of the intervention, practices were required to submit PDSAs via a template provided in their SharePoint account. Participants were satisfied with submitting PDSAs via the online portal.

"Submitting PDSAs online is better. Then you don't have all these bits of paper everywhere. It's all nice and tidy, and you can't lose it." (Male, practice support officer, PHN)

Moreover, participants appreciated the opportunity to review other practices' PDSAs, which helped them to identify implementation strategies.

"I really liked looking at people's PDSAs. I like to see small and accomplishable things in a short time and the methodology of how people went about it." (Female, PM)

However, some participants said they would prefer to avoid working with PDSAs in future QI projects.

"In fact, our practice is currently working on a QI program with the PHN, and I said to the practice manager I'm happy to be involved, but I don't want to be doing PDSAs." (Female, nurse)

4. Support

Practices were externally supported by the study team or their PHNs to help implement PDSAs, ensure attendance in learning workshops and engagement with other intervention features. Participants were satisfied with the support received, as reflected in the following quotes.

"Whenever we had a problem, I would email him (study coordinator), and then he would respond back to me within about 10 minutes usually. I feel we got great support." (Male, practice support Officer, PHN)

"We really appreciate what he (PHN practice support officer) has done for us. Every time he visits, he would be mainly spending time with the practice staff to do with either data cleansing, quality improvement." (Female, GP)

However, some participants identified challenges with communication and indicated an opportunity for improving the support provided.

"I think that the person of contact changed over time, so that was probably a bit confusing, and maybe there was a bit of lack of communication until another person of contact introduced himself." (Female, PM) "I think that the support is good in terms of IT, providing information; we cannot ask for more from that, but it could get better." (Female, PM)

Overall program acceptability, feasibility, and utilisation of the program

Qualitative data revealed that the intervention was well received by the practice team members.

"I really enjoyed it. Just the different parameters we were looking at are all important in keeping people out of hospital for cardiovascular disease. There were just so many learning opportunities and so many ways we can make improvements, so it was quite practical." (Female, PM)

Participants also reported that participating in this kind of intervention provided a structure to facilitate them reaching their improvement targets in a timely manner.

"A program like this gives you a little bit of structure, some guidelines, graphs, and data to work with. No matter what topic you want to use, it is really helpful. So, I'd be happy to engage in that." (Female, PM) "I think it (QI programs) gives you rigorous timelines and forces you to work towards your goals within the timelines." (Female, nurse)

These findings were further reinforced by the surveys demonstrating team members from 90% (18/20) of the practices expressed interest in participating in a similar program in the future. However, some participants reported there were *"currently too many issues to manage"* (Male, GP); therefore, they were unsure of their future participation.



GP: General practitioner, PHN: Primary Health Network, QI: Quality improvement, PIP-QI: Practice incentive program - Quality Improvement

Figure 1: Themes identified as barriers and enablers to intervention implementation

Barriers and enablers to implementation

Qualitative data has identified several barriers and enablers associated with the practices' engagement with the intervention (Figure 1). COVID-19 and lack of time have been identified as the most common barriers to intervention implementation. Other themes identified were lack of engagement from GPs and patients along with competing interests in the practices such as other more urgent clinical or admin activities; therefore, QI taking a back seat due to those tasks as barriers. Qualitative data further identified several themes to explore practices' lack of engagement with individual intervention features, including practices suffering from workshop fatigues and difficulty in getting practices to engage in the QUEL online workshops due to the number of other webinars offered concurrently. Also, many participants thought of PDSAs as tedious, difficult to document and formulate and often found them intimidating, resulting in limited use of PDSAs. There were also technical challenges associated with using the SharePoint online account, such as forgetting login details or having no prior user experience. Box 1 provides participants' quotes illustrating the barriers identified to intervention implementation.

We identified six themes enabling practices' participation in the intervention. These included (i) practice team collaboration and effective leadership within the team, (ii) maintaining practices' standard of care via participating in continuous QI program for accreditation, which involves an external assessment of practices' performance to ensure they meet required safety and quality standards and Practice incentive programs-Quality Improvement (PIP-QI) claims, which is a government-funded initiative offering financial incentives to the practices for implementing evidence-based improvements in specific clinical areas. (iii) practices having previous experience in QI, practice team members having technological skills to use data to create and review reports, perform data cleansings, etc, (v) practices motivated about QI as participating in QI helps to improve patient outcomes, provides data to implement changes and improve care and provides financial incentives (vi) support from PHNs. Themes arising from qualitative data associated with intervention enablers are presented in Box 2.

Effect of COVID-19

Most participants reported that COVID-19 affected all aspects of their primary care services, with 90% (18/20) of the practices reporting that COVID-19 impacted their participation in the intervention. Qualitative data provided insight into its effect on the intervention implementation and overall care provided by the practices (Box 3). Some participants reported that their practice would have done things differently during the

QI intervention without COVID-19.

"In terms of the patients, I probably would have done more recalls and got them in more often." (Female, nurse)

"I think we would have been more focused on QI and on the face-to-face

interactions." (Female, PM)

"I could have invited you (the study team) to participate in our clinical meetings. It would have given you a chance to present the study to all our six GPs for maximum engagement. That would have made a lot of difference." (Female, GP)

Overall, most participants thought the intervention would have been easier to implement without COVID-19.

Barriers	Themes	Quotes
COVID-19	Practices overwhelmed with COVID-19	 'Progress has been limited because of COVID & Victorian lockdown." (Male, GP) "I think we would have been more productive if it was not for COVID." (Male, PM)
Lack of	Limited time	"It's just the commitment to that time (to attend
time	affecting participation in all aspects of the intervention	 workshops and perform QI activities) and getting somewhere. Even in good times, we are all very time poor in GP world, whether you are a practice manager, whether you are a GP or whatever." (Female, PM) "It was actually a matter of trying to put our thoughts into action (PDSAs), just because we were very time poor." (Female, Nurse) "It's because the practice is busy; we do not have time to regularly to log in (accessing the online portal to check monthly feedback report)." (Female, GP)
Lack of engagement from GPs	Lack of enthusiasm from GPs	"Greatest difficulty was getting the doctors to comply and don't have the enthusiasm in my practice to implement things I would like to." (Female, Nurse) "Other doctors are reluctant or resistant to participate" (Male, GP)

Box 1: Barriers to intervention implementation

	Lack of consistency and regular staff turnover	 "To get a GP from this practice to actually bite into something like this, it's extremely hard. None of them works full time. They are not here every day." (Female, PM) "Recent holiday period and resignation of one of our practice nurses has affected our participation." (Female, GP)
	Lack of team involvement and communication between team members	"We have six GPs here, only I signed the agreement. What about the other GPs? Fortunately, I am the principal GP who educates others. If only I am involved, I can't guarantee other GPs will do the same things like me. It is going to affect the whole practice data." (Female, GP) "It was just dumped on me. Others (team members) put their hands up to be leaders in a lot of QI things that the PHN wants and informs me this is the next thing we're doing. No one asked me." (Female, Nurse)
Lack of engagement from	Patients attending other practices	<i>ng</i> "One of the challenges that we encountered is patients attending different practices, but they are still on our data." (Female, PM)
patients	Patient non- compliance	 "We can be recalling patients, and they don't necessarily appreciate, so long as they get their script or they think that they're being cared for, they don't necessarily appreciate the extra fiddle-faddle." (Female, Nurse) "So, the big challenge we experience in our clinic is the non-compliance patients. For example, a patient

Competing interests	QI taking back seat	 was hospitalised for heart failure and diabetes at a very young age, and he needs to do Warfarin INR monitoring. It's hard when he's not doing his blood tests to measure INR." (Female, PM) "If there is pressure on the practice, the big example now would be COVID. Sometimes they have to cut something, and one of the first things to get cut is a QI initiative, or they might withdraw some of the time and resources from it." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN)
	Other more urgent clinical and admin activities	"GPs now tend to be inundated with a whole lot of additional stuff. So, the small tick boxes, which are very important for their heart health, tend to be overlooked because there's much bigger things happening in our lives." (Female, PM) "The practice currently has some non-clinical demands on management and admin staff, meaning that they are having to prioritise workload." (Female, GP)
Lack of engagement with intervention components	Learning workshops	Workshop fatigue "Practices are being invited to all sorts of events now, which have all been transferred online, regularly, and a lot of them are after hours. So, practices are suffering from webinar/workshop fatigue, and you have to deal with that when you're running something like this (QI program)." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN) Competing against other online webinars

	"You are competing with a lot of other people who are trying to take out those hours with other training and online events." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN)
PDSA	Finds PDSA tedious
	"It's mandatory for our accreditation, and you do so many incidental things as a PDSA for it. To go back and then document it all as PDSAs, I find it tedious." (Female, PM)
	"But my biggest hassle is I am just sick to the back teeth of doing PDSAs; I always have a bit of problem writing them." (Female, Nurse)
	Difficult to document and formulate new PDSAs
	"I don't know whether it's just myself with my training or how I do things; I just say, what's the endpoint or the outcome we want to achieve, and that's how we do it. But breaking them down into little steps than having to put things into writing and then pre do it as a PDSA, I find it very difficult to do." (Female, GP)
	Finds PDSA intimidating
	"A lot of practices, what I call are PDSA-phobic. With COVID and PSDA-phobia a combination of those two probably just made it a bit too much for some of them." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN) "PDSA cycle, that is my pet peeve." (Female, GP)

	Use of the online	Forgetting login and password
	portal	"I know the online portal; it's really common now to
		have those platforms to look into. But the trouble
		was I kept forgetting my password and had to keep
		ringing X to help with the login details. So, that's
		more a user error." (Female, PM)
		Access to the online portal
		"Getting on to the site was a bit clunky with the
		login." (Female, PM)
		No previous experience
		"I think the challenge for my care coordinator was
		she didn't know how to use the online portal. So, I
		had to teach her how to use it. I was fortunate that
		I've worked with it previously. So I'm familiar with
		it, but I've realised not everyone's familiar with it."
		(Female, PM)
GP - General practitioner, PM - Practice manager, QI - Quality improvement, PHN - Primary health network, INR - International normalised ratio, PDSA - Plan-Do-Study-Act.		

Box 2: Enablers to program implementation

Enabler	Themes	Quotes
Team collaboration and leadership	Having a motivated team	 "It came as a relief for them (the GPs) when we said that we have a very supportive nursing and administrative team, so you don't have to do your own record management or recalling. Our team is small, but everyone knows what they need to do, and they work as a synchronised team." (Female, PM) "So when we are involved in those sorts of (QI) programs, all our team gets included. Because that's the only way to improve things generally across the board." (Female, Nurse)
	A dedicated team member leading the QI activities	"You also need someone who has been given dedicated time to work on it (QI). That was probably the key to 'X' practice's success because half of the nurse's job description is QI." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN) "So I probably take the role of the leader. Whatever initiative that we are undertaking, I explain to the staff, this is the reason why we are doing it, and then they will do it." (Female, GP)

	Involving everyone on board, including registrars	"Also, we have a lot of registrars. Because they were involved and learning, which I think played a part in some of those results (Improved data)." (Female, Nurse)
	Having regular team meetings to discuss progress	 "For me, that's a chance (team meetings) for me to catch up with my team and see how I can support them in terms of training. I ask them what is it that they wanted to achieve and how can we support them with the training they needed to achieve that." (Female, PM) "When we have our clinical meetings, we update the team as to where we're at, what we're looking at, and then I grab the individual doctors when they were around these meetings and inform them on the progress." (Female, Nurse)
Maintaining practices and standard of care	Participating in continuous QI for practice accreditation and PIP-QI claims	 "Yeah, do a lot of it (QI). It's a part of our accreditation process that we have to participate in QI. It is also very much part of the funding that practices have at the moment because of the PIP-QI." (Female, PM) "I definitely have participated in several, if not plenty of QI programs. Both in research or as part of accreditation and because we wanted to improve the service within the clinic." (Female, PM)

Experience in quality improvement	Prior involvement in QI	"They were already a high-performing practice with previous experience, so it was so hard for them to do just that little bit better. But they managed to do it." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN)
		"That was the easiest part because we are constantly using data reporting tools to run and constantly following up on people. When we ran the report, there were some patients who were incorrectly coded, so we started fixing that quite quickly. I think that is because it's something we are constantly doing in our practice. But I recognise there are probably some practices who hadn't done it (QI) before and may have found that daunting or harder." (Female, Nurse)
Skilled in technology	Having Technical skills to use data reporting tools	 "I guess we're pretty skilled in using the data reporting tool; I think that was probably an advantage." (Female, Nurse) "If you are inexperienced with it (data reporting tools), it can seem quite daunting; even sometimes navigating through the tools or those sorts of things if you're not familiar with it can be a little bit of a challenge as you get used to it." (Female, Nurse)
	Improves patient outcome	"It's all about how you can look after your patients in different ways and move forward technology-wise, specialist wise and create good referral pathways. So

Motivated about Quality improvement		 no, for us, it (the QI program) was not so much part of the everyday thing at all. It was actually set up as something extra but became something worthwhile that the patients enjoyed." (Female, PM) "We believe that QI is really important, and it drives better outcomes for patients. And I think when it comes to quality improvement, it has to have a meaning at the end. Why are we cleaning up the data, why are we putting people on cholesterol medications. We are doing this because we're trying to keep them (patients) out of hospital." (Female, PM)
	Provides data to implement changes and improve care	"I think it's always helpful to participate in QI because it forces you to think. It gives you current data and information. It's just helpful to keep things moving." (Female, Nurse)
	Participating in QI provides financial incentives	"I suppose the financial incentive is definitely a bonus, especially in general practice these days. So not only are we doing something that's for the improvement of the practice, but if you get rewarded financially, even though it's not a huge amount, that helps a little bit." (Female, GP)
Support from PHN	Provides technical support in using data reporting tools	"My role ranges from helping practices with their PIP-QI projects and also training them up on data reporting tools and how to document QI Projects." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN)

	Helps to generate new ideas for PDSA	"It was really just getting together to exchange ideas, do a bit of brainstorming and also to give them a bit of encouragement to keep going." (Male, Practice Support Officer, PHN)
	Encourages the practices to implement QI changes	"Oh he (practice support officer) is the most supportive practice person we have, and he often drops in. He will always do something. I think, once I said to him come and talk to the doctors" (Female, Nurse
GP - General practitioner, PM - Practice manager, QI - Quality improvement, PHN- Primary health network.		
Box 3: Effect of COVID-19

Effect of COVID-19	Themes	Quotes
Practices overwhelmed	<i>Reduced capacity of practices to do QI</i>	"COVID-19 changed our priorities of how we allocated our resources." (Male, PM) "Workload of COVID was extensive affecting other tasks." (Male, GP)
	COVID -19 vaccination taking priority	 "Because of the COVID-19 vaccination rollout, a lot of these (QI) have to step aside, and important projects have to take the bench so that it will give way to initial rollout." (Female, PM) "It (COVID-19) definitely changed the focus of GP practices. It was as if we were in survival mode, all of our energy was into vaccine planning or automating systems, keeping the practice safe, it took so much so much resource, and that was our only focus." (Female, PM)
	Continuous review of practice operation	 "For a while, managing anything other than our day-to-day work was almost impossible due to constantly changing environments." (Female, GP) "Whole focus of the practice was shifted entirely to a day-to-day basis of what and how are we doing things today? What are the latest guidelines? What are the latest figures?" (Female, PM)

	consults. Telehealth for us was a massivechange" (Female, PM)"It forced us to change the way we deliver ourservice via telehealth." (Female, PM)
atients not ttending the ractices	 "Because of COVID, patients hadn't come in, so there were a number of patients who haven't had their BP checked and things like that for a while." (Female, Nurse) "Patients were asked to use telehealth, thus dropping the ability to measure BP and similar biometrics." (Male, Research manager)
ot focused on own ealth	"COVID is affecting us as some patients don't want to come in the surgery or they aren't interested in their own health & wellbeing." (Female, PM)
ising mental ealth issues	"We've found over the last two years that people actually coming in with quite acute mental health problems with COVID." (Female, PM)
verworked and ressed PM - Practice manager, ure	"I think the doctors were feeling very stretched, and we had to trade very carefully with some of that." (Female, Nurse) QI - Quality improvement, PHN- Primary health
	etients not ending the actices of focused on own alth sing mental alth issues verworked and ressed PM - Practice manager, ire

Recommendations	Themes	Quotes
Overall program	Including the whole practice in the study	"For example, in our practice, we already have all the GPs attend lunch time meeting. In future if there is a study available if you guys (study team) can join us via zoom that kind of allows all our GPs to know about it and also can help more GPs to increase research interests." (Female, GP)
	Working with a good PHN	"Maybe that's something you can think about in future like definitely work with a good PHN, not ones that bit hands off, you got to have people that are really dedicated." (Female, PM)
	Training on data extraction tools and data cleansing	"I'd like to know how to reproduce graph(s) and save in the (online portal) to compare after PDSA completion and extract CHD measures from the data extraction tool." (Female, PM)
		"Making sure people know how to use the data extraction tools, I think that can be a bit of a roadblock." (Female, PM) "I was kind of surprised with the study that
		there wasn't any kind of data cleansing exercise beforehand just to improve the quality of the data. It would be beneficial, with a study like this to go through some sort of standardized data cleansing

Box 4: Recommendation for improvement

		procedure." (Male, practice support officer, PHN)
Learning workshops	More face-to-face interactions during the program	"I work better if participating in person." (Female, GP)
	Better workshop content and shorter duration	"If you can pack it better, make it shorter, let's say four to six every 3 months is ok depending on how much information you want to educate and pass to the GPs." (Female, GP)
		"Some topics discussed were a little basic for our group but we understand diversity in the group. Perhaps there could be two streams for one session. Advanced and introductory and then move to group collaborations so we all learn from each other." (Male, Research officer)
Monthly reports	Receiving monthly feedback reports via email or in- person	"If someone actually shows it to me then I would be more inclined to look at it. But, if I was asked to actually go and look at that myself then I probably wouldn't be bothered." (Female, GP) "In future you leave that option (online portal) and also monthly send us the data as well via email." (Female, GP)
PDSAs	Simplification of PDSAs	"If we could come up a different way of doing a PDSA cycle that would be good." (Female, GP)

PDSA cycles are written." (Female, Nurse)
 "I think sometimes if you've got somebody who's going to hold you accountable for a different timeline, like to phone you up and say okay what's your plan for your PDSA, when are you hoping to get it done by and then have a phone call how's that going, it's really useful." (Female, Nurse) "Probably just more regular communication. And if we're slacking off, have those face- to-face or zoom meetings and just go hey, this is our data at the moment what are you thinking about." (Female, PM)
 "Having some more reminders such as 'you haven't done it for this month' or follow up on the one we did last month and just keep adding to that would have been good." (Female, PM) "It'd be very useful for someone to come out and say, 'what's going on. Look at this report, what do you think is happening?' Just as a reminder that you're not focusing on this (Quality improvement program) as much." (Female, PM) QI - Quality improvement, PHN- Primary health

Recommendations for future improvements

Several recommendations were made by the participants for better implementation of future QI programs. (Box 4) Participants felt such programs should include everyone in the practice for increased research interest. Some participants also recommended working with a good PHN to maximise effectiveness, as well as including training on using data reporting tools and data cleansing. Participants also made several recommendations to increase practice engagement with the different intervention features for better implementation of future QI initiatives (Box 4).

DISCUSSION

Overall, the data-driven QI intervention aimed at improving care for CHD patients received positive satisfaction from the practice team members and PHN staff. Participants provided positive feedback about several features of the intervention program; however, the use of PDSA cycles and overall support during the program received mixed feedback. From qualitative analysis, the overall intervention program was well accepted, perceived as useful to identify gaps and motivated practices to drive improvement within a specific timeframe. Through thematic analysis, several barriers and enablers were identified to impact practices' ability to implement the intervention effectively. COVID-19 and time constraints were identified as common barriers, and team collaboration and effective leadership were identified as the most common enablers.

QI programs are often complex and have multiple features^[2]; process evaluation can help gain detailed insights to understand the practice team members' real-time experience with using these features.^[16] Our process evaluation results have identified some of the features of the QI program were better accepted than others. PDSAs were found to be the least liked feature despite being the most commonly used tool in QI programs.^[17,18] Our findings also align with previous research that suggests that health professionals found PDSAs difficult to use in practice and were not able to apply them as intended. ^[17] Another important feature of the program is the provision of support during its implementation^[10]; however, limited research has evaluated its usefulness. ^[9] Our study found the support received during the intervention program helped the practices to build relationships and feel motivated, although some participants felt the support could have been better.

This study identified several barriers for practice team members in embedding the datadriven QI into their routine practices. GPs and practice team members were found less engaged throughout the program, mainly due to tackling COVID-19 and the constant changes within their practices. Similar to our findings, previous studies have found that QI is more effective in a stable clinical environment.^[19] In addition, the lack of communication between the team members also contributed to non-engagement from the GPs.^[11] Most often, practices are required to prioritise their clinical and routine administrative tasks regularly; therefore, QI tends to take the back seat.^[20] Findings from our study are consistent with previous research^[10, 11] and indicate the need to address these barriers and re-evaluate for better engagement in future data-driven QI programs.

Only a limited number of enablers have been identified by previous studies. One study found that the involvement of the multidisciplinary team and effective leadership are important enablers in driving QI within their practices.^[21] Similar to our study, another study reported that regular communication from the local PHNs helped build an effective relationship with the practices^[12], which in turn motivated the practices to implement QI programs and kept them on track.^[22] Furthermore, a systematic review found that practices 229 participating in accreditation programs and PIP-QI have achieved better clinical outcomes and improved processes of care for patients with CVD and diabetes, amongst others, therefore enabling practices to undertake further QI activities.^[23]

The use of electronic health records and recent advancements in technology have enabled data to be used in various healthcare processes such as automated data collection, filtering of eligible patients, aggregated reporting, GP reminders, etc. These have significantly increased healthcare facilities' participation in QI programs. Previous studies have shown healthcare facilities that used electronic health records to automatically collect data, review their patients, create reports and track improvement against performance measures have demonstrated improved patient outcomes.^[24] Similarly, in our QI study, we used electronic health records to filter and collect data to identify patients with gaps in care and provided GPs with reminders to improve care.^[25] The effectiveness of electronic patient records in improving patient care is well documented. Therefore, it should be frequently used in QI programs implemented across all healthcare settings.

This study has several strengths. It is a relatively large national study, including small and large-sized primary care practices from both urban and rural areas covering different geographical regions; as a result, representing a wide range of Australian primary care practices. Another strength is the use of a mixed-method approach by combining both qualitative and quantitative data, which was further enhanced by triangulation of multiple datasets to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the satisfaction, acceptability, utility, barriers and enablers to implementing the QI program.^[16] While this mixed-methods evaluation provides significant insights into the complex QI program, the study is not without limitations. Firstly, the program was delivered during the COVID-19 outbreak and

lockdowns, restricting the evaluation to online. Conducting semi-structured interviews via videoconference may have also limited team members' participation in the evaluation. Second, participants for the semi-structured interviews were not randomised, leading to selection bias. Third, the responses of the practice team members were averaged to reflect practice-level responses, which may also introduce potential bias in the results. Finally, the retrospective nature of the evaluation may lead to recall bias and subject to confounding.

CONCLUSION

The mixed-methods process evaluation found that the data-driven QI program received positive satisfaction and was well accepted in implementing changes to improve CHD care. The study identified several barriers, including lack of time, limited GP engagement, COVID-19 and other competing priorities within the practices. Conversely, a collaborative team under a dedicated leader to drive QI changes, availability of PIP-QI and participation in practice accreditation programs were identified as enablers for successful program implementation. However, further research is needed to determine if the implementation of data-driven QI improves clinical outcomes for CHD patients.

Ethics Statement

Ethics approval has been obtained from the New South Wales Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee (HREC/18/CIPHS/44). No individual patient data was used for the process evaluation. Written consent was obtained from the practice team members and PHN staff before conducting semi-structured interviews. Each participating practice signed a Health service agreement, and if a practice wished to withdraw from the study, they were free to do so at any time.

Competing interests

The funding body and industry partners were not involved in the design of the study and did not have any role during its execution, analyses, interpretation of the data, or decision to submit results. Amgen and Sanofi Australia have provided cash support to the main study. MW is a consultant to Amgen, Freeline and Kyowa Kirin. Other authors have nothing to disclose.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of all the PHN and primary care practices supporting the QUEL project. Also, PenCS for providing the services and eHealth data platform for the study; and the Improvement Foundation for their continuous support in the delivery of the QI program and other study partners including Inala Primary Care, Fairfield Hospital General Practice Unit, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Heart Support Australia Ltd, Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, National Heart Foundation, Sanofi, and Amgen.

The authors would also like to acknowledge the ongoing contribution of Kane Williams in the legal arrangement and Caroline Wu in the research management of the trial.

Declaration of funding

Funding for this study was provided by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Project Grant (Award Grant Number: GNT1140807). Additional in-kind and cash support from the following partner organisations: Amgen (cash support), Austin Health, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Brisbane South PHN, Fairfield General Practice Unit, Heart Support Australia, Improvement Foundation, Inala Primary Care, National Heart Foundation of Australia, Nepean Blue Mountains PHN (cash support), Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Sanofi (provided cash support via the Externally Sponsored Collaboration pathway), South Western Sydney PHN, The George Institute for Global Health (cash support) and University of Melbourne. JR is funded by an NHMRC Investigator Grant (GNT1143538). KH is supported by the NHMRC Investigator Grant (Emerging Leadership 1) (APP1196724). MW is supported by the NHMRC grants (1080206 and 1149987). CR is supported by an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship (APP1136372). TL is funded by an NHMRC Early Career Fellowship (APP110230). EA is supported by a National Heart Foundation Australia postdoctoral fellowship (101884). CC's salary is funded by a Career Development Fellowship level 2 co-funded by the NHMRC and National Heart Foundation Future Leader Award (APP1105447), which supports 0.05FTE for trial meetings.

Data Availability Statement

Data (interview transcripts and survey) data will not be available. Although de-identified by name and place, it may contain contextual information that would enable identification of individual participants.

REFERENCES

- Berwick DM. Continuous Improvement as an Ideal in Health Care. N Engl J Med. 1989;320(1):53-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm198901053200110</u>
- Batalden PB, Davidoff F. What is "quality improvement" and how can it transform healthcare? BMJ Qual Saf Health Care. 2007;16(1):2-3. https://doi.org/10.1136%2Fqshc.2006.022046
- Knight AW, Dhillon M, Smith C, Johnson J. A quality improvement collaborative to build improvement capacity in regional primary care support organisations. BMJ Open Qual. 2019;8(3):e000684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2019-000684</u>
- Knight AW, Caesar C, Ford D, Coughlin A, Frick C. Improving primary care in Australia through the Australian Primary Care Collaboratives Program: a quality improvement report. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21(11):948-955. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000165
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease: Australian facts [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023 [cited 2023 Dec. 21]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heartstroke-vascular-disease/hsvd-facts</u>
- Einarsdóttir K, Preen DB, Emery JD, Holman CDAJ. Regular primary care plays a significant role in secondary prevention of ischemic heart disease in a Western Australian cohort. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(10):1092-1097.

https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs11606-011-1665-1

 Dale CE, Takhar R, Carragher R, Katsoulis M, Torabi F, Duffield S, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cardiovascular disease prevention and management. Nat Med. 2023;29(1):219-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-</u> 02158-7

- Homer CJ, Forbes P, Horvitz L, Peterson LE, Wypij D, Heinrich P. Impact of a quality improvement program on care and outcomes for children with asthma. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2005;159(5):464-469. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.159.5.464
- Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, Maglione M, Mojica W, Roth E, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144(10):742-752. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-144-10-200605160-00125</u>
- Hespe C, Giskes K, Harris M, Peiris D. Findings and lessons learnt implementing a cardiovascular disease quality improvement program in Australian primary care: a mixed method evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):108. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-07310-6

11. Zhou S, Ma J, Dong X, Li N, Duan Y, Wang Z, et al. Barriers and enablers in the implementation of a quality improvement program for acute coronary syndromes in hospitals: a qualitative analysis using the consolidated framework for implementation research. Implementation Sci. 2022;17(1):36.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-022-01207-6

- Damush TM, Penney LS, Miech EJ, Rattray NA, Baird SA, Cheatham AJ, et al. Acceptability of a complex team-based quality improvement intervention for transient ischemic attack: a mixed-methods study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):453. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06318-2
- Hafiz N, Hyun K, Tu Q, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. Data-driven quality improvement program to prevent hospitalisation and improve care of people living with coronary heart disease: Protocol for a process evaluation. Contemp Clin Trials. 2022;118:106794. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2022.106794</u>

- 14. Redfern J, Hafiz N, Hyun K, Knight A, Hespe C, Chow CK, et al. QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with coronary heart disease (QUEL): protocol for a 24-month cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):36. <u>doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01105-0</u>
- Carter N, Bryant-Lukosius D, DiCenso A, Blythe J, Neville A, editors. The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncol Nurs Forum; 2014;41(5):545-547.
 https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.545-547
- Hulscher M, Laurant M, Grol R. Process evaluation on quality improvement interventions. BMJ Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(1):40-46.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/qhc.12.1.40
- McNicholas C, Lennox L, Woodcock T, Bell D, Reed JE. Evolving quality improvement support strategies to improve Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle fidelity: a retrospective mixed-methods study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2019;28(5):356-365.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007605</u>
- Christoff P. Running PDSA cycles. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care.
 2018;48(8):198-201. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2018.08.006
- Edmondson AC, Bohmer RM, Pisano GP. Disrupted routines: Team learning and new technology implementation in hospitals. Administrative science quarterly. 2001;46(4):685-716. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3094828</u>
- Marshall MN. Improving quality in general practice: qualitative case study of barriers faced by health authorities. BMJ. 1999;319(7203):164-167.
 https://doi.org/10.1136%2Fbmj.319.7203.164
- Eldh AC, Fredriksson M, Halford C, Wallin L, Dahlström T, Vengberg S, et al.
 Facilitators and barriers to applying a national quality registry for quality

improvement in stroke care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14(1):354. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-354

- 22. Taylor EF, Genevro J, Peikes D, Geonnotti K, Wang W, Meyers D. Building quality improvement capacity in primary care: supports and resources. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2013. Available from: https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/publications/files/pcmhqi2.pdf
- 23. Alkhenizan A, Shaw C. Impact of accreditation on the quality of healthcare services: a systematic review of the literature. Ann Saudi Med. 2011;31(4):407-416.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0256-4947.83204</u>
- 24. Bravata DM, Myers LJ, Perkins AJ, Zhang Y, Miech EJ, Rattray NA, et al. Assessment of the Protocol-Guided Rapid Evaluation of Veterans Experiencing New Transient Neurological Symptoms (PREVENT) Program for Improving Quality of Care for Transient Ischemic Attack: A Nonrandomized Cluster Trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(9):e2015920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.15920</u>
- 25. Baker DW, Persell SD, Kho AN, Thompson JA, Kaiser D. The marginal value of pre-visit paper reminders when added to a multifaceted electronic health record based quality improvement system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2011;18(6):805-811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000169</u>

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Table S1: The 12 CHD measures for QUEL study

- 1. The number of clients that are coded with a diagnosis matching the CHD definition
- 2. The proportion of clients with CHD where low-density lipoprotein (LDL) has been measured within the previous 12 months
- The proportion of clients with CHD whose most recent LDL result was less than
 2.0 mmol/L
- Proportion of clients with CHD with a recorded blood pressure (BP) reading taken within the previous 12 months
- 5. Proportion of clients with CHD whose most recent BP reading, taken within the previous 12 months, was less than or equal to 130/80 mmHg
- 6. Proportion of clients with CHD whose smoking status has been recorded
- 7. Proportion of clients with CHD recorded as a current smoker
- 8. Proportion of clients with CHD who are currently prescribed an anti-platelet agent
- 9. Proportion of clients with CHD who are currently prescribed a statin
- Proportion of patients with CHD who are currently prescribed an ACE inhibitor or ARB
- 11. The proportion of clients with CHD with MBS Items 721 or 732 claimed
- 12. Proportion of clients with CHD who have an influenza vaccination recorded within the previous 12 months

CHAPTER SEVEN

Discussion and conclusion



This Thesis systematically evaluated a QI intervention from needs assessment and conceptualisation (Chapters Two, Three and Four) to primary care practices' engagement with the intervention (Chapter Five) and the perceptions of practice team members regarding the uptake, use, and satisfaction with the intervention (Chapter Six). This chapter summarises the key findings, highlights important clinical implications, discusses strengths and limitations, and suggests direction for future research.

MAIN FINDINGS

Overall, this Thesis found that QI interventions are well-received and beneficial for primary care practices aiming to improve care of people with CHD. In Chapter Two, an evidencepractice gap in the management of CVD within Australian primary care practices was identified, revealing disparities in the utilisation of government-funded services (Aim One). These gaps included underutilisation of government-funded health services, including CDMPs and guideline-recommended medications, was persistently reported in an RCT involving 732 patients (1) and also in the subgroup analysis of large RCTs such as TORPEDO, which involved 6123 (2) and CONNECT, which involved 905 CVD patients (3). In addition to underutilisation, gender disparities were also observed in this Chapter, reflecting results from a large observational study involving 10,745 patients with ACS (4). Increased use of these services has the potential to improve health outcomes in both genders and reduce CVD burden by enabling coordinated multidisciplinary care for eligible patients through primary care and allied health care services (5). Although the Thesis primarily focused on evaluating the QI intervention's process, it also identified gaps in primary healthcare, including suboptimal prescription of medication and the use of CDMP and mental health plans, which are worse in women, as identified in Chapter 2. Therefore, addressing

these gaps through QI interventions that can be easily accepted and implemented in primary care is essential for improving patient outcomes and reducing the burden of CVD.

Healthcare providers are shifting towards adopting systematic, robust, technology-driven approaches to improve secondary prevention of chronic diseases, including CHD. Previous studies by Dorr et al. (6) and Grossglauser et al. (7) have already emphasised the use of datadriven solutions to improve healthcare delivery. However, a systematic review of 21 RCTs and cRCTs, evaluating the effectiveness of a data-driven QI intervention in the management of chronic kidney disease, found it was effective in improving LDL cholesterol levels and prescription of ARBs, but not in reducing mortality, CVD events, and improving BP control (8). The varied effectiveness is also seen in another systematic review (9), reinforced by varied findings from the systematic review and meta-analysis in Chapter Three of the Thesis (Aim Two), suggesting the complexity associated with implementing QIs and possible contextual factors influencing the variation in the effectiveness (10).

To address this variability in the effectiveness, Chapter Four, therefore, described a process evaluation plan using a mixed-methods approach to comprehensively evaluate a data-driven QI intervention used within the QUEL cRCT. The mixed-methods process evaluation, as demonstrated in previous studies, is instrumental in informing intervention implementation, identifying factors influencing participation, and exploring contextual characteristics influencing study outcomes across various healthcare settings and health conditions (11-14). This approach enabled us to collect both qualitative and quantitative data, providing a holistic understanding of the intervention, similar to another study that gained valuable insights from health professionals on a digital health intervention (14). The data sources used in this evaluation collected credible evidence at different time points during the one-year

intervention period to assess practices' engagement with the intervention and intervention delivery, understand practices' satisfaction and acceptability of the program, identify barriers and enablers and evaluate the effect of COVID-19 on the program implementation (Aim Three).

Although several studies have evaluated the effectiveness of QI interventions in improving clinical outcomes (15-17), limited research was found exploring participants' engagement with various features of the QI intervention. Therefore, findings from the Thesis in Chapter Five contribute valuable insights by revealing varying levels of practices' engagement with different features used during the one-year intervention period (Aim Four). These detailed findings signify the dynamic nature of practice involvement and emphasise the need for tailored approaches, as evidenced by findings from another study that increased healthcare providers' engagement with the QI intervention by employing tailored strategies (18). Moreover, a systematic review involving 140 RCTs demonstrated effectiveness of feedback reports in improving health professionals' compliance with recommended clinical practices although it did not explore their impact on clinical outcomes (19). Another systematic review indicated that continuous education was found effective in improving care (20). Findings from Chapter Five are consistent with these reviews, identifying learning workshops or health professionals' education and feedback reports as the most useful of the multiple intervention features as reported by the practice team members (Aim Four). Furthermore, a separate systematic review highlighted the effectiveness of using a nurse as a QI champion, emphasising their role in fostering and implementing QI changes to drive positive outcomes (21). Similarly, this chapter also emphasised using team members with clinical backgrounds to lead QI activities. Thereby facilitating effective implementation of QI changes in the

practices. Overall, the intervention was implemented as intended, except for the use of PDSAs (Aim Four).

QI interventions often receive positive satisfaction from the team members as evidenced by previous studies and the findings from Chapter Six in the current Thesis, indicating wider adoption of such interventions (22). Additionally, findings revealed positive feedback about several features of the intervention program, except for the use of PDSA cycles and overall support received throughout the intervention period (Aim Five). Despite the mixed findings, evidence from a systematic review suggests that QI interventions are practical in identifying gaps and effective in driving improvement, not only for CHD but also for other conditions (Aim Five) (23).

Several studies have explored the barriers and enablers associated with implementing QI interventions. The research within the Thesis not only adds credibility to the existing evidence (24-27) but also further identifies barriers and enablers influencing practices' engagement with the individual QI intervention features, as described in Chapter Six (Aim Five). In addition to COVID-19, common barriers identified in the Thesis align with the findings from previous research, which included lack of time (26, 28), lack of collaboration from team members (25), and competing priorities within the practices (29, 30). Additional barriers were complexity of implementing the PDSAs as reported in another systematic review (31), workshop fatigue affecting attendance and engagement in learning workshops, and technical difficulties like forgetting login details or having no prior user experience in the use of the QUEL SharePoint account, were also found to impact practices' engagement with individual intervention features. Team collaboration and effective leadership were identified as common enablers in this Thesis Chapter, aligning with findings from other studies (24,

25). Additionally, maintaining practices' standards through participation in accreditation program and PIP-QI, prior QI experience, technical skills to implement data-driven QI activities (25, 26, 32), motivation, including financial incentives (27) and continuous professional development (33), and lastly, support from PHNs (34) were identified as factors facilitating practices' participation in the QI intervention. These findings are reinforced by the evidence from previous research, further emphasising on the importance of these factors in promoting successful implementation of QI interventions. By leveraging insights gained from this Thesis to understand QI interventions, there is a significant opportunity to bridge the gap between research and clinical practice, ultimately impacting clinical outcomes. Consequently, it is imperative that future QI studies will need to incorporate findings from this Thesis, along with evaluating clinical outcomes, to comprehensively address gaps in healthcare and drive substantive improvements in patient care.

Moreover, healthcare services in Australia were severely affected during the COVID-19 outbreak, with a 22% reduction in face-to-face consultations in primary care and a 14% decrease in admissions to public hospitals (35). Building on this context, Chapter Six further evaluated the effect of COVID-19 on the intervention implementation and found that most practices' participation was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic (Aim Five). Practices faced overwhelming challenges, including reduced capacity, the demands of vaccination rollout, continuous operational review, and a rapid transition to telehealth, as evidenced by findings from a systematic review (31). Furthermore, doctors were also stressed and overworked, consequently, affecting all aspects of the primary care services, including participation in the QI intervention. This finding is similar to the findings from the systematic review, indicating that the pandemic has led to reduced access and quality of care provided by primary care worldwide (31). Overall, the data-driven QI intervention program received

positive satisfaction and was well accepted in implementing changes to improve CHD care in primary care practices and can be easily scalable.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

The Thesis identified the gaps in CVD care provided in the Australian primary care practices and explored the scope of QI interventions in Chapters Two and Three. Described a robust process evaluation to obtain comprehensive overview of an innovative, multi-dimensional, technology-driven solution aimed at improving the care of patients with CVD through primary care in Chapter Four. Provided valuable insights in the intervention delivery, participants' engagement and important factors influencing their engagement with the intervention in Chapter Five. Explored health professionals' perspectives on acceptability and satisfaction associated with the intervention in Chapter Six. Due to the limited evidence available regarding the acceptability of QI interventions among health professionals (36), this Thesis will be one of the first to evaluate health professionals' perspectives on individual features of a data-driven QI intervention aimed at improving care for CHD.

The systematic review and meta-analysis in this Thesis evaluated the effect of QI interventions on improving CVD-related outcomes in Chapter Three. Additionally, the Thesis also evaluated practice engagement with different intervention features used within the QI intervention. However, the Thesis did not evaluate the effectiveness of individual or combined QI strategies in improving clinical outcomes related to CVD care. While previous studies have examined the effectiveness of individual QI strategies (19, 37, 38), a gap remains in understanding whether combining these strategies provides better results compared to using them individually, and vice versa (19). These findings emphasise the

variety of QI strategies used in healthcare and advocate for large-scale trials to assess their potential impact on patient outcomes, whether employed individually or in combination.

The findings from this Thesis can help guide the integration of well-accepted features from the data-driven QI intervention into health policy frameworks, encouraging wider adoption of such programs across the primary healthcare system. PHNs can play an important role in supporting practices to increase their use of EHRs, offering guidance, training, and resources. Additionally, practice staff, including GPs, can contribute to better patient outcomes and enhanced quality of care by actively engaging in QI activities and embracing evidence-based practices.

Leveraging user-friendly QI tools and effective leadership to improve engagement

Previous studies have found that the use of PDSA is effective in implementing small, incremental, and measurable changes, helping practices become aware of the risks and benefits before implementing the change more widely (39). Despite the evidence and widespread use of PDSA as a QI tool (31, 40), studies have found low PDSA engagement in primary care practices (41), similar to the findings from this Thesis in Chapter Five. The lack of engagement with PDSAs underscores the need for policymakers to promote a robust framework that emphasises continuous training and support for QI tools to help make PDSAs more practical for health professionals, potentially increasing their adoption and engagement, as evidenced by another study (42). Consequently, this can lead to increased engagement with not only with PDSAs but also with other complex QI tools in future QI studies.

Moreover, while the role of clinical leaders has been proven crucial in successful implementation of QI (21, 34), the QI intervention evaluated in this Thesis did not include

designation of a QI leader or champion as an intervention feature to drive QI changes within their practices. However, some GPs and nurses from the participating practices automatically assumed leadership roles during the intervention period, while others suggested employing a clinician as a QI leader would have facilitated their participation, indicating the importance of designating clinicians as leaders or champions to improve engagement in future QI studies. Such leaders can foster a culture of QI within their practices by supporting continuous learning among practice staff, encouraging team participation in QI activities, and ensuring the delivery of guideline-recommended quality healthcare to their patients. It is important for future QI interventions to prioritise training and support for QI tools, as well as designate clinicians as leaders or champions, to improve engagement within the practices. Additionally, PHNs can provide resources and guidance for overcoming obstacles in the adoption of QI tools to ensure success of QI interventions. Understanding the challenges associated with PDSA cycles and supporting the designation of QI leaders within practices are crucial for effective policy formulation and future implementation.

Expanding use of EHR

One key factor enabling the success of QI efforts in healthcare is the integration of technology, particularly EHRs, in patient care. EHRs have demonstrated a positive impact on various aspects of patient care, such as reducing heart failure readmissions, improving discharge quality, and enhancing adherence to guidelines and medication prescriptions (31). They enable healthcare providers to set alerts and reminders, identify critical laboratory values, and ultimately enhance patient safety (32-34). Despite their benefits, challenges such as lack of training, education, technical support, and time constraints have influenced the usability of EHRs in healthcare (19, 35, 37, 38). To optimize the use of EHR systems and contribute to better data quality and reporting, policymakers can create a supportive

environment for EHR adoption, offering incentives, technical support and resources. PHNs can support GPs in integrating data analytic tools into primary care practices and provide necessary training. GPs can enhance patient care by fully engaging with EHRs, focusing on accurate data collection, secure data storage, and efficient data sharing to support informed, data-driven decision-making, ultimately improving delivery of patient care (43-45).

An efficient EHR system allows practices to implement data-driven decision-making in patient care. Alongside maintaining up-to-date EHR systems, increased adoption of highquality data analytics tools can be beneficial to the practices for tracking and assessing performance metrics, patient outcomes, and adherence to evidence-based guidelines (46). This Thesis, based on a cluster randomized controlled trial, utilized a data analytics tool to extract practice-level clinical data and generate regular feedback reports. While the impact on clinical outcomes related to CHD performance measures was beyond the Thesis's scope, further research is crucial to evaluating the effect of QI interventions on improving patients' clinical outcomes.

Optimising CVD care through utilisation of data

The increased use of EHRs has encouraged healthcare providers to improve CVD care, underscoring the importance of robust data governance policies, standardised data collection methods, secure data storage and transfer platforms, and measures to ensure patient data confidentiality. It is important for policymakers to prioritise investments in data infrastructure and technical training. PHNs can support GPs to build and maintain accurate databases and help practices establish proactive recall and reminder systems to ensure patients receive systematic care. GPs can effectively use these systems to identify high-risk patients, monitor their progress, and improve adherence to evidence-based guidelines, and foster a culture of continuous improvement. While programs like QIPIP are already in place to encourage QI, policies should further support and encourage the adoption of more comprehensive QI strategies within primary care settings.

Several studies, including those by Curtis et al. and Tu et al. also emphasised the positive impact of using data to improve quality of care and patient outcomes (47, 48). By using and analysing the data effectively, healthcare providers can accurately identify high risk patients (49), closely monitor patient progress (50), improve process of care by prescribing guideline-recommended medications to all eligible patients (51), and facilitate clinical decisions (52), consequently improving the quality of care.

This Thesis describes healthcare providers' observed benefits in receiving data as evidence to identify the need for improvements, learn from peers, and track and monitor progress used in improving care for CVD in Chapter Five (Aim Four). These findings are crucial, suggesting potential clinical implications for a positive effect on patient health outcomes through implementation of different data-driven QI strategies. Including (i) building and maintaining accurate and up-to-date databases (iii) establishing appropriate care pathways, using evidence-based guidelines, (iv) developing and implementing a proactive recall and reminder system to ensure patients receive systematic and proactive care and (iv) regular data cleansing and quality checks (v) including a robust data collection system and (vi) establishing a small multidisciplinary team to facilitate the QI work; therefore creating a systematic and efficient approach to deliver quality health care. However, previous research has identified several challenges in using data to improve care including data governance, storage and transfer, standardisation, inaccuracies lack of technical skills, security and confidentiality of personal information (53, 54). Future research should focus on addressing

these challenges to explore the full potential of data to provide high-quality patient care in improving management of CVD.

Adoption of QI strategies in primary care practices as routine care

The increased adoption of QI in primary care practices as routine practice is a pivotal step in translating the findings of the Thesis into real-world healthcare settings. The findings underscore the significant benefits of different QI strategies, encouraging increased implementation of QI activities to bring positive changes, potentially improving patient outcomes, patient safety, and cost-efficiency (55-57). To bridge the gap between research and practical application, it is imperative that healthcare providers and institutions recognize the clinical implications of these findings and take proactive steps to integrate QI strategies into their daily routines. This involves embracing evidence-based guidelines, creating systematic and coordinated patient care, fostering a culture of continuous learning and adaptation, using data and analytic tools and ensuring that QI becomes an intrinsic part of the healthcare delivery process (41). Recognising and addressing the barriers to effective QI implementation is essential, along with providing necessary infrastructure and support. Policies play a vital role in facilitating the integration of QI into routine care delivery, ultimately improving the quality of patient care.

The future of QI interventions in primary care and across all healthcare settings will revolve around the effective integration of health technology, data-driven decision-making, patient, and healthcare provider engagement amongst many others. QI is a multifaceted process; therefore, all healthcare providers and their organisations are required to stay proactive in addressing these future implications to ensure the delivery of high-quality, patient-centred care. Policies need to promote the integration of evidence-based guidelines, incentivize QI strategy adoption, and facilitate the establishment of multidisciplinary teams in primary care settings. Key implications for primary care practices and healthcare providers include ongoing training to enhance technical skills, systematic approaches to data management, and the fostering of a culture of continuous improvement. Additionally, Primary Healthcare Nurses (PHNs) should advocate for policies that prioritise QI initiatives and foster a culture of continuous improvement. Through collaborative efforts and strategic initiatives, primary care practices can lead the way in incorporating QI in their routine care to provide more accessible healthcare services for all thus reducing the burden on healthcare systems.

STRENGTHS

One of the main strengths of this research is the implementation of a unique QI strategy within the Australian primary care setting. The processes and results explored in Chapters Four, Five, and Six provide an in-depth understanding of the design, development, implementation, delivery, and uptake of the unique intervention tailored to the needs of the local practices. The study was conducted at a national level and included practices with diverse characteristics. The participants were representatives of practices from varying sizes and geographical areas (both urban and rural) across four Australian states to ensure generalisability, making the Thesis findings relevant across all healthcare settings. Furthermore, the in-depth examination of practice team members including GPs, practice managers, nurses and PHN representatives' experiences of the intervention provides valuable insight into how the intervention worked in the real environment. Moreover, the research identified and documented usefulness of the intervention features. These findings shed light on the potential for various QI strategies to shape the delivery of care, improve patient outcomes and enhance overall system performance in the continuously evolving healthcare.

The Thesis also enhances the understanding of the barriers and enablers involved in the implementation of data-driven QI interventions, strengthening the evidence for addressing these factors in future iterations of similar interventions to enhance their success and effectiveness.

Another strength of the study is the use of mixed-methods research. It is the recommended approach for evaluating processes within randomised trials (58) as it improves external validity, strengthens the quality of the data and offers an in-depth analysis and comprehensive understanding of the study results (59, 60). Further, we also combined both qualitative and quantitative data and performed triangulation of the multiple datasets providing a wide range of perspectives from multiple health professionals, consequently providing in-depth understanding of the complex intervention features (61). For example, in this Thesis, quantitative data explored the practices' engagement with the intervention to identify which intervention features received low engagement and qualitative data further delved into healthcare providers' perspectives on the reasons for non-engagement with these features. Combining these also provides a complete understanding of the satisfaction, acceptability, utility, barriers and enablers to implementation of the QI program (62).

LIMITATIONS

The Thesis has several limitations. First, the intervention was delivered during the outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic, which could have impacted practices attendance in learning workshops and overall engagement with the intervention (63). Second, the sample size of only 27 primary care practices may limit the generalizability of the findings, despite the efforts to include both rural and urban practices from across four Australian states. Third, the findings may be relevant to health systems similar to Australia, as the Thesis evaluated

practices' engagement and obtained healthcare providers perspective on the intervention within Australian primary care environment. Fourth, the Thesis acknowledges the possible introduction of selection bias due to nature of the participant selection for the interviews. Moreover, the Thesis also acknowledges the retrospective nature of the data collection and analysis, and reliability of self-reported data may have introduced recall bias and subjected to confounding. Fifth, multiple practice team members from the study provided feedback via the survey and semi-structured interviews, which were consolidated to obtain practice's view of the results. This may has led to reporting bias. Additionally, participation of only one staff member from the PHNs in the semi-structured interviews may have limited the breadth of PHN's perspectives on the intervention. Sixth, some of the outcomes were measured using categorical data which may not provide an accurate representation of the results. Seventh, the Thesis was unable to collect complete data on the support received by the practices during the intervention, as almost half of the practices were supported by their respective PHNs which were operated independently. Therefore, we were unable to assess their contribution to the QI intervention. Finally, it was beyond the scope of the Thesis to evaluate the effectiveness of the QI intervention on improving clinical outcomes, as it explored the implementation and efficacy of the intervention.

CONCLUSION

Despite the significant efforts to reduce CHD related deaths (64), it still remains the leading cause of death and disease burden in Australia (65) and globally (66). This Thesis aimed to evaluate the engagement of primary care practices with a one-year, multi-featured, datadriven QI intervention within a cRCT. It focused on its key features, acceptability, satisfaction, utility, barriers, enablers, and the impact of COVID-19 on its implementation. This Thesis also emphasises the importance of effective leadership and team collaboration to improve engagement with such interventions. Additionally, it highlights the significance of continuous training and support in utilizing technology, such as EHRs and data extraction tools, to facilitate successful data-driven QI changes in practices. Overall, this Thesis found that QI interventions are acceptable, helpful and motivating strategies for primary care practices to provide a systematic and efficient approach to deliver quality health care. These findings can help support other practices and healthcare organisations to implement effective QI strategies for successful future implementations. However, further research is needed to explore how this strategy can be integrated into routine care along with large multi-centre clinical trials with full cost effectiveness analyses. This approach will facilitate the translation of findings into practice, ensuring sustainability and continued improvement in CVD care.

REFERENCES

- Israel EN, Farley TM, Farris KB, Carter BL. Underutilization of cardiovascular medications: effect of a continuity-of-care program. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2013;70(18):1592-1600.
- Redfern J, Hyun K, Atkins E, Chow C, Briffa T, Patel B, et al. Utilisation of Medicarefunded schemes for people with cardiovascular disease. Australian J Prim Health. 2017;23(5):482-488.
- Coorey G, Campain A, Mulley J, Usherwood T, Redfern J, Harris M, et al. Utilisation of government-subsidised chronic disease management plans and cardiovascular care in Australian general practices. BMC Prim Care. 2022;23(1):157.
- Hyun K, Negrone A, Redfern J, Atkins E, Chow C, Kilian J, et al. Gender Difference in Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease and Outcomes Following the Survival of Acute Coronary Syndrome. Heart Lung Circ. 2021;30(1):121-127.
- Newland J, Zwar N. General practice and the management of chronic conditions: where to now? Aust Fam Physician. 2006;35(1-2):16-19.
- Dorr AD, Cohen DJ, Adler-Milstein J. Data-Driven Diffusion Of Innovations: Successes And Challenges In 3 Large-Scale Innovative Delivery Models. Health Aff. 2018;37(2):257-265.
- Grossglauser M, Saner H. Data-driven healthcare: from patterns to actions. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2014;21(2_suppl):14-17.
- Silver SA, Bell CM, Chertow GM, Shah PS, Shojania K, Wald R, et al. Effectiveness of Quality Improvement Strategies for the Management of CKD: A Meta-Analysis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12(10):1601-1614.

- Bahiru E, Agarwal A, Berendsen MA, Baldridge AS, Temu T, Rogers A, et al. Hospital-based quality improvement interventions for patients with acute coronary syndrome: a systematic review. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2019;12(9):e005513.
- Singh K, Bawa VS, Venkateshmurthy NS, Gandral M, Sharma S, Lodhi S, et al. Assessment of studies of quality improvement strategies to enhance outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(6):e2113375.
- Blake H, Carlisle S, Fothergill L, Hassard J, Favier A, Corner J, et al. Mixed-methods process evaluation of a residence-based SARS-CoV-2 testing participation pilot on a UK university campus during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMC Public Health. 2022;22(1):1470.
- Coorey GM, Neubeck L, Usherwood T, Peiris D, Parker S, Lau AY, et al. Implementation of a consumer-focused eHealth intervention for people with moderateto-high cardiovascular disease risk: protocol for a mixed-methods process evaluation. BMJ open. 2017;7(1):e014353.
- Morris RL, Hill KD, Ackerman IN, Ayton D, Arendts G, Brand C, et al. A mixed methods process evaluation of a person-centred falls prevention program. BMC health Serv Res. 2019;19(1):906.
- Morton K, Dennison L, Band R, Stuart B, Wilde L, Cheetham-Blake T, et al. Implementing a digital intervention for managing uncontrolled hypertension in Primary Care: a mixed methods process evaluation. Implementation Sci. 2021;16(1):57.
- Homer CJ, Szilagyi P, Rodewald L, Bloom SR, Greenspan P, Yazdgerdi S, et al. Does quality of care affect rates of hospitalization for childhood asthma? Pediatrics. 1996;98(1):18-23.

- Schouten LM, Hulscher ME, van Everdingen JJ, Huijsman R, Grol RP. Evidence for the impact of quality improvement collaboratives: systematic review. BMJ. 2008;336(7659):1491-1494.
- Tricco AC, Ivers NM, Grimshaw JM, Moher D, Turner L, Galipeau J, et al.
 Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;379(9833):2252-2261.
- 18. Koller JP, Cochran KA, Headrick LA. Practical strategies to enhance resident engagement in clinical quality improvement. BMC Med Educ. 2022;22(1):96.
- Ivers N, Jamtvedt G, Flottorp S, Young JM, Odgaard-Jensen J, French SD, et al. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012(6):CD000259.
- 20. Davis D, O'Brien MA, Freemantle N, Wolf FM, Mazmanian P, Taylor-Vaisey A. Impact of formal continuing medical education: do conferences, workshops, rounds, and other traditional continuing education activities change physician behavior or health care outcomes? JAMA. 1999;282(9):867-874.
- Woo K, Milworm G, Dowding D. Characteristics of quality improvement champions in nursing homes: A systematic review with implications for evidence-based practice.
 Worldviews Evid Based Nurs. 2017;14(6):440-446.
- 22. Stephens TJ, Peden CJ, Pearse RM, Shaw SE, Abbott TEF, Jones EL, et al. Improving care at scale: process evaluation of a multi-component quality improvement intervention to reduce mortality after emergency abdominal surgery. Implementation Sci. 2018;13(1):142.
- 23. Wells S, Tamir O, Gray J, Naidoo D, Bekhit M, Goldmann D. Are quality improvement collaboratives effective? A systematic review. BMJ Qual Saf. 2018;27(3):226-240.
- 24. Lamming L, McDonach E, Mohammed MA, Stoves J, Lewington AJ, Roberts R, et al. Barriers and enablers to the implementation of a complex quality improvement intervention for acute kidney injury: a qualitative evaluation of stakeholder perceptions of the Tackling AKI study. PLoS One. 2019;14(9):e0222444.
- 25. Shea CM, Turner K, Albritton J, Reiter KL. Contextual factors that influence quality improvement implementation in primary care: The role of organizations, teams, and individuals. Health Care Manage Rev. 2018;43(3):261-269.
- 26. Varley AL, Kripalani S, Spain T, Mixon AS, Acord E, Rothman R, et al. Understanding Factors Influencing Quality Improvement Capacity Among Ambulatory Care Practices Across the MidSouth Region: An Exploratory Qualitative Study. Qual Manag Health Care. 2020;29(3):136-141.
- 27. Zhou S, Ma J, Dong X, Li N, Duan Y, Wang Z, et al. Barriers and enablers in the implementation of a quality improvement program for acute coronary syndromes in hospitals: a qualitative analysis using the consolidated framework for implementation research. Implementation Sci. 2022;17(1):36.
- 28. Arvidsson E, Dahlin S, Anell A. Conditions and barriers for quality improvement work: a qualitative study of how professionals and health centre managers experience audit and feedback practices in Swedish primary care. BMC Fam Pract. 2021;22(1):113.
- Giannitrapani KF, Satija A, Ganesh A, Gamboa R, Fereydooni S, Hennings T, et al. Barriers and Facilitators of Using Quality Improvement To Foster Locally Initiated Innovation in Palliative Care Services in India. J Gen Intern Med. 2021;36(2):366-373.
- 30. Tappen RM, Wolf DG, Rahemi Z, Engstrom G, Rojido C, Shutes JM, et al. Barriers and Facilitators to Implementing a Change Initiative in Long-Term Care Using the INTERACT® Quality Improvement Program. Health Care Manag . 2017;36(3):219-230.

259

- Taylor MJ, McNicholas C, Nicolay C, Darzi A, Bell D, Reed JE. Systematic review of the application of the plan-do-study-act method to improve quality in healthcare. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(4):290-298.
- 32. Genies MC, Biondi EA, Berenholtz SM. Leveraging Health Information Technology in the Quest to Improve Health Care Value. Qual Manag Health Care. 2019;28(1):63-64.
- Levinson W, Wong BM. Aligning continuing professional development with quality improvement. CMAJ. 2021;193(18):E647-E648.
- 34. Hespe C, Rychetnik L, Peiris D, Harris M. Informing implementation of quality improvement in Australian primary care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):287.
- Sutherland K, Chessman J, Zhao J, Sara G, Shetty A, Smith S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare activity in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract. 2020;30(4):3042030.
- 36. Damush TM, Penney LS, Miech EJ, Rattray NA, Baird SA, Cheatham AJ, et al. Acceptability of a complex team-based quality improvement intervention for transient ischemic attack: a mixed-methods study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):453.
- 37. Baskerville NB, Liddy C, Hogg W. Systematic review and meta-analysis of practice facilitation within primary care settings. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(1):63-74.
- Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF. Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. BMJ. 2005;330(7494):765.
- 39. Coury J, Schneider JL, Rivelli JS, Petrik AF, Seibel E, D'Agostini B, et al. Applying the Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) approach to a large pragmatic study involving safety net clinics. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):411.
- 40. Varkey P, Reller MK, Resar RK, editors. Basics of quality improvement in health care. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82(6):735-739.

260

- 41. Hespe C, Giskes K, Harris M, Peiris D. Findings and lessons learnt implementing a cardiovascular disease quality improvement program in Australian primary care: a mixed method evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):108.
- 42. McNicholas C, Lennox L, Woodcock T, Bell D, Reed JE. Evolving quality improvement support strategies to improve Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle fidelity: a retrospective mixed-methods study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2019;28(5):356-365.
- de Veer AJ, Fleuren MA, Bekkema N, Francke AL. Successful implementation of new technologies in nursing care: a questionnaire survey of nurse-users. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2011;11(1):67.
- 44. Kleib M, Nagle L. Development of the Canadian nurse informatics competency assessment scale and evaluation of Alberta's registered Nurses' self-perceived informatics competencies. CIN: Comput 35 Nurs. 2018;36(7):350-358.
- Kujala S, Rajalahti E, Heponiemi T, Hilama P, editors. Health Professionals' Expanding eHealth Competences for Supporting Patients' Self-Management. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2018; 247:181-185.
- Manca DP. Do electronic medical records improve quality of care? Yes. Can Fam Physician. 2015;61(10):846-847, 850-851.
- Lesley H Curtis JB, Richard Platt, Four Health Data Networks Illustrate The Potential For A Shared National Multipurpose Big-Data Network. Health Aff. 2014;33(7):1178-1186.
- 48. Tu JV, Chu A, Donovan LR, Ko DT, Booth GL, Tu K, et al. The Cardiovascular Health in Ambulatory Care Research Team (CANHEART). Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2015;8(2):204-212.

- Bates DW, Saria S, Ohno-Machado L, Shah A, Escobar G. Big data in health care: using analytics to identify and manage high-risk and high-cost patients. Health Aff. 2014;33(7):1123-1131.
- 50. Makam AN, Nguyen OK, Moore B, Ma Y, Amarasingham R. Identifying patients with diabetes and the earliest date of diagnosis in real time: an electronic health record case-finding algorithm. BMC Med inform Decis Mak. 2013;13(1):81.
- 51. Bing M, Abel RL, Pendergrass P, Sabharwal K, McCauley C. Data used to improve quality of health care. Tex Med. 2000;96(10):75-79.
- 52. Rumsfeld JS, Joynt KE, Maddox TM. Big data analytics to improve cardiovascular care: promise and challenges. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016;13(6):350-359.
- 53. Galetsi P, Katsaliaki K, Kumar S. Values, challenges and future directions of big data analytics in healthcare: A systematic review. Soc Sci Med. 2019;241:112533.
- 54. Kruse CS, Goswamy R, Raval Y, Marawi S. Challenges and Opportunities of Big Data in Health Care: A Systematic Review. JMIR Med Inform. 2016;4(4):e38.
- 55. de la Perrelle L, Radisic G, Cations M, Kaambwa B, Barbery G, Laver K. Costs and economic evaluations of Quality Improvement Collaboratives in healthcare: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020;20(1):155.
- 56. Hill JE, Stephani A-M, Sapple P, Clegg AJ. The effectiveness of continuous quality improvement for developing professional practice and improving health care outcomes: a systematic review. Implementation Sci. 2020;15(1):23.
- 57. Hughes RG. Tools and strategies for quality improvement and patient safety. Patient safety and quality: An evidence-based handbook for nurses. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2018. Chapter 44.

- O'Cathain A, Thomas K, Drabble S, Rudolph A, Hewison J. What can qualitative research do for randomised controlled trials? A systematic mapping review. BMJ open. 2013;3(6):e002889.
- Bamberger M. Introduction to mixed methods in impact evaluation. Impact evaluation notes. InterAction. 2012;3(3):1-38.
- 60. Curry LA, Nembhard IM, Bradley EH. Qualitative and mixed methods provide unique contributions to outcomes research. Circulation. 2009;119(10):1442-1452.
- 61. Bekhet AK, Zauszniewski JA. Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. Nurse Res. 2012;20(2):40-43.
- 62. Hulscher ME, Laurant MG, Grol RP. Process evaluation on quality improvement interventions. Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(1):40-46.
- 63. World health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020. 2020 [cited 2023 Dec 11]; [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-</u> remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020
- 64. Mensah GA, Roth GA, Fuster V. The global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors: 2020 and beyond. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;74(20):2529-2532.
- 65. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Heart, stroke and vascular disease: Australian facts [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023 [cited 2023 Dec. 12]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/heart-stroke-vascular-diseases/hsvd-facts/contents/about</u>
- 66. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Fuster V. The global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risks: a compass for global action. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76(25):2980-2981.

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Ethics approval of the QUEL Study:

NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee (NSWPHSREC)



1 November 2018

Associate Professor Julie Redfem julie.redfern@sydney.edu.au University of Sydney

Dear Associate Professor Redfern,

NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee

AU RED Reference: HREC/18/CIPHS/44

Cancer Institute NSW Reference: 2018HRE0907

Project Title: QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)

Thank you for your correspondence dated 23 October 2018 responding to a request for further information/clarification of the above referenced study, submitted to the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee. The Committee has reviewed your response and has agreed that the aforementioned application meets the requirements of the *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007)*. This approval is for a maximum of five years from the date of this letter, after which time a renewal application will be required if the protocol has not been completed.

The Committee granted a waiver of the usual requirement of consent for the use of reidentifiable information held by NSW agencies, in line with the State Privacy Commissioner's Guidelines for Research and the Health Records and Information Privacy Act 2002 (NSW) and the Guidelines approved under Section 95 & 95A of the Privacy Act 1988.

The documents reviewed and approved include:

- Email of Response, dated 23 October 2018
- Cover Letter dated 3 September 2018
- Human Research Ethics Application, v1.3.1, submission code AU/1/2F88312, dated 7 September 2018
- Combined Protocol version 1, dated 23 October 2018
- Data Flowchart
- NSW APDC Variable List
- NSW EDDC Variable List
- NSW APDC & EDDC Data Custodian Sign Off Form, dated 24 August 2018
- ACT APC Variable List
- ACT EDDC Variable List
- QUEL Clinical Data Variable List
- CHeReL Technical Feasibility Letter, dated 7 September 2018
- NSW Privacy Form
- Peer Review Report

Cancer Institute NSW

ABN 48 538 442 594

Level 9, 8 Central Avenue, Australian Technology Park, Eveleigh NSW 2015 PO Box 41, Alexandria, NSW 1435 E +61 (0)2 8374 5600 E +61 (0)2 8374 3600 Information@cancerinstitute.org.au



- Julie Redfern CV
- Clara Chow CV
- Christopher Reid CV
- Nick Zwar CV
- Tim Usherwood CV
- Tom Briffa CV
- Robyn Gallagher CV
- Karice Hyun CV
- ACT Waiver of Consent Request
- QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop Participant information and consent form v1.0, dated 31 August 2018
- QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop Evaluation Survey v1.0, dated 31 August 2018
- QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey v1.0, dated 31 August 2018

Approval is now valid for the following site for unit record data:

The University of Sydney

The NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee has been accredited by the NSW Ministry of Health to provide single ethical and scientific review of research proposals conducted within the NSW public health system.

The Committee is a joint initiative of the Cancer Institute NSW and NSW Ministry of Health. The Committee has been constituted and operates in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council's National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007) and relevant legislation and guidelines.

Please note that ethical approval is valid for 5 years, conditional on the following:

- Principal investigators will immediately report anything which might warrant a review of ethical approval of the research, including unforeseen events that might affect continued ethical acceptability.
- Proposed amendments to the research proposal or conduct of the research which may
 affect the ethical acceptability of the research are to be provided to the NSW Population &
 Health Services Research Ethics Committee for review.
- The NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee will be notified giving reasons, if the research is discontinued before the expected date of completion.
- The Principal Investigator will provide a progress report to the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee annually and at the completion of the study.

Your first progress report will be due on 01/11/2019 and the duration of approval is until 01/11/2023, after which time a new submission to the Ethics Committee will be required.

You are reminded that this letter constitutes '*ethical approval*' only. This research project must not commence at a site until separate authorisation from the Chief Executive or delegate of that site has been obtained. It is your responsibility to forward a copy of this letter together with any approved documents as enumerated above, to all site investigators for submission to



the site's Research Governance Officer. Where relevant, copies will also need to be provided to the CHeReL and the data custodian.

For further information about the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee, please refer to our website <u>https://www.cancerinstitute.org.au/Data-research/Research-ethics-committee</u>.

Should you have any queries about the ethical review of your research proposal, please contact ethics at <u>CINSW-Ethics@health.nsw.qov.au</u>.

Yours sincerely,

Professor David Roder Chairperson NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee

Appendix B

Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form

Study Title: QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)





Chief Investigator: Prof Julie Redfern The University of Sydney

Invitation

You are invited to participate in a quality improvement workshop program evaluation as part of the QUEL study to determine if implementation of a practice-level quality improvement strategy can boost the quality of CHD management delivered in primary care and reduces hospitalisations and health outcomes in a costeffective way. The evaluation requires completion of an online (hardcopy also possible based on your preference) evaluation survey to provide feedback about the heart disease QI program your practice has recently completed.

Before you decide whether or not you wish to participate in this evaluation, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take the time to read the following information carefully and ask the research team about anything you don't understand or want to more about.

What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of the program was to test the implementation of a data-driven structured quality improvement program in primary care practices and whether it improves management of chronic heart disease at practice level and reduces hospitalisations and health outcomes in a cost-effective way. The strategy is based on supporting primary practices to make better and more proactive use of their existing practice data.

Who will be invited to enter the study?

You are invited to participate in this evaluation because you are staff member within a practice (Doctor, Nurse, Administrator) participating in the QUEL study.

Do you have a choice?

Participation in any research project is voluntary. If you do not wish to take part, you do not have to. If you decide to take part and later change your mind, you are free to withdraw from the study at any stage. If you do decide to take part, you will be given this Participant Information sheet to read and keep as a reference. Your decision whether to take part or not to take part, or to take part and then withdraw, will not affect your relationship with the researchers conducting this study, or your relationship with your employers.

What will happen in the study?

If you agree to participate in this evaluation to provide feedback about your experience, you are asked to sign the Participant Consent Form.

QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop Participant Information and consent form Version 3.0 dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 1 of 4

Study Title: QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)

QUEL is a 'cluster randomised controlled trial'; approximately 50 general practices were recruited in the study. All practices were randomly allocated to control and intervention groups. Practices allocated to control group continued to function as usual and practices allocated to intervention group were asked to take part in 6 quality improvement workshops over 14 months.

As part of the workshops, data were collected from the participating practices (intervention arm) using PENCAT (an automated data extraction tool) with an encrypted identifier code attached to patient data. This data will be collected at three times; at baseline, 12 months and finally at 24 months. The Improvement Foundation used these data to design the workshops and ideally at least 2 staff from each practice participated in the workshops. During the workshops, participants were divided into smaller groups to discuss and perform group activities.

Prior to completion of each workshop, you were provided with a workshop evaluation form. Practice staff who participated in at least 1 quality improvement workshop will be asked to provide feedback and complete surveys. This was not be personal health information but more qualitative data about barriers and enablers to quality improvement implementation, practice level changes and suggestions for workshop improvement. These outcomes will inform downstream implementation and capacity needed to deliver the program. No patient level information will be collected for this aspect of the study.

Are there any benefits?

It is anticipated that participation in the workshops will contribute to improved management of chronic disease management at practice level and enhance the enhance understanding and skills of the practice staff in the practical application of quality improvement and change management, resulting in reduced risk factors for future cardiovascular events and even hospitalisation. There will be no monetary benefits of participation to you although your practice may implement improved systems and data-driven Quality Improvement.

Confidentiality / Privacy

The researchers will need to collect very basic personal data about you, which may be sensitive, e.g. age, gender and professional background (no names). Any personal information will be kept private and confidential. It will be stored securely and only authorised people, will have access to it. The study records will be kept in the University of Sydney secured storage network for at least 5 years from publication and may be destroyed at any time thereafter.

What are the possible risks and disadvantages of taking part?

The likelihood of risk to you is near negligible. Some of the items in the questionnaires may elicit some feelings of discomfort or anxiety. If this does occur, you are encouraged to speak to one of the research team and you can choose to discontinue your participation at any time if you wish to.

Compensation

If you suffer any distress or injuries as a result of this project, you should contact the research team as soon as possible, who will assist you in arranging appropriate treatment and support.

Will taking part in this study cost me anything, and will I be paid? Participation in this study will not cost you anything and you will not be paid for taking part in the study.

UEL Quality Improvement Workshop Participant Information and consent form Version 3.0 dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 2 of 4

Study Title: QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)

What will happen at the conclusion of the study?

At the conclusion of this project we expect to have (i) determined the impact of a practice-level quality improvement program on health outcomes and cost, (ii) implemented a scalable program that will close evidence-practice gaps in CHD management, (iii) collected and analysed rigorous quantitative and qualitative data about program implementation, (iv) assessed strategies and capacity within practices and PHNs that maximise outcomes and efficiency, (v) enhanced research capacity amongst PHNs and practices and (vi) developed a set of prioritised recommendations to inform government/stakeholder decision-making regarding the potential of a QI PIP that supports nationwide integration into service delivery in primary care.

What happens with the results?

It is anticipated that the results of this research project will be published and/or presented in a variety of forums. In any publication and/or presentation, information will be provided in such a way that you cannot be identified. In any such publication or presentation, information will only be reported at an aggregated level, thus ensuring confidentiality.

Complaints

This study has been approved by the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee. Any person with concerns or complaints about the conduct of this study should contact the committee.

Who is organising and funding the research:

The research has been initiated by Prof Julie Redfern. University of Sydney is the study sponsor and it is funded by NHMRCH. The quality improvement workshop is the intervention delivered by the Improvement Foundation, one of the 15 partners of the QUEL study. Other partners include government, primary health networks (PHNs), clinical groups and consumers and as a group they see this evidence generation as fundamental to informing service delivery.

Contact details

If you would like to know more at any stage, or if you have any problems while on the study please do not hesitate to contact:

Mr Tony Tu: giang.tu@sydney.edu.au or 0481 131 656 (QUEL research team)

Ms Cati Smith: Cati.Smith@improve.org.au or 0481 103 963 (Improvement Foundation)

Thank you for taking the time to consider this study. If you wish to take part in it, please sign the attached consent form. This information sheet is for you to keep.

QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop Participant Information and consent form Version 3.0 dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 3 of 4

Study Title: QUality improvement in primary care to prevent hospitalisations and improve Effectiveness and efficiency of care for people Living with heart disease (QUEL)

CONSENT FORM – QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop





Principal Investigator: Julie Redfern University of Sydney

- I understand that the researcher will conduct this study in a manner conforming to ethical and scientific principles set out by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia and the Good Clinical Research Practice Guidelines of the Therapeutic Goods Administration.
- 2. I acknowledge that I have read, or have had read to me, the Participant Information Sheet relating to this study. I acknowledge that I understand the Participant Information Sheet. I acknowledge that the general purposes, methods, demands and possible risks and inconveniences which may occur to me during the study have been explained to me by the QUEL study researcher and I, being over the age of 18, acknowledge that I understand the general purposes, methods, demands and possible risks and inconveniences which may occur during the study.
- 3. I acknowledge that I have been given time to consider the information and to seek other advice.
- 4. I acknowledge that refusal to take part in this study will not affect the usual treatment of my condition.
- 5. I acknowledge that I am volunteering to take part in this study and I may withdraw at any time.
- 6. I acknowledge that this research has been approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee.
- I acknowledge that any regulatory authorities may have access to my medical records relevant to this study to monitor the research in which I am agreeing to participate. However, I understand my identity will not be disclosed to anyone else or in publications or presentations.
- I understand that at the end of the study there will be a focus group discussion which will be audiotaped. Participation to the focus group is optional.
- 9. I agree to be contacted about potential participation in a focus group over the coming year:
 - Yes
 - □ No
- 10. I understand that I will be given a signed copy of this document to keep

Signature of participant	Please PRINT name	Date
Signature of witness	Please PRINT name	Date

QUEL Quality Improvement Workshop Participant Information and consent form Version 3.0 dated 22 Dec 2020

-

Page 4 of 4

Appendix C

- Learning workshop one survey
- Learning workshop two, three, four and five survey
- Learning workshop six survey
- End-of-program evaluation survey



ήf

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative

Learning Workshop 1

EVALUATION FORM

Date

To help us improve future events we would be grateful if you would complete this evaluation form and place in the Evaluation Box at the end of the day.

Train	ing	Location:

Participant Initials:		Age:			Gender:
Name of organisation:					
Job title:					
Years in present position:	<1	1-3	3-5	5+	(please circle your response)

How did you hear about the collaborative:

Please rate the presentations / session you attended: 1.0 Introduction to the Collaborative aim and change principles Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation? The presentation was well organised? The presenter spoke clearly? I would recommend this presentation to others? Strongly Agree 2.0 Model for Improvement Strongly Disagree My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation? The presentation was well organised? The presenter spoke clearly? I would recommend this presentation to others?

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 1 of 4

Please rate the presentations / session you attended:

3.0 Breakout Sessions	Stro	ongly	Disa	gree	Strongly Agree						
	Ţ					+					¥
A1 & B1 – Creating improvement teams	Γ										
My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The session was well organised?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I would recommend this presentation to others?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
A2 & B2 – System thinking using recalls and protocols											
My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The session was well organised?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I would recommend this presentation to others?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4.0 Team Time	Stre	ongly	Disag	gree				S	trong	aly A	gree
	+					+					÷.
My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The session was well organised?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5.0 Evidence behind the CHD measures S	tron	gly D)isag	ree				St	rong	ily A	gree
	Γ					Ţ					Ţ.
My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation?	Ō	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The presentation was well organised?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The presenter spoke clearly?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I would recommend this presentation to others?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
6.0 Understanding your population	Stro	ongly	Disag	gree		_		S	trong	gly A	gree
	+					+					+
My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation?	Ò	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The presentation was well organised?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The presenter spoke clearly?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I would recommend this presentation to others?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Please let us know how you found the overall event:

7.0 0	Overall Evaluation of the workshop:											
7.1	Today, the topic/topics impressed me or interested me most was	i (pleas	ie exp	olain	why)						
7.2	Today what facilitated my learning was											
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,											
7.3	The topics or issues that were not clear to me today were											
7.4	I would like the following topics to be discussed in this or future	works	shop	5								
7.5	My recommendations for next workshops are											
8.0 F	lease let us know how you found today's event	Po	or				_			OL	ıtstar	nding
8.0 F	Please let us know how you found today's event	Po	or				+			Οι	ıtstar	nding
8.0 F 8.1	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic	Poo	or 1	2	3	4	y 5	6	7	<u>О</u> ц 8	ıtstar 9	nding + 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work	Pox 0 0	or 1 1	2	3	4	\$ 5	6	7 7	01 8 8	utstan 9 9	10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation	Po:	or 1 1	2 2 2	3 3 3	4 4 4	5 5 5	6 6 6	7 7 7	ОL 8 8 8	utstan 9 9 9	10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content	Po 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1	2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5	6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7	01 8 8 8 8	utstan 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met	Pox 0 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7	0 8 8 8 8 8	9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop?	Port ■ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	OL 8 8 8 8 8 8	9 9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 9.0 F	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop? Please let us know how you found the organisation of	Poo 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7	0L 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 0ut	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 9.0 F toda	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop? Please let us know how you found the organisation of y's event		1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7	00 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 00t	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 9.0 F toda	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop? Please let us know how you found the organisation of y's event Event Organisation	Poo 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	▼ 5 5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	01 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 0ut	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 9.0 F toda 9.1 9.2	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop? Please let us know how you found the organisation of y's event Event Organisation Accommodation (if applicable)		0r 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	OL 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
8.0 F 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 9.0 F toda 9.1 9.2 9.3	Please let us know how you found today's event Overall importance of topic Relevance of topic to my work Quality of presentation Organization of content Training objectives met All things considered, how would you rate this workshop? Please let us know how you found the organisation of y's event Event Organisation Accommodation (if applicable) Venue	Poo 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0r 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	OL 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	ding 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative – Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 3 of 4

10.0	Please rate how well the activity's stated learning objectives were met:	Not at all met	Partially met	Completely met
10.1	Objective 1: I am able to list and discuss the Collaborative aim and change principles	1	2	3
10.2	Objective 2: I can describe the Model for Improvement including PDSA cycles	1	2	3
10.3	Objective 3: I am able to create a list of change ideas to test in my practices	1	2	3
10.4	Objective 4: I can discuss the Collaborative measures used	1	2	3
		Not at all met	Partially met	Completely met
10.5	Rate the degree to which your learning needs were met	1	2	3
10.6	Rate to what degree is this workshop relevant to your practice	1	2	3
(Inclu	iding suggestions on how the learning workshop could be improved?)			

Thank you for your time in completing this evaluation

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 4 of 4



QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative

Learning workshop 2 3 4 5

Date of the workshop:

To help us improve future events we would be grateful if you would complete this evaluation form and place in the Evaluation Box at the end of the day.

Training Location: Webinar

Name of organisation:

Participant Initials: ______ Age: _____ Gender: _____

Job title: _____

Years in present position: <1 1-3 3-5 5+ (please circle your response)

How many people were in attendance with you today, excluding yourself

Please rate the presentations / session you attended:

1.0 Overall importance of topic (1. Very Poor to 5 Outstanding)				very poor						
1.0	Overall importance of topic. (1- very Poor to 5 Outstanding)	L L		+		Ŧ				
1.1	Overall importance of topic	1	2	3	4	5				
1.2	Relevance of topic to my work	1	2	3	4	5				
1.3	Quality of presentation	1	2	3	4	5				
1.4	Organisation of content.	1	2	3	4	5				
1.5	Overall, how would you rate this workshop	1	2	3	4	5				
2.0 met	Please rate how well the activity's stated learning objectives were	Not at me	tall t	Partially met	Com	pletely net				
ОЫ	ective 1: I am able to Identify ideas to test within the practice.	1		2		3				
<u>Obi</u> plan	ective 2: I have an increased understanding of how to undertake care ning for patients with Chronic Heart Disease	1		2		3				
<u>Obi</u> peri	ective 3: I can describe next steps/requirements for the next activity od.	1		2		3				
3.0 Outline any Quality Improvement initiative(s) your practice has taken since the first face to face Learning Workshop in November										

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 1 of 2





4.0 Have you submitted your PDSA Cycle?	Yes	No
4.1 If you answered 'Yes' to Question 4.0, how many have you submitted		
4.2 If you answered 'No' to Question 4.0, when do you plan on submitting a MFI/PDSA cycle?		
5.0 Outline any success you have achieved towards meeting your MFI/PD patients with Chronic Heart Disease?	SA cycle targeted to in	prove care of
C.O.O. Alian and a ballance and the international statistics and MEVDD	P.A	
6.0 Outline any challenges you are facing towards achieving your MFI/PDS patients with Chronic Heart Disease?	SA cycle targeted to in	prove care of
recommendations for next workshop are):	at tuture workshops a	na my

Thank you for your time in completing this evaluation

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 2 of 2





QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative Learning workshop 6 EVALUATION FORM

Date:

To help us improve future events we would be grateful if you would complete this evaluation form and place in the Evaluation Box at the end of the day.

Training Location: Webinar

Participant Initials:		Age	:		Gender:
Name of organisation:					
Job title:					
Years in present position:	<1	1-3	3-5	5+	(please circle your response)

Please let us know how you found the overall event:

4.0.14	1.0 Welcome and Undate on the OUEL Collaborative Percenter		ongly	/ disa		Strongly agree							
1.0 W	o welcome and opdate on the GOEL Collaborative Research						+					+	
1.1	My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
1.2	The presentation was well organised.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
1.3	The presenters spoke clearly.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
1.4	I would recommend this presentation to others.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
20 P	rocess Manning for Heart Disease	Strongly disagree							Strongly agr				
2.01	iocess mapping for mean bisease						¥.					+	
2.1	My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
2.2	The presentation was well organised	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
2.3	The presenters spoke clearly	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
2.4	I would recommend this presentation to others	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form







201	St	rongly	y disa	gree		Strongly agree						
3.0 H	of their bisease improvement otories - Fart F						÷					¥
3.1	My knowledge of the topic was increased by attending this presentation	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3.2	The presentation was well organised	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3.3	I would recommend this presentation to others	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4.0 H	eart Disease Improvement Stories - Part 2	St	rongly	y disa	gree		_		~	Stron	gly ag	gree
	My knowledge of the tenis was increased by attending this	*										*
4.1	presentation	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4.2	The presentation was well organised	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4.3	I would recommend this presentation to others	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5.0 S	ustaining Change and Sharing Plans for sustaining change	St	rongly	y disa	gree					Stron	gly ag	ree
	My knowledge of the tonic was increased by attending this	*										
5.1	presentation	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5.2	The presentation was well organised	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5.3	I would recommend this presentation to others	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
6.0 O	verall Evaluation of the workshop											
6.1	Today, the topic/topics impressed me or interested me mos	st wa	as/we	ere	(plea	ase e	xpla	in wl	ıy)			
6.2	Today what facilitated my learning was											
8.2	The tenior or incluer that were not clear to me today were											
0.5	The topics of issues that were not clear to the today were											
6.4	My recommendations for future workshops are											

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form

Page 2 of 3







70 P	lease let us know how you found today's event	Str	ongh	/ disa	gree				5	gly a	ly agree		
1.0 F	lease let us know now you round today s event	¥					÷					¥.	
7.1	Overall importance of the topic	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
7.2	7.2 Relevance of the topic to my work 0 1 2 3								7	8	9	10	
7.3	Quality of presentations	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
7.4	Organization of content	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
7.5	Training objectives met	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
7.6	All things considered, how would you rate this learning workshop?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
8.0 P	lease rate how well the activity's stated learning objectives w	vere	met:			Not all r	t at net	Par n	tially net	C	ompi y me	letel et	
8.1	Objective 1: I can discuss tools to support service redesign, inc journey mapping	cludir	ng pa	tient		1	I	:	2		3		
8.2	Objective 2: I am confident I can create a list of change ideas health service	to te	st in I	my		1	I	:	2	3			
3.3	Objective 3: I can describe strategies for sustaining change					1	I	2		3			
						Not all r	t at net	Par	tially net	Completel y met			
9.0	Rate the degree to which your learning needs were met					1	1 2			3			
10.0	Rate to what degree is this workshop relevant to your practice					1	1 2				3		
11.0 (Inclu	Any other comments? ding suggestions on how the learning workshop could be improve	ed?)											

Thank you for your time in completing this evaluation

QUEL Heart Disease Collaborative - Learning Workshop Evaluation Form





___ Date: _____

(please circle your response)

QUEL Post-Program evaluation survey

ranopantinuais	Participant Initials:	Age:	Gender:
----------------	-----------------------	------	---------

Name of Practice:

Job title: _____

Years in present position: <1 1-3 3-5 5+

INSTRUCTIONS

Please circle your response to the items. Rate aspects of the workshop on a 1 to 6 scale:

Choose N/A if the item is not appropriate or not applicable to this workshop. Your feedback is sincerely appreciated.

		Thank yo	u			
OVERALL WORKSHOP CONTENT (Circle your response to each item.)	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree	Disagree	N/A
1. I was well informed about the objectives of the workshops	1	2	3	4	5	6
2. Workshops lived up to my expectations	1	2	3	4	5	6
3. The content was relevant to my job	1	2	3	4	5	6
 I would recommend the program to others 	1	2	3	4	5	6
OVERALL WORKSHOP DESIGN	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree	Disagree	N/A
5.The workshop objectives were clear to me	1	2	3	4	5	6
6. The workshop activities stimulated my learning	1	2	3	4	5	6
 The activities in the workshops gave me sufficient practice and feedback 	1	2	3	4	5	6
8. The difficulty level of the workshops was appropriate	1	2	3	4	5	6
9. The pace of the workshops was appropriate	1	2	3	4	5	6
10. The duration of the workshops was appropriate	1	2	3	4	5	6
11. The quantity of the information presented at the workshops was appropriate	1	2	3	4	5	6
OVERALL WORKSHOP FACILITATOR:	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree	Disagree	N/A
12. The instructors were well prepared	1	2	3	4	5	6
13. The instructors were helpful	1	2	3	4	5	6

QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey_Version3.0_dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 1 of 5





OVERALL WORKSHOP RESULTS	Strongly Agree	Agree	Ne	eutral	Stron disag	gly ree	Disagree		N/A		
14. I will be able to use what I learned in this workshop	1	2		3 4		4		Τ	6		
15. The workshops were a good way for me to learn this content	1	2		3 4		4 5		Τ	6		
WORKSHOP OUTCOME	Not at all	A littl	e	Some		e Quite a bit		A lot			
16. Overall, how satisfied are you with your progress as a result of the workshops over the past year	1	2		3 4		3 4		3 4			5
17. How much has the workshops contributed to improve quality of your practice over the past year	1	2		3 4		3 4		4			5
18. To what extent you are able to utilise the learning from the workshops over the past year	1	2		3 4		4			5		
19. How confident are you in implementing changes in your practice based on the learning from the workshops	1	2		3 4		3 4			5		
20. What new initiatives (up to three	e) have you tak	en in your pra	actice	as a resu	ult of the	works	hops over t	ne pa	ist year?		
2											
3											
21. What changes have you made i	n your practice	as a result of	f the v	vorkshop	s over th	e pas	t year?				
1											
3.											
22. What did you find most useful fr	om all the qual	ity improveme	ent wo	rkshops	over the	past	year?				
23. What did you find least useful fr	om all the qual	ity improveme	ent wo	rkshops	over the	past y	/ear?				
24. What other improvements would	24. What other improvements would you recommend in these workshops:										

QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey_Version3.0_dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 2 of 5





25. How easy or difficult is it for you to us the practice management system to do the following for your patients?	Very easy	Somew easy	hat	Somewhat difficult Very		y difficult	Not applicable		
a. Review basic pathology results	1	2		3		4		5	
b. Update medication list and drug allergies for patients	1	2		3		4		5	
c. Review information from hospital discharge summary	1	2		3 4		4		5	
circle one	Never	Rarely	Son	netimes	Usua	Usually Alway		Don't know	
26. How often does your Primary Care Team ask for patient input when making a plan for their care	1	2		3	4	4 5		6	
27. How often does your Primary Care Team use electronic data to identify patients with CVD	1	2		3	4	5		6	
 How often does your Primary Care Team use electronic data to monitor and track patient health indicators and outcomes 	1	2		3	4	5		6	
29. How often does your Primary Care Team use electronic systems to support the documentation of patient needs	1	2		3	4	4 5		6	
30. How often does your Primary Care Team use electronic systems to develop care plans	1	2		3	3 4		5	6	
31. How often does your Primary Care Team use electronic systems to determine Clinical outcomes	1	2		3	4		5	6	
	Poor	Fair	Fair Good		bd	i Very Good		Excellent	
32. In general, how would you rate the coordination of care provided by your primary care practice/ service?	1	2		3		4		5	
33. In general, how would you rate the quality of care provided to patients by your primary care practice/ service?	1	2		3			4 5		

QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey_Version3.0_dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 3 of 5





	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	at agree nor e disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	D ki	on't now	
34. We have clearly defined quality improvement goals	1	2	3	4	5		6	
35. Our practice leaders visibly						+		
demonstrate a commitment to	1	2	3	4	5		6	
quality improvement		-	-		-		-	
36. Our practice leaders strongly					-			
support practice change efforts	1	2	3	4	9		0	
37. In what ways has your role in the practice changed as a result of the quality improvement initiative?	Disagree	ee Somewhat disagree or disagree		Somewhat agree	Agree	D ki	on't now	
 a. The depth of my job has increased (e.g. through extending my skills) 	1	2 3		4	5		6	
b. The breadth of my job has expanded (e.g. wider range of tasks, and/ or working with more organisations)	1	2 3		4	5		6	
c. I now delegate more responsibility to others	1	2 3		4	5		6	
d. I now have more responsibilities delegated to me	1	2	3	4	5		6	
	Got b	etter	Stayed the same	Got wor	rse	Not su	ire	
38. Since the Quality Improvement program commenced, has the quality of care in received by patients at your practice/ service 1 2 3 4								
39. Does your practice have software capacity to implement the QI program? O Yes O No If not, explain:								
40. Did the workshops enhance canacity for your practice to be ready for the introduction of a OL BiD2 O Ver O No.								
41. Would you be interested in participating in a similar workshop in future? O Yes O No Comment:								

Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements about your job:

QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey_Version3.0_dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 4 of 5





42. Have you claimed QI-PIP as a	part of this study?			c	Yes O No
lf yes,					
 a. How many times have you clain 	ned QI-PIP since D	ecember 2019?			
	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree	Disagree
b. Did the availability of QI-PIP					
influence your practice's	1	2	3	4	5
engagement/participation in					
quality improvement?	se of using OL-PIP?	2			
C. Any comments on the experience	e or using our in a	•			
43. Have you used the QUEL Sha	rePoint site during	the past 14 mon	ths?	c	Yes O No
a. If yes, how often did you use the	e SharePoint and v	what did you use	it for?		
	Strongly	Agroo	Neutral	Strongly	Dicagroo
	Agree	Agree	Neurai	disagree	Disagree
 b. Did the availability of the 					
SharePoint influence your		_			_
practice's engagement/	1	2	3	4	5
participation in quality					
improvement?	funite the Cha	D-1-10			
o. Any comments on the experience	c or using the one	iner ont:			
44. Did COVID-19 impact on your If yes, can you give some example	participation in the /s of how?	CVD QI program	n?	c	Yes O No
					_
					_
					_
45. Do you have any other comme	ents or feedback:				

Thank you for completing the QUEL Post-Program Evaluation Survey

QUEL Post-Program Final Evaluation Survey_Version3.0_dated 22 Dec 2020

Page 5 of 5

Appendix D

Discussion guide for QUEL health professional's interview

- 1. Explore to what extent the intervention is delivered as intended, identify key elements of the intervention associated with positive study outcomes, and how, for whom and in what context it was effective.
- 2. Describe and analyse practice engagement, attendance, time commitment, software capability, skills and capacity of the practice team members associated with attending learning workshops.
- 3. Understand acceptability, satisfaction, uptake, and feasibility of the QI program.
- 4. Identify and describe barriers and enablers of the QI program.
- 5. Evaluate the effect of COVID-19 on the implementation of the QI program.

We implemented QUEL study intervention from December 2019 to December 2020. During which, practices submitted monthly data via PenCS (which was automatic) and participated in six learning workshops. Practices were also required to submit PDSA cycles regularly using a template provided in their SharePoint account. The study team provided a monthly report based on their submitted data to monitor improvement in the 12 CHD measures within the QUEL study. Practices were able to look at those reports to track their improvements over months.

- 1. What experience have you or your practices had with quality improvement programs?
 - Previously participated in QI; can you provide an example?
 - How was it different from QUEL?
- 2. How is your experience of taking part in this study?

- 3. Learning workshops Practices were asked to participate in 6 learning workshops initially; the first and last workshops were supposed to be face-to-face, five out of the six learning workshops were delivered online.
 - Thoughts on the number of workshops Too many/too little or enough.
 - What influenced or did not influence their participation in the learning workshops, including attendance for both practices and PHN?
 - Workshops were repeated twice once in the afternoon and again in the evening) What are your thoughts on the timing? What would you change?
 - Duration (1 hour) and method of delivery (Online)
 - Time commitment to attend the workshop
 - Did the workshop provide enough support/training to guide the QI activities in your practices?
 - We discussed some case studies in the webinars. Anything from the workshop you remember or an example that you can think of which you thought was memorable?
- 4. In between workshops:
 - How was the support between webinars Is there any example of support you can remember?
 - Was the support sufficient?
 - What sort of support would you recommend for better implementation in future (research team, PHN, within practice)?
- 5. SharePoint: for part of the program, we provided each practice with a SharePoint account, which enabled them to access all learning workshop recordings and slides from the presentations, QUEL handbook and a platform to submit PDSA cycles with a template. Could you tell me about your overall experience with SharePoint?

- Access to SharePoint
- Were you easily able to log in to your account and navigate? Any challenges
 (give examples) accessing project materials, including workshop recordings,
 monthly reports and Submitting PDSA cycle?
- Between the learning workshops practices were required to submit PDSA cycles on the 12 CHD measures for the QUEL study every month.
 - how easy or difficult was it to complete every month?
 - Any challenges while creating a PDSA cycle?
 - Can you give us an example of successful PDSA implementations?
 - Based on the PDSA cycle, is there any change idea you incorporated as a regular agenda in your practice for CHD patients? If so, how long did it take to implement?
 - What is your preferred method of PDSA submission online or paper?
- Data An initial aim of the CVD program was to improve the quality of data entry as it related to CVD performance indicators
 - How was your practice data at the start of the program?
 - What activities did you implement to improve it?
 - What are the remaining challenges?
- A second aspect of the program was aiming to improve 12 measures (share the 12 measures), including increasing proportions of patients meeting targets for blood pressure and Cholesterol
 - Anything you did to implement quality improvement strategies that aimed to improve these targets, can you give us an example?
 - Did you review your data and use it as you progressed?
 - Any challenges in achieving the targets?

9. Involving your team to make changes in your practice

FOR PHN:

- How many practices did you support?
- How did you support those practices?
- Did any practice require additional support, training or health resources to implement the study?
- How often did you visit the practices was it additional or part of your regular scope of work?
- Roughly how much time did you spend talking about QUEL on those visits?
- How many members from the practices were involved in implementing the changes?
- What are your thoughts on the capacity of your team to deliver the intervention?
- How much time was spent on implementing QUEL during your team meeting?
- Did you have to make any changes to your staff to accommodate QUEL activities? If so, how much?

FOR PRACTICE TEAM MEMBERS

- How many team members were involved?
- How did you train and support your team to implement the QUEL study within your practice?
- How much time did you spend on training team members?
- Do you think your team member needed additional training or resources?
- What are your thoughts on the capacity of your team to deliver the intervention?

- Did you have to make any changes to your staff to accommodate QUEL activities? If so, how much?
- How much time was your team able to spend on the collaborative per week/per fortnight/per month?
- If not why not?
- 10. What are your thoughts on the challenges or disadvantages of collaborative quality improvement programs
 - Staff capacity
 - Time commitment
 - Creating/Submitting of PDSA cycles
 - Implementing any improvement ideas in the practice
 - Any part of the intervention you did not find useful Why?
- 11. What were the advantages of the QUEL program?
 - Do you think they benefit things like practice efficiency and patient care, and if so, how?
 - Which part of the intervention you found most useful and why?
- 12. Going forward, how would the practices use the learnings from the program to improve CVD care?
 - Which part of the program would you continue to implement and why (sustainability)?
 - If you are not planning to use why not?
- 13. Did participating in the program help the practice with QI PIP?
 - Help you prepare for PIP-QI
 - Were you able to claim PIP-QI as a result of the collaborative in the past year?
 - If yes How many times

- If no - will you?

- 14. How did COVID-19 affect your participation in the Collaborative?
- 15. Do you think your practice would have done anything different, if there was no pandemic?
- 16. What do you think are the pros and cons of participating in research?
- 17. Do you have anything else to add that I forgot to ask?